
   

Tuesday, September 26, 2023 AGENDA Page 1 

 
P R O C L AM AT I O N 

C AL L I N G A S PE C I AL  M EE TI NG  O F T HE 
B E R K E LE Y C I T Y  C O U N CI L  

In accordance with the authority in me vested, I do hereby call the Berkeley City Council in special 
session as follows: 

 

Tuesday, September 26, 2023 
6:00 PM 

 

SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD ROOM - 1231 ADDISON STREET, BERKELEY, CA 94702 
 

TELECONFERENCE LOCATION - 1404 LE ROY AVE, BERKELEY 94708 
 

JESSE ARREGUIN, MAYOR 
Councilmembers: 

DISTRICT 1 – RASHI KESARWANI  DISTRICT 5 – SOPHIE HAHN 
DISTRICT 2 – TERRY TAPLIN  DISTRICT 6 – SUSAN WENGRAF 
DISTRICT 3 – BEN BARTLETT  DISTRICT 7 – RIGEL ROBINSON 
DISTRICT 4 – KATE HARRISON  DISTRICT 8 – MARK HUMBERT 

 
This meeting will be conducted in a hybrid model with both in-person attendance and virtual participation. For in-
person attendees, face coverings or masks that cover both the nose and the mouth are encouraged. If you are 
feeling sick, please do not attend the meeting in person. 
 
Live captioned broadcasts of Council Meetings are available on Cable B-TV (Channel 33) and via internet 
accessible video stream at http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244. 
 
Remote participation by the public is available through Zoom. To access the meeting remotely: Join from a PC, 
Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device:  Please use this URL https://cityofberkeley-
info.zoomgov.com/j/1611020299 If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop 
down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous.  To request to speak, use the “raise 
hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the screen. To join by phone: Dial 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864 
(Toll Free) and enter Meeting ID: 161 102 0299 If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of 
the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair.  
 
Please be mindful that the meeting will be recorded and all rules of procedure and decorum apply for in-person 
attendees and those participating by teleconference or videoconference. 
 
To submit a written communication for the City Council’s consideration and inclusion in the public record, email 
council@berkeleyca.gov. 
 
This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953 and 
applicable Executive Orders as issued by the Governor that are currently in effect.  Any member of the public may 
attend this meeting.  Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 
981-6900. The City Council may take action related to any subject listed on the Agenda. Meetings will adjourn at 
11:00 p.m. - any items outstanding at that time will be carried over to a date/time to be specified.  

Page 1

http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1611020299
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1611020299
mailto:council@berkeleyca.gov


   

Tuesday, September 26, 2023 AGENDA Page 2 

Preliminary Matters 

Roll Call:  
 

Action Calendar – Public Hearings 
 Staff shall introduce the public hearing item and present their comments. For certain hearings, this is 

followed by five-minute presentations each by the appellant and applicant. The Presiding Officer will 
request that persons wishing to speak line up at the podium, or use the "raise hand" function in Zoom, to be 
recognized and to determine the number of persons interested in speaking at that time. 

Up to ten (10) speakers may speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in 
speaking, the Presiding Officer may limit the public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. 
Speakers are permitted to yield their time to one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more 
than four minutes. The Presiding Officer may with the consent of persons representing both sides of an 
issue allocate a block of time to each side to present their issue. 

When applicable, each member of the City Council shall verbally disclose all ex parte contacts concerning 
the subject of the hearing. Councilmembers shall also submit a report of such contacts in writing prior to the 
commencement of the hearing. Written reports shall be available for public review in the office of the City 
Clerk. 
 

1.  ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Conduct a public hearing and, upon conclusion, adopt a 
Resolution to modify and approve the project approved by the Zoning Adjustments 
Board (ZAB) for Use Permit (# ZP2022-0104) to construct a new three-story, 4,528 
square foot single family dwelling with two parking spaces and associated retaining 
walls located in the setbacks, on a 6,024 square foot vacant lot, and dismiss the 
appeal. The original project has been revised, as described in Response 1 of this 
report, to reduce the maximum building height by approximately two feet (from 41-
feet, 11-inches to 39-feet, 5-inches).  
Financial Implications: See report. 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 
2.  ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 

From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Conduct a public hearing and, upon conclusion, adopt a 
Resolution affirming the decision of the Zoning Adjustments Board to approve Use 
Permit ZP#2022-0099, to demolish a non-residential structure and construct a 
127,492 square foot, eight-story (89 feet-2 inches) mixed-use residential building 
containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income) and a 5,943 square foot 
commercial space, with 39 automobile parking spaces and 92 bicycle parking 
spaces, utilizing State Density Bonus Law, subject to revised conditions of approval.  
Financial Implications: See report. 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 

  

Page 2



   

Tuesday, September 26, 2023 AGENDA Page 3 

Adjournment 
I hereby request that the City Clerk of the City of Berkeley cause personal notice to be given to each 
member of the Berkeley City Council on the time and place of said meeting, forthwith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the official seal of the City of 
Berkeley to be affixed on this September 18, 2023. 

 
Jesse Arreguin, Mayor 

Public Notice – this Proclamation serves as the official agenda for this meeting. 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
Date:  September 18, 2023 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 

NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: If you object to a decision by the City Council to 
approve or deny a use permit or variance for a project the following requirements and restrictions apply:  
1) No lawsuit challenging a City decision to deny (Code Civ. Proc. §1094.6(b)) or approve (Gov. Code 
65009(c)(5)) a use permit or variance may be filed more than 90 days after the date the Notice of 
Decision of the action of the City Council is mailed. Any lawsuit not filed within that 90-day period will be 
barred.  2) In any lawsuit that may be filed against a City Council decision to approve or deny a use 
permit or variance, the issues and evidence will be limited to those raised by you or someone else, orally 
or in writing, at a public hearing or prior to the close of the last public hearing on the project. 
 

Archived indexed video streams are available at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas. 

Channel 33 rebroadcasts the following Wednesday at 9:00 a.m. and Sunday at 9:00 a.m. 
 

Communications to the City Council are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic 
records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, 
addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication 
to the City Council, will become part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or 
any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
to the City Clerk Department at 2180 Milvia Street. If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the City 
Clerk Department for further information. 
 
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the City Council regarding any item on this agenda 
will be made available for public inspection at the public counter at the City Clerk Department located on 
the first floor of City Hall located at 2180 Milvia Street as well as posted on the City's website at 
https://berkeleyca.gov/. 

Agendas and agenda reports may be accessed via the Internet at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas 

and may be read at reference desks at the following locations: 

City Clerk Department - 2180 Milvia Street, First Floor 
Tel:  510-981-6900, TDD:  510-981-6903, Fax:  510-981-6901 

Email:  clerk@berkeleyca.gov 
 

Libraries: Main – 2090 Kittredge Street, 
Claremont Branch – 2940 Benvenue, West Branch – 1125 University, 

North Branch – 1170 The Alameda, Tarea Hall Pittman South Branch – 1901 Russell 
 

Page 3

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas
https://berkeleyca.gov/
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas
mailto:clerk@berkeleyca.gov


   

Tuesday, September 26, 2023 AGENDA Page 4 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location.  
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or 
services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 (V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) 
at least three business days before the meeting date. 
Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting.  

 

Captioning services are provided at the meeting, on B-TV, and on the Internet.  In addition, assisted 
listening devices for the hearing impaired are available from the City Clerk prior to the meeting, and are to 
be returned before the end of the meeting. 

Communications 
Council rules limit action on Communications to referral to the City Manager and/or Boards and 
Commissions for investigation and/or recommendations. All communications submitted to Council are 
public record. Copies of individual communications are available for viewing at the City Clerk Department 
and through Records Online. 
 
Item #1: ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 
1. Shona Armstrong, on behalf of Harper & Armstrong, LLP 

 
Item #2: ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 
2. Nancy Richerson 
3. Elizabeth Sharada Kowal 
 

Page 4

https://records.cityofberkeley.info/


  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jordan Klein, Director, Planning & Development Department

Subject: ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104

RECOMMENDATION
Conduct a public hearing and, upon conclusion, adopt a Resolution to modify and 
approve the project approved by the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) for Use Permit (# 
ZP2022-0104) to construct a new three-story, 4,528 square foot single family dwelling 
with two parking spaces and associated retaining walls located in the setbacks, on a 
6,024 square foot vacant lot, and dismiss the appeal. 

The original project has been revised, as described in Response 1 of this report, to 
reduce the maximum building height by approximately two feet (from 41-feet, 11-inches 
to 39-feet, 5-inches). 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
None.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
On August 9, 2022, John Newton submitted a Use Permit application on behalf of 
property owners Tarek and Michel Khoury to construct a new three-story (41 feet and 
11 inches), 4,528 square foot single family dwelling with two parking spaces and an 
associated retaining wall located in the required front setback, on a 6,024 square foot 
vacant lot in the Single-Family Residential Zoning District in the Hillside Overlay (R-1H). 
Prior to submitting this application, the applicant posted a pre-application poster at the 
project site. The applicant also submitted drawings of the proposed plans to all adjacent 
and abutting neighbors. No comments in opposition were received at that time. Story 
poles were installed on the project site in December 2022. No public comments were 
received after the installation of the story poles.

On January 19, 2023 the application was deemed complete. On April 13, 2023, the City 
mailed public hearing notices to property owners and occupants, and to interested 

Page 1 of 162

Page 5

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
01



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 2

neighborhood organizations, and the City posted notices in three locations within the 
neighborhood. Staff received two public comments in opposition to the project. 

On April 27, 2023, the ZAB conducted a public hearing for the use permit application 
(#ZP2022-0104). After hearing public comments and holding discussion, the ZAB 
approved the use permit by a vote of 6-0-1-2 (Ayes: Tregub, Duffy, Gaffney, Thompson, 
Yung, and Sanderson; Noes (none), Abstain: Lunaparra, Absent: O’Keefe, Hauser). The 
ZAB added conditions requiring the applicant to submit a transportation construction 
plan prior to issuance of a building permit, and conduct a geotechnical inspection during 
construction, as well as a recommendation to use bird-safe glass on all windows.

On May 9, 2023, staff issued a Notice of Decision of the ZAB decision, and on May 23, 
2023, the matter was appealed to the City Council by Shona Armstrong, on behalf of 
Yoshika Wada, who resides at 696 Hilldale Avenue. The City Clerk set the public 
hearing date for September 26, 2023, and informed the appellants.

On or before September 12, 2023, staff posted the public hearing notice at the site and 
three nearby locations, and notices were mailed to property owners and occupants 
within 300 feet of the project site, and to all interested neighborhood organizations. The 
Council must conduct a public hearing to resolve the appeal.

BACKGROUND    
The project site is located at 705 Euclid Avenue in the Berkeley Hills on steep terrain, 
within the Hillside Overlay Zone, in a residential area that includes a mix of one-, two-, 
and three-story single-family dwellings, with areas of open space in excess of that 
required, and mature vegetation. Residential lots in the neighborhood are generally 
rectangular in shape with some irregularities due to existing slopes and curved 
roadways. The neighborhood hills generally slope downwards from the northeast to the 
southwest and provide primary views westward towards the San Francisco Bay. Given 
the hilly terrain, the dwellings on the block tend to include attached one- or two-car 
garages, and/or uncovered parking spaces, within front setbacks. Access to dwellings is 
typically provided via exterior stairways.

The project site is an undeveloped upslope lot located on the east side of Euclid 
Avenue. It is bordered on the north by a public stairway (Halkin Walk, beyond which is a 
single-family home, 696 Hilldale Avenue), on the south by a three-story house at 713 
Euclid Avenue, and to the east by a three-story house upslope at 702 Hilldale Avenue. 
To the west, across Euclid Avenue, houses are on downslope lots, typically with only 
their top stories and/or garages at street level. The subject lot, similar to neighboring 
properties, provides a significant view of San Francisco Bay. Much of the lot is bordered 
by trees of various species, including one coast live oak on the northern border.

The applicant proposes to construct a three-story single-family dwelling, with two off-
street parking spaces located within the required front setback due to the steep terrain. 

Page 2 of 162

Page 6



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 3

If approved, the project will include two front decks to compensate for minimal flat 
ground available for usable open space, and have a maximum height of 39-feet, 5.5-
inches. The project approved by ZAB had a maximum height of 41-feet, 11-inches, and 
has been revised to reduce the maximum height by moving the stair and elevator 
penthouse toward the rear of the roof (see Response 1 below for more information). 
The proposed height is consistent with neighboring houses in the area.

The proposed first floor will be accessible by a lower entry porch and stairs, 
necessitated by the steep slope. This floor will contain two bedrooms and two 
bathrooms. The second floor will consist of two bedrooms, two bathrooms, and a 
laundry area. The top floor will be a mostly open floor plan with the kitchen, dining area, 
and family room, plus a half-bath, as well as access to a rear ground-level patio and an 
uncovered front deck. All floors and a rooftop deck will be accessible via an elevator 
and staircases. A stair and elevator “penthouse”1 structure on the roof provides access 
to the roof deck. A portion of the roof deck is covered.

Off-street parking, accessible from Euclid Avenue, will consist of an uncovered parking 
pad protected by retaining walls, with planter boxes above the retaining walls. The 
backyard will consist of a patio area, garden, and retaining wall, located in the setback, 
with access above via exterior steps.

Some of the trees on the lot will be removed in preparation for construction. Others 
located along the northern border of the property will remain. The Coast Live Oak 
located on the northern border will remain and will not be encroached upon by any of 
the new structures.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The issues raised in the appellant’s letter and staff responses are provided below. For 
the sake of brevity, the appeal issues are not restated in their entirety. Please refer to 
the appeal letter and its attachments (Attachment 3) for the full text.

Issue 1:
The appellant asserts that the proposed home is five stories high, in violation of 
the development standards for the district, which allow a maximum of three 
stories.

Response 1:
For purposes of applying the zoning code, the number of stories in a structure is a 
technical measurement based on Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) Section 23.106.060, 
Rules of Measurement. A story is defined as “the portion of a building included between 

1 Penthouse, Mechanical. A room or enclosed structure, attached to the roof level for the uppermost story, 
for purposes of sheltering mechanical equipment, water tanks and/or vertical openings for stairwell and 
elevator shafts. Such a structure is considered a story if it contains usable floor area or habitable space 
(BMC 23.502.020).

Page 3 of 162

Page 7



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 4

the upper surface of any floor and the upper surface of the floor next above.” For 
purposes of this measurement, it specifies how to treat below grade spaces and 
penthouses, which is particularly relevant for buildings on steeply-sloped lots with 
stepped stories that follow the grade. 

 Below Grade Spaces: If the finished floor level directly above the ceiling of a 
basement, garage structure, cellar, or unused underfloor space is more than six 
feet above existing grade at any point, such basement, cellar, or unused 
underfloor space is considered a story.

 Penthouses: A penthouse used for purposes other than shelter of mechanical 
equipment or shelter of vertical shaft openings in the roof is considered a story.

Stepped stories are not uncommon in the Hillside Overlay, and are typically measured 
in sections, considering the floors that are directly above and below one another. 

While the original proposal was not five stories as the appellant states, upon further 
review, staff determined that part of the building was four stories because a portion of 
the penthouse was located directly above a portion of the first floor that exceeded six 
feet above grade. This can be seen in the vertical measurement from either side of the 
house at the front of the elevator penthouse. At that point the house, as depicted in the 
ZAB-approved plan set, was more than three stories in height (Figure 1).

Page 4 of 162

Page 8



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 5

Figure 1: ZAB-Approved Proposal (Marked to show story-calculation error)

Page 5 of 162

Page 9



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 6

In the weeks prior to the September 26, 2023 public hearing, staff alerted the applicants 
to this issue. In response, the applicants submitted new plans which involve moving the 
elevator shaft back four feet from its original location (see Attachment 1, Revised plans 
dated August 15, 2023). This change ensures that no portion of the first floor is more 
than six-feet above grade beneath the penthouse (Figure 2). This has resulted in a 
structure that is now compliant with the three-story maximum allowed by the BMC 
(Figure 2), and a reduced maximum height by approximately two feet. 

Page 6 of 162

Page 10



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 7

Figure 2: Updated Proposal to correct story calculation (Elevator shaft moved back)

Page 7 of 162

Page 11



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 8

Issue 2: 
The appellant asserts that the project does not serve the R-1 District purpose of 
“protecting adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air,” 
and does not give reasonable protection to views, and that ZAB erred by finding 
that the project would not be detrimental to neighboring properties or the City’s 
general welfare.

Response 2:
In order to approve an Administrative Use Permit to exceed the 35-foot maximum 
building height in the Hillside Overlay Zone (HOZ), the reviewer (typically the Zoning 
Officer, or ZAB or City Council upon an appeal) must find that the project meets the 
general non-detriment findings (BMC 23.406.040(E)(1)) and that the project is 
consistent with the purposes of the Hillside Overlay District (BMC 23.210.020(A)). 

One of the purposes of the Hillside Overlay Zone is to “give reasonable protection to 
views yet allow appropriate development of all property.” This provision does not state 
that no views can be affected; rather, the language of the purpose statement indicates 
that, in order to allow for new development, views might be affected to some extent. A 
single-family home is the primary allowed land use within the R-1H, and it is reasonable 
to expect that a vacant lot would be developed in this manner.

Another of the HOZ purpose statements is to “allow modifications in standard setback 
and height requirements when justified because of steep topography, irregular lot 
pattern, unusual street conditions, or other special aspects of the hillside areas.” The 
subject lot slopes steeply upward from the street, with an approximately 54 percent 
grade change from the front lot line to the back of the proposed single-family residence, 
and modification of applicable development standards are considered in the overlay 
purposes to address such situations. 

One of the purposes of the R-1 District is to “protect adjacent properties from 
unreasonable obstruction of light and air” (BMC 23.202.050(A)(3)). The Non-Detriment 
Findings (BMC 23.406.040(E)(1)) that are required to approve a Use Permit can be 
used to address these purposes. The required Non-Detriment Findings are:

To approve a Use Permit, the ZAB shall find that the proposed project or use:
a. Will not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or 

general welfare of persons residing or visiting in the area or neighborhood 
of the proposed use; and

b. Will not be detrimental or injurious to property and improvements of the 
adjacent properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood, or to the 
general welfare of the City.

Page 8 of 162

Page 12



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 9

In the present case, staff visited the site and examined the story poles, and also 
examined the shadow studies submitted by the applicant. The shadow studies did not 
demonstrate significant shadow effects on neighboring properties. In addition, 
photographic evidence provided by the applicant at the April 27, 2023 ZAB hearing 
revealed that, while there would be some obstruction of the view from the appellant’s 
696 Hilldale Avenue property when looking to the south, there would still be a wide and 
unobstructed panoramic view of San Francisco Bay.

Issue 3:
The appellant asserts that approval does not serve the R-1 District purpose of 
“recognizing and protecting the existing pattern of development in the low-
density areas of the city.”

Response 3:
The development of a single-family home in the R-1H district on a lot that is over 6,000 
square feet (where 5,000 square feet is required) is consistent with the pattern of low-
density development that already exists in the area. Streetscape drawings provided by 
the applicant (Exhibit B), and staff observations of the story poles, reveal that the 
roofline of the proposed structure would be at roughly the same elevation as the 
neighboring homes’ rooflines. Large three-story homes are the norm in the surrounding 
neighborhood. Staff’s conclusion is that the proposed home is consistent with the 
existing pattern of development in the neighborhood.

Issue 4:
The appellant asserts that the project favors a private benefit over a potential 
negative impact on the neighbors and neighborhood.

Response 4:
The proposed project complies with the development standards of the district, except 
where Administrative Use Permits (AUPs) have been applied for to increase the allowed 
maximum building height, construct parking spaces in the front setback, and construct 
retaining walls in the setbacks, consistent with BMC sections 23.210.020, 23.322.080, 
and 23.304.070(B), respectively. The non-detriment findings as noted in Response 2 
above, and the steep terrain, support the issuance of these AUPs. The assertion that 
the project favors an individual over a group of individuals in the neighborhood is 
subjective and not under ZAB’s purview. 

Issue 5:
ZAB’s approval process was flawed in that they ignored neighbor concerns and 
denied one neighbor (Theodore Raphael) the right to speak.

Response 5:
There may have been an error during the April 27, 2023 ZAB hearing which prevented 
Mr. Raphael from speaking via Zoom teleconference during the public comment period 

Page 9 of 162

Page 13



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 10

for this item. However, a variety of concerns from other neighbors, including the 
appellant, were heard and considered by ZAB. In addition, the standard public 
notifications were mailed to all neighbors and posted on site prior to the hearing. Two 
public comments were received during this period: one from representatives of Yoshiko 
Wada of 696 Hilldale Avenue, and one from Mr. and Mrs. Raphael (see Attachment 4 
for both). Subsequent to the ZAB hearing, Mr. and Mrs. Raphael  submitted another 
letter, this one in support of the appeal, with comments in keeping with those heard by 
ZAB during the hearing (see Attachment 5).

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
The project approved by the ZAB is compliant with all applicable State and local 
environmental requirements and would be built and operated according to current codes 
for energy conservation, waste reduction, low toxicity, and other factors.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Pursuant to BMC Section 23.410.040(G), the Council may (1) continue the public 
hearing, (2) reverse, affirm, or modify the ZAB’s decision, or (3) remand the matter to 
the ZAB.

ACTION DEADLINE 
Pursuant to BMC Section 23.410.040(I), if the disposition of the appeal has not been 
determined within 30 days from the date the public hearing was closed by the Council 
(not including Council recess), then the decision of the Board shall be deemed affirmed 
and the appeal shall be deemed denied.

CONTACT PERSON
Jordan Klein, Director, Planning & Development Department, (510) 981-7534
Alene Pearson, Acting Land Use Planning Manager, Planning & Development 
Department (510) 981-7411
Russell Roe, Associate Planner, Planning & Development Department, (510) 981-7548

Attachments:
1: Resolution

Exhibit A: Revised Findings and Conditions
Exhibit B: Project Plans, revised August 15, 2023

2: April 27, 2023 ZAB hearing staff report with ZAB-approved Findings and Conditions 
and plans
3: Appeal letter, dated received May 23, 2023
4: Public Comments received prior to April 27, 2023 ZAB hearing
5: Public Comments received after the April 27, 2023 ZAB hearing
6. Index to Administrative Record
7. Administrative Record
8: Public Hearing Notice

Page 10 of 162

Page 14



  

ZAB Appeal: 705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

Page 11

Page 11 of 162

Page 15



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

MODIFYING THE ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD DECISION TO APPROVE USE 
PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 TO CONSTRUCT A NEW THREE-STORY (39 FEET AND 5.5 
INCHES), 4,528 SQUARE FOOT SINGLE FAMILY DWELLING WITH TWO PARKING 
SPACES AND ASSOCIATED RETAINING WALLS LOCATED IN THE REQUIRED 
SETBACKS, ON A 6,024 SQUARE FOOT VACANT LOT, AND DISMISS THE APPEAL

WHEREAS, on August 9, 2022, John Newton submitted an application for Use Permit 
#ZP2022-0104 to construct a new three-story 4,528 square foot single-family dwelling 
with two parking spaces and an associated retaining wall located in the required front 
setback on a 6,026 square foot vacant lot; and

WHEREAS, on January 19, 2023 staff deemed this application complete; and

WHEREAS, on April 13, 2023, staff mailed public hearing notices to property owners and 
occupants within 300 feet of the project site, and to interested neighborhood 
organizations, and posted notices within the neighborhood at three locations; and

WHEREAS, on April 27, 2023 the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) conducted a public 
hearing for the Use Permit. After hearing public comments and holding discussion, the 
ZAB approved the Use Permit by a vote of 6-0-1-2, with added conditions for requiring a 
transportation construction plan to be submitted prior to issuance of a building permit, 
geotechnical construction inspections during construction, and encouraging the use of 
bird-safe glass; and

WHEREAS, on May 9, 2023, staff issued the notice of the ZAB decision; and

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the City Clerk receive an appeal filing from Shona 
Armstrong on behalf of Yoshiko Wada, and the City Clerk set the public hearing date for 
September 26, 2023; and

WHEREAS, on August 15, 2023, the applicant submitted revised plans to move the 
elevator shaft back four feet, thereby reducing the maximum building height 
approximately two feet, to ensure that the project complies with development standards; 
and

WHEREAS, on or before September 12, 2023, staff posted public hearing notices near 
the site and mailed notices to property owners and occupants within 300 feet of the 
project site and to all registered neighborhood groups that cover this area; and

WHEREAS, on September 26, 2023, the Council held a public hearing to consider the 
ZAB’s decision, and in the opinion of this Council, the facts stated in, or ascertainable 

Page 12 of 162

Page 16



  

Page 13

from, the public record, including the staff report and comments made at the public 
hearing, warrant approving the project.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Council hereby adopts the findings and conditions in Exhibit A to modify the decision 
of the ZAB to approve Use Permit #ZP2022-0104, and adopts the project plans in Exhibit 
B; and dismisses the appeal.

Exhibits
Exhibit A: Findings and Conditions, September 26, 2023
Exhibit B: Project Plans, received August 15, 2023

Page 13 of 162

Page 17



  

A t t a c h m e n t  1, Exhibit A

F i n d i n g s  a n d  C o n d i t i o n s
SEPTEMBER 26, 2023

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.7474    Fax: 510.981.7420
E-mail: zab@cityofberkeley.info

705 Euclid Avenue

Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 to construct a new three-story (39 feet and 5.5 inches), 
4,528 square foot single family dwelling with two parking spaces and associated 
retaining wall located in the required front setback, on a 6,024 square foot vacant 
lot.

ZONING PERMITS REQUIRED

 Use Permit for a new single-family dwelling, under Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) Section 
23.202.020(A)

 Administrative Use Permit to construct a building with a maximum height over 35 feet in the 
Hillside Overlay Zone, under BMC Section 23210.020

 Administrative Use Permit to construct two parking spaces in a required front setback, under 
BMC Section 23.322.080

 Administrative Use Permit to construct an accessory structure (backyard retaining walls) 
encroaching into a required setback, under BMC Section 23.304.070(B)

I. CEQA FINDINGS

1. The project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code §21000, et seq. and California Code of Regulations, 
§15000, et seq.) pursuant to Section 15303 of the CEQA Guidelines (“New Construction or 
Conversion of Small Structures”). 

2. Furthermore, none of the exceptions in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2 apply, as follows: 
(a) the site is not located in an environmentally sensitive area, (b) there are no cumulative 
impacts, (c) there are no significant effects, (d) the project is not located near a scenic highway, 
(e) the project site is not located on a hazardous waste site pursuant to Government Code 
Section 65962.5, and (f) the project would not affect any historical resource.

II. FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL

1. As required by Section 23.406.040(E)(1) of the BMC, the project, under the circumstances of 
this particular case existing at the time at which the application is granted, would not be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, and general welfare of the persons 
residing or working in the neighborhood of such proposed use or be detrimental or injurious to 

Page 14 of 162

Page 18



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 2 of 16

property and improvements of the adjacent properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood, 
or to the general welfare of the City because:

A. Shadow studies submitted by the applicant show that new shadow effects would be minor 
due to the orientation of the new and existing structures, as well as the existence of tall 
trees along some of the property lines; and

B. Privacy intrusions would be minimal because the proposed front balconies are set mostly 
forward of the fronts of the neighboring houses at 696 Hilldale and 713 Euclid Avenue, the 
applicant has proposed obscured glass for the windows that have the greatest potential for 
causing privacy concerns, and new and existing trees will act as visual obstructions 
between the properties; and

C. Reduced availability of air will not be an issue because the proposed structure would be 
roughly 20-25 feet from its northern neighbor and more than 13 feet from its southern 
neighbor, and the project would exceed the usable open space requirement; and

D. Story poles erected on the site show that significant views from neighboring properties will 
not be unreasonably affected.

III. OTHER FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL

2. As required by BMC 23.202.020(B), the Zoning Adjustments Board finds that:

A. The proposed project would meet all applicable development standards for the R-1 District 
except the height limits;

B. The proposed increased height limits are justifiable and approvable with an AUP because 
the proposed height is compatible with those of neighboring structures and story poles 
erected on the site did not reveal an unreasonable obstruction of significant views from 
neighboring properties; and

C. The proposed parking area, retaining walls, and exterior stairs are approvable in the front 
setback with an AUP because of the steep upward slope of the lot, and it would be 
consistent with many neighboring properties that have similar parking areas and stairs in 
their front setbacks; and

D. The proposed project would meet the purposes of the Single-Family Residential District 
and the Hillside Overlay Zone.

Page 15 of 162

Page 19



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 3 of 16

IV. STANDARD CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR ALL PROJECTS

The following conditions, as well as all other applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, apply to 
this Permit:

1. Conditions Shall be Printed on Plans

The conditions of this Permit shall be printed on the second sheet of each plan set submitted for 
a building permit pursuant to this Use Permit, under the title ‘Use Permit Conditions.’ Additional 
sheets may also be used if the second sheet is not of sufficient size to list all of the conditions. 
The sheet(s) containing the conditions shall be of the same size as those sheets containing the 
construction drawings; 8-1/2” by 11” sheets are not acceptable.  

2. Compliance Required (BMC Section 23.102.050)

All land uses and structures in Berkeley must comply with the Zoning Ordinance and all 
applicable City ordinances and regulations. Compliance with the Zoning Ordinance does not 
relieve an applicant from requirements to comply with other federal, state, and City regulations 
that also apply to the property.

3. Approval Limited to Proposed Project and Replacement of Existing Uses (BMC Sections 
23.404.060.B.1 and 2)

A. This Permit authorizes only the proposed project described in the application. In no way 
does an approval authorize other uses, structures or activities not included in the project 
description.

B. When the City approves a new use that replaces an existing use, any prior approval of the 
existing use becomes null and void when permits for the new use are exercised (e.g., 
building permit or business license issued). To reestablish the previously existing use, an 
applicant must obtain all permits required by the Zoning Ordinance for the use.

4. Conformance to Approved Plans (BMC Section 23.404.060.B.4)

All work performed under an approved permit shall be in compliance with the approved plans 
and any conditions of approval.

5. Exercise and Expiration of Permits (BMC Section 23.404.060.C)

A. A permit authorizing a land use is exercised when both a valid City business license is issued 
(if required) and the land use is established on the property. 

B. A permit authorizing construction is exercised when both a valid City building permit (if 
required) is issued and construction has lawfully begun.

C. The Zoning Officer may declare a permit lapsed if it is not exercised within one year of its 
issuance, except if the applicant has applied for a building permit or has made a substantial 
good faith effort to obtain a building permit and begin construction. The Zoning Officer may 
declare a permit lapsed only after 14 days written notice to the applicant. A determination 

Page 16 of 162

Page 20



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 4 of 16

that a permit has lapsed may be appealed to the ZAB in accordance with Chapter 23.410 
(Appeals and Certification). 

D. A permit declared lapsed shall be void and of no further force and effect. To establish the 
use or structure authorized by the lapsed permit, an applicant must apply for and receive 
City approval of a new permit.

6. Permit Remains Effective for Vacant Property (BMC Section 23.404.060.D)

Once a Permit for a use is exercised and the use is established, the permit authorizing the use 
remains effective even if the property becomes vacant. The same use as allowed by the original 
permit may be re-established without obtaining a new permit, except as set forth in Standard 
Condition #5 above.

7. Permit Modifications (BMC Section 23.404.070)

No change in the use or structure for which this Permit is issued is permitted unless the Permit 
is modified by the Board. The Zoning Officer may approve changes to plans approved by the 
Board, consistent with the Board’s policy adopted on May 24, 1978, which reduce the size of the 
project.  

8. Permit Revocation (BMC Section 23.404.080)
The City may revoke or modify a discretionary permit for completed projects due to: 1) violations 
of permit requirements; 2) Changes to the approved project; and/or 3) Vacancy for one year or 
more. However, no lawful residential use can lapse, regardless of the length of time of the 
vacancy. Proceedings to revoke or modify a permit may be initiated by the Zoning Officer, Zoning 
Adjustments Board (ZAB), or City Council referral. 

9. Indemnification Agreement

The applicant shall hold harmless, defend, and indemnify the City of Berkeley and its officers, 
agents, and employees against any and all liability, damages, claims, demands, judgments or 
other losses (including without limitation, attorney’s fees, expert witness and consultant fees and 
other litigation expenses), referendum or initiative relating to, resulting from or caused by, or 
alleged to have resulted from, or caused by, any action or approval associated with the 
project.  The indemnity includes without limitation, any legal or administrative challenge, 
referendum or initiative filed or prosecuted to overturn, set aside, stay or otherwise rescind any 
or all approvals granted in connection with the Project, any environmental determination made 
for the project and granting any permit issued in accordance with the project.  This indemnity 
includes, without limitation, payment of all direct and indirect costs associated with any action 
specified herein.  Direct and indirect costs shall include, without limitation, any attorney’s fees, 
expert witness and consultant fees, court costs, and other litigation fees.  City shall have the 
right to select counsel to represent the City at Applicant’s expense in the defense of any action 
specified in this condition of approval.  City shall take reasonable steps to promptly notify the 
Applicant of any claim, demand, or legal actions that may create a claim for indemnification 
under these conditions of approval.  

Page 17 of 162

Page 21



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 5 of 16

V. ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED BY THE ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD

Pursuant to BMC 23.406.040.E, the Zoning Adjustments Board attaches the following additional 
conditions to this Permit:

Prior to Submittal of Any Building Permit:

10. Project Liaison. The applicant shall include in all building permit plans and post onsite the name 
and telephone number of an individual empowered to manage construction-related complaints 
generated from the project.  The individual’s name, telephone number, and responsibility for the 
project shall be posted at the project site for the duration of the project in a location easily visible 
to the public.  The individual shall record all complaints received and actions taken in response, 
and submit written reports of such complaints and actions to the project planner on a weekly 
basis. Please designate the name of this individual below:

 Project Liaison ____________________________________________________

Name Phone #

11. Address Assignment. The applicant shall file an “Address Assignment Request Application” with 
the Permit Service Center (1947 Center Street) for any address change or new address 
associated with this Use Permit. The new address(es) shall be assigned and entered into the 
City’s database prior to the applicant’s submittal of a building permit application.

12. Tree Preservation Conditions. The Arborist Report dated May 26, 2022 shall be included with 
any application for a building permit, and shall be with the approved set of plans on the job site 
at all times while work is taking place.

13. Tree Protection Fencing. To protect the Specified Tree Protection Zone will be shown on all 
applicable site, landscape, grading, and utility plans. Such fencing shall comply with the 
guidelines specified in the Arborist Report dated May 26, 2022.

Page 18 of 162

Page 22



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 6 of 16

Prior to Issuance of Any Building & Safety Permit (Demolition or Construction)

14. Construction and Demolition Diversion. Applicant shall submit a Construction Waste 
Management Plan that meets the requirements of BMC Chapter 19.37 including 100% diversion 
of asphalt, concrete, excavated soil and land-clearing debris and a minimum of 65% diversion 
of other nonhazardous construction and demolition waste.

15. Prior to the issuance of any building or demolition permit, the applicant shall prepare and submit 
a transportation construction plan to the City Traffic Engineer for approval. Please contact the 
Office of Transportation at (510) 981-7010, or 1947 Center Street, and ask to speak to a traffic 
engineer. In addition to other requirements of the Traffic Engineer, this plan shall include the 
locations of material and equipment storage, trailers, worker parking, a schedule of site 
operations that may block traffic, and provisions for traffic control. The TCP shall be consistent 
with any other requirements of the construction phase.

16. Toxics. The applicant shall contact the Toxics Management Division (TMD) at 1947 Center 
Street or (510) 981-7470 to determine which of the following documents are required and timing 
for their submittal: 

A. Environmental Site Assessments:

1) Phase I & Phase II Environmental Site Assessments (latest ASTM 1527-13).  A recent 
Phase I ESA (less than 2 years old*) shall be submitted to TMD for developments for:

 All new commercial, industrial and mixed use developments and all large 
improvement projects. 

 All new residential buildings with 5 or more dwelling units located in the 
Environmental Management Area (or EMA).

 EMA is available online 
at:  http://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/IT/Level_3_-_General/ema.pdf

2) Phase II ESA is required to evaluate Recognized Environmental Conditions (REC) 
identified in the Phase I or other RECs identified by TMD staff.  The TMD may require a 
third-party toxicologist to review human or ecological health risks that may be identified. 
The applicant may apply to the appropriate state, regional or county cleanup agency to 
evaluate the risks.  

3) If the Phase I is over 2 years old, it will require a new site reconnaissance and interviews. 
If the facility was subject to regulation under Title 15 of the Berkeley Municipal Code since 
the last Phase I was conducted, a new records review must be performed.

B. Soil and Groundwater Management Plan:

1) A Soil and Groundwater Management Plan (SGMP) shall be submitted to TMD for all non-
residential projects, and residential or mixed-use projects with five or more dwelling units, 
that: (1) are in the Environmental Management Area (EMA) and (2) propose any 
excavations deeper than 5 feet below grade. The SGMP shall be site specific and identify 
procedures for soil and groundwater management including identification of pollutants 

Page 19 of 162

Page 23

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/IT/Level_3_-_General/ema.pdf


  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 7 of 16

and disposal methods. The SGMP will identify permits required and comply with all 
applicable local, state and regional requirements. 

2) The SGMP shall require notification to TMD of any hazardous materials found in soils and 
groundwater during development. The SGMP will provide guidance on managing odors 
during excavation. The SGMP will provide the name and phone number of the individual 
responsible for implementing the SGMP and post the name and phone number for the 
person responding to community questions and complaints.

3) TMD may impose additional conditions as deemed necessary. All requirements of the 
approved SGMP shall be deemed conditions of approval of this Use Permit.

C. Building Materials Survey:

1) Prior to approving any permit for partial or complete demolition and renovation activities 
involving the removal of 20 square or lineal feet of interior or exterior walls, a building 
materials survey shall be conducted by a qualified professional. The survey shall include, 
but not be limited to, identification of any lead-based paint, asbestos, polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PBC) containing equipment, hydraulic fluids in elevators or lifts, refrigeration 
systems, treated wood and mercury containing devices (including fluorescent light bulbs 
and mercury switches). The Survey shall include plans on hazardous waste or hazardous 
materials removal, reuse or disposal procedures to be implemented that fully comply state 
hazardous waste generator requirements (22 California Code of Regulations 66260 et 
seq). The Survey becomes a condition of any building or demolition permit for the project. 
Documentation evidencing disposal of hazardous waste in compliance with the survey 
shall be submitted to TMD within 30 days of the completion of the demolition. If asbestos 
is identified, Bay Area Air Quality Management District Regulation 11-2-401.3 a 
notification must be made and the J number must be made available to the City of 
Berkeley Permit Service Center. 

D. Hazardous Materials Business Plan:

1) A Hazardous Materials Business Plan (HMBP) in compliance with BMC Section 
15.12.040 shall be submitted electronically at http://cers.calepa.ca.gov/  within 30 days if 
on-site hazardous materials exceed BMC 15.20.040. HMBP requirement can be found at 
http://ci.berkeley.ca.us/hmr/  

Prior to Issuance of Any Building (Construction) Permit 

17. HVAC Noise Reduction. Prior to the issuance of building permits, the project applicant shall 
submit plans that show the location, type, and design of proposed heating, ventilation, and 
cooling (HVAC) equipment. In addition, the applicant shall provide product specification sheets 
or a report from a qualified acoustical consultant showing that operation of the proposed HVAC 
equipment will meet the City’s exterior noise requirements in BMC Section 13.40.050. The City’s 
Planning and Development Department shall review the submitted plans, including the selected 
HVAC equipment, to verify compliance with exterior noise standards.

Page 20 of 162

Page 24

http://cers.calepa.ca.gov/
http://ci.berkeley.ca.us/hmr/


  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 8 of 16

18. Solar Photovoltaic (Solar PV) and Battery Energy Storage Systems (ESS). A solar PV system 
shall be installed, subject to specific limited exceptions, as specified by the Berkeley Energy 
Code (BMC Chapter 19.36). Energy storage system (ESS) readiness (new single-family, duplex, 
and townhouse homes) or ESS installation (new multifamily and most nonresidential buildings) 
shall be completed as specified by BMC Chapter 19.36. Location of the solar PV system and the 
ESS, if applicable, shall be noted on the construction plans.

19. Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. Each dwelling unit shall install a listed raceway, wiring, and load 
capacity to allow for future Level 2 (40 amp) plug-in electric vehicle (EV) charging system 
installation, or any more stringent EV charging requirements as specified by the Berkeley Green 
Code (BMC Chapter 19.37). Readiness for EV charging and EV charging station installations 
shall be noted on the construction plans.

20. Water Efficient Landscaping. Landscaping, totaling 500 square feet of more of new landscaping 
or 2,500 square feet or more of renovated irrigated area, shall comply with the State’s Model 
Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO). MWELO-compliant landscape documentation 
including a planting, grading, and irrigation plan shall be included in site plans. Water budget 
calculations are also required for landscapes of 2,500 square feet or more and shall be included 
in site plans. The reference evapotranspiration rate (ETo) for Berkeley is 41.8.

21. Prohibition of Natural Gas Infrastructure in New Buildings. The project shall comply with the City 
of Berkeley Prohibition of Natural Gas Infrastructure in New Buildings (BMC Chapter 12.80). The 
building permit plan set submission shall both include a cover sheet declaration: ‘Natural Gas-
Free Design as required by BMC Chapter 12.80. 

22. Recycling and Organics Collection. Applicant shall provide recycling and organics collection 
areas for occupants, clearly marked on site plans, which comply with the Alameda County 
Mandatory Recycling Ordinance (ACWMA Ordinance 2012-01).

23. Public Works ADA.  Plans submitted for building permit shall include replacement of sidewalk, 
curb, gutter, and other streetscape improvements, as necessary to comply with current City of 
Berkeley standards for accessibility.

24. Geotechnical Plan Review. The applicant’s geotechnical consultant should review an approve 
all geotechnical aspects of the final project building a grading plans (i.e., site preparation and 
grading, shoring design, site surface an subsurface drainage improvements including site runoff 
discharge, and design parameters for foundations and retaining walls) to ensure that their 
recommendations have been properly incorporated.

The Project Geotechnical Consultant should clarity anticipated depths to bedrock materials 
across the site for structural design (i.e., at what depth can bedrock skin friction be used).

The results of the plan review should be summarized by the Geotechnical Consultant in a letter 
and submitted to the City Engineer for review and approval prior to issuance of building permits.

Page 21 of 162

Page 25



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 9 of 16

During Construction:

25. Construction Hours. Construction activity shall be limited to between the hours of 8:00 AM and 
6:00 PM on Monday through Friday, and between 9:00 AM and Noon on Saturday. No 
construction-related activity shall occur on Sunday or any Federal Holiday.

26. Tree Protection Fencing to protect the Specified Tree Protection Zone must be installed prior to 
any site or demolition work, in accordance with the approved plans, and remain during all stages 
of site work and construction.

27. Tree Monitoring. Trees identified for protection in the Arborist Report dated May 26, 2022 shall 
be monitored monthly during construction by the project arborist.

28. Geotechnical Report. The contractors shall implement the recommendations of the Geotechnical 
Soil Report, dated March 15, 2022, including site preparation and earthwork, surface and 
subsurface drainage, foundation reinforcements, retaining wall design, lateral lode resistance, 
and seismic reinforcements.

29. Geotechnical Construction Inspections. The Geotechnical Consultant should inspect, test (as 
needed), and approve all geotechnical aspects of the project construction. The inspections 
should include, but not necessarily be limited to: site preparation and grading, site surface and 
subsurface drainage improvements, and excavations for foundations and other improvements 
prior to the placement of steel and concrete. The Consultant should inspect and approve of 
temporary shoring measures, as applicable during grading for proposed parking areas and 
residential imp0rovements.

The results of these inspections and the as-built conditions of the project should be described 
by the geotechnical consultant in a letter and submitted to the City Engineer for review prior to 
final (granting of occupancy) project approval.

30.     The height and location of the proposed structure, property lines and spot elevations shall be 
verified by a licensed surveyor or engineer on site after foundation forms are placed, but before 
pouring concrete or placing construction material in its permanent position. This verification 
shall be to the satisfaction of the Zoning Officer. 

31. Public Works - Implement BAAQMD-Recommended Measures during Construction.  For all 
proposed projects, BAAQMD recommends implementing all the Basic Construction Mitigation 
Measures, listed below to meet the best management practices threshold for fugitive dust:

A. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, and 
unpaved access roads) shall be watered two times per day.

B. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material off-site shall be covered.

C. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet power 
vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is prohibited.

D. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 mph.

Page 22 of 162

Page 26



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 10 of 16

E. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as possible. 
Building pads shall be laid as soon as possible after grading unless seeding or soil binders 
are used.

F. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing 
the maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California airborne toxics control 
measure Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of Regulations [CCR]). Clear signage 
shall be provided for construction workers at all access points.

G. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with 
manufacturer specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified visible emissions 
evaluator.

H. Post a publicly visible sign with the telephone number and person to contact at the lead 
agency regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective action 
within 48 hours. The Air District ‘s phone number shall also be visible to ensure compliance 
with applicable regulations. 

32. Construction and Demolition Diversion.  Divert debris according to your plan and collect required 
documentation. Get construction debris receipts from sorting facilities in order to verify diversion 
requirements. Upload recycling and disposal receipts if using Green Halo and submit online for 
City review and approval prior to final inspection. Alternatively, complete the second page of the 
original Construction Waste Management Plan and present it, along with your construction 
debris receipts, to the Building Inspector by the final inspection to demonstrate diversion rate 
compliance. The Zoning Officer may request summary reports at more frequent intervals, as 
necessary to ensure compliance with this requirement.

33. Low-Carbon Concrete. The project shall maintain compliance with the Berkeley Green Code 
(BMC Chapter 19.37) including use of concrete mix design with a cement reduction of at least 
25%. Documentation on concrete mix design shall be available at all times at the construction 
site for review by City Staff.

34. Transportation Construction Plan.  The applicant and all persons associated with the project are 
hereby notified that a Transportation Construction Plan (TCP) is required for all phases of 
construction, particularly for the following activities:
 Alterations, closures, or blockages to sidewalks, pedestrian paths or vehicle travel lanes 

(including bicycle lanes);
 Storage of building materials, dumpsters, debris anywhere in the public ROW;
 Provision of exclusive contractor parking on-street; or 
 Significant truck activity.

Please contact the Office of Transportation at (510) 981-7010, or 1947 Center Street, and ask to 
speak to a traffic engineer. In addition to other requirements of the Traffic Engineer, this plan shall 
include the locations of material and equipment storage, trailers, worker parking, a schedule of 
site operations that may block traffic, and provisions for traffic control. The TCP shall be consistent 
with any other requirements of the construction phase. 

Contact the Permit Service Center (PSC) at 1947 Center Street or 981-7500 for details on 
obtaining Construction/No Parking Permits (and associated signs and accompanying dashboard 
permits). Please note that the Zoning Officer and/or Traffic Engineer may limit off-site parking of 

Page 23 of 162

Page 27

https://greenhalosystems.com/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf


  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 11 of 16

construction-related vehicles if necessary to protect the health, safety or convenience of the 
surrounding neighborhood. A current copy of this Plan shall be available at all times at the 
construction site for review by City Staff.

35. Avoid Disturbance of Nesting Birds. Initial site disturbance activities, including vegetation and 
concrete removal, shall be prohibited during the general avian nesting season (February 1 to 
August 30), if feasible. If nesting season avoidance is not feasible, the applicant shall retain a 
qualified biologist to conduct a preconstruction nesting bird survey to determine the 
presence/absence, location, and activity status of any active nests on or adjacent to the project 
site. The extent of the survey buffer area surrounding the site shall be established by the qualified 
biologist to ensure that direct and indirect effects to nesting birds are avoided. To avoid the 
destruction of active nests and to protect the reproductive success of birds protected by the 
MBTA and CFGC, nesting bird surveys shall be performed not more than 14 days prior to 
scheduled vegetation and concrete removal. In the event that active nests are discovered, a 
suitable buffer (typically a minimum buffer of 50 feet for passerines and a minimum buffer of 250 
feet for raptors) shall be established around such active nests and no construction shall be 
allowed inside the buffer areas until a qualified biologist has determined that the nest is no longer 
active (e.g., the nestlings have fledged and are no longer reliant on the nest). No ground-
disturbing activities shall occur within this buffer until the qualified biologist has confirmed that 
breeding/nesting is completed and the young have fledged the nest. Nesting bird surveys are 
not required for construction activities occurring between August 31 and January 31.

36. Archaeological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). 
Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15064.5(f), “provisions for historical or unique 
archaeological resources accidentally discovered during construction” should be instituted. 
Therefore:

A. In the event that any prehistoric or historic subsurface cultural resources are discovered 
during ground disturbing activities, all work within 50 feet of the resources shall be halted 
and the project applicant and/or lead agency shall consult with a qualified archaeologist, 
historian or paleontologist to assess the significance of the find.

B. If any find is determined to be significant, representatives of the project proponent and/or 
lead agency and the qualified professional would meet to determine the appropriate 
avoidance measures or other appropriate measure, with the ultimate determination to be 
made by the City of Berkeley. All significant cultural materials recovered shall be subject to 
scientific analysis, professional museum curation, and/or a report prepared by the qualified 
professional according to current professional standards.

C. In considering any suggested measure proposed by the qualified professional, the project 
applicant shall determine whether avoidance is necessary or feasible in light of factors such 
as the uniqueness of the find, project design, costs, and other considerations.

D. If avoidance is unnecessary or infeasible, other appropriate measures (e.g., data recovery) 
shall be instituted. Work may proceed on other parts of the project site while mitigation 
measures for cultural resources is carried out.

E. If significant materials are recovered, the qualified professional shall prepare a report on the 
findings for submittal to the Northwest Information Center.

Page 24 of 162

Page 28



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 12 of 16

37. Human Remains (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). In the event 
that human skeletal remains are uncovered at the project site during ground-disturbing activities, 
all work shall immediately halt and the Alameda County Coroner shall be contacted to evaluate 
the remains, and following the procedures and protocols pursuant to Section 15064.5 (e)(1) of 
the CEQA Guidelines. If the County Coroner determines that the remains are Native American, 
the City shall contact the California Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC), pursuant to 
subdivision (c) of Section 7050.5 of the Health and Safety Code, and all excavation and site 
preparation activities shall cease within a 50-foot radius of the find until appropriate 
arrangements are made. If the agencies determine that avoidance is not feasible, then an 
alternative plan shall be prepared with specific steps and timeframe required to resume 
construction activities. Monitoring, data recovery, determination of significance and avoidance 
measures (if applicable) shall be completed expeditiously.

38. Paleontological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). In the 
event of an unanticipated discovery of a paleontological resource during construction, 
excavations within 50 feet of the find shall be temporarily halted or diverted until the discovery 
is examined by a qualified paleontologist (per Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards 
[SVP 1995,1996]). The qualified paleontologist shall document the discovery as needed, 
evaluate the potential resource, and assess the significance of the find. The paleontologist shall 
notify the appropriate agencies to determine procedures that would be followed before 
construction is allowed to resume at the location of the find. If the City determines that avoidance 
is not feasible, the paleontologist shall prepare an excavation plan for mitigating the effect of the 
project on the qualities that make the resource important, and such plan shall be implemented. 
The plan shall be submitted to the City for review and approval.

39. Paleontological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction).

A. Qualified Paleontologist. The project applicant shall retain a Qualified Paleontologist prior to 
excavations or ground disturbance that will exceed three feet in depth. The Qualified 
Paleontologist shall direct all mitigation measures related to paleontological resources. A 
qualified professional paleontologist is defined by the SVP standards as an individual 
preferably with an M.S. or Ph.D. in paleontology or geology who is experienced with 
paleontological procedures and techniques, who is knowledgeable in the geology of 
California, and who has worked as a paleontological mitigation project supervisor for a least 
two years (SVP 2010). 

B. Paleontological Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP). Prior to ground 
disturbance, the applicant shall incorporate information on paleontological resources into 
the Project’s Worker Environmental Awareness Training (WEAP) materials, or a stand-alone 
Paleontological Resources WEAP shall be submitted to the Department of Planning and 
Development at the City of Berkeley. The Qualified Paleontologist or his or her designee 
shall conduct training for construction personnel regarding the appearance of fossils and the 
procedures for notifying paleontological staff should fossils be discovered by construction 
staff. The Paleontological WEAP training shall be fulfilled simultaneously with the overall 
WEAP training, or at the first preconstruction meeting at which a Qualified Paleontologist 
attends prior to ground disturbance. Printed literature (handouts) shall accompany the initial 

Page 25 of 162

Page 29



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 13 of 16

training. Following the initial WEAP training, all new workers and contractors must be trained 
prior to conducting ground disturbance work. 

C. Paleontological Monitoring. The extent of required paleontological monitoring for the project 
shall be determined by the Qualified Paleontologist based on an evaluation of the previously 
undisturbed geologic units exposed during ground disturbing activity. The Qualified 
Paleontologist shall conduct and initial spot check and evaluation of geologic conditions for 
ground disturbing activity for excavations between 5-10 feet below ground surface (BGS). 
The evaluation shall be based on field evidence including lithology of geologic units and 
results of microscreening or other inspections for fossil resources. If the paleontologist 
determines that geologic units exposed between 5-10 feet BGS have high paleontological 
sensitivity, then full-time monitoring shall be conducted for the duration of ground disturbing 
activity. If sediments between 5-10 feet BGS are determined to not be paleontological 
sensitive, spot checks should be conducted again for ground disturbance between 10-15 
feet BGS and again for ground disturbance between 15-20 feet BGS, and again to the full 
depth of ground disturbance. If spot checks indicate low or no paleontological sensitivity, or 
if full time monitoring results in no fossil discoveries once the full depth of ground disturbance 
has been reached, paleontological monitoring can be discontinued for the remainder of 
project activity. Monitoring shall be reinstated if any new ground disturbances are required 
to depths exceeding previous depths of previous work, and reduction or suspension shall 
be reconsidered by the Qualified Paleontologist at that time.

D. In the event of a fossil discovery by the paleontological monitor or construction personnel, 
all work in the immediate vicinity of the find shall cease. A Qualified Paleontologist shall 
evaluate the find before restarting construction activity in the area. If it is determined that the 
fossil(s) is (are) scientifically significant, the Qualified Paleontologist shall complete the 
following conditions to mitigate impacts to significant fossil resources: 

1) Salvage of Fossils. If fossils are discovered, the paleontological monitor shall have the 
authority to halt or temporarily divert construction equipment within 50 feet of the find 
until the monitor and/or lead paleontologist evaluate the discovery and determine if the 
fossil may be considered significant. Typically, fossils can be safely salvaged quickly by 
a single paleontologist and not disrupt construction activity. In some cases, larger fossils 
(such as complete skeletons or large mammal fossils) require more extensive excavation 
and longer salvage periods. In this case, the Construction Contractor may be requested 
to supply heavy equipment and an operator to assist in the rapid removal of a large fossil 
specimen(s) or sediment sample(s). Bulk matrix sampling may be necessary to recover 
small invertebrates or microvertebrates from within paleontologically- sensitive 
Quaternary old alluvial deposits.

2) Preparation and Curation of Recovered Fossils. Once salvaged, significant fossils shall 
be identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level, prepared to a curation-ready 
condition, and curated in a scientific institution with a permanent paleontological 
collection (such as the UCMP), along with all pertinent field notes, photos, data, and 
maps. Fossils of undetermined significance at the time of collection may also warrant 
curation at the discretion of the Qualified Paleontologist.

E. Final Paleontological Mitigation Report. Upon completion of ground disturbing activity (and 
curation of fossils if necessary) the Qualified Paleontologist shall prepare a final report 

Page 26 of 162

Page 30



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 14 of 16

describing the results of the paleontological monitoring efforts associated with the project. 
The report shall include a summary of the field and laboratory methods, an overview of the 
project geology and paleontology, a list of taxa recovered (if any), an analysis of fossils 
recovered (if any) and their scientific significance, and recommendations. The report shall 
be submitted to the Department of Planning and Development at the City of Berkeley. If the 
monitoring efforts produced fossils, then a copy of the report shall also be submitted to the 
designated museum repository.

40. Halt Work/Unanticipated Discovery of Tribal Cultural Resources. In the event that cultural 
resources of Native American origin are identified during construction, all work within 50 feet of 
the discovery shall be redirected. The project applicant and project construction contractor shall 
notify the City Planning Department within 24 hours.  The City will again contact any tribes who 
have requested consultation under AB 52, as well as contact a qualified archaeologist, to 
evaluate the resources and situation and provide recommendations.  If it is determined that the 
resource is a tribal cultural resource and thus significant under CEQA, a mitigation plan shall be 
prepared and implemented in accordance with State guidelines and in consultation with Native 
American groups. If the resource cannot be avoided, additional measures to avoid or reduce 
impacts to the resource and to address tribal concerns may be required.

41. Stormwater Requirements. The applicant shall demonstrate compliance with the requirements 
of the City’s National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit as described in 
BMC Section 17.20.  The following conditions apply:

A. The project plans shall identify and show site-specific Best Management Practices (BMPs) 
appropriate to activities conducted on-site to limit to the maximum extent practicable the 
discharge of pollutants to the City's storm drainage system, regardless of season or weather 
conditions.

B. Trash enclosures and/or recycling area(s) shall be covered; no other area shall drain onto 
this area.  Drains in any wash or process area shall not discharge to the storm drain system; 
these drains should connect to the sanitary sewer.  Applicant shall contact the City of 
Berkeley and EBMUD for specific connection and discharge requirements.  Discharges to 
the sanitary sewer are subject to the review, approval and conditions of the City of Berkeley 
and EBMUD.

C. Landscaping shall be designed with efficient irrigation to reduce runoff, promote surface 
infiltration and minimize the use of fertilizers and pesticides that contribute to stormwater 
pollution.  Where feasible, landscaping should be designed and operated to treat runoff.  
When and where possible, xeriscape and drought tolerant plants shall be incorporated into 
new development plans.

D. Design, location and maintenance requirements and schedules for any stormwater quality 
treatment structural controls shall be submitted to the Department of Public Works for review 
with respect to reasonable adequacy of the controls.  The review does not relieve the 
property owner of the responsibility for complying with BMC Chapter 17.20 and future 
revisions to the City's overall stormwater quality ordinances.  This review shall be shall be 
conducted prior to the issuance of a Building Permit.

Page 27 of 162

Page 31



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 15 of 16

E. All paved outdoor storage areas must be designed to reduce/limit the potential for runoff to 
contact pollutants.

F. All on-site storm drain inlets/catch basins must be cleaned at least once a year immediately 
prior to the rainy season.  The property owner shall be responsible for all costs associated 
with proper operation and maintenance of all storm drainage facilities (pipelines, inlets, catch 
basins, outlets, etc.) associated with the project, unless the City accepts such facilities by 
Council action.  Additional cleaning may be required by City of Berkeley Public Works 
Engineering Dept.

G. All on-site storm drain inlets must be labeled “No Dumping – Drains to Bay” or equivalent 
using methods approved by the City.

H. Most washing and/or steam cleaning must be done at an appropriately equipped facility that 
drains to the sanitary sewer.  Any outdoor washing or pressure washing must be managed 
in such a way that there is no discharge or soaps or other pollutants to the storm drain.  
Sanitary connections are subject to the review, approval and conditions of the sanitary 
district with jurisdiction for receiving the discharge.  

I. Sidewalks and parking lots shall be swept regularly to prevent the accumulation of litter and 
debris.  If pressure washed, debris must be trapped and collected to prevent entry to the 
storm drain system.  If any cleaning agent or degreaser is used, wash water shall not 
discharge to the storm drains; wash waters should be collected and discharged to the 
sanitary sewer.  Discharges to the sanitary sewer are subject to the review, approval and 
conditions of the sanitary district with jurisdiction for receiving the discharge.

J. The applicant is responsible for ensuring that all contractors and sub-contractors are aware 
of and implement all stormwater quality control measures.  Failure to comply with the 
approved construction BMPs shall result in the issuance of correction notices, citations, or 
a project stop work order.

42. Public Works.  All piles of debris, soil, sand, or other loose materials shall be covered at night 
and during rainy weather with plastic at least one-eighth millimeter thick and secured to the 
ground.

43. Public Works.  The applicant shall ensure that all excavation takes into account surface and 
subsurface waters and underground streams so as not to adversely affect adjacent properties 
and rights-of-way.

44. Public Works.  The project sponsor shall maintain sandbags or other devices around the site 
perimeter during the rainy season to prevent on-site soils from being washed off-site and into 
the storm drain system.  The project sponsor shall comply with all City ordinances regarding 
construction and grading.

45. Public Works.  Prior to any excavation, grading, clearing, or other activities involving soil 
disturbance during the rainy season the applicant shall obtain approval of an erosion prevention 
plan by the Building and Safety Division and the Public Works Department.  The applicant shall 

Page 28 of 162

Page 32



  
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 16 of 16

be responsible for following these and any other measures required by the Building and Safety 
Division and the Public Works Department.

46. Public Works.  The removal or obstruction of any fire hydrant shall require the submission of a 
plan to the City’s Public Works Department for the relocation of the fire hydrant during 
construction. 

47. Public Works.  If underground utilities leading to adjacent properties are uncovered and/or 
broken, the contractor involved shall immediately notify the Public Works Department and the 
Building & Safety Division, and carry out any necessary corrective action to their satisfaction.

Prior to Final Inspection or Issuance of Occupancy Permit:

48. Compliance with Conditions. The project shall conform to the plans and statements in the Use 
Permit. The developer is responsible for providing sufficient evidence to demonstrate 
compliance with the requirements throughout the implementation of this Use Permit.

49. Compliance with Approved Plan.  The project shall conform to the plans and statements in the 
Use Permit.  All landscape, site and architectural improvements shall be completed per the 
attached approved drawings dated December 29, 2022, except as modified by conditions of 
approval.

At All Times:

50. Exterior Lighting. All exterior lighting shall be energy efficient where feasible; and shielded and 
directed downward and away from property lines to prevent excessive glare beyond the subject 
property.

51. Rooftop Projections.  No additional rooftop or elevator equipment shall be added to exceed the 
approved maximum roof height without submission of an application for a Use Permit 
Modification, subject to Board review and approval.

52. Drainage Patterns. The applicant shall establish and maintain drainage patterns that do not 
adversely affect adjacent properties and rights-of-way.  Drainage plans shall be submitted for 
approval of the Building & Safety Division and Public Works Department, if required.

53. Electrical Meter. Only one electrical meter fixture may be installed per dwelling unit.

54. Bird-Safe Glass. The use of bird-safe glass is encouraged for all windows.

55. This Use Permit, including these and all other required conditions, shall be posted in 
conspicuous location, available for viewing by any interested party.

Page 29 of 162

Page 33



Attachment 1, Exhibit B
Page 30 of 162

Page 34



Page 31 of 162

Page 35



Page 32 of 162

Page 36



Page 33 of 162

Page 37



Page 34 of 162

Page 38



Page 35 of 162

Page 39



Page 36 of 162

Page 40



Page 37 of 162

Page 41



Page 38 of 162

Page 42



Z O N I N G 

A D J U S T M E N T S 

B O A R D 

S t a f f  R e p o r t

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.7474    Fax: 510.981.7420 
E-mail: zab@ci.berkeley.ca.us

FOR BOARD ACTION 
APRIL 27, 2023 

705 Euclid Avenue 
Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 to construct a new three-story (41 feet and 11 
inches), 4,528 square foot single family dwelling with two parking spaces 
and associated retaining wall located in the required front setback, on a 
6,024 square foot vacant lot. 

I. Background

A. Land Use Designations:
• General Plan: LDR- Low Density Residential
• Zoning: R-1H- Single Family Residential, Hillside Overlay Zone

B. Zoning Permits Required:
• Use Permit for a new single-family dwelling, under Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC)

Section 23.202.020(A)
• Administrative Use Permit to construct a building with a maximum height over 35

feet in the Hillside Overlay Zone, under BMC Section 23.210.020
• Administrative Use Permit to construct two parking spaces in a required front

setback, under BMC Section 23.322.080
• Administrative Use Permit to construct an accessory structure (backyard retaining

walls) encroaching into a required setback, under BMC Section 23.304.070(B)

C. CEQA Recommendation: It is staff’s recommendation to the Zoning Adjustments
Board (ZAB) that the project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code Section 21000,
et seq. and California Code of Regulations, Section 1500, et seq.)  pursuant to Section
15303 of the CEQA Guidelines (“New Construction or Conversion of Small
Structures”). The determination is made by ZAB.

D. Parties Involved:
• Applicant John Newton, 5666 Telegraph Avenue, Oakland, CA 
• Property Owner Tarek and Michel Khoury, 903 Ventura Avenue, Albany, CA 

Attachment 2
Page 39 of 162

Page 43



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 2 of 12 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map 

Legend 

R-1H: Single-Family Residential District within the Hillside Overlay Zone

705 Euclid 
Ave. 

N 

Page 40 of 162

Page 44



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 3 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

Figure 2: Site Plan 
 
 

  

Page 41 of 162

Page 45



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 4 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

Figure 3: Front Elevation 
  

Page 42 of 162

Page 46



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 5 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

Figure 3:  Side Elevations 
  

Page 43 of 162

Page 47



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 6 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

Table 1: Land Use Information 
Location Existing Use Zoning District General Plan Designation 

Subject Property Vacant lot R-1H LDR- Low Density Residential 

Surrounding 
Properties 

North Single-Family 
dwelling R-1H LDR- Low Density Residential 

South Single-Family 
dwelling R-1H LDR- Low Density Residential 

East Single-Family 
dwelling R-1H LDR- Low Density Residential 

West Single-Family 
dwelling R-1H LDR- Low Density Residential 

 
Table 2: Special Characteristics 

Characteristic 
Applies 

to 
Project? 

Explanation 

Affordable Child Care Fee for 
qualifying non-residential projects 
(Per Resolution 66,618-N.S.) 

No These fees apply to projects with net new 7,500 
square feet of non-residential floor area. The 
project involves only new residential floor area; 
therefore, this requirement does not apply.  

Affordable Housing Fee for qualifying 
non-residential projects (Per 
Resolution 66,617-N.S.) 

No 

Affordable Housing Mitigations for 
rental housing projects (Per BMC 
22.20.065) 

No 
This fee applies to projects that propose 5 or more 
rental dwelling units. This project does not propose 
rental units; therefore, this does not apply.  

Creeks No The project site is not within a creek buffer zone. 

Density Bonus No 

Pursuant to California Government Code Section 
65917.2, a project must contain five or more 
residential units to qualify for state density bonus. 
This project would construct a single-family 
dwelling; therefore, this does not apply.    

Natural Gas Prohibition  
(Per BMC 12.80.020) Yes The project is subject to the natural gas 

prohibition.  
Historic Resources No The proposed project is located on a vacant lot.  

Housing Accountability Act (California 
Government Code Section 
65589.5(j)) 

No 

A “housing development project” means a use 
consisting of residential units only, mixed use 
developments consisting of residential and 
nonresidential uses with at least two-thirds of the 
square footage designated for residential use, or 
transitional or supportive housing. Because the 
term “units” is plural, a development has to consist 
of more than one unit to qualify under the Housing 
Accountability Act (HAA) 
(California Government Code Section 65589.5, 
subdivision (h)(2).). Therefore, 
HAA does not apply to this project. 

Housing Crisis Act of 2019 (SB330) No 

A development has to consist of more than one 
unit to qualify under the HAA. The proposed 
project includes a single-family dwelling, and does 
not meet the definition of a “Housing Development 
Project” per California Government Code Section 

Page 44 of 162

Page 48



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 7 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

65589.5(h)(2)1. Therefore, SB 330 does not apply. 

Oak Trees Yes 

There is one protected Coast Live Oak on the 
project site. Three protection measures were 
provided by the City’s Arborist as Conditions of 
Approval, refer to Attachment 3. 

Rent Controlled Units No The proposed project is located on a vacant lot.  

Residential Preferred Parking (RPP) No The project site is not located within the City of 
Berkeley RPP area 

Seismic Hazards (SHMA) Yes 

The project site is located within the California 
Geological Survey Alquist Priolo Earthquake Fault 
Zone. The applicant submitted a geotechnical 
investigation for the project (insert name of report 
preparer and year), which was peer reviewed by 
the City’s peer reviewer who recommended 
geotechnical approval of the subject land use 
permit application subject to specific geotechnical 
conditions of approval. 
 

Soil/Groundwater Contamination No 

The project site is not listed on the Cortese List (an 
annually updated list of hazardous materials sites 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5), 
nor is it within the City’s Environmental 
Management Area. 

Transit Yes There is an AC Transit stop located approximately 
260 feet south of the project site. 

 
Table 3:  Project Chronology 

Date Action 

August 9, 2022 Application submitted 

August 30, 2022 Application deemed incomplete 

September 29, 2022 New plans submitted 

October 21, 2022 Application deemed incomplete 

December 29, 2022 New plans submitted 

January 19, 2023 Application deemed complete 

April 13, 2023 Public hearing notices mailed/posted 

April 27, 2023 ZAB hearing 

 
 
Table 4: Development Standards 

Standard 
BMC Sections 23.202.050 & 
23.210.020 

Existing Addition/ 
(Reduction) 

Proposed 
Total 

Permitted/ 
Required 

Lot Area (sq. ft.) 6,024 0 6,024 5,000 min 

Gross Floor Area (sq. ft.) n/a 4,528 4,528 No maximum 

Page 45 of 162

Page 49



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 8 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

Floor Area Ratio n/a n/a n/a No maximum 

Dwelling Units Total n/a 1 1 1 max 

Affordable n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Building 
Height 

Average (ft.) n/a 40’ - .5” 40’-.5” 28 max1 

Maximum (ft.) n/a 41’-11” 41’-11” 35 max1 

Stories n/a 3 3 3 max 

Building 
Setbacks (ft.) 

Front n/a 23’-3” 23’-3” 20 min1 

Rear n/a 23’-11” 23’-11” 20 min1 

Left Side n/a 4’ 4’ 4 min 

Right Side n/a 4’-11” 4’-11” 4 min 

Lot Coverage (%) n/a 39.1% 39.1% 40 max 

Usable Open Space (sq. ft.) n/a 1,155 1,155 400 min 

Parking Automobile n/a 2 2 1 min 

Bicycle n/a n/a n/a n/a 
1. Threshold can be exceeded with an AUP 
2. Abbreviations: sq.ft.= square feet; ft = feet; min.=minimum; max.=maximum; % = percent 

 
II. Project Setting 

 
A. Neighborhood/Area Description: The project site is located in a residential area with 

a mix of one-, two-, and three-story single-family dwellings, with areas of open space 
in excess of that required by the BMC, and mature vegetation. Lots in the 
neighborhood are generally rectangular in shape with some irregularities due to 
existing slopes and curved roadways. The neighborhood hills generally slope 
downwards from the northeast to the southwest and provide primary views westward 
towards the San Francisco Bay. Given the hilly terrain, the dwellings on the block tend 
to include attached one- or two-car garages, and/or uncovered parking spaces, within 
front setbacks. Access to dwellings is typically provided via exterior stairways. 
 

B. Site Conditions: The project site is an undeveloped upslope lot on the east side of 
Euclid Avenue in the North Berkeley hills. It is bordered on the north by a public 
stairway (Halkin Walk), on the south by a three-story house at 713 Euclid Avenue, and 
to the east by a three-story house upslope at 702 Hilldale Avenue. To the west, across 
Euclid Avenue, houses are on downslope lots, typically with only their top stories 
and/or garages at street level. The lot, like it’s neighbors, provides a significant view 
of San Francisco Bay. Much of the lot is bordered by trees of various species, including 
one coast live oak on the lot’s northern border. 

 
III. Project Description 

 

Page 46 of 162

Page 50



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 9 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

The project would construct a three-story single-family dwelling, with two off-street 
parking spaces located within the required front setback (out of necessity because of the 
steep terrain). The project will include two front decks to compensate for minimal flat 
ground available for usable open space, and have a maximum height of 41-feet, 11-
inches. The height is consistent neighboring houses in the area. 
 
The proposed first floor will be accessible by a lower entry porch and stairs, 
necessitated by the steep slope. This floor will contain two bedrooms and two 
bathrooms. The second floor will consist of two more bedrooms, two more bathrooms, 
and a laundry area. The top floor will be a mostly open floor plan with the kitchen, dining 
area, and family room, plus a half-bath. There will be access to a rear ground-level patio 
and an uncovered front deck. All floors and a rooftop deck will be accessible via an 
elevator and staircases. 
 
Off-street parking, accessible from Euclid Avenue, will consist of an uncovered parking 
pad protected by retaining walls, with planter boxes above the retaining walls. The 
backyard will consist of a patio area, garden, and retaining wall, located in the setback, 
with access above via exterior steps. 
 
Some of the trees on the lot will be removed in preparation for construction. Others, 
located along the northern border of the property will remain. The Coast Live Oak 
located on the northern border will remain and will not be encroached upon by any of the 
new structures. 
 

IV. Community Discussion 
 
A. Neighbor/Community Concerns: Prior to submitting this application to the city, the 

applicant posted a pre-application poster at the project site. The applicant also 
submitted drawings of the proposed plans to all adjacent and abutting neighbors 
(Attachment 2). No comments in opposition were received at that time. 

 
Story poles were installed on the project site in December 2022. No public comments 
were received after the installation of the story poles. 
 
On April 13, 2023, the City mailed public hearing notices to property owners and 
occupants, and to interested neighborhood organizations, and the City posted notices 
within the neighborhood in three locations. At the time of this writing, staff has received 
one public comment, a letter in opposition to the project from the neighbor to the north 
at 696 Hilldale Avenue (which overlooks Euclid Avenue)(Attachment 5). 

 
B. Committee Review: This project is not subject to review by the Design Review 

Committee or the Landmarks Preservation Commission because it is not a use located 
in a district subject to design review, commercial or manufacturing district, and does 
not involve the demolition of a non-residential building, respectively. 

 

Page 47 of 162

Page 51



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 10 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

V. Issues and Analysis 

A. Findings for Use Permit Approval in the R-1(H) District: Pursuant to BMC Section 
23.202.020(B), a new single-family dwelling is allowed in the R-1 zoning district with a 
Use Permit, provided that its siting meets applicable development standards and 
subject to the non-detriment finding. As shown in Table 4, the proposed project would 
meet or exceed all development standards for the dwelling, with the exception of the 
height limits. The average and maximum heights within the Hillside Overlay Zone may 
be increased to above specified limits with an Administrative Use Permit (AUP) (BMC 
23.210.020(C)(2). 

 
Staff believe that the increased height above the 35-foot maximum are justifiable with 
an AUP because the height of the proposed structure is compatible with those of 
neighboring structures. Further, installation of the story poles on the project site did not 
reveal an unreasonable obstruction of significant views from neighboring properties. 
As noted above, no public comments were received after the installation of the story 
poles. 
 
In the Hillside Overlay District, an AUP to reduce required setbacks (BMC 
23.210.020(C)(4)) can be approved upon finding the project is consistent with the 
purpose of the Hillside Overlay District as stated in BMC 23.210.020(A). While the 
main dwelling meets the 20-foot front setback, the proposed parking area, and it’s 
associated retaining walls, as well as the front exterior stairs, would be located within 
the front setback. This is necessary due to the steep upward slope of the lot. It is also 
consistent with many neighboring properties that have similar parking areas and stairs 
within their front setbacks. 
 
The proposed project would meet the following purposes of the Hillside overlay zone 
pursuant to BMC 23.21.020(A):   

 
1. Implement General Plan policies for Hillside Development; 

 
2. Protect the safety and health of residents where steep topography, unusual street 

conditions and proximity to the wildland-urban interface create severe risk from 
wildfire; 

 
3. Protect the character of Berkeley’s Hillside Districts and their immediate environs; 

 
4. Give reasonable protection to views yet allow appropriate development of all 

property; and 
 

5. Allow modifications in standard yard and height requirements when justified 
because of steep topography, irregular lot pattern, unusual street conditions, or 
other special aspects of the Hillside District area. 

Page 48 of 162

Page 52



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 11 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

B. General Non-Detriment Finding: Per BMC 23.406.040(E)(1), staff believes the 
project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or 
general welfare of residents or workers in the area because it would be consistent with 
the development pattern in the area. The applicant proposes to construct a single-
family dwelling in a neighborhood comprised of single-family dwellings. with the 
siting/design of the proposed structure would also be compatible with the surrounding 
built environment. Staff believes that the proposed project would not unreasonably 
obstruct sunlight, privacy, air, or views as analyzed below: 

1. Sunlight/Shadow: Shadow studies submitted by the applicant document the 
existing and proposed shadow effects at three times each day at the summer 
and winter solstices and on February 25. The studies reveal that shadow effects 
on neighboring properties would be minimal. The most significant potential 
effects would be on 696 Hilldale Avenue for a few hours a day in the winter 
months. However, these effects are mitigated by the fact that significant 
shadows are already cast on that lot by the existing row of tall trees along Halkin 
Walk. Staff recommends that the Board find that these potential impacts are 
non-detrimental. 
 

2. Privacy: The proposed dwelling would have first, second, and third floor 
windows on both sides. Some of these windows could potentially be perceived 
by neighbors as affecting their privacy. However, the applicant has proposed 
obscured glass on the windows that have the greatest potential for causing 
privacy issues. Views from other windows would be obscured by existing and 
new trees along both sides of the lot. 
 
The proposed front balconies are set mostly forward of the fronts of the 
neighboring houses at 696 Hilldale Avenue and 713 Euclid Avenue. Therefore, 
they would not pose a significant threat to privacy. Staff believes the proposed 
dwelling would not be detrimental regarding privacy. 
 

3. Air: The proposed structure would be approximately 20-25 feet from its northern 
neighbor and more than 13 feet from its southern neighbor. The project would 
also exceed the usable open space requirement. Therefore, it is not expected 
to have an effect on available fresh air. 
 

4. Views: Per BMC 23.502.020 (Defined Terms), a significant view is a view of the 
Berkeley Hills, San Francisco Bay, Mt. Tamalpais, or a significant landmark 
such as the Campanile, Golden Gate Bridge, and Alcatraz Island or any other 
significant vista that substantially enhances the value and enjoyment of real 
property. As described above under Project Setting, dwellings in the immediate 
neighborhood of the proposed project have significant views of San Francisco 
Bay and the Golden Gate. The story poles installed on the project site revealed 
that these views will not be substantially affected by the new building. 

 

Page 49 of 162

Page 53



   
 
 

ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 705 EUCLID AVENUE 
April 27, 2023 Page 12 of 12 
 

 
File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\WORKING\705 Euclid Appeal Draft Report and Attachments\2023-04-
27_ZAB Staff Report_705 Euclid.docx 

VI. Other Considerations 
 

A. General Plan Consistency: The 2002 General Plan contains several policies 
applicable to the project, including the following: 
 
1. Policy LU-3–Infill Development: Encourage infill development that is architecturally 

and environmentally sensitive, embodies principles of sustainable planning and 
construction, and is compatible with neighboring land uses and architectural design 
and scale. 
 

2. Policy LU-7–Neighborhood Quality of Life, Action A:  Require that new 
development be consistent with zoning standards and compatible with the scale, 
historic character, and surrounding uses in the area. 
 

3. Policy UD-32–Shadows:  New buildings should be designed to minimize impacts 
on solar access and minimize detrimental shadows. 
 

4. Policy H-33–Regional Housing Needs:  Encourage adequate housing production 
to meet City needs and the City’s share of regional housing needs. 
 
Staff Analysis: The proposed project will be infill in a mostly developed 
neighborhood and will constitute an increase in the available housing units in the 
region. Its design is compatible with the surrounding houses in the neighborhood, 
and its effects on light and significant views will be minimal. 
 

VI. Recommendation 
 
Because of the project’s consistency with the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan, and minimal 
impact on surrounding properties, staff recommends that the Zoning Adjustments Board: 
APPROVE use permit #ZP2022-0104 pursuant to Section 23.406.040.D and subject to the 
attached Findings and Conditions (see Attachment 1). 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Findings and Conditions 
2. Project Plans, received December 29, 2022 
3. Arborist’s Report dated May 26, 2022 
4. Notice of Public Hearing 
5. Public Comment, received April 17, 2023 
 
Staff Planner: Russell Roe, rroe@cityofberkeley.info, (510) 981-7548 

Page 50 of 162

Page 54



   

 
A t t a c h m e n t  1 

F i n d i n g s  a n d  C o n d i t i o n s 
APRIL 27, 2023 

 
1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.7474    Fax: 510.981.7420 

E-mail: zab@cityofberkeley.info 

705 Euclid Avenue 
 
Use Permit #ZP2022-0104 to construct a new three-story (41 feet and 11 inches), 
4,528 square foot single family dwelling with two parking spaces and associated 
retaining wall located in the required front setback, on a 6,024 square foot vacant 
lot. 

ZONING PERMITS REQUIRED 

• Use Permit for a new single-family dwelling, under Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) Section 
23.202.020(A) 

• Administrative Use Permit to construct a building with a maximum height over 35 feet in the 
Hillside Overlay Zone, under BMC Section 23210.020 

• Administrative Use Permit to construct two parking spaces in a required front setback, under 
BMC Section 23.322.080 

• Administrative Use Permit to construct an accessory structure (backyard retaining walls) 
encroaching into a required setback, under BMC Section 23.304.070(B) 
 

I. CEQA FINDINGS 

1. The project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code §21000, et seq. and California Code of Regulations, 
§15000, et seq.) pursuant to Section 15303 of the CEQA Guidelines (“New Construction or 
Conversion of Small Structures”).  

2. Furthermore, none of the exceptions in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2 apply, as follows: 
(a) the site is not located in an environmentally sensitive area, (b) there are no cumulative 
impacts, (c) there are no significant effects, (d) the project is not located near a scenic highway, 
(e) the project site is not located on a hazardous waste site pursuant to Government Code 
Section 65962.5, and (f) the project would not affect any historical resource. 

II. FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL 

1. As required by Section 23.406.040(E)(1) of the BMC, the project, under the circumstances of 
this particular case existing at the time at which the application is granted, would not be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, and general welfare of the persons 
residing or working in the neighborhood of such proposed use or be detrimental or injurious to 
property and improvements of the adjacent properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood, 
or to the general welfare of the City because: 

Page 51 of 162

Page 55



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 2 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

A. Shadow studies submitted by the applicant show that new shadow effects would be minor 
due to the orientation of the new and existing structures, as well as the existence of tall 
trees along some of the property lines; and 

B. Privacy intrusions would be minimal because the proposed front balconies are set mostly 
forward of the fronts of the neighboring houses at 696 Hilldale and 713 Euclid Avenue, the 
applicant has proposed obscured glass for the windows that have the greatest potential for 
causing privacy concerns, and new and existing trees will act as visual obstructions 
between the properties; and 

C. Reduced availability of air will not be an issue because the proposed structure would be 
roughly 20-25 feet from its northern neighbor and more than 13 feet from its southern 
neighbor, and the project would exceed the usable open space requirement; and 

D. Story poles erected on the site show that significant views from neighboring properties will 
not be unreasonably affected. 

III. OTHER FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL 

2. As required by BMC 23.202.020(B), the Zoning Adjustments Board finds that: 

A. The proposed project would meet all applicable development standards for the R-1 District 
except the height limits; 

B. The proposed increased height limits are justifiable and approvable with an AUP because 
the proposed height is compatible with those of neighboring structures and story poles 
erected on the site did not reveal an unreasonable obstruction of significant views from 
neighboring properties; and 

C. The proposed parking area, retaining walls, and exterior stairs are approvable in the front 
setback with an AUP because of the steep upward slope of the lot, and it would be 
consistent with many neighboring properties that have similar parking areas and stairs in 
their front setbacks; and 

D. The proposed project would meet the purposes of the Single-Family Residential District 
and the Hillside Overlay Zone. 

  

Page 52 of 162

Page 56



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 3 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

IV. STANDARD CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR ALL PROJECTS 

The following conditions, as well as all other applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, apply to 
this Permit: 

1. Conditions Shall be Printed on Plans 

The conditions of this Permit shall be printed on the second sheet of each plan set submitted for 
a building permit pursuant to this Use Permit, under the title ‘Use Permit Conditions.’ Additional 
sheets may also be used if the second sheet is not of sufficient size to list all of the conditions. 
The sheet(s) containing the conditions shall be of the same size as those sheets containing the 
construction drawings; 8-1/2” by 11” sheets are not acceptable.   

2. Compliance Required (BMC Section 23.102.050) 

All land uses and structures in Berkeley must comply with the Zoning Ordinance and all 
applicable City ordinances and regulations. Compliance with the Zoning Ordinance does not 
relieve an applicant from requirements to comply with other federal, state, and City regulations 
that also apply to the property. 

3. Approval Limited to Proposed Project and Replacement of Existing Uses (BMC Sections 
23.404.060.B.1 and 2) 

A. This Permit authorizes only the proposed project described in the application. In no way 
does an approval authorize other uses, structures or activities not included in the project 
description. 

B. When the City approves a new use that replaces an existing use, any prior approval of the 
existing use becomes null and void when permits for the new use are exercised (e.g., 
building permit or business license issued). To reestablish the previously existing use, an 
applicant must obtain all permits required by the Zoning Ordinance for the use. 

4. Conformance to Approved Plans (BMC Section 23.404.060.B.4) 

All work performed under an approved permit shall be in compliance with the approved plans 
and any conditions of approval. 

5. Exercise and Expiration of Permits (BMC Section 23.404.060.C) 

A. A permit authorizing a land use is exercised when both a valid City business license is issued 
(if required) and the land use is established on the property.  

B. A permit authorizing construction is exercised when both a valid City building permit (if 
required) is issued and construction has lawfully begun. 

C. The Zoning Officer may declare a permit lapsed if it is not exercised within one year of its 
issuance, except if the applicant has applied for a building permit or has made a substantial 
good faith effort to obtain a building permit and begin construction. The Zoning Officer may 
declare a permit lapsed only after 14 days written notice to the applicant. A determination 

Page 53 of 162

Page 57



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 4 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

that a permit has lapsed may be appealed to the ZAB in accordance with Chapter 23.410 
(Appeals and Certification).  

D. A permit declared lapsed shall be void and of no further force and effect. To establish the 
use or structure authorized by the lapsed permit, an applicant must apply for and receive 
City approval of a new permit. 

6. Permit Remains Effective for Vacant Property (BMC Section 23.404.060.D) 

Once a Permit for a use is exercised and the use is established, the permit authorizing the use 
remains effective even if the property becomes vacant. The same use as allowed by the original 
permit may be re-established without obtaining a new permit, except as set forth in Standard 
Condition #5 above. 

7. Permit Modifications (BMC Section 23.404.070) 

No change in the use or structure for which this Permit is issued is permitted unless the Permit 
is modified by the Board. The Zoning Officer may approve changes to plans approved by the 
Board, consistent with the Board’s policy adopted on May 24, 1978, which reduce the size of the 
project.   

8. Permit Revocation (BMC Section 23.404.080) 
The City may revoke or modify a discretionary permit for completed projects due to: 1) violations 
of permit requirements; 2) Changes to the approved project; and/or 3) Vacancy for one year or 
more. However, no lawful residential use can lapse, regardless of the length of time of the 
vacancy. Proceedings to revoke or modify a permit may be initiated by the Zoning Officer, Zoning 
Adjustments Board (ZAB), or City Council referral.  

9. Indemnification Agreement 

The applicant shall hold harmless, defend, and indemnify the City of Berkeley and its officers, 
agents, and employees against any and all liability, damages, claims, demands, judgments or 
other losses (including without limitation, attorney’s fees, expert witness and consultant fees and 
other litigation expenses), referendum or initiative relating to, resulting from or caused by, or 
alleged to have resulted from, or caused by, any action or approval associated with the 
project.  The indemnity includes without limitation, any legal or administrative challenge, 
referendum or initiative filed or prosecuted to overturn, set aside, stay or otherwise rescind any 
or all approvals granted in connection with the Project, any environmental determination made 
for the project and granting any permit issued in accordance with the project.  This indemnity 
includes, without limitation, payment of all direct and indirect costs associated with any action 
specified herein.  Direct and indirect costs shall include, without limitation, any attorney’s fees, 
expert witness and consultant fees, court costs, and other litigation fees.  City shall have the 
right to select counsel to represent the City at Applicant’s expense in the defense of any action 
specified in this condition of approval.  City shall take reasonable steps to promptly notify the 
Applicant of any claim, demand, or legal actions that may create a claim for indemnification 
under these conditions of approval.   

Page 54 of 162

Page 58



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 5 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

V. ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED BY THE ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 

Pursuant to BMC 23.406.040.E, the Zoning Adjustments Board attaches the following additional 
conditions to this Permit: 

Prior to Submittal of Any Building Permit: 

10. Project Liaison. The applicant shall include in all building permit plans and post onsite the name 
and telephone number of an individual empowered to manage construction-related complaints 
generated from the project.  The individual’s name, telephone number, and responsibility for the 
project shall be posted at the project site for the duration of the project in a location easily visible 
to the public.  The individual shall record all complaints received and actions taken in response, 
and submit written reports of such complaints and actions to the project planner on a weekly 
basis. Please designate the name of this individual below: 

 

 Project Liaison ____________________________________________________ 

 Name       Phone # 

11. Address Assignment. The applicant shall file an “Address Assignment Request Application” with 
the Permit Service Center (1947 Center Street) for any address change or new address 
associated with this Use Permit. The new address(es) shall be assigned and entered into the 
City’s database prior to the applicant’s submittal of a building permit application. 

12. Tree Preservation Conditions. The Arborist Report dated May 26, 2022 shall be included with 
any application for a building permit, and shall be with the approved set of plans on the job site 
at all times while work is taking place. 

13. Tree Protection Fencing. To protect the Specified Tree Protection Zone will be shown on all 
applicable site, landscape, grading, and utility plans. Such fencing shall comply with the 
guidelines specified in the Arborist Report dated May 26, 2022. 

Page 55 of 162

Page 59



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 6 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

Prior to Issuance of Any Building & Safety Permit (Demolition or Construction) 

14. Construction and Demolition Diversion. Applicant shall submit a Construction Waste 
Management Plan that meets the requirements of BMC Chapter 19.37 including 100% diversion 
of asphalt, concrete, excavated soil and land-clearing debris and a minimum of 65% diversion 
of other nonhazardous construction and demolition waste. 

15. Prior to the issuance of any building or demolition permit, the applicant shall prepare and submit 
a transportation construction plan to the City Traffic Engineer for approval. Please contact the 
Office of Transportation at (510) 981-7010, or 1947 Center Street, and ask to speak to a traffic 
engineer. In addition to other requirements of the Traffic Engineer, this plan shall include the 
locations of material and equipment storage, trailers, worker parking, a schedule of site 
operations that may block traffic, and provisions for traffic control. The TCP shall be consistent 
with any other requirements of the construction phase. 

16. Toxics. The applicant shall contact the Toxics Management Division (TMD) at 1947 Center 
Street or (510) 981-7470 to determine which of the following documents are required and timing 
for their submittal:  

A. Environmental Site Assessments: 

1) Phase I & Phase II Environmental Site Assessments (latest ASTM 1527-13).  A recent 
Phase I ESA (less than 2 years old*) shall be submitted to TMD for developments for: 

• All new commercial, industrial and mixed use developments and all large 
improvement projects.  

• All new residential buildings with 5 or more dwelling units located in the 
Environmental Management Area (or EMA). 

• EMA is available online 
at:  http://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/IT/Level_3_-_General/ema.pdf 

2) Phase II ESA is required to evaluate Recognized Environmental Conditions (REC) 
identified in the Phase I or other RECs identified by TMD staff.  The TMD may require a 
third-party toxicologist to review human or ecological health risks that may be identified. 
The applicant may apply to the appropriate state, regional or county cleanup agency to 
evaluate the risks.   

3) If the Phase I is over 2 years old, it will require a new site reconnaissance and interviews. 
If the facility was subject to regulation under Title 15 of the Berkeley Municipal Code since 
the last Phase I was conducted, a new records review must be performed. 

B. Soil and Groundwater Management Plan: 

1) A Soil and Groundwater Management Plan (SGMP) shall be submitted to TMD for all non-
residential projects, and residential or mixed-use projects with five or more dwelling units, 
that: (1) are in the Environmental Management Area (EMA) and (2) propose any 
excavations deeper than 5 feet below grade. The SGMP shall be site specific and identify 
procedures for soil and groundwater management including identification of pollutants 

Page 56 of 162

Page 60

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/IT/Level_3_-_General/ema.pdf


   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 7 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

and disposal methods. The SGMP will identify permits required and comply with all 
applicable local, state and regional requirements.  

2) The SGMP shall require notification to TMD of any hazardous materials found in soils and 
groundwater during development. The SGMP will provide guidance on managing odors 
during excavation. The SGMP will provide the name and phone number of the individual 
responsible for implementing the SGMP and post the name and phone number for the 
person responding to community questions and complaints. 

3) TMD may impose additional conditions as deemed necessary. All requirements of the 
approved SGMP shall be deemed conditions of approval of this Use Permit. 

C. Building Materials Survey: 

1) Prior to approving any permit for partial or complete demolition and renovation activities 
involving the removal of 20 square or lineal feet of interior or exterior walls, a building 
materials survey shall be conducted by a qualified professional. The survey shall include, 
but not be limited to, identification of any lead-based paint, asbestos, polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PBC) containing equipment, hydraulic fluids in elevators or lifts, refrigeration 
systems, treated wood and mercury containing devices (including fluorescent light bulbs 
and mercury switches). The Survey shall include plans on hazardous waste or hazardous 
materials removal, reuse or disposal procedures to be implemented that fully comply state 
hazardous waste generator requirements (22 California Code of Regulations 66260 et 
seq). The Survey becomes a condition of any building or demolition permit for the project. 
Documentation evidencing disposal of hazardous waste in compliance with the survey 
shall be submitted to TMD within 30 days of the completion of the demolition. If asbestos 
is identified, Bay Area Air Quality Management District Regulation 11-2-401.3 a 
notification must be made and the J number must be made available to the City of 
Berkeley Permit Service Center.  

D. Hazardous Materials Business Plan: 

1) A Hazardous Materials Business Plan (HMBP) in compliance with BMC Section 
15.12.040 shall be submitted electronically at http://cers.calepa.ca.gov/  within 30 days if 
on-site hazardous materials exceed BMC 15.20.040. HMBP requirement can be found at 
http://ci.berkeley.ca.us/hmr/   

Prior to Issuance of Any Building (Construction) Permit  

17. HVAC Noise Reduction. Prior to the issuance of building permits, the project applicant shall 
submit plans that show the location, type, and design of proposed heating, ventilation, and 
cooling (HVAC) equipment. In addition, the applicant shall provide product specification sheets 
or a report from a qualified acoustical consultant showing that operation of the proposed HVAC 
equipment will meet the City’s exterior noise requirements in BMC Section 13.40.050. The City’s 
Planning and Development Department shall review the submitted plans, including the selected 
HVAC equipment, to verify compliance with exterior noise standards. 

 

Page 57 of 162

Page 61

http://cers.calepa.ca.gov/
http://ci.berkeley.ca.us/hmr/


   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 8 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

18. Solar Photovoltaic (Solar PV) and Battery Energy Storage Systems (ESS). A solar PV system 
shall be installed, subject to specific limited exceptions, as specified by the Berkeley Energy 
Code (BMC Chapter 19.36). Energy storage system (ESS) readiness (new single-family, duplex, 
and townhouse homes) or ESS installation (new multifamily and most nonresidential buildings) 
shall be completed as specified by BMC Chapter 19.36. Location of the solar PV system and the 
ESS, if applicable, shall be noted on the construction plans. 
 

19. Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. Each dwelling unit shall install a listed raceway, wiring, and load 
capacity to allow for future Level 2 (40 amp) plug-in electric vehicle (EV) charging system 
installation, or any more stringent EV charging requirements as specified by the Berkeley Green 
Code (BMC Chapter 19.37). Readiness for EV charging and EV charging station installations 
shall be noted on the construction plans. 
 

20. Water Efficient Landscaping. Landscaping, totaling 500 square feet of more of new landscaping 
or 2,500 square feet or more of renovated irrigated area, shall comply with the State’s Model 
Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO). MWELO-compliant landscape documentation 
including a planting, grading, and irrigation plan shall be included in site plans. Water budget 
calculations are also required for landscapes of 2,500 square feet or more and shall be included 
in site plans. The reference evapotranspiration rate (ETo) for Berkeley is 41.8. 

 
21. Prohibition of Natural Gas Infrastructure in New Buildings. The project shall comply with the City 

of Berkeley Prohibition of Natural Gas Infrastructure in New Buildings (BMC Chapter 12.80). The 
building permit plan set submission shall both include a cover sheet declaration: ‘Natural Gas-
Free Design as required by BMC Chapter 12.80.  
 

22. Recycling and Organics Collection. Applicant shall provide recycling and organics collection 
areas for occupants, clearly marked on site plans, which comply with the Alameda County 
Mandatory Recycling Ordinance (ACWMA Ordinance 2012-01). 

 
23. Public Works ADA.  Plans submitted for building permit shall include replacement of sidewalk, 

curb, gutter, and other streetscape improvements, as necessary to comply with current City of 
Berkeley standards for accessibility. 
 

24. Geotechnical Plan Review. The applicant’s geotechnical consultant should review an approve 
all geotechnical aspects of the final project building a grading plans (i.e., site preparation and 
grading, shoring design, site surface an subsurface drainage improvements including site runoff 
discharge, and design parameters for foundations and retaining walls) to ensure that their 
recommendations have been properly incorporated. 

The Project Geotechnical Consultant should clarity anticipated depths to bedrock materials 
across the site for structural design (i.e., at what depth can bedrock skin friction be used). 

The results of the plan review should be summarized by the Geotechnical Consultant in a letter 
and submitted to the City Engineer for review and approval prior to issuance of building permits. 

During Construction: 

Page 58 of 162

Page 62



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 9 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

25. Construction Hours. Construction activity shall be limited to between the hours of 8:00 AM and 
6:00 PM on Monday through Friday, and between 9:00 AM and Noon on Saturday. No 
construction-related activity shall occur on Sunday or any Federal Holiday. 
 

26. Tree Protection Fencing to protect the Specified Tree Protection Zone must be installed prior to 
any site or demolition work, in accordance with the approved plans, and remain during all stages 
of site work and construction. 
 

27. Tree Monitoring. Trees identified for protection in the Arborist Report dated May 26, 2022 shall 
be monitored monthly during construction by the project arborist. 
 

28. Geotechnical Report. The contractors shall implement the recommendations of the Geotechnical 
Soil Report, dated March 15, 2022, including site preparation and earthwork, surface and 
subsurface drainage, foundation reinforcements, retaining wall design, lateral lode resistance, 
and seismic reinforcements. 
 

29. Geotechnical Construction Inspections. The Geotechnical Consultant should inspect, test (as 
needed), and approve all geotechnical aspects of the project construction. The inspections 
should include, but not necessarily be limited to: site preparation and grading, site surface and 
subsurface drainage improvements, and excavations for foundations and other improvements 
prior to the placement of steel and concrete. The Consultant should inspect and approve of 
temporary shoring measures, as applicable during grading for proposed parking areas and 
residential imp0rovements. 
 
The results of these inspections and the as-built conditions of the project should be described 
by the geotechnical consultant in a letter and submitted to the City Engineer for review prior to 
final (granting of occupancy) project approval. 
 

30.     The height and location of the proposed structure, property lines and spot elevations shall be 
 verified by a licensed surveyor or engineer on site after foundation forms are placed, but before 
 pouring concrete or placing construction material in its permanent position. This verification 
 shall be to the satisfaction of the Zoning Officer.  

 
31. Public Works - Implement BAAQMD-Recommended Measures during Construction.  For all 

proposed projects, BAAQMD recommends implementing all the Basic Construction Mitigation 
Measures, listed below to meet the best management practices threshold for fugitive dust: 

A. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, and 
unpaved access roads) shall be watered two times per day. 

B. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material off-site shall be covered. 

C. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet power 
vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is prohibited. 

D. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 mph. 

Page 59 of 162

Page 63



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 10 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

E. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as possible. 
Building pads shall be laid as soon as possible after grading unless seeding or soil binders 
are used. 

F. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing 
the maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California airborne toxics control 
measure Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of Regulations [CCR]). Clear signage 
shall be provided for construction workers at all access points. 

G. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with 
manufacturer specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified visible emissions 
evaluator. 

H. Post a publicly visible sign with the telephone number and person to contact at the lead 
agency regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective action 
within 48 hours. The Air District ‘s phone number shall also be visible to ensure compliance 
with applicable regulations.  

32. Construction and Demolition Diversion.  Divert debris according to your plan and collect required 
documentation. Get construction debris receipts from sorting facilities in order to verify diversion 
requirements. Upload recycling and disposal receipts if using Green Halo and submit online for 
City review and approval prior to final inspection. Alternatively, complete the second page of the 
original Construction Waste Management Plan and present it, along with your construction 
debris receipts, to the Building Inspector by the final inspection to demonstrate diversion rate 
compliance. The Zoning Officer may request summary reports at more frequent intervals, as 
necessary to ensure compliance with this requirement. 

 
33. Low-Carbon Concrete. The project shall maintain compliance with the Berkeley Green Code 

(BMC Chapter 19.37) including use of concrete mix design with a cement reduction of at least 
25%. Documentation on concrete mix design shall be available at all times at the construction 
site for review by City Staff. 

 
34. Transportation Construction Plan.  The applicant and all persons associated with the project are 

hereby notified that a Transportation Construction Plan (TCP) is required for all phases of 
construction, particularly for the following activities: 
• Alterations, closures, or blockages to sidewalks, pedestrian paths or vehicle travel lanes 

(including bicycle lanes); 
• Storage of building materials, dumpsters, debris anywhere in the public ROW; 
• Provision of exclusive contractor parking on-street; or  
• Significant truck activity. 

Please contact the Office of Transportation at (510) 981-7010, or 1947 Center Street, and ask to 
speak to a traffic engineer. In addition to other requirements of the Traffic Engineer, this plan shall 
include the locations of material and equipment storage, trailers, worker parking, a schedule of 
site operations that may block traffic, and provisions for traffic control. The TCP shall be consistent 
with any other requirements of the construction phase.  
 
Contact the Permit Service Center (PSC) at 1947 Center Street or 981-7500 for details on 
obtaining Construction/No Parking Permits (and associated signs and accompanying dashboard 
permits). Please note that the Zoning Officer and/or Traffic Engineer may limit off-site parking of 

Page 60 of 162

Page 64

https://greenhalosystems.com/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf


   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 11 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

construction-related vehicles if necessary to protect the health, safety or convenience of the 
surrounding neighborhood. A current copy of this Plan shall be available at all times at the 
construction site for review by City Staff. 

 

35. Avoid Disturbance of Nesting Birds. Initial site disturbance activities, including vegetation and 
concrete removal, shall be prohibited during the general avian nesting season (February 1 to 
August 30), if feasible. If nesting season avoidance is not feasible, the applicant shall retain a 
qualified biologist to conduct a preconstruction nesting bird survey to determine the 
presence/absence, location, and activity status of any active nests on or adjacent to the project 
site. The extent of the survey buffer area surrounding the site shall be established by the qualified 
biologist to ensure that direct and indirect effects to nesting birds are avoided. To avoid the 
destruction of active nests and to protect the reproductive success of birds protected by the 
MBTA and CFGC, nesting bird surveys shall be performed not more than 14 days prior to 
scheduled vegetation and concrete removal. In the event that active nests are discovered, a 
suitable buffer (typically a minimum buffer of 50 feet for passerines and a minimum buffer of 250 
feet for raptors) shall be established around such active nests and no construction shall be 
allowed inside the buffer areas until a qualified biologist has determined that the nest is no longer 
active (e.g., the nestlings have fledged and are no longer reliant on the nest). No ground-
disturbing activities shall occur within this buffer until the qualified biologist has confirmed that 
breeding/nesting is completed and the young have fledged the nest. Nesting bird surveys are 
not required for construction activities occurring between August 31 and January 31. 

 
36. Archaeological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). 

Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15064.5(f), “provisions for historical or unique 
archaeological resources accidentally discovered during construction” should be instituted. 
Therefore: 

A. In the event that any prehistoric or historic subsurface cultural resources are discovered 
during ground disturbing activities, all work within 50 feet of the resources shall be halted 
and the project applicant and/or lead agency shall consult with a qualified archaeologist, 
historian or paleontologist to assess the significance of the find. 

B. If any find is determined to be significant, representatives of the project proponent and/or 
lead agency and the qualified professional would meet to determine the appropriate 
avoidance measures or other appropriate measure, with the ultimate determination to be 
made by the City of Berkeley. All significant cultural materials recovered shall be subject to 
scientific analysis, professional museum curation, and/or a report prepared by the qualified 
professional according to current professional standards. 

C. In considering any suggested measure proposed by the qualified professional, the project 
applicant shall determine whether avoidance is necessary or feasible in light of factors such 
as the uniqueness of the find, project design, costs, and other considerations. 

D. If avoidance is unnecessary or infeasible, other appropriate measures (e.g., data recovery) 
shall be instituted. Work may proceed on other parts of the project site while mitigation 
measures for cultural resources is carried out. 

Page 61 of 162

Page 65



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 12 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

E. If significant materials are recovered, the qualified professional shall prepare a report on the 
findings for submittal to the Northwest Information Center. 

 
37. Human Remains (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). In the event 

that human skeletal remains are uncovered at the project site during ground-disturbing activities, 
all work shall immediately halt and the Alameda County Coroner shall be contacted to evaluate 
the remains, and following the procedures and protocols pursuant to Section 15064.5 (e)(1) of 
the CEQA Guidelines. If the County Coroner determines that the remains are Native American, 
the City shall contact the California Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC), pursuant to 
subdivision (c) of Section 7050.5 of the Health and Safety Code, and all excavation and site 
preparation activities shall cease within a 50-foot radius of the find until appropriate 
arrangements are made. If the agencies determine that avoidance is not feasible, then an 
alternative plan shall be prepared with specific steps and timeframe required to resume 
construction activities. Monitoring, data recovery, determination of significance and avoidance 
measures (if applicable) shall be completed expeditiously. 

 
38. Paleontological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). In the 

event of an unanticipated discovery of a paleontological resource during construction, 
excavations within 50 feet of the find shall be temporarily halted or diverted until the discovery 
is examined by a qualified paleontologist (per Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards 
[SVP 1995,1996]). The qualified paleontologist shall document the discovery as needed, 
evaluate the potential resource, and assess the significance of the find. The paleontologist shall 
notify the appropriate agencies to determine procedures that would be followed before 
construction is allowed to resume at the location of the find. If the City determines that avoidance 
is not feasible, the paleontologist shall prepare an excavation plan for mitigating the effect of the 
project on the qualities that make the resource important, and such plan shall be implemented. 
The plan shall be submitted to the City for review and approval. 

 
 

39. Paleontological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). 

A. Qualified Paleontologist. The project applicant shall retain a Qualified Paleontologist prior to 
excavations or ground disturbance that will exceed three feet in depth. The Qualified 
Paleontologist shall direct all mitigation measures related to paleontological resources. A 
qualified professional paleontologist is defined by the SVP standards as an individual 
preferably with an M.S. or Ph.D. in paleontology or geology who is experienced with 
paleontological procedures and techniques, who is knowledgeable in the geology of 
California, and who has worked as a paleontological mitigation project supervisor for a least 
two years (SVP 2010).  

B. Paleontological Worker Environmental Awareness Program (WEAP). Prior to ground 
disturbance, the applicant shall incorporate information on paleontological resources into 
the Project’s Worker Environmental Awareness Training (WEAP) materials, or a stand-alone 
Paleontological Resources WEAP shall be submitted to the Department of Planning and 
Development at the City of Berkeley. The Qualified Paleontologist or his or her designee 
shall conduct training for construction personnel regarding the appearance of fossils and the 
procedures for notifying paleontological staff should fossils be discovered by construction 
staff. The Paleontological WEAP training shall be fulfilled simultaneously with the overall 

Page 62 of 162

Page 66



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 13 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

WEAP training, or at the first preconstruction meeting at which a Qualified Paleontologist 
attends prior to ground disturbance. Printed literature (handouts) shall accompany the initial 
training. Following the initial WEAP training, all new workers and contractors must be trained 
prior to conducting ground disturbance work.  

C. Paleontological Monitoring. The extent of required paleontological monitoring for the project 
shall be determined by the Qualified Paleontologist based on an evaluation of the previously 
undisturbed geologic units exposed during ground disturbing activity. The Qualified 
Paleontologist shall conduct and initial spot check and evaluation of geologic conditions for 
ground disturbing activity for excavations between 5-10 feet below ground surface (BGS). 
The evaluation shall be based on field evidence including lithology of geologic units and 
results of microscreening or other inspections for fossil resources. If the paleontologist 
determines that geologic units exposed between 5-10 feet BGS have high paleontological 
sensitivity, then full-time monitoring shall be conducted for the duration of ground disturbing 
activity. If sediments between 5-10 feet BGS are determined to not be paleontological 
sensitive, spot checks should be conducted again for ground disturbance between 10-15 
feet BGS and again for ground disturbance between 15-20 feet BGS, and again to the full 
depth of ground disturbance. If spot checks indicate low or no paleontological sensitivity, or 
if full time monitoring results in no fossil discoveries once the full depth of ground disturbance 
has been reached, paleontological monitoring can be discontinued for the remainder of 
project activity. Monitoring shall be reinstated if any new ground disturbances are required 
to depths exceeding previous depths of previous work, and reduction or suspension shall 
be reconsidered by the Qualified Paleontologist at that time. 

D. In the event of a fossil discovery by the paleontological monitor or construction personnel, 
all work in the immediate vicinity of the find shall cease. A Qualified Paleontologist shall 
evaluate the find before restarting construction activity in the area. If it is determined that the 
fossil(s) is (are) scientifically significant, the Qualified Paleontologist shall complete the 
following conditions to mitigate impacts to significant fossil resources:  

1) Salvage of Fossils. If fossils are discovered, the paleontological monitor shall have the 
authority to halt or temporarily divert construction equipment within 50 feet of the find 
until the monitor and/or lead paleontologist evaluate the discovery and determine if the 
fossil may be considered significant. Typically, fossils can be safely salvaged quickly by 
a single paleontologist and not disrupt construction activity. In some cases, larger fossils 
(such as complete skeletons or large mammal fossils) require more extensive excavation 
and longer salvage periods. In this case, the Construction Contractor may be requested 
to supply heavy equipment and an operator to assist in the rapid removal of a large fossil 
specimen(s) or sediment sample(s). Bulk matrix sampling may be necessary to recover 
small invertebrates or microvertebrates from within paleontologically- sensitive 
Quaternary old alluvial deposits. 

2) Preparation and Curation of Recovered Fossils. Once salvaged, significant fossils shall 
be identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level, prepared to a curation-ready 
condition, and curated in a scientific institution with a permanent paleontological 
collection (such as the UCMP), along with all pertinent field notes, photos, data, and 
maps. Fossils of undetermined significance at the time of collection may also warrant 
curation at the discretion of the Qualified Paleontologist. 

Page 63 of 162

Page 67



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 14 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

E. Final Paleontological Mitigation Report. Upon completion of ground disturbing activity (and 
curation of fossils if necessary) the Qualified Paleontologist shall prepare a final report 
describing the results of the paleontological monitoring efforts associated with the project. 
The report shall include a summary of the field and laboratory methods, an overview of the 
project geology and paleontology, a list of taxa recovered (if any), an analysis of fossils 
recovered (if any) and their scientific significance, and recommendations. The report shall 
be submitted to the Department of Planning and Development at the City of Berkeley. If the 
monitoring efforts produced fossils, then a copy of the report shall also be submitted to the 
designated museum repository. 

 
40. Halt Work/Unanticipated Discovery of Tribal Cultural Resources. In the event that cultural 

resources of Native American origin are identified during construction, all work within 50 feet of 
the discovery shall be redirected. The project applicant and project construction contractor shall 
notify the City Planning Department within 24 hours.  The City will again contact any tribes who 
have requested consultation under AB 52, as well as contact a qualified archaeologist, to 
evaluate the resources and situation and provide recommendations.  If it is determined that the 
resource is a tribal cultural resource and thus significant under CEQA, a mitigation plan shall be 
prepared and implemented in accordance with State guidelines and in consultation with Native 
American groups. If the resource cannot be avoided, additional measures to avoid or reduce 
impacts to the resource and to address tribal concerns may be required. 
 

41. Stormwater Requirements. The applicant shall demonstrate compliance with the requirements 
of the City’s National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit as described in 
BMC Section 17.20.  The following conditions apply: 

A. The project plans shall identify and show site-specific Best Management Practices (BMPs) 
appropriate to activities conducted on-site to limit to the maximum extent practicable the 
discharge of pollutants to the City's storm drainage system, regardless of season or weather 
conditions. 

B. Trash enclosures and/or recycling area(s) shall be covered; no other area shall drain onto 
this area.  Drains in any wash or process area shall not discharge to the storm drain system; 
these drains should connect to the sanitary sewer.  Applicant shall contact the City of 
Berkeley and EBMUD for specific connection and discharge requirements.  Discharges to 
the sanitary sewer are subject to the review, approval and conditions of the City of Berkeley 
and EBMUD. 

C. Landscaping shall be designed with efficient irrigation to reduce runoff, promote surface 
infiltration and minimize the use of fertilizers and pesticides that contribute to stormwater 
pollution.  Where feasible, landscaping should be designed and operated to treat runoff.  
When and where possible, xeriscape and drought tolerant plants shall be incorporated into 
new development plans. 

D. Design, location and maintenance requirements and schedules for any stormwater quality 
treatment structural controls shall be submitted to the Department of Public Works for review 
with respect to reasonable adequacy of the controls.  The review does not relieve the 
property owner of the responsibility for complying with BMC Chapter 17.20 and future 

Page 64 of 162

Page 68



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 15 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

revisions to the City's overall stormwater quality ordinances.  This review shall be shall be 
conducted prior to the issuance of a Building Permit. 

E. All paved outdoor storage areas must be designed to reduce/limit the potential for runoff to 
contact pollutants. 

F. All on-site storm drain inlets/catch basins must be cleaned at least once a year immediately 
prior to the rainy season.  The property owner shall be responsible for all costs associated 
with proper operation and maintenance of all storm drainage facilities (pipelines, inlets, catch 
basins, outlets, etc.) associated with the project, unless the City accepts such facilities by 
Council action.  Additional cleaning may be required by City of Berkeley Public Works 
Engineering Dept. 

G. All on-site storm drain inlets must be labeled “No Dumping – Drains to Bay” or equivalent 
using methods approved by the City. 

H. Most washing and/or steam cleaning must be done at an appropriately equipped facility that 
drains to the sanitary sewer.  Any outdoor washing or pressure washing must be managed 
in such a way that there is no discharge or soaps or other pollutants to the storm drain.  
Sanitary connections are subject to the review, approval and conditions of the sanitary 
district with jurisdiction for receiving the discharge.   

I. Sidewalks and parking lots shall be swept regularly to prevent the accumulation of litter and 
debris.  If pressure washed, debris must be trapped and collected to prevent entry to the 
storm drain system.  If any cleaning agent or degreaser is used, wash water shall not 
discharge to the storm drains; wash waters should be collected and discharged to the 
sanitary sewer.  Discharges to the sanitary sewer are subject to the review, approval and 
conditions of the sanitary district with jurisdiction for receiving the discharge. 

J. The applicant is responsible for ensuring that all contractors and sub-contractors are aware 
of and implement all stormwater quality control measures.  Failure to comply with the 
approved construction BMPs shall result in the issuance of correction notices, citations, or 
a project stop work order. 

 
42. Public Works.  All piles of debris, soil, sand, or other loose materials shall be covered at night 

and during rainy weather with plastic at least one-eighth millimeter thick and secured to the 
ground. 

 
43. Public Works.  The applicant shall ensure that all excavation takes into account surface and 

subsurface waters and underground streams so as not to adversely affect adjacent properties 
and rights-of-way. 

 
44. Public Works.  The project sponsor shall maintain sandbags or other devices around the site 

perimeter during the rainy season to prevent on-site soils from being washed off-site and into 
the storm drain system.  The project sponsor shall comply with all City ordinances regarding 
construction and grading. 

 

Page 65 of 162

Page 69



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 16 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

45. Public Works.  Prior to any excavation, grading, clearing, or other activities involving soil 
disturbance during the rainy season the applicant shall obtain approval of an erosion prevention 
plan by the Building and Safety Division and the Public Works Department.  The applicant shall 
be responsible for following these and any other measures required by the Building and Safety 
Division and the Public Works Department. 

 

46. Public Works.  The removal or obstruction of any fire hydrant shall require the submission of a 
plan to the City’s Public Works Department for the relocation of the fire hydrant during 
construction.  

 
47. Public Works.  If underground utilities leading to adjacent properties are uncovered and/or 

broken, the contractor involved shall immediately notify the Public Works Department and the 
Building & Safety Division, and carry out any necessary corrective action to their satisfaction. 

 

Prior to Final Inspection or Issuance of Occupancy Permit: 

48. Compliance with Conditions. The project shall conform to the plans and statements in the Use 
Permit. The developer is responsible for providing sufficient evidence to demonstrate 
compliance with the requirements throughout the implementation of this Use Permit. 

49. Compliance with Approved Plan.  The project shall conform to the plans and statements in the 
Use Permit.  All landscape, site and architectural improvements shall be completed per the 
attached approved drawings dated December 29, 2022, except as modified by conditions of 
approval. 

At All Times: 

50. Exterior Lighting. All exterior lighting shall be energy efficient where feasible; and shielded and 
directed downward and away from property lines to prevent excessive glare beyond the subject 
property. 

51. Rooftop Projections.  No additional rooftop or elevator equipment shall be added to exceed the 
approved maximum roof height without submission of an application for a Use Permit 
Modification, subject to Board review and approval. 

52. Drainage Patterns. The applicant shall establish and maintain drainage patterns that do not 
adversely affect adjacent properties and rights-of-way.  Drainage plans shall be submitted for 
approval of the Building & Safety Division and Public Works Department, if required. 

53. Electrical Meter. Only one electrical meter fixture may be installed per dwelling unit. 
 

54. Bird-Safe Glass. The use of bird-safe glass is encouraged for all windows. 

55. This Use Permit, including these and all other required conditions, shall be posted in 
conspicuous location, available for viewing by any interested party. 

Page 66 of 162

Page 70



   
705 EUCLID AVENUE- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
April 27, 2023 Page 17 of 17 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\Euclid\0705\ZP2022-0104\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-04-27_ZAB_ATT1_705 Euclid_Findings and 
Conditions_post-hearing updates.docx 

 

Page 67 of 162

Page 71



Page 68 of 162

Page 72



Page 69 of 162

Page 73



Page 70 of 162

Page 74



Page 71 of 162

Page 75



Page 72 of 162

Page 76



Page 73 of 162

Page 77



Page 74 of 162

Page 78



Page 75 of 162

Page 79



Page 76 of 162

Page 80



Page 77 of 162

Page 81



Page 78 of 162

Page 82



SHRUB ON SLOPE 5% (20:1) TO 50% (2:1) - MODIFIED SOIL
3/4" = 1'-0"

Shrub.

Root ball.

4" high x 8" wide round - topped soil berm
above root ball surface shall be centered
on the downhill side of the root ball for
240°. Berm shall begin at root ball
periphery.

4" layer of mulch.
No more than 1" of

mulch on top of
root ball. (See

specifications for
mulch).

Prior to mulching, lightly tamp soil around
the root ball in 6" lifts to brace shrub. Do
not over compact. When the planting hole
has been backfilled, pour water around the
root ball to settle the soil.

Original slope should
pass through the

point where the trunk
meets substrate/soil.

Modified soil.
Depth varies. (See

specifications for soil
modification).

Bottom of root ball
rests on existing or

recompacted soil.

Existing soil.
SECTION VIEW

TREE ON SLOPE 5% (20:1) TO 50% (2:1) (EXISTING SOIL MODIFIED)
1/2" = 1'-0"

Trunk caliper shall
meet ANSI Z60 current
edition for root ball size.

Round-topped soil
 berm 4" high x 8" wide

above root ball surface shall
be centered on the downhill
side of the root ball for 240°.
 Berm shall begin at root ball

periphery.

Original grade.

Bottom of root ball rests on
existing or recompacted soil.

SECTION VIEW

Original slope should pass
through the point where the
trunk base meets
substrate/soil.

4" layer of mulch. No more
than 1" of mulch on top of root
ball. (See specifications for
mulch).

Modified soil. Depth
varies. (See soil preparation

plan).

Root ball modified as
required.

Prior to mulching, lightly tamp
soil around the root ball in 6"
lifts to brace tree. Do not over
compact. When the planting
hole has been backfilled, pour
water around the root ball to
settle the soil.

Ln

Dv

Dv

Dv

Dv

Dv

Dv

Dv

Dv

Dv

Dv

Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln

PtCt Ct Pt Ct

Pt

Ct

Pt

CtPtCtPtCt

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

LmLmLmLm

Ap

Li

LnLnLnLnLn Ct

A

A

Ec

Ec

Ec

Ec

Ec

Ec

A

A

A

A

A Ml Ml

Ml

Ml

Ml

Ml

Sl

Sl

Dv

CdCd
Cd Cd

Nf

Nf
Nf

Nf
Nf

Nf
Nf

Nf
Nf

Nf

Nf
Nf

Nf

Cd

Cd
Cd

Cd
Cd

Cd

Cd

Cd

270sf Artificial
Turf

Cd

CdLn Ln Ln Ln

Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln Ln

Ej

Ej

Ej

Nf
Nf

Nf
Nf

Ll
Ll

Ll

Ll

Ll
Ll

Ll Ll

Ll
Ll

Ll

Ll
Ll

Ll

Ll Ll Ll Ll Ll

Nf
Nf

Nf

Cd
Cd

Cd
Ll

Ll
Ll

Ll

Ll
Ll

Ej

Ej

Ej

Ej

Ej

70
5 

EU
C

LI
D

 A
VE

BE
R

KE
LE

Y,
 C

A 
94

70
8

DATE BY DESCRIPTION

DATE

REVISIONS:

SCALE

1/8"=1'-0"

L1

24
75

 B
R

U
SH

 C
R

EE
K 

R
O

AD

D
a

vi
d

 F
o

w
le

r 
D

e
si

g
n

s

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

e 
| a

rb
or

ic
ul

tu
re

 | 
sc

ul
pt

ur
e

SA
N

TA
 R

O
SA

, C
A 

95
40

4
70

7.
33

1.
51

99

df
ow

le
rd

es
ig

ns
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

w
w

w
.d

av
id

fo
w

le
rd

es
ig

ns
.c

om

06/23/22

R
LA

# 
61

26

PLANTING PLAN

Soil and Planting Notes:

1. A minimum of 8" of non-mechanicall compacted soil shall be
available for water absorption and root growth in planting areas.

2. Incorporate compost or natural fertilizer into teh soil to a minimum
depth of 8" at a minimum rate of 6 cubic yards per 1000 square
feet or per specific amendment recommendations from a soils
laboratory report.

3. A minimum 3" layer of mulch shall be applied on all exposed soil
surfaces of planting areas except in turf areas, creeping or rooting
groundcovers or direct seeding applications.

06/23/22

"I have complied with the criteria of the ordinance
and applied them for the efficient use of water in
the planting design"

12/31/22

PLANTING LEGEND
SCALE

1/8"=1'-0"

AP
N

: 6
3-

29
55

-4
0-

1

Page 79 of 162

Page 83

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRUE NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
H A L K I N   P A T H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Δ=0°46'08"

AutoCAD SHX Text
L=10.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
804

AutoCAD SHX Text
806

AutoCAD SHX Text
806

AutoCAD SHX Text
808

AutoCAD SHX Text
808

AutoCAD SHX Text
808

AutoCAD SHX Text
810

AutoCAD SHX Text
810

AutoCAD SHX Text
810

AutoCAD SHX Text
812

AutoCAD SHX Text
812

AutoCAD SHX Text
814

AutoCAD SHX Text
816

AutoCAD SHX Text
816

AutoCAD SHX Text
818

AutoCAD SHX Text
818

AutoCAD SHX Text
820

AutoCAD SHX Text
820

AutoCAD SHX Text
822

AutoCAD SHX Text
822

AutoCAD SHX Text
824

AutoCAD SHX Text
824

AutoCAD SHX Text
826

AutoCAD SHX Text
826

AutoCAD SHX Text
828

AutoCAD SHX Text
830

AutoCAD SHX Text
832

AutoCAD SHX Text
834

AutoCAD SHX Text
836

AutoCAD SHX Text
838

AutoCAD SHX Text
840

AutoCAD SHX Text
842

AutoCAD SHX Text
844

AutoCAD SHX Text
846

AutoCAD SHX Text
848

AutoCAD SHX Text
850

AutoCAD SHX Text
852

AutoCAD SHX Text
856

AutoCAD SHX Text
856

AutoCAD SHX Text
858

AutoCAD SHX Text
858

AutoCAD SHX Text
860

AutoCAD SHX Text
860

AutoCAD SHX Text
862

AutoCAD SHX Text
862

AutoCAD SHX Text
864

AutoCAD SHX Text
864

AutoCAD SHX Text
866

AutoCAD SHX Text
868

AutoCAD SHX Text
868

AutoCAD SHX Text
870

AutoCAD SHX Text
870

AutoCAD SHX Text
872

AutoCAD SHX Text
125.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S77°58'39"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
51.39'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N25°24'00"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
115.29'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N77°58'39"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
°

AutoCAD SHX Text
812

AutoCAD SHX Text
814

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%916

AutoCAD SHX Text
854

AutoCAD SHX Text
854

AutoCAD SHX Text
EUCLID AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(70' WIDE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LWR PORCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
+834'-1.5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
1st FLR

AutoCAD SHX Text
+841'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2nd FLR

AutoCAD SHX Text
+852'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3rd FLR

AutoCAD SHX Text
+863'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
705 EUCLID AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
R=745.09'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LWR LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
+828'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW CONCRETE STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW PARKING PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
+807'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
14" TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10" TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
+862'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROOF DECK

AutoCAD SHX Text
+876'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PORCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
+834'-1.5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
LWR  LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
+828'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) SLOPED RET WALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) RET WALL TW MAX +827' BW +817'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N) RET WALL TW +817' BW +807'

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
848.72

AutoCAD SHX Text
DN



270sf Artificial
Turf

RECOMMENDED CONTROLLER AND
SENSOR LOCATION.  ENSURE THAT

SENSOR IS FREE FROM ROOF
OVERHANGS AND CLEAR OF TREES

SEE DIAGRAM FOR
POC CONNECTION

-USE BELOW GROUND VALVES AND LOCATE IN AREAS
HIDDEN FROM VIEW IF POSSIBLE.
-USE RAINBIRD SMART CONTROLLER WITH RAINSENSOR
AND SEASONAL ADJUSTMENT
-ALL PLANTINGS TO USE DRIP IRRIGATION UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED
-LAWN TO USE SUBSURFACE DRIP IRRIGATION SUCH AS
NETAFIM TECHLINE
-BERM AROUND ALL TREES.  PLACE MULTIPLE EMITTERS
AT LEAST 6-12" AWAY FROM TRUNK OF TREE. TREES TO
BE ON SEPARATE VALVE FROM LANDSCAPE PLANTS
-SEE PLANTING PLAN FOR EXACT NUMBER OF EMITTITERS
NECESSARY
-NO SPRINKLERS OR OVERHEAD SPRAY DEVICES ARE TO
BE USED ON THIS PROJECT

Irrigation Notes

Project Notes:

Total landscaped area: 1955 sf
-100% of landscaped area on drip irrigation (no spray heads)
-Low and moderate water use plants on separate valves
-Trees on separate valves
-Dedicated irrigation meter not required because landscaped area is
less than 5000 sf
-Certificate of completion: applicant shall submit a landscape audit
report verifying installation and irrigation efficiency per design on a
form provided by the East Bay Municipal Utility District

RAINBIRD SMART IRRIGATION CONTROLLER-
SEE SPECS ON THIS SHEET

NEW VALVE LOCATION.  ALL IRRIGATION
VALVES FOR DRIP AND INLINE EMITTERS TO
HAVE 30 PSI PRESSURE REDUCER

C

Irrigation Legend

POINT OF CONNECTION

MAIN LINE

BACKFLOW PREVENTION DEVICE AND
MANUAL SHUTOFF LOCATION:  WATTS 800M4
BRONZE  FNPT PRESSURE VACUUM BREAKER.
Model #800M4-QT OR EQUIVALENT

S RECOMMENDED RAIN SENSOR LOCATION

POC

4 25
3
4" 185

VALVE/ZONE NUMBER
FLOW RATE (GALLONS PER MINUTE)
ZONE AREA IN SQUARE FEET
VALVE SIZE

5
8" POLY IRRIGATION LINE FROM VALVE.  USE (1)
RAINBIRD XB20PC 1.0 GPH XERI-BUG EMITTER
AT BASE OF EACH PLANT.  MODERATE WATER
USE PLANTS TO HAVE (2) EMITTERS.  TREES TO
HAVE RING OF NETAFIM IN LINE EMITTERS (12"
SPACING) 16" AWAY FROM TRUNK.

F FLUSH VALVE LOCATION

POC P

P PRESSURE REGULATOR

PRIVATE IRRIGATION SUBMETER (ONLY AS
REQUIRED FOR LANDSCAPES OVER 5000 SF)

SM

MASTER VALVEMV

FS
PRESSURE REGULATOR: WATTS LFN45B
PRESSURE REDUCING VALVE MODEL
#LFN45BM1-U 34 OR EQUIVALENT

IRRIGATION POINT OF CONNECTION DIAGRAM

SM MV FS F

LOW WATER USE - HYDROZONE
SHRUBS & GRASSES

Hydrozone Legend

LOW  WATER USE - HYDROZONE
TREES

"I have complied with the criteria of the ordinance
and applied them for the efficient use of water in
the irrigation design"

MOD  WATER USE - HYDROZONE
TREES

70
5 

EU
C

LI
D

 A
VE

BE
R

KE
LE

Y,
 C

A 
94

70
8

DATE BY DESCRIPTION

DATE

REVISIONS:

SCALE

1/8"=1'-0"

L2

24
75

 B
R

U
SH

 C
R

EE
K 

R
O

AD

D
a

vi
d

 F
o

w
le

r 
D

e
si

g
n

s

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

e 
| a

rb
or

ic
ul

tu
re

 | 
sc

ul
pt

ur
e

SA
N

TA
 R

O
SA

, C
A 

95
40

4
70

7.
33

1.
51

99

df
ow

le
rd

es
ig

ns
@

gm
ai

l.c
om

w
w

w
.d

av
id

fo
w

le
rd

es
ig

ns
.c

om

06/23/22

R
LA

# 
61

26

IRRIGATION PLAN

06/25/22

12/31/22

AP
N

: 6
3-

29
55

-4
0-

1

F

F
F

F

F
F

F

F
F

F

F

F

F
POC CS

Page 80 of 162

Page 84

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESP-SMTE SMART CONTROL SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7-30-13

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAIN BIRD ESP4SMTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTSIDE WALL MOUNT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2-INCH PVC SCH 40 CONDUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO POWER SUPPLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNCTION BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR MODEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPTIONAL MODULES FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
22-STATION CONTROLLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1-INCH PVC SCH 40 CONDUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERAL NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND FITTINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRES TO REMOTE CONTROL

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALVES AND SENSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONNECTION FOR WIRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESP-SMTE SENSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
(BOTTOM VIEW)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FROM SENSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONNECTION FOR WIRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
FROM CONTROLLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSIDE FRONT COVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSIDE CONTROLLER CHASSIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE LENGTH FROM CONTROLLER TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
SENSOR NOT TO EXCEED 200 FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SENSOR DETAIL:

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANDARD MODULE FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
4-STATION CONTROLLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
H A L K I N   P A T H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Δ=0°46'08"

AutoCAD SHX Text
L=10.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
804

AutoCAD SHX Text
806

AutoCAD SHX Text
806

AutoCAD SHX Text
808

AutoCAD SHX Text
808

AutoCAD SHX Text
808

AutoCAD SHX Text
810

AutoCAD SHX Text
810

AutoCAD SHX Text
810

AutoCAD SHX Text
812

AutoCAD SHX Text
812

AutoCAD SHX Text
814

AutoCAD SHX Text
816

AutoCAD SHX Text
816

AutoCAD SHX Text
818

AutoCAD SHX Text
818

AutoCAD SHX Text
820

AutoCAD SHX Text
820

AutoCAD SHX Text
822

AutoCAD SHX Text
822

AutoCAD SHX Text
824

AutoCAD SHX Text
824

AutoCAD SHX Text
826

AutoCAD SHX Text
826

AutoCAD SHX Text
828

AutoCAD SHX Text
830

AutoCAD SHX Text
832

AutoCAD SHX Text
834

AutoCAD SHX Text
836

AutoCAD SHX Text
838

AutoCAD SHX Text
840

AutoCAD SHX Text
842

AutoCAD SHX Text
844

AutoCAD SHX Text
846

AutoCAD SHX Text
848

AutoCAD SHX Text
850

AutoCAD SHX Text
852

AutoCAD SHX Text
856

AutoCAD SHX Text
856

AutoCAD SHX Text
858

AutoCAD SHX Text
858

AutoCAD SHX Text
860

AutoCAD SHX Text
860

AutoCAD SHX Text
862

AutoCAD SHX Text
862

AutoCAD SHX Text
864

AutoCAD SHX Text
864

AutoCAD SHX Text
866

AutoCAD SHX Text
868

AutoCAD SHX Text
868

AutoCAD SHX Text
870

AutoCAD SHX Text
870

AutoCAD SHX Text
872

AutoCAD SHX Text
125.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S77°58'39"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
51.39'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N25°24'00"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
115.29'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N77°58'39"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
°

AutoCAD SHX Text
812

AutoCAD SHX Text
814

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%916

AutoCAD SHX Text
854

AutoCAD SHX Text
854

AutoCAD SHX Text
EUCLID AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(70' WIDE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
705 EUCLID AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
R=745.09'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW CONCRETE STEPS

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
14" TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10" TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
848.72



05/26/2022

Page 81 of 162

Page 85



Attachment 3
Page 82 of 162

Page 86



Page 83 of 162

Page 87



Page 84 of 162

Page 88



Page 85 of 162

Page 89



Page 86 of 162

Page 90



Page 87 of 162

Page 91



Page 88 of 162

Page 92



Page 89 of 162

Page 93



Page 90 of 162

Page 94



Page 91 of 162

Page 95



Page 92 of 162

Page 96



Page 93 of 162

Page 97

rroe
Stamp



Page 94 of 162

Page 98



Page 95 of 162

Page 99



Page 96 of 162

Page 100



Page 97 of 162

Page 101

rroe
Stamp



Page 98 of 162

Page 102



Page 99 of 162

Page 103



Page 100 of 162

Page 104



Page 101 of 162

Page 105



Page 102 of 162

Page 106



Page 103 of 162

Page 107



Page 104 of 162

Page 108



Page 105 of 162

Page 109



Page 106 of 162

Page 110



Page 107 of 162

Page 111



Page 108 of 162

Page 112



Page 109 of 162

Page 113



Page 110 of 162

Page 114



Page 111 of 162

Page 115



Page 112 of 162

Page 116



Page 113 of 162

Page 117



Page 114 of 162

Page 118



Page 115 of 162

Page 119



Page 116 of 162

Page 120



Page 117 of 162

Page 121



Page 118 of 162

Page 122



Page 119 of 162

Page 123



Page 120 of 162

Page 124



Page 121 of 162

Page 125



Page 122 of 162

Page 126



Page 123 of 162

Page 127



Page 124 of 162

Page 128



Page 125 of 162

Page 129



Page 126 of 162

Page 130



Page 127 of 162

Page 131



Page 128 of 162

Page 132



Page 129 of 162

Page 133



Page 130 of 162

Page 134



Page 131 of 162

Page 135



Page 132 of 162

Page 136



Page 133 of 162

Page 137



HARPER & ARMSTRONG, LLP 

1634 Telegraph Avenue, #3 • Oakland, CA 94612  
Ph: (510) 420-8455 • Fax: (510) 858-5953 • kathryn.rauber@harperarmstrong.com 

April 15, 2023 

BY E MAIL & US MAIL 

City of Berkeley 
Planning and Development 
1947 Center St., 2nd Fl. 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
510-981-7410
planning@cityofberkeley.info 

Re:  Withdrawal of Support for and Objection to Application for Zoning Permit No. 
ZP2022-0104, 705 Euclid Avenue 

To Whom It May Concern: 

I write on behalf of Yoshiko Wada, owner of 696 Hilldale Avenue, Berkeley, CA 94708 
to formally withdraw her approval for and issue an objection against a proposed new structure at 
705 Euclid Avenue, Berkeley, CA 94708.  The owners of 705 Euclid Avenue (APN 063-
295504001) have submitted an application for a zoning permit to the City of Berkeley, which 
currently is under review as Record No. ZP2022-0104.   

Ms. Wada lives at 696 Hilldale Avenue, which is bordered to the south by an empty lot 
with the address 705 Euclid Avenue.  In early 2022, the owners of 705 Euclid contacted Ms. 
Wada seeking to obtain her approval to construct a four-story building on the empty lot.  The 
contemplated structure would require the owners to obtain a zoning permit to exceed the 
allowable building height.  Ms. Wada asked for the story poles to determine whether the 
proposed new building would block her view of the bay.  The owners told her that the story poles 
were not ready, but they offered to meet to explain to her how tall the building would be in 
relation to her home.   

In April 2022, Ms. Wada met with the owners of 705 Euclid.  Based on their 
representations, Ms. Wada determined that her view would not be obscured and granted her 
approval to allow the project to proceed. 

Thereafter, Ms. Wada was out of the country for several months. The owners of 705 
Euclid Avenue filed the above-mentioned application seeking permission to construct a new 
dwelling exceeding 28 feet in average height and 35 feet in maximum height.  They also erected 
the story poles for the proposed new building in late 2022 while she was away. 

Attachment 4
Page 134 of 162

Page 138



2 

When Ms. Wada returned from abroad in April 2023, she observed the story poles in 
place and discovered that contrary to the owners’ explanation, the new building will significantly 
block her view of the bay.  Based on this discovery, Ms. Wada hereby withdraws her approval 
for the project currently under review as Record No. ZP2022-0104 and formally objects to the 
issuance of a zoning permit to allow the building to be constructed as currently planned. 

Regards, 

Kathryn Rauber 

Page 135 of 162

Page 139



1

Jacob, Melinda

Subject: FW: Oppositionh to granting exceptions for 705 Euclid project

‐‐‐‐‐Original Message‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Theodore D. Raphael <tdraphael@gmail.com>  
Sent: Thursday, April 27, 2023 9:28 AM 
To: Roe, Russell <RRoe@cityofberkeley.info> 
Subject: Oppositionh to granting exceptions for 705 Euclid project 

WARNING: This is not a City of Berkeley email. Do not click links or attachments unless you trust the sender and know 
the content is safe. 

April 26, 2023 

Russell Roe 
Associate Planner/ Code Enforcement 
City of Berkeley 
Berkeley, California 

Dear Mr. Roe: 

We wish to express our strongest opposition to the granting of exceptions to the rules requested by the developer of 
705 Euclid. 

The basis of our opposition is two‐fold:  it is an unmerited exception and its realization will have direct deleterious 
effects on the enjoyment of our property at 694 Hilldale, separated from 705 Euclid by only one lot, 696 Hilldale. ( Note:  
694 and 696 Hilldale actually front on the east side of Euclid, adjacent to 705 Euclid, although they are accessed from 
Hilldale and have Hilldale addresses.) 

As you know better than us, exceptions to the rules are appropriate for unusual circumstances pertaining to the 
idiosyncrasies of a particular lot, such as a minor variance from the setback regulations, to allow a lot to be feasibly 
accommodate a residence.  Such exceptions to the rules are of great benefit to the developer, with little or no impact on 
the lot's neighbors. 

Such is not the case with 705 Euclid.  The lot is a standard, sloped Berkeley Hills lot, similar to its neighbors on the east 
side of Euclid.  In this case, the developer simply wishes to build an outsized house not permitted by the rules. There is 
nothing preventing the developer from building a house that conforms with current rules.  There is no compelling reason 
to grant an exception to the rules in this case.  The planned house is out of character for the neighborhood, due to its 
height and volume, in violation of the very reason the rules were established to safeguard the character of the 
neighborhood.  The request for an exception to the rules should be denied on this basis alone. 

However, building of the planned house will have a severe effect on the light, privacy, and views at 696 Hilldale, and, to 
a lesser extent, at our home at 694. 

We spent five whole years searching for a retirement home in Berkeley, from 2009 to 2014 (this can be confirmed by our 
agents Nancy Mueller and Terri White of Berkeley Hills Realty).  We wanted view privacy from adjacent homes, which is 
not achieved easily.  We were not concerned about what might be built on the unimproved lot at 705 Euclid, as we knew 
that the rules would not permit the building of a house that would compromise our privacy and views. 

SUPPLEMENTAL COMMUNICATIONS, PART 2, ITEM 6 
ZAB 04-27-2023 

Page 1 of 2

Page 136 of 162

Page 140



2

 
An exception granted to the 705 Euclid project would greatly compromise our privacy, as the uppermost deck at 705 
would allow views directly onto the entire length of the west‐facing deck of our house, completely destroying our 
privacy.  The purchase of our property was premised entirely on the reasonable expectation that the rules would 
continue to be enforced in the neighborhood.  We are in our late 70s and expected the purchase of our last home to 
afford us the privacy we sought to enjoy during the remaining years of our lives. 
 
The loss of privacy will undoubtedly reduce the value of our property, as well.  Today we have valuable, complete 
privacy from our neighbors, due to the siting of the properties.  If an exception to the rules is granted, we will lose our 
coveted privacy and substantially lower the value of our property. 
 
There is no reason that a house at 705 cannot conform to the rules to which the builders of surrounding lots observed. 
We will suffer if the exception is granted.  We will not suffer, nor will the developer of 705 Euclid, if the exception is 
denied. 
 
For the benefit of sound public policy and the unnecessary loss of privacy we will suffer, we urge you to deny the 
requested exception to the rules for the 705 Euclid project. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Theodore D. Raphael 
Mary E, Raphael 
694 Hilldale Ave. 
510‐684‐1912 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL COMMUNICATIONS, PART 2, ITEM 6 
ZAB 04-27-2023 

Page 2 of 2

Page 137 of 162

Page 141



HARPER & ARMSTRONG, LLP 
1634 Telegraph Avenue, #3 • Oakland, CA 94612  

Ph: (510) 420-8455 • Fax: (510) 858-5953 • shona.armstrong@harperarmstrong.com 

Via Email 

July 5, 2023 

City Council 
c/o City Clerk 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st floor 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
(510) 981-6900
clerk@cityofberkeley.info

Re: ERRATA to Appeal from approval of AUP for 705 Euclid Avenue 
(ZP2022-0104) 
Notice of Decision dated April 27, 2023, and mailed May 9, 2023 

Dear Members of City Council: 

I write to correct the factual record of this appeal. In my May 23, 2023, letter appealing the City 
Council’s decision, I mistakenly asserted that Theodore Raphael initially approached the ZAB in person 
during the meeting of April 27, 2023.  In fact, he attended the entire meeting virtually by zoom.   

Theodore Raphael attended the entire meeting online; he raised his “Zoom hand” to speak on the 
approval of AUP for 705 Eulid, was recognized by the chair, requested to speak, and the chair then placed 
him in the queue for public speakers to be recognized later in the hearing.  The ZAB then never afforded 
him the opportunity to be heard. 

Regards, 

Shona Armstrong 

cc:City of Berkeley 
Zoning Adjustments Board & Russel Roe, Assoc. Planner 
1974 Center St., 2nd Floor 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
RRoe@cityofberkeley.info 

Theodore and Molly Raphael 
tdraphael@gmail.com 
mraphael@rapgroup.com 

Yoshiko Wada 
Yoshiko@yoshikowada.com 

Attachment 5
Page 138 of 162

Page 142



From: Shona Armstrong
To: Heather Sanders-Jacob
Cc: Roe, Russell
Subject: Re: ZP2022-0104 (705 Euclid) - ZAB appeals process?
Date: Friday, April 28, 2023 5:45:25 PM

WARNING: This is not a City of Berkeley email. Do not click links or attachments unless you trust the sender and
know the content is safe.

The ZAB absolutely denied Ted Raphael the opportunity to speak.  Mr. Raphael originally went to the podium when
the item was on the consent calendar and the ZAB staff instructed him to wait, because he would have an
opportunity to speak when the item was called for public hearing.  When the item was eventually called at public
hearing, however, despite the fact that the ZAB staff acknowledged Mr. Raphael as one of the speakers in line with
his hand raised to speak, the ZAB denied him the opportunity by never calling on him or unmuting him.   

The ZAB is ignoring the significant impact this project, which exceeds permissible height restrictions, will have on
neighbors who are concerned about both views and privacy. It is an ideal candidate for negotiation and compromise,
but ZAB did not care to hear about the impact on the neighbors.  As a result, the ZAB's process has denied the
neighbors due process and has denied the neighborhood the time necessary for concerned parties to reach a
negotiated and mutually acceptable compromise.

ZAB's process is not just leading to poor results.  It is denying constitutional rights.

On Fri, Apr 28, 2023 at 5:18 PM <heather@shelterwerk.com> wrote:

Good afternoon, Russel –

 

I’m part of the group that spoke in opposition to the project proposed at 705 Euclid last
night.  We understand that there’s an appeals process that might be open to us and time is
probably very limited.  Is there a letter that will be issued to the neighbors informing them of
the process and timeline? Please advise. 

 

Also, some of the neighbors are upset that the time was so short to speak; that board
members had departed mid-meeting; that the meeting went so late (also, one couple stayed
up till nearly midnight and were never called on, even though they hand their virtual “hand”
up).  While we all understand that the admirable goal was to get through the agenda, the
result was a sense of being rushed, compromised due process, and sloppiness on behalf of
the ZAB.  The ship has left port, but is there a good place to provide feedback so that the
ZAB knows how good intent is potentially leading to poor results?

 

Many thanks,

 

Heather Sanders-Jacob

AIA, LEED AP

 

Page 139 of 162

Page 143

mailto:shona.armstrong@harperarmstrong.com
mailto:heather@shelterwerk.com
mailto:RRoe@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:heather@shelterwerk.com


SHELTERWERK 

1904 Franklin Street, Suite 310

Oakland, CA 94612

 

T: 510.595.3836    ext 1

www.shelterwerk.com

 

-- 
Shona Armstrong, Esq.
Harper & Armstrong, LLP
1634 Telegraph Ave., #3
Oakland, CA 94612
(w) (510) 420-8455
(c) (510) 508-5017

Page 140 of 162

Page 144

http://www.shelterwerk.com/
tel:%28510%29%20420-8455
tel:%28510%29%20508-5017


From: heather@shelterwerk.com
To: Roe, Russell
Cc: "Shona Armstrong"; Garcia, Claudia
Subject: RE: ZP2022-0104 (705 Euclid) - ZAB appeals process?
Date: Monday, May 01, 2023 9:19:12 AM

Thank you, Russell, for the info on both items.  The homeowner at 696 Hilldale is currently residing
in England, and Ms. Armstrong and I are representing her while she’s away.  Could I please have an
email copy of the letter that will be going out to her? 
 
Thank you,
 
Heather Sanders-Jacob
AIA, LEED AP
 
SHELTERWERK 
1904 Franklin Street, Suite 310
Oakland, CA 94612
 
T: 510.595.3836    ext 1
www.shelterwerk.com
 

From: Roe, Russell <RRoe@cityofberkeley.info> 
Sent: Monday, May 1, 2023 8:47 AM
To: heather@shelterwerk.com
Cc: 'Shona Armstrong' <shona.armstrong@harperarmstrong.com>; Garcia, Claudia
<CGarcia@cityofberkeley.info>
Subject: RE: ZP2022-0104 (705 Euclid) - ZAB appeals process?
 
Heather,
 
Appeals must be filed with the City Clerk within 14 days of the date on the Notice of Decision letter.
I’m not sure exactly when that letter will be mailed out, but I expect that it will be very soon. For
more information on the appeals process, check here: https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-
development/permits-design-parameters/permit-process/filing-appeal-zoning-or-land-use
 
As for the late night and limited speaking time at the meeting, those decisions are made by the
Board members. You can provide them with feedback by emailing zab@berkeleyca.gov or writing to:

Zoning Adjustments Board, Planning & Development Department, 1947 Center Street, 2nd Floor,
Berkeley CA 94704. All communications sent to these addresses will be forwarded to the Board
members.
 
Russell Roe
Associate Planner/ Code Enforcement
City of Berkeley
(510) 981-7548
 

Page 141 of 162

Page 145

mailto:heather@shelterwerk.com
mailto:RRoe@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:shona.armstrong@harperarmstrong.com
mailto:CGarcia@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.shelterwerk.com/
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/permits-design-parameters/permit-process/filing-appeal-zoning-or-land-use
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/permits-design-parameters/permit-process/filing-appeal-zoning-or-land-use
mailto:zab@berkeleyca.gov


From: heather@shelterwerk.com <heather@shelterwerk.com> 
Sent: Friday, April 28, 2023 5:19 PM
To: Roe, Russell <RRoe@cityofberkeley.info>
Cc: 'Shona Armstrong' <shona.armstrong@harperarmstrong.com>
Subject: ZP2022-0104 (705 Euclid) - ZAB appeals process?
 

WARNING: This is not a City of Berkeley email. Do not click links or attachments unless you trust the sender and
know the content is safe.

Good afternoon, Russel –
 
I’m part of the group that spoke in opposition to the project proposed at 705 Euclid last night.  We
understand that there’s an appeals process that might be open to us and time is probably very
limited.  Is there a letter that will be issued to the neighbors informing them of the process and
timeline? Please advise. 
 
Also, some of the neighbors are upset that the time was so short to speak; that board members had
departed mid-meeting; that the meeting went so late (also, one couple stayed up till nearly midnight
and were never called on, even though they hand their virtual “hand” up).  While we all understand
that the admirable goal was to get through the agenda, the result was a sense of being rushed,
compromised due process, and sloppiness on behalf of the ZAB.  The ship has left port, but is there a
good place to provide feedback so that the ZAB knows how good intent is potentially leading to poor
results?
 
Many thanks,
 
Heather Sanders-Jacob
AIA, LEED AP
 
SHELTERWERK 
1904 Franklin Street, Suite 310
Oakland, CA 94612
 
T: 510.595.3836    ext 1
www.shelterwerk.com
 

Page 142 of 162

Page 146

mailto:heather@shelterwerk.com
mailto:heather@shelterwerk.com
mailto:RRoe@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:shona.armstrong@harperarmstrong.com
http://www.shelterwerk.com/


From: Jacob, Melinda
To: Roe, Russell
Subject: 705 Euclid
Date: Wednesday, June 07, 2023 12:36:45 PM
Attachments: image001.png

573589.wav
image002.png

Internal
 
 

image description

You received a phone call from UNKNOWN on Wed, Jun 07 12:16 PM for
(510) 981-7410.

 
Others in your organization are blocking this caller.

Message

Good Wednesday afternoon to the zoning board and I'm calling regarding the property at

705 Euclid. We've touched on the concerns of the glare and heat reflection on downhill

neighbors and community, including drivers on Euclid and also wanted to bring up the

consideration of reflected and amplified sound on downhill neighbors. So the design for

that particular lot could have some really beautiful graceful complimentary aesthetic appeal

that blended with the surrounding architecture and it was you know really. Generous

Remarks to Berkeley as consideration for beautiful Architecture. One of the things that's

known for however, the ridiculous glass design. Is going to make a Canyon of of noise and

he and glare and amplification of barking dogs, which already that is something that's

happening and that region Echo and barking reflected noise. So we'll just keep up the the

considerations and remind ourselves of proverbs 12 to which is that the Lord condemns

Craft him and so this this plan seems to be being pushed through by something other than

the community appeal and certainly not buy any kind of respectful dialog. So hoping to

make some transformations and consciousness. Thank you.

 

Page 143 of 162

Page 147

mailto:MJacob@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:RRoe@berkeleyca.gov





 
Melinda Jacob
Office Specialist II
Planning and Development, Land Use Division

1947 Center St., 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704
Phone: (510) 981-7421
Website: www.berkeleyca.gov
Email: mjacob@berkeleyca.gov
REDUCED LAND USE HOURS ARE IN EFFECT! Land Use / Zoning counter services are available at
the Permit Service Center (PSC) between 8:30 am – 1:30 pm (final check in at 1:00 pm) Monday
through Thursday. To limit the spread of COVID-19, face masks and social distancing are required
when visiting our offices, and some Planning staff continue to work remotely.
 

Construction & Development | City of Berkeley (berkeleyca.gov)
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/permits-design-parameters/permit-
process/permit-service-center
Zoning Lookup | City of Berkeley (berkeleyca.gov)
 

Page 144 of 162

Page 148

http://www.berkeleyca.gov%0b/
mailto:mjacob@berkeleyca.gov
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Permit_Service_Center/Location_and_Hours.aspx
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/permits-design-parameters/permit-process/permit-service-center
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/permits-design-parameters/permit-process/permit-service-center
https://berkeleyca.gov/construction-development/land-use-development/zoning-lookup


From: Sanford, David
To: Roe, Russell
Subject: FW: Call From UNKNOWN at Mon, Jun 05 9:16 AM for (510) 981-7410 , 705 Euclid inquiry
Date: Monday, June 05, 2023 9:43:14 AM
Attachments: 570227.wav

Internal
 
 
 
From: voicemail@cityofberkeley.info <voicemail@cityofberkeley.info> 
Sent: Monday, June 05, 2023 9:20 AM
To: Sanford, David <DSanford@berkeleyca.gov>
Subject: Call From UNKNOWN at Mon, Jun 05 9:16 AM for (510) 981-7410  
 

 

image description

You received a phone call from UNKNOWN on Mon, Jun 05 9:16 AM for (510)
981-7410.

 

Others in your organization are blocking this caller.

Message

Good morning zoning board calling regarding the property at 705 Euclid. I had attended

the public meeting public hearing about the plans and understand that there were several

people who were in opposition to the plans. I was lead to believe in my ignorance of how

local politics work. I was lead to believe by some comments made by mister daffy that

there would be an opportunity for the neighbors of the project to hear the architect and the

owners of the property who I I assume are intending to live there to hear them defend the

project and possibly to allow the neighbors to articulate their particular concerns and then I

understand that the project was approved without such meeting. I am a neighbor who will

be directly affected four and the property here will be directly affected by the imposition of

this building and I have many concerns which are completely valid, including heat and

Page 145 of 162

Page 149

mailto:DSanford@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:RRoe@berkeleyca.gov



glare reflected down on the lower area, including wind management deflects and all of that

and any extra height. I have a copy of the plans and they do not include solar panels and if

there's any extra. Hi, just gonna block the view my view of my favorite Bridge. So these

people I would hope that they would be concerned about the fact that they're having on

their neighbors, which and my personal meetings with both Mr. Is Corey? I have not found

them to be particularly considerate of that there are arriving as new comers to a

neighborhood that is established by people who love being here. So I would think they

would care how we feel. So we'll be looking forward to September blessings.

Listen
Click to listen to your message.

Block Caller
Click to block this caller and no longer receive notifications from this caller.

Manage Profile
Click to manage your Mutare Voice user profile.

Delivered by Mutare Voice™

 

Page 146 of 162

Page 150

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/I8LxDejqz5N
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/I8LxDejqz5N
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/I8LxDejqz5N?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/I8LxDejqz5N?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/


From: Sanford, David
To: Roe, Russell
Subject: FW: Call From UNKNOWN at Thu, Jun 08 11:05 AM for (510) 981-7410, 705 Euclid anonymous ZAB comment  
Date: Friday, June 09, 2023 1:20:09 PM
Attachments: 574601.wav

Internal
 
 
 
From: voicemail@cityofberkeley.info <voicemail@cityofberkeley.info> 
Sent: Thursday, June 8, 2023 11:09 AM
To: Sanford, David <DSanford@berkeleyca.gov>
Subject: Call From UNKNOWN at Thu, Jun 08 11:05 AM for (510) 981-7410  
 

 

image description

You received a phone call from UNKNOWN on Thu, Jun 08 11:05 AM for (510)
981-7410.

 

Others in your organization are blocking this caller.

Message

Good morning, zoning board Thursday morning and I'm calling regarding the property at

705 Euclid. Today's concern expressed is that perhaps the architect. I believe John

Newton is his name didn't spend a significant amount of time up here understanding the

fog belt and the wind and other elements that really a block square rectangular hard scape

structure is really unsafe suitable to the Micro climate up here. I have a lot of concern

about reflected wind editing wind the dust and other other things resulting blowing on

Hawk and walk the path there and also across the face of other neighbors buildings and

who knows I don't know these people are engineers both the father and the son our

engineers is my understanding the owners of the property and you know, I know wind of

the thing for engineers to understand when they're doing buildings, you know, how it might

Page 147 of 162

Page 151

mailto:DSanford@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:RRoe@berkeleyca.gov



with all, you know, all kinds of things can result from that, but certainly a more graceful

natural harmonious design with some different, you know maybe not so looming, but also

with the other mitigating factors like a green roof or other plantings or other you know

anybody doing livestock hair, you know that you don't build a solid wall to create a window

barrier for your animals, that's not how it works that makes all kinds of other disastrous,

you know down when the facts of of of being blasted by wind also how are they going to

keep their windows clean is not going to be an issue then of the whole building has to be

washed on a regular basis that doesn't seem very environmentally. Suitable not very

forward thinking and then again, I just want to prompt a reminder, they have a dry brush

pile that the fire department might be concerned about and there's trespassing on adjacent

properties, because they have chairs set up that the public is using there. So just a little

problem to remind that so that's a lot of many concerns and there will be more voice in the

future. Thank you.

Listen
Click to listen to your message.

Block Caller
Click to block this caller and no longer receive notifications from this caller.

Manage Profile
Click to manage your Mutare Voice user profile.

Delivered by Mutare Voice™

 

Page 148 of 162

Page 152

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IaRjNPCyoEa
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IaRjNPCyoEa
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IaRjNPCyoEa?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IaRjNPCyoEa?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/


From: Sanford, David
To: Roe, Russell
Subject: FW: Call From UNKNOWN at Thu, Jun 15 3:49 PM for (510) 981-7410, another anonymous 705 Euclid communication
Date: Friday, June 16, 2023 2:49:14 PM
Attachments: 581577.wav

Internal
 
 
 
From: voicemail@cityofberkeley.info <voicemail@cityofberkeley.info> 
Sent: Thursday, June 15, 2023 3:55 PM
To: Sanford, David <DSanford@berkeleyca.gov>
Subject: Call From UNKNOWN at Thu, Jun 15 3:49 PM for (510) 981-7410  
 

 

image description

You received a phone call from UNKNOWN on Thu, Jun 15 3:49 PM for (510)
981-7410.

 

Others in your organization are blocking this caller.

Message

Good Thursday afternoon zoning board message regarding 705 Euclid. I understand of

course that it's not up to you to determine the Sterling characters of the people who you

know our neighbors to each other in the city, but I do want to communicate again. That

there has been significant trespass onto my property because of chairs set up on that

empty lot by the quarries Michelle Cory. The dad indicated that he had every intention to

leave those chairs there as long as people wanted to use them. They have contributed to

degradation. Frankly of my lift experience here because all the years decades that that lot

has been vacant. Nobody has trust passed across there with the consistency that has

happened making an actual Trail onto the back part of my property here and it. Frankly

reflects quite adequately the energy that those two men Michelle and his son torque have

Page 149 of 162

Page 153

mailto:DSanford@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:RRoe@berkeleyca.gov



brought to my home and my life with this you know coming around to get signed off on

plans and I when I met Target Corey to discuss the plans I indicated to him three times.

This is stranger to me and I ended welcomed him. I told her I want to I told him I want you

to know you're welcome here and and I said I'm also I am not a neighbor to drop by do not

come by my house three times and different ways. I said to him do not come by my house

unless it's an emergency that you cannot get handled some other way or that that is going

to impact me. I am not a drop by neighbor and multiple times he and his dad have

endeavored to push their way onto this property here where I live and I it is so reflective of

the energy that they are bringing this violent building this giant oversized monstrosity, you

know, and frankly the trespassing has got to stop or there's going to be some other kind of

a consequence for them. So if they need to put a fence up then they need to put a fence

up, but it's got to stop that people strangers or then whoever is coming across this property

and they need to clear up that pile of dry sticks that is a fire hazard that I've had to do

testing on my property in order to meet the code for the fire department and yet there is

this huge pile of dry sticks out there on their lot. So, I don't know who I need to talk to to

get something done here. But this is nonsense and whatever criminal activity of thousands

of dollars. It might take to get your plans passed in a place like this but this is all so much

violation of City codes that are here to protect the privacy and the space of these you know

and you can go ahead and think that we're all whiners up here and spoiled and whatever

else, but the fact is there codes that protect the privacy. The light the air and the size of

residence is in this area. So I would like some human man or woman to stand up for what's

true and right and put these people in line, frankly, it would be better in la this design is a

nice la Canyon thing or maybe overload by the Claremont, but it is not in North Berkeley

design and I'm born and bred right here. So you know you're going to hear about it and

there needs to be some change and there needs to be some response to what I'm

communicating about what's happening right now because of that property and the people

who have taken it over blessings have blessed weekend. I hope you all get outside and

enjoy some Sunshine and leave your phones at home and you know get away from

screens and stuff. So that you can get back to Sandy instead of worrying about money as

the primary focus blessings.

Listen
Click to listen to your message.

Block Caller
Click to block this caller and no longer receive notifications from this caller.

Page 150 of 162

Page 154

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IjDPpv3i4P
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IjDPpv3i4P
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IjDPpv3i4P?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IjDPpv3i4P?block=true


Manage Profile
Click to manage your Mutare Voice user profile.

Delivered by Mutare Voice™

 

Page 151 of 162

Page 155

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/


From: Sanford, David
To: Roe, Russell
Subject: FW: Call From UNKNOWN at Tue, Jun 06 8:13 AM for (510) 981-7410, 705 Euclid anonymous comment  
Date: Tuesday, June 06, 2023 11:31:49 AM
Attachments: 571651.wav

Internal
 
 
 
From: voicemail@cityofberkeley.info <voicemail@cityofberkeley.info> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 06, 2023 8:17 AM
To: Sanford, David <DSanford@berkeleyca.gov>
Subject: Call From UNKNOWN at Tue, Jun 06 8:13 AM for (510) 981-7410  
 

 

image description

You received a phone call from UNKNOWN on Tue, Jun 06 8:13 AM for (510)
981-7410.

 

Others in your organization are blocking this caller.

Message

Good morning zoning board. This message is regarding 705 Euclid. I have a question for

pondering, which is if it's called a public hearing but you don't hear the public and then you

make a decision allegedly based on the hearing and if she's brought up at the hearing that

is in conflict with the people who wish to Express themselves. I'm confused about how

that's a public hearing it seems like maybe it's miss measuring from the outset from the

very first step, it's dishonest. I understand you got a lot of projects and all of that. But then

the other is a request there have been a lot of trespassers and encourages on my property

here, which is adjacent there is a path well worn from chairs that the quarries have set up

that the public uses coming off of Hall can walk and I'm wondering if it could be since there

are several months now before or anything changes going to occur could that whole can

Page 152 of 162

Page 156

mailto:DSanford@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:RRoe@berkeleyca.gov



walk be fenced off, so that those chairs are not accessible to the public and there's you

know there's a concern for her injury certainly somebody falling down that steep slope. If

they were drunk or something and then also I've had personal item disappear from well

onto my Garden. And lastly, there is a brush fire pile that could certainly be caught on fire

since I know that that is a great concern for the city. So I just am wondering if that could be

fenced off to prevent further problems with this project and to the neighborhood relations.

Thank you so much.

Listen
Click to listen to your message.

Block Caller
Click to block this caller and no longer receive notifications from this caller.

Manage Profile
Click to manage your Mutare Voice user profile.

Delivered by Mutare Voice™

 

Page 153 of 162

Page 157

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IHceJtjhoPV
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IHceJtjhoPV
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IHceJtjhoPV?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IHceJtjhoPV?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/


From: Sanford, David
To: Roe, Russell
Subject: FW: Call From UNKNOWN at Tue, Jun 13 8:39 AM for (510) 981-7410, another anonymous comment on 705 Euclid,

ZP2022-0104  
Date: Tuesday, June 13, 2023 1:52:23 PM
Attachments: 578226.wav

Internal
 
 
 
From: voicemail@cityofberkeley.info <voicemail@cityofberkeley.info> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 13, 2023 8:43 AM
To: Sanford, David <DSanford@berkeleyca.gov>
Subject: Call From UNKNOWN at Tue, Jun 13 8:39 AM for (510) 981-7410  
 

 

image description

You received a phone call from UNKNOWN on Tue, Jun 13 8:39 AM for (510)
981-7410.

 

Others in your organization are blocking this caller.

Message

Good morning zoning board calling regarding the property at 705 Euclid good Tuesday

morning calling to me that maybe outside the purview of zoning, but of the residential

design, I want to refer you all to the sleep studies of Matthew Walker. I believe he's at U C

S F and the natural biological needs. The organising on the human organism for healthy

sleep, which is an epidemic of of poor quality sleep and the result and inefficiency and

disease and accidents and things that happened because of bad sleep, we need darkness

and we need coolness in order to sleep well and the building design with the front facing

bedrooms, you know, I realize that this is you know, it's an ego project. It is not designed

with the comfort of the residence or compliment to the neighbourhood or consideration

even for the neighborhood. It's just a really a brutal assault of a design of a glass box that's

Page 154 of 162

Page 158

mailto:DSanford@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:RRoe@berkeleyca.gov



a masculine ego problem. This could be a beautiful tree house design it could have a Cliff

dweller kind of a flavor to it. I could have you know, there's no consideration for the habitat

that's being lost in terms of planting around because the orientation is poor the patio off the

kitchen with with the North sort of a northern face exposure onto a public pathway and

onto the looming over Lords in the in the house above, you know looking down out of their

windows into their private space. It's all very poorly design that will gather dust and create

what Eddie's it's in Chateau for the time of the year, when you might want the most son in

the winter. It's a very bad design. It's it is absolutely and assault to this neighborhood onto

berkeley's reputation for Ecology and visionary of activism and and you know graceful

Architecture. It's really an insult and it's also too much square footage, you know, I think I

guess it's just the money thing for for the city at this point and you know, that's that's a it's

a shame if this project proceeds as it is it's a it's a it's a shame and a scar and a blight on

all future projects in the city for a residence. It's a it's a very bad precedent to set here

blessings have great day.

Listen
Click to listen to your message.

Block Caller
Click to block this caller and no longer receive notifications from this caller.

Manage Profile
Click to manage your Mutare Voice user profile.

Delivered by Mutare Voice™

 

Page 155 of 162

Page 159

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/I9Rc8GkipyD
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/I9Rc8GkipyD
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/I9Rc8GkipyD?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/I9Rc8GkipyD?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/


From: Sanford, David
To: Roe, Russell
Subject: FW: Call From UNKNOWN at Wed, Jun 14 9:18 AM for (510) 981-7410, another anonymous 705 Euclid comment  
Date: Thursday, June 15, 2023 10:50:07 AM
Attachments: 579550.wav

Internal
 
 
 
From: voicemail@cityofberkeley.info <voicemail@cityofberkeley.info> 
Sent: Wednesday, June 14, 2023 9:22 AM
To: Sanford, David <DSanford@berkeleyca.gov>
Subject: Call From UNKNOWN at Wed, Jun 14 9:18 AM for (510) 981-7410  
 

 

image description

You received a phone call from UNKNOWN on Wed, Jun 14 9:18 AM for (510)
981-7410.

 

Others in your organization are blocking this caller.

Message

Good morning zoning board. This message is regarding 705 Euclid and the plans there on

I am concerned about a efficiency of solar panels up here on the fog belt and whether they

will be able to power the requirements for this household which is by my brief

conversations the implication is that there's a lot of electronic window things and blinds and

different things happening along with an elevator have the plans here. I'm concerned about

you know what they are actually creating is being created out of the ignorance of this Micro

climate up here. I understand solar panels have only about an 80% efficiency rate when

they are overcast to which it often is up here when it's sunny where these people live

presently in Albany so they may be a little bit deceived about conditions in this place and I

know they haven't spent time here, but have instead referred to apps on their phones to

Page 156 of 162

Page 160

mailto:DSanford@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:RRoe@berkeleyca.gov



understand how the sun tracks over their property. It's just insane to me, maybe they don't

intend to live there. That might be another thing that they are just doing a spec health

collaborative spec house, which is too bad cause it's and assault on the neighborhood is

have communicated and along with that this concern about solar panels, which are not

included on the plans. I am concerned that if there's any more height added especially to

that little peek over the elevator. It's gonna block my view of the Richmond San Rochelle

Bridge, which is my favorite Bridge and that would be absolutely intolerable to me and I

don't want glare off solar panels. Either. So anyway that this property being undeveloped

needs extreme consideration for Amelia ration, not just mitigation but but actually

improving the habitat that it's taking so it could be pollinate or habitat on the Green roof,

you know all kinds of great design ideas, but it's my understanding that these people are

really just pushing this terrible terrible ugly block build through and they're trying to do that

somehow with somebody is approval up there and you know, it's really insensitive so I'm

not really looking forward of these people as neighbors because of how they are behaving

presently. So I hope that there will be some new consideration offered and we'll look

forward to September have great days.

Listen
Click to listen to your message.

Block Caller
Click to block this caller and no longer receive notifications from this caller.

Manage Profile
Click to manage your Mutare Voice user profile.

Delivered by Mutare Voice™

 

Page 157 of 162

Page 161

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IN4dfiEFumF
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IN4dfiEFumF
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IN4dfiEFumF?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/IN4dfiEFumF?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/


From: Mariscal, Cecelia
To: Roe, Russell
Subject: FW: Call From UNKNOWN at Wed, May 31 5:32 PM for (510) 981-7410, 4705 Euclid Proposed Plan Opposition

Statement 
Date: Friday, June 02, 2023 3:16:55 PM
Attachments: 566812.wav

Internal
 
 
 

From: Sanford, David 
Sent: Thursday, June 1, 2023 8:47 AM
To: ZoningCounter <ZoningCounter@berkeleyca.gov>
Subject: FW: Call From UNKNOWN at Wed, May 31 5:32 PM for (510) 981-7410, 4705 Euclid Proposed
Plan Opposition Statement 
 
Forwarded to Rusell Roe on 6/2 at 3:15pm.
 
Internal
 
 
 
From: voicemail@cityofberkeley.info <voicemail@cityofberkeley.info> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 31, 2023 5:37 PM
To: Sanford, David <DSanford@berkeleyca.gov>
Subject: Call From UNKNOWN at Wed, May 31 5:32 PM for (510) 981-7410  
 

 

image description

You received a phone call from UNKNOWN on Wed, May 31 5:32 PM for (510)
981-7410.

 

Others in your organization are blocking this caller.

Message

Page 158 of 162

Page 162

mailto:CMariscal@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:RRoe@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:voicemail@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:voicemail@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:DSanford@berkeleyca.gov



Yeah, this message is for the zoning board regarding the proposed plans 4705 Euclid. I

stood in opposition to the plans and have made an extensive list mister daffy gave a nod

and said to me to come back and and tell he only allowed me to say two things before he

cut me off and is my understanding that there are several people there who were posing

the project. I am concerned that there is some kind of a of you know behind the scenes

deal making going on here because the neighbors around here are opposed to the project

as it stands and it is kind of an assault on the environment on the landscape. It's Stark a

texture as I call it and it really doesn't have a place here if it gets any taller, I know that the

plans I have a copy of the plans and I know that they don't include the solar panel height

and if it goes any higher than it is right now. It's going to be blocking my view of my favorite

Bridge, which is the Richmond San Rochelle Bridge and I know views are thing here and in

the Berkley Hills and I both separately at this point now since I've been waiting and waiting

to attend another meeting where these people would defend their plans. I wrote them a

letter I left three voice mails prior for the zoning board on specific at the time they were I

could selected whoever but I don't know who received the message and then I attended

that meeting in opposition and it was a first time in my life that I felt pat empowered to

create change and the City of Berkeley. It seems like it might be sliding into average

suburbia sleeping community. This you know, it's really an assault on the environment and

on the neighborhood and I'm opposed to it. I'm at 706 Hill Dale and I'm joining the appeal

both differently I will be joining the appeal opposing this development because it's an

assault on the landscape and a visual assault to the neighbourhood heat glare wind

vectors and conditions that's going to make a wind tunnel. It's poorly designed for the

comfort of occupants, which should be the architects primary concern. It never mind being

an agreed with a fence to the aesthetic of anybody who cares about nature. So that's my

for the moment feedback and you know again, it's really disappointing to have attended

that meeting deliberately and in person and two again have felt empowered to have an

effect on an influence on on this and then to know that it's been just been sneaked through

so that's gonna result in equal an opposite reaction. If you will Newton, third law motion

blessings cancel this plan. It's really a disaster and it's in violation of the city code itself.

Five stories is violation of the three story limit blessings.

Listen
Click to listen to your message.

Block Caller
Click to block this caller and no longer receive notifications from this caller.

Page 159 of 162

Page 163

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/Ig2xpwFCPEk
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/Ig2xpwFCPEk
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/Ig2xpwFCPEk?block=true
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/CallDetails/Call/Ig2xpwFCPEk?block=true


Manage Profile
Click to manage your Mutare Voice user profile.

Delivered by Mutare Voice™

 

Page 160 of 162

Page 164

https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/
https://voice.cityofberkeley.info/


Administrative Record 

This attachment is on file and available for review at 
the City Clerk Department, or can be accessed from 
the City Council Website.  Copies of the attachment 
are available upon request. 

City Clerk Department 
2180 Milvia Street 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
(510) 981-6900

or from: 

The City of Berkeley’s Website 
http://www.berkeleyca.gov 

Attachments 6-7

Page 161 of 162

Page 165

http://www.berkeleyca.gov/


Attachment 8
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING-BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL

SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD ROOM, 1231 ADDISON STREET
ZAB APPEAL: 705 EUCLID AVENUE, USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0104

The public may participate in this hearing by remote video or in-person.

Notice is hereby given by the City Council of the City of Berkeley that on SEPTEMBER 26, 
2023 at 6:00 PM a public hearing will be conducted to consider an appeal of a decision by the 
Zoning Adjustments Board to approve Use Permit #ZP2022-0104, to construct a new three-
story (41 feet and 11 inches), 4,528 square foot single family dwelling with two parking spaces 
and associated retaining walls located in the setbacks, on a 6,024 square foot vacant lot

A copy of the agenda material for this hearing will be available on the City’s website at 
www.CityofBerkeley.info as of September 18, 2023. Once posted, the agenda for this 
meeting will include a link for public participation using Zoom video technology, as 
well as any health and safety requirements for in-person attendance.

For further information, please contact Russell Roe, Project Planner, (510) 981-7548 or 
rroe@berkeleyca.gov. Written comments should be mailed or delivered directly to the City 
Clerk, 2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704, in order to ensure delivery to all 
Councilmembers and inclusion in the agenda packet.

Communications to the Berkeley City Council are public record and will become part of the 
City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  Please note: e-
mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but 
if included in any communication to the City Council, will become part of the public 
record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made 
public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the City 
Clerk.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please do not 
include that information in your communication.  Please contact the City Clerk at 981-6900 or 
clerk@cityofberkeley.info for further information.

__________________________________
Mark Numainville, CMC, City Clerk

Mailed: September 12, 2023

NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: If you object to a decision by the City Council to approve or 
deny (Code Civ. Proc. 1094.6(b)) or approve (Gov. Code 65009(c)(5) an appeal, the following requirements and 
restrictions apply: 1) Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.6, no lawsuit challenging a City decision 
to deny or approve a Zoning Adjustments Board decision may be filed more than 90 days after the City Council 
action.  Any lawsuit not filed within that 90-day period will be barred.  2) In any lawsuit that may be filed against a 
City Council decision to approve or deny a Zoning Adjustments Board decision, the issues and evidence will be 
limited to those raised by you or someone else, orally or in writing, at a public hearing or prior to the close of the 
last public hearing on the project.

If you challenge the above in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else raised 
at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the City of Berkley at, or 
prior to, the public hearing.  Background information concerning this proposal will be available at the City Clerk 
Department and posted on the City of Berkeley webpage prior to the public hearing. 

Page 162 of 162

Page 166

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/
mailto:rroe@berkeleyca.gov
mailto:clerk@cityofberkeley.info


  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

PUBLIC HEARING
September 26, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jordan Klein, Director, Planning & Development Department

Subject: ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue, Use Permit #ZP2022-0099

RECOMMENDATION
Conduct a public hearing and, upon conclusion, adopt a Resolution affirming the 
decision of the Zoning Adjustments Board to approve Use Permit ZP#2022-0099, to 
demolish a non-residential structure and construct a 127,492 square foot, eight-story (89 
feet-2 inches) mixed-use residential building containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-
Income) and a 5,943 square foot commercial space, with 39 automobile parking spaces 
and 92 bicycle parking spaces, utilizing State Density Bonus Law, subject to revised 
conditions of approval.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
None.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
On January 26, 2022, Trachtenberg Architects (the Applicant) submitted a complete 
Senate Bill (SB) 330 preliminary housing development project application and was 
directed to submit a Use Permit Application, vesting the project to the zoning, design, 
subdivision and fee requirements in effect as of that date.  

On July 7, 2022, the Applicant submitted an SB 330 application for a Use Permit 
(ZP2022-0099) to demolish a non-residential structure and develop a mixed-use 
residential building utilizing State Density Bonus.  

On January 23, 2023, after three rounds of comments from staff, the application was 
deemed complete.  

On May 5, 2023, the Applicant submitted a revised, complete SB 330 preliminary 
housing development project application that superseded the previous application, 
vesting the project to the zoning, design, subdivision and fee requirements in effect as 
of that date.  

Page 1 of 263

Page 167

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
02



  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 2

On May 11, 2023, staff provided the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) a supplemental 
memorandum that included changes to the conditions of approval related to Affordable 
Housing Provisions and Street Trees (Attachment 4).

On May 11, 2023, the ZAB conducted a public hearing for the use permit application.  
After hearing public comments and holding discussion, the ZAB approved the use 
permit with revised and added conditions of approval by a vote of 9-0-0-0-0 (Duffy, 
Gaffney, Kahn, Lunaparra, O’Keefe, Sanderson, Thompson, Tregub, Yung).  

On May 18, 2023, a Notice of Decision of ZAB’s approval was issued, which established 
a 14-day appeal period (Attachment 3).  

On June 1, 2023, Elizabeth Kowal, a neighbor at 1523 Addison Street, filed an appeal of 
the ZAB’s decision with the City Clerk to City Council.

On September 12, 2023, staff posted the public hearing notices near the site and mailed 
notices to property owners and occupants within 300 feet of the project site and to all 
registered neighborhood groups that cover this area. This public hearing is required to 
resolve the appeal.

BACKGROUND
The project site is located within the University Avenue Specific Plan (UASP)1 area in a 
local-serving avenue node with existing neighborhood services. The project site is 
located at the corner of University Avenue and California Street, two blocks south of 
Ohlone Park. The project site is located at an intersection that is composed of one to 
three story mixed-use and commercial buildings and associated surface parking. 
Compared to both the eastern and western ends of the UASP area, the site is located 
within an underdeveloped section of the plan area. The rear of the site abuts the 
Restricted Two-Family Residential District (R-2) which is characterized by single-family, 
two-family, and multifamily residential buildings. The site project site is proximate to 
several bus lines and is within half a mile of the North Berkeley Bart Station.

The project site spans three rectangular, contiguous lots. The 28,936 square foot site 
maintains about 180 feet of frontage along University Avenue and about 138 feet of 
frontage along California Street. The western portion of the site area is partially 
developed with a Chinese language school and the eastern portion of the lot with a 
restaurant. The majority of the site is dedicated to off-street surface parking. The site is 
accessed along University Avenue at three separate curb cuts and at one curb cut 
along California Street. The following entitlements were previously obtained for the site: 

 1951 (UP #767) – To operate a service station 
 1991 (ZP #A1047) – To operate a restaurant 

1 University Avenue Specific Plan (1996), https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-
Ave-Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf

Page 2 of 263

Page 168

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-Ave-Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf


  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 3

 1996 (UP #A2434) – To allow beer and wine service at the existing restaurant 

The proposed project is a Density Bonus Project and would demolish the existing 
commercial buildings and construct a new eight-story residential building with 207 
dwelling units and 5,943 square feet of commercial space.   

The project is eligible for a density bonus under Government Code Section 65915, by 
including 21 Very Low-Income units (15 percent of the 138-unit base project), and 
qualifies for a 50 percent density bonus, or 69 units, resulting in a 207-unit density 
bonus project, with a concession to reduce useable open space, and waivers to reduce 
the ground floor commercial use area, minimum ground floor area for a commercial use, 
the rear setback, both side setbacks, and to increase the building height, number of 
stories, and the floor area ratio.  

At the hearing on May 11, the ZAB discussed the proposed development and found the 
project to be compliant with all vested and applicable, objective general plan and zoning 
standards, without specific adverse impact on public health or safety, and approved it 
with conditions without reductions to the project’s density, pursuant to the State Housing 
Accountability Act (HAA), Government Code Section 65589.5(j).2 The conditions added 
by the ZAB took into consideration comments from the public, ensuring additional 
engagement between the applicant and neighborhood members and a modification of 
the plans to more accurately depict elevations, prior to the issuance of a building permit.

For additional project background, please see the supplemental memo to ZAB and the 
ZAB staff report for this project, Attachments 4 5, respectively,.

Staff recommends two revisions to the conditions of approval (COA). (Attachment 1, 
Exhibit A) The first is to include COA 27 – Toxics, in addition to the standard conditions 
related to toxics management (COA 28). Although the conditions of approval currently 
require coordination with the Toxics Management Division to submit a Soil and 
Groundwater Management Plan and a hazardous building materials survey, the new 
COA 27 requires clearance by an external agency (e.g., Department of Toxic 
Substances Control, Regional Water Quality Control Board, or Alameda County Local 
Oversight Program) to ensure that vapor does not require additional mitigation. The 
added condition of approval is consistent with the comments provided to the applicant in 
a letter issued by staff on October 20, 2022 (Attachment 6).  

2 The Housing Accountability Act (HAA), Government Code Section 65589.5(j), requires that when a 
proposed housing development complies with the applicable, objective general plan and zoning 
standards, but a local agency proposes to deny the project or approve it only if the density is reduced, the 
agency must base its decision on written findings supported by substantial evidence that the development 
would have a specific adverse impact on public health or safety unless disapproved, or approved at a 
lower density; and there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific adverse 
impact, other than the disapproval, or approval at a lower density.

Page 3 of 263

Page 169



  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 4

The second revision corrects an error in the Findings and Conditions that were attached 
to the May 18, 2023 NOD. Because the project vested to the zoning, design, subdivision 
and fee requirements in effect on May 5, 2023, the project is subject to the affordable 
housing provisions that took effect April 1, 2023. In addition to new provisions related to 
affordable housing, the adopting ordinance also repealed the Affordable Housing 
Mitigation Fee. Conditions of Approval 31 and 65 were removed by ZAB and replaced 
the applicable condition (COA 41). The Affordable Housing Mitigation Fee COA 31 and 
COA 65 were erroneously left in on the NOD, which is corrected in the revised 
conditions (Exhibit A to the Resolution). 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The neighbors filed an appeal of the ZAB’s decision during the 14-day appeal period. 
The issues raised in the appellant’s letter and staff’s responses follow. For the sake of 
brevity, the appeal issues are not re-stated in their entirety; refer to the appeal letter 
(Attachment 2) for full text. The issues raised do not discuss specific components of the 
project, but take issue with City processes.  

Issue 1: Meeting was not scheduled between the applicant and neighbors 
prior to the ZAB hearing 
The appellant asserts that staff failed to coordinate a meeting between 
the applicant and neighbors near the project prior to the ZAB hearing, as 
required by the Design Review Committee. 

Response 1: Per the Zoning Project Application Submittal Requirements3, for projects 
of community or neighborhood interest (i.e., Density Bonus projects, a 
project in a non-residential district three or more stories, etc.) pre-
application neighborhood outreach is required prior to the submittal of 
use permit application. The project applicant satisfied this requirement 
by holding a community meeting about the project on March 30, 2022, 
prior to submittal of the use permit application. Apart from the pre-
application meeting, although additional meetings may be 
recommended, the applicant is not required to have an additional 
neighborhood meeting prior to the ZAB hearing. The ZAB did add a 
condition requiring the applicant to organize a neighbor-applicant 
meeting to “discuss additional project considerations” prior to the 
submittal of a building permit (COA 16).    

Issue 2: Concerns were not addressed by ZAB
The appellant asserts that neighborhood concerns and objections that 
were shared were not addressed by ZAB.     

3 Zoning Project Application Submittal Requirements describes all the materials required to submit a 
complete Zoning Project Application to the Planning and Development Department, Land Use Division. 

Page 4 of 263

Page 170

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Zoning%20Project%20Application%20Submittal%20Requirements.pdf


  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 5

Response 2: As stated in the Berkeley Commissioners’ Manual4,  public hearings are 
subject to minimum standards of receiving testimony. The general public 
have the option to attend commission meetings or may also send written 
correspondence via mail or email to be included in the commission 
agenda packet, in accordance with publication deadlines. During a 
hearing, commissioners may briefly respond to comments made during 
the public comment period or to communications received prior to the 
meeting during their discussion and deliberations on the project.  

At the hearing on May 11, 2023, the ZAB discussed the proposed 
development after receiving written comments, presentations and public 
testimony. The majority of the communications expressed concerns 
about the scale of the project and potential impacts to sunlight, traffic, 
and parking. Modifying the project to fully address concerns or without 
incorporating the approved waivers and concessions would result in the 
reduction of project density. For instance, according to the applicant, 
compliance with the FAR, stories, and height requirements of the 
underlying district would reduce the project by 42,536 square feet. 
Because the proposed housing development is consistent with the HAA 
– meaning it complies with all applicable, objective general plan and 
zoning standards – the City can only deny the project or approve a lower 
density project based on the following findings: 

1. The development would have a specific adverse impact on public 
health or safety unless disapproved, or approved at a lower density; 
and

2. There is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the 
specific adverse impact, other than the disapproval, or approval at a 
lower density.

Although the ZAB was unable to make the above described findings, 
they approved the project with additional conditions to revise the floor 
plans to reflect the step back illustrated in the renderings and that the 
applicant meet with the neighbors to discuss additional project 
considerations.  

Issue 3: Inadequate information about the project 
The appellant asserts that the development plans and staff did not 
provide adequate or accurate information about the density and 
affordability of the project to the ZAB and general public. 

Response 3: The applicant submitted plans and materials that adequately met the 
City’s submittal requirements for permit applications. Land use planning 

4 Berkeley Commissioners Manual https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/Commissioners-Manual.pdf 

Page 5 of 263

Page 171

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/Commissioners-Manual.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/Commissioners-Manual.pdf


  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 6

submittal requirements include: site plans, floor plans, sections, and 
elevations that are drawn to scale by a licensed architect, street 
elevations, and photo simulations from at least four angles. Additionally, 
projects that create five or more new dwellings and utilize State Density 
Bonus Law (SDBL) must also provide a housing affordability statement, 
density bonus eligibility statement, and transparent density bonus 
calculations that show consistency with SDBL. Staff reviewed these 
materials and determined that they were consistent with SDBL and the 
affordable housing requirements. Additional information on how SDBL is 
applied in Berkeley can be found in the Implementation of State Density 
Bonus guidelines, available to the public online. 

There is no applicable dwelling units per acre or density standard 
specific to the University Commercial District (C-U). As such, the base 
project density is determined by configuring the largest project allowed 
on the site that is fully compliant with district development standards, 
including any use and administrative use permits.5 Section 3b (“Project 
Description: Base Project and Density Bonus Project”) of the May 11 
staff report describes the City’s density bonus procedures and how the 
base project determines the proposed development, or the density 
bonus project. The percent of affordable units is calculated from the 
base project density, not the proposed density bonus project. The base 
project density is 138 units. By providing 21 Very-Low Income (VLI) 
below-market rate units on site (15 percent of the 138- unit base 
density), the project is eligible for a 50 percent density bonus or 69 units, 
per SDBL. The applicant proposes 69 additional units above the base 
density for a total of 207 dwelling units. The project is consistent with 
SDBL. 

Under the inclusionary housing provisions that went into effect on April 1, 
2023 (BMC 23.328), there are multiple options for meeting affordable 
housing requirements, including: construct 20 percent of the base project 
residential units as affordable on site, pay an in-lieu fee, or provide a 
combination of affordable units on site and an in-lieu fee. The project 
would comply with these provisions by providing 15 percent of the base 
project as VLI units, and pay a remainder in-lieu fee prior to first 
occupancy. 

Issue 4: Lack of sufficient neighborhood and city-wide planning 
The appellant remarks on the lack of neighborhood planning specific to 
the Mid-University Avenue area and provides recommendations for more 

5 City of Berkeley State Density Bonus Procedures: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/State%20Density%20Bonus%20-%20Procedures.pdf 

Page 6 of 263

Page 172

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/State%20Density%20Bonus%20-%20Procedures.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/State%20Density%20Bonus%20-%20Procedures.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/State%20Density%20Bonus%20-%20Procedures.pdf


  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 7

pedestrian-friendly street scape. The appellant also cites concerns about 
the lack of affordable housing included in the project.

Response 4: The project site is located within the University Avenue Strategic Plan 
(UASP) area. Adopted in 1996, the UASP contains several policies and 
goals related to the revitalization and redevelopment along University 
Avenue, encouraging more dense, mixed-use environs, and providing 
more housing and commercial opportunities.   

The proposed project is consistent with the UASP policies as it is a 
higher density infill development that proposes 207 new dwelling units, 
with 21 units affordable at the VLI level, that will count towards the City’s 
share of regional housing needs allocation (RHNA). The number of 
affordable and market-rate units included in the project is consistent with 
State and local regulations.

Compared to both the eastern and western ends of the UASP area, the 
site is located within an underdeveloped section of University Avenue. 
The project will redevelop the site, which currently maintains single-story 
commercial buildings and off-street, surface parking, with commercial 
and residential amenities on the ground floor and housing on the upper 
levels. Consistent with the UASP, the infill project establishes a dense 
residential, mixed-use development that is proximate to public transit, 
bicycle boulevards, and commercial corridors that offer various goods 
and services to residents, which encourages more pedestrian and 
multimodal oriented activities.  

Issues 5+6: Assessment of development impacts and California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA)
The appellant asserts that negative impacts in the neighborhood were 
underestimated with regard to environmental and safety concerns, 
parking burdens, noise, shadowing, privacy, and the valuation of 
property. The appellant also asserts that a categorical exemption should 
not apply because of the size of the project.  

Response 5+6: Section 21084 of the Public Resources Code requires the CEQA 
guidelines to have a list of projects that have been determined not to 
have a significant effect on the environment, and are therefore exempt 
from the provisions of CEQA. Based on the recommendation from staff, 
ZAB found that the project qualifies for the Class 32 (Infill Development 
Project) categorical exemption (Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines).

To be considered an infill development project, the Guidelines stipulate 
that the project must meet the following conditions -

Page 7 of 263

Page 173



  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 8

1) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation, 
policies, and the zoning district regulations. 
As noted on page 16 of the May 11 Staff Report (Attachment 5), the 
project is consistent with the Avenue Commercial General Plan land 
use designation, University Commercial zoning district. 

2) The project occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than 
five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses 
As noted on page 3 and 9 of the May 11 Staff Report (Attachment 5), 
the project is located within the city limits and is located on a 28,936 
square foot lot, which is less than five acres.  

3) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or 
threatened species.
As noted on page 10 of the May 11 Staff Report (Attachment 5), the 
project site is located in a developed, urban area along University 
Avenue and has no value as a habitat for endangered, rare or 
threatened species. 

4) Approval would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, 
noise, air quality or water quality. 
Standard COAs and project specific COAs 19, 66-67 (Attachment 1, 
Exhibit A) will mitigate and reduce project impacts related to traffic, 
noise, air quality or water quality.   

5) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public 
services.  
As noted on page 10 of the May 11 Staff Report (Attachment 5), the 
project site is located in a developed, urban area along University 
Avenue that is currently served by all required utilities and public 
services.  

The proposed project satisfies all of the above conditions of an infill 
development project.  

Additionally, none of the exceptions in CEQA Guidelines Section 
15300.2 apply because: (a) the project will not “impact an environmental 
resource of hazardous or critical concern”; (b) there are no cumulative 
impacts because there have not been successive projects of this type in 
the same place; (c) there is not a  “reasonable possibility that the 
[Project] will have a significant effect on the environment due to unusual 
circumstances”; (d) the project is not located near a scenic highway; (e) 
the project site is not located on a hazardous waste site pursuant to 
Government Code Section 65962.5; and (f) the project would not affect 
any historical resource because there are no landmarks or structures of 
merit at the project site.  

Page 8 of 263

Page 174



  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 9

Although additional CEQA review is not required, the standard and 
revised conditions of approval ensure supplementary coordination and 
review amongst the applicant, the City’s Toxics Management Division, 
and external governmental agencies concerning toxics handling prior to 
and during the construction of the development. 

Traffic impact analysis is not required for projects located within a 
quarter mile of a “high-quality transit corridor”6 or a half mile from a 
“major transit stop.”7 Because this site is within a quarter mile of a high-
quality transit corridor, no traffic impact analysis is required for the City’s 
review and consideration prior to entitlement. That said, consistent with 
input from the City’s Traffic Engineer, the project includes the following 
conditions to mitigate traffic and safety impacts:  

 Traffic Study (COA 19) – Provide a traffic memo analyzing traffic 
operations along University Avenue to revise the signal timing at 
this intersection, updating pedestrian crossing times. 

 Crosswalk (COA 66) – The project shall restripe north and south 
crosswalks at University/ California intersection with white 
continental crosswalk striping, per Caltrans standard. 

 Bulb Out (COA 67) – The project shall establish southwest corner 
concrete sidewalk bulb out at the University/ California 
intersection extending onto the University roadway, with 
bidirectional curb ramps. Existing conflicting right pocket striping 
to be removed by the project. 

Further, the project is subject to the ZAB standard conditions of approval 
regarding construction noise and air quality, waste diversion, toxics, and 
stormwater requirements, thereby ensuring the project would not be 
detrimental to the neighborhood. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS 
The project approved by the ZAB is in compliance with all state and local environmental 
requirements. 

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Pursuant to BMC 23.410.040(G)(2), the Council may (1) continue the public hearing, (2) 
reverse, affirm, or modify the ZAB’s decision, or (3) remand the matter to the ZAB.

6 Defined in Public Resources Code 21155 as corridor with fixed route bus service with service intervals 
no longer than 15 minutes during peak commute hours.
7 Defined in CEQA Section 21064.3 as a site containing a rail transit station, a ferry terminal served by 
either a bus or rail transit service, or the intersection of two or more major bus routes with a frequency of 
service interval of 15 minutes or less during the morning and afternoon peak commute periods.

Page 9 of 263

Page 175



  
ZAB Appeal: 1598 University Avenue PUBLIC HEARING

September 26, 2023

Page 10

Action Deadline:
Pursuant to BMC Section 23.410.040(I), if the disposition of the appeal has not been 
determined within 30 days from the date the public hearing was closed by the Council 
(not including Council recess), then the decision of the Board shall be deemed affirmed 
and the appeal shall be deemed denied.

CONTACT PERSONS
Jordan Klein, Director, Planning & Development Department, (510) 981-7534
Alene Pearson, Deputy Director of Planning, (510) 981-7489
Katrina Lapira, Project Planner, (510) 981-7488

Attachments:
1: Resolution

Exhibit A: Findings and Conditions – Revised, dated September 26, 2023 
Exhibit B: Project Plans, received May 3, 2023

2: Appeal Letter dated June 1, 2023
3: ZAB Notice of Decision, dated May 18, 2023
4: ZAB Supplemental Memorandum, dated May 11, 2023
5: ZAB Staff Report, dated May 11, 2023
6: Incomplete Letter to Applicant, dated October 20, 2022
7: Index to Administrative Record
8: Administrative Record
9: Public Hearing Notice

Page 10 of 263

Page 176



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

AFFIRMING THE ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD’S APPROVAL OF USE PERMIT # 
ZP2022-0099 TO DEMOLISH A NON-RESIDENTIAL STRUCTURE AND CONSTRUCT 
A 127,492 SQUARE-FOOT, EIGHT-STORY (89 FEET- 2 INCHES) MIXED-USE 
RESIDENTIAL BUILDING CONTAINING 207 DWELLING UNITS (21 VERY LOW – 
INCOME) AND 5,943 SQUARE FOOT COMMERCIAL SPACE, WITH 39 
AUTOMOBILE PARKING SPACES AND 92 BICYCLE PARKING SPACE, UTILIZING 
STATE DENSITY BONUS LAW, AND DISMISSING THE APPEAL

On January 26, 2022, Trachtenberg Architects (the Applicant) submitted a complete SB 
330 preliminary housing development project application and was directed to submit a 
Use Permit Application.  

On July 7, 2022, the Applicant submitted an SB 330 application for a Use Permit 
(ZP2022-0099) to demolish a non-residential structure and develop a mixed-use 
residential building utilizing State Density Bonus.  

On January 23, 2023, after three rounds of comments from staff, the application was 
deemed complete.  

On May 5, 2023, the Applicant submitted a revised, complete SB 330 preliminary 
housing development project application that superseded the previous application, 
vesting the project to the zoning, design, subdivision and fee requirements in effect as 
of that date.  

On May 11, 2023, the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) conducted a public hearing for 
the use permit application.  After hearing public comments and holding discussion, the 
ZAB approved the use permit with revised of approval by a vote of 9-0-0-0-0 (Duffy, 
Gaffney, Kahn, Lunaparra, O’Keefe, Sanderson, Thompson, Tregub, Yung).  

On May 18, 2023, a Notice of Administrative Decision approving the application was 
issued by the ZAB, which established a 14-day appeal period.  

On June 1, 2023, Elizabeth Kowal, a neighbor at 1523 Addison Street, filed an appeal of 
the ZAB’s decision with the City Clerk to City Council.

On or before September 12, 2023, staff posted the public hearing notices near the site 
and mailed notices to property owners and occupants within 300 feet of the project site 
and to all registered neighborhood groups that cover this area. 

WHEREAS, on September 26, 2023, the Council held a public hearing to consider the 
ZAB’s decision, and, in the opinion of this Council, the facts stated in, or ascertainable 

Page 11 of 263

Page 177



  

Page 2

from the public record, including comments made at the public hearing, warrant approving 
the project.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
Council hereby adopts the findings made by the ZAB in Exhibit A, affirms the decision of 
the ZAB to approve Use Permit #ZP2022-0099, adopts the conditions in Exhibit A and the 
project plans in Exhibit B, and dismisses the appeal.

Exhibits
A: Findings and Conditions, dated September 26, 2023
B: Project Plans, received May 3, 2023

Page 12 of 263

Page 178



  

   

A t t a c h m e n t  1, Exhibit A

F i n d i n g s  a n d  C o n d i t i o n s
SEPTEMBER 26, 2023

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA   94704      Tel: 510.981.7410      TDD: 510.981.7474      Fax: 510.981.7420
E-mail: zab@cityofberkeley.info

1598 University Avenue 
Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 to demolish a non-residential structure and construct 
a 127,492 square-foot, eight-story (89 feet-2 inches) mixed-use residential 
building containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income) and 5,943 square 
foot commercial space, with 39 automobile parking spaces and 92 bicycle 
parking spaces, utilizing State Density Bonus.

PERMITS REQUIRED
 Use Permit to demolish two non-residential buildings, under Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) 

Section 23.326.070
 Use Permit to establish a mixed-use residential building, under BMC Section 23.204.020
 Use Permit to create 5,000 square feet of new floor area in the University Commercial District, 

under BMC Section 23.204.030(A)
 Use Permit to establish residential uses on the ground floor, under BMC 23.204.060(B)(3)
 Use Permit to reduce the rear setback (interior) to provide greater privacy along the side setback 

(south) that abuts residential district, under BMC 23204.060 
 Administrative Use Permit Administrative Use Permit for projections that exceed the maximum 

building height limit, under 23.304.050(A)

CONCESSIONS/WAIVERS UNDER GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 65915-65918 
 Concession to allow for a reduction in open space to 10,365 square feet, where 41,400 square 

feet is required under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 
 Waiver to reduce the ground floor commercial use feature street frontage along University Avenue 

from 75 percent to 31.8 percent, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(6)
 Waiver to reduce the minimum ground floor area for a commercial use feature from 20 percent to 

19.8 percent, under 23.204.060 (D)(6)
 Waiver to increase the building height to 89’-2 where the requirement is 48’ under BMC Section 

23.204.060(D)(1)
 Waiver to increase the number of stories to eight where the maximum is four under BMC Section 

23.204.060(D)(1)
 Waiver to increase the FAR to 4.47, where the maximum is 3 under BMC Section 

23.204.060(D)(1)
 Waiver to reduce the rear setback to a 5-foot average where the requirement is a 20-foot 

average, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1)
 Waiver to reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is a 2-foot 

average, under 23.204.060(D)(1)

Page 13 of 263

Page 179



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 2 of 25

Page 14 of 263

Page 180



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 3 of 25

I. CEQA FINDINGS

1. The project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code §21000, et seq. and California Code of Regulations, 
§15000, et seq.) pursuant to Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines (“Infill Development 
Project”). 

The project meets all of the requirements of this exemption, as follows:
A. The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation, policies, and the 

zoning district regulations. 
As noted on page 16 of the May 11 Staff Report (Attachment 5), the project is consistent 
with the Avenue Commercial General Plan land use designation, University Commercial 
zoning district. 

B. The project occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than five acres substantially 
surrounded by urban uses 
As noted on page 3 and 9 of the May 11 Staff Report (Attachment 5), the project is located 
within the city limits and is located on a 28,936 square foot lot, which is less than five acres.  

C. The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened species.
As noted on page 10 of the May 11 Staff Report (Attachment 5), the project site is located 
in a developed, urban area along University Avenue and has no value as a habitat for 
endangered, rare or threatened species. 

D. Approval would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality or 
water quality. 
Standard COAs and project specific COAs 19, 66-67 (Attachment 1, Exhibit A) will mitigate 
and reduce project impacts related to traffic, noise, air quality or water quality.   

E. The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services.  
As noted on page 10 of the May 11 Staff Report (Attachment 5), the project site is located 
in a developed, urban area along University Avenue that is currently served by all required 
utilities and public services.  

2. Furthermore, none of the exceptions in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2 apply, as follows: 
(a) the site is not located in an environmentally sensitive area, (b) there are no cumulative 
impacts, (c) there are no significant effects, (d) the project is not located near a scenic highway, 
(e) the project site is not located on a hazardous waste site pursuant to Government Code 
Section 65962.5, and (f) the project would not affect any historical resource.

II. HOUSING ACCOUNTABILTY ACT FINDINGS 
A. The Housing Accountability Act, Government Code Section 65589.5(j) requires that when a 

proposed housing development complies with applicable, objective general plan and zoning 
standards, a local agency may not deny the project or approve it with reduced density unless 
the agency makes written findings supported by substantial evidence that: (A) the development 
would have a specific adverse impact on public health or safety unless disapproved or 
approved at a lower density; and (B) there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or 
avoid the specific adverse impact, other than the disapproval or approval at a lower density. 

B. Because the project complies with applicable, objective general plan and zoning standards, 
§65589.5(j) does apply to this project. No significant, quantifiable, direct and unavoidable 

Page 15 of 263

Page 181



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 4 of 25

impacts, based on objective, identified written public health or safety standards, polices, or 
conditions, have been identified.

III. DENSITY BONUS FINDINGS
1. Pursuant to Government Code Section 65915, the Zoning Adjustments Board finds that:

A. Under the City’s methodology for implementing density bonuses, the “base project” 
consists of 138 units;

B. The project will provide at least 21 qualifying units in the 138-unit “base project”, as more 
fully set forth in Condition 39;

C. The project is entitled to a density increase of 50   percent over the otherwise maximum 
allowable residential density under the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan Land Use 
Element, under the requirements of Government Code Section 65915(b) and (f), plus three 
concessions or incentives. This equates to a density bonus of 69 units above the Base 
Project, for a total of 207-units.

2. In accordance with Government Code Section 65915(d) and (k), the Zoning Adjustments Board 
hereby grants the following concession in order to provide for affordable housing costs: 
A. To allow for a reduction in open space provided to 10,365 square feet, where the 

requirement is 41,400 square feet under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1); and 

3. In accordance with Government Code Section 65915(d), in order to allow construction of the 
proposed project with the density permitted under State law, the Zoning Adjustments Board 
finds that the approval of the concessions is required to provide for affordable rents, as 
provided in Government Code Section 65915(d)(1)(A) because 1) approval of the concession 
would result in identifiable and actual cost reduction; 2) approval of the concession would not 
have a specific adverse impact upon public health and safety, or the physical environment, or 
on any real property listed in the California Register of Historical Resources; and 3) would not 
be contrary to State or Federal law.

4. In accordance with Government Code Section 65915(e) the Zoning Adjustments Board hereby 
grants the following waivers:

 To reduce the ground floor commercial use feature street frontage along University 
Avenue from 75 percent to 31.8 percent, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(6)

 To reduce the minimum ground floor area for a commercial use feature from 20 percent 
to 19.8 percent, under 23.204.060 (D)(6)

 To increase the building height to 89’-2 where the requirement is 48’ under BMC 
Section 23.204.060(D)(1)

 To increase the number of stories to eight where the maximum is four under BMC 
Section 23.204.060(D)(1)

 To increase the FAR to 4.47, where the maximum is 3 under BMC Section 
23.204.060(D)(1)

 To reduce the rear setback to a 5-foot average where the requirement is a 20-foot 
average, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1)

 To reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is a 2-foot 
average, under 23.204.060(D)(1)

 To reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is a 2-foot 
average, under 23.204.060(D)(1)

Page 16 of 263

Page 182



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 5 of 25

These waivers are required because state law requires the City to modify development 
standards as necessary to accommodate these density bonus units, and because the Zoning 
Adjustments Board hereby finds that the density bonus units can best be accommodated by 
granting these waivers.

5. In accordance with Government Code Section 65915(e), in order to allow construction of the 
proposed project with the density permitted under State law, the Zoning Adjustments Board 
finds approval of waivers is required 1) construct the proposed project at the density permitted 
under State law; 2) approval of requested waivers would not have a specific adverse impact 
upon public health and safety, or the physical environment, or on any real property listed in the 
California Register of Historical Resources; and 3) approval of the requested waivers would 
not be contrary to State or Federal law.

IV. FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL
6. As required by Section 23.406.040(E)(1) of the BMC, the project, under the circumstances of 

this particular case existing at the time at which the application is granted, would not be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, and general welfare of the persons 
residing or working in the neighborhood of such proposed use or be detrimental or injurious to 
property and improvements of the adjacent properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood, 
or to the general welfare of the City because:
A. The project is a higher-density development in proximity to entitled and in-progress mixed 

uses of a comparable density along University Avenue, transit, commercial districts, and 
amenities that is compatible with the purposes of the zoning district and the surrounding 
uses and buildings. The project site is located within the C-U commercial district, within the 
UASP. The project provides 207 new dwelling units sized from studios to two-bedroom 
units. Twenty-one of the units will be restricted as affordable housing units for very-low-
income residents.   Over 5,000 square feet of commercial space will be provided primarily 
along California Street, accompanied by a pedestrian oriented on-site public plaza.   The 
proposal also includes a 9,165 square foot open space feature at the ground floor.   The 
ground floor also includes residential amenities like a club room, fitness center, and long-
term bicycle parking room.   The project site is well served by public transportation, with 
several AC transit bus stops along University Avenue, BART within a half-mile, and several 
bicycle share kiosks within a half-mile radius. The project adds additional dwelling units, 
new commercial floor area, and an at-grade garden on the ground floor, furthering the 
mixed-use uses that are compatible purposes of the district and not detrimental to 
neighborhood-serving commercial uses; 

B. New shadows will be cast on existing residential and commercial buildings throughout the 
year. During the summer months new shadows will shade existing residential units to the 
west, south, and east of the project (1632 University, 2091 California, 2020 California, 1543 
Addison, 1537 Addison, 1528 University, and 1530 University). New shadows shall also be 
cast existing residential units north and west (1597 University, 1587 University, 1535 
University, and 1530 University) of the project during the winter months. These changes in 
sunlight pattern are found to be reasonable given the orientation of these properties in 
relation to the subject building and their close proximity given the urban residential 
environment. These affects are not found to be detrimental because limited in duration and 

Page 17 of 263

Page 183



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 6 of 25

will not persist for extended periods throughout the year. Shadow impact on adjacent 
dwellings are to be expected, because the subject site is located in the C-U district, which 
allows heights of up to 48 feet without a use permit and roof top projections beyond the 
base height with an administrative use permit; and

C. The project is subject to the City’s standard conditions of approval regarding construction 
noise and air quality, waste diversion, toxics, and stormwater requirements, thereby 
ensuring the project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort 
or general welfare of persons residing or working in the area or neighborhood of such 
proposed use or be detrimental or injurious to property and improvements of the adjacent 
properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood or to the general welfare of the City.

V. OTHER FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL
7. As required by Section 23.326.070 of the BMC, to approve the demolition of non-residential 

buildings, the ZAB must find that the demolition is required for the development of a new 
building and will not be materially detrimental to commercial needs of the impacted 
neighborhood.   The proposed demolition of the existing non-residential buildings will not be 
detrimental needs of the neighborhood, as the project redevelops underdeveloped lots that are 
primarily used for surface parking with a new mixed-use building, with ground floor commercial 
that is compatible with existing development patterns along University Avenue.  The project is 
aligned with the UASP goals and district’s objectives to promote appropriate new mixed-use 
infill development that is compatible with the commercial and residential areas within C-U 
district. 

8. As required by Section 23.204.060(E) of the BMC, to approve a Use Permit for a project in the 
C-U district, the ZAB must find that the proposed use or structure is compatible with the 
purpose of the district, the surrounding uses and buildings, and does not interfere with the 
continuity of retail and service facilities at the ground level.
A. The project infills an underutilized site with a mixed-use building with ground floor 

commercial space fronting California Street, residential services (i.e. leasing office, lobby, 
bike storage, fitness center, club room) on the ground floor along University, and 207 
dwelling units on the upper floors;

B. The project is consistent with the UASP and C-U district and will revitalize the corridor with 
additional housing and creates a service-oriented and commercial street-wall along both 
University Avenue and California Street.; and

C. With respect to the existing residential uses that abut the rear of the site, the project breaks 
down the massing by including an open-air courtyard on the ground floor, which results in 
a rear average setback of 57 feet, and stepping back the building with balconies at floors 
seven and eight. 

9. As required by Section 23.204.060, a Use Permit for the reduction of rear setback within a 
commercial district, provided that the reduction enhances privacy or improved amenities in the 
Residential District.  In the Base Project, the rear setback (interior) is reduced from a 20- foot 
average to 0 feet.  This reduction allows for the massing of the building to move away from the 
Southern property line and results in 20-foot average setback that confronts the R2-A district.  
The reduction also allows for more useable open space on the ground floor, a residential 

Page 18 of 263

Page 184



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 7 of 25

amenity.  Generally, this reduction improves privacy along the southern property line, between 
the commercial and residential districts. 

10.As required by BMC Section 23.304.050(A), the Zoning Adjustments Board finds that the 
proposed rooftop equipment, which exceeds the district height limit, does not exceed 15 
percent the average floor area of the building’s floors. None of the equipment structures will 
be used as habitable or commercial space. 

Page 19 of 263

Page 185



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 8 of 25

VI. STANDARD CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR ALL PROJECTS
The following conditions, as well as all other applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, apply to 
this Permit:

1. Conditions Shall be Printed on Plans
The conditions of this Permit shall be printed on the second sheet of each plan set submitted for 
a building permit pursuant to this Use Permit, under the title ‘Use Permit Conditions.’ Additional 
sheets may also be used if the second sheet is not of sufficient size to list all of the conditions. 
The sheet(s) containing the conditions shall be of the same size as those sheets containing the 
construction drawings; 8-1/2” by 11” sheets are not acceptable.   

2. Compliance Required (BMC Section 23.102.050)
All land uses and structures in Berkeley must comply with the Zoning Ordinance and all 
applicable City ordinances and regulations. Compliance with the Zoning Ordinance does not 
relieve an applicant from requirements to comply with other federal, state, and City regulations 
that also apply to the property.

3. Approval Limited to Proposed Project and Replacement of Existing Uses (BMC Sections 
23.404.060.B.1 and 2)
A. This Permit authorizes only the proposed project described in the application. In no way 

does an approval authorize other uses, structures or activities not included in the project 
description.

B. When the City approves a new use that replaces an existing use, any prior approval of the 
existing use becomes null and void when permits for the new use are exercised (e.g., 
building permit or business license issued). To reestablish the previously existing use, an 
applicant must obtain all permits required by the Zoning Ordinance for the use.

4. Conformance to Approved Plans (BMC Section 23.404.060.B.4)
All work performed under an approved permit shall be in compliance with the approved plans 
and any conditions of approval.

5. Exercise and Expiration of Permits (BMC Section 23.404.060.C)
A. A permit authorizing a land use is exercised when both a valid City business license is issued 

(if required) and the land use is established on the property. 
B. A permit authorizing construction is exercised when both a valid City building permit (if 

required) is issued and construction has lawfully begun.
C. The Zoning Officer may declare a permit lapsed if it is not exercised within one year of its 

issuance, except if the applicant has applied for a building permit or has made a substantial 
good faith effort to obtain a building permit and begin construction. The Zoning Officer may 
declare a permit lapsed only after 14 days written notice to the applicant. A determination 
that a permit has lapsed may be appealed to the ZAB in accordance with Chapter 23.410 
(Appeals and Certification). 

D. A permit declared lapsed shall be void and of no further force and effect. To establish the 
use or structure authorized by the lapsed permit, an applicant must apply for and receive 
City approval of a new permit.

Page 20 of 263

Page 186



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 9 of 25

6. Permit Remains Effective for Vacant Property (BMC Section 23.404.060.D)
Once a Permit for a use is exercised and the use is established, the permit authorizing the use 
remains effective even if the property becomes vacant. The same use as allowed by the original 
permit may be re-established without obtaining a new permit, except as set forth in Standard 
Condition #5 above.

7. Permit Modifications (BMC Section 23.404.070)
No change in the use or structure for which this Permit is issued is permitted unless the Permit 
is modified by the Board. The Zoning Officer may approve changes to plans approved by the 
Board, consistent with the Board’s policy adopted on May 24, 1978, which reduce the size of the 
project.   

8. Permit Revocation (BMC Section 23.404.080)
The City may revoke or modify a discretionary permit for completed projects due to: 1) violations 
of permit requirements; 2) Changes to the approved project; and/or 3) Vacancy for one year or 
more. However, no lawful residential use can lapse, regardless of the length of time of the 
vacancy. Proceedings to revoke or modify a permit may be initiated by the Zoning Officer, Zoning 
Adjustments Board (ZAB), or City Council referral. 

9. Transparency Acknowledgement (BMC Section 13.104.030)
Prior to the issuance of a building permit for any Project subject to this Chapter:

A. A Responsible Representative of the Permittee shall certify under penalty of perjury that: 
(1) the Permittee has reviewed Chapter 13.104 of the Berkeley Municipal Code; and (2) 
the Permittee will be responsible for demonstrating compliance with this Chapter.

B. The Permittee shall provide to the City a Contractor Pay Transparency Acknowledgment 
on a form approved by the City for this purpose. A Responsible Representative of the 
Permittee shall certify under penalty of perjury that the Contractor and all Qualifying 
Subcontractors performing work on the Project will comply with Chapter 13.104 of the 
Berkeley Municipal Code and with Labor Code sections 226(a) and 2810.5 for each 
employee who works on the Project. 

10. Pay Transparency Attestations Following Project Completion (BMC Section 13.104.040)
Within 10 days of the approved final inspection of any Project subject to this Chapter, each 
Permittee shall provide to the City for each Contractor and Qualifying Subcontractor a Pay 
Transparency Attestation on a form approved by the City. On each Pay Transparency 
Attestation, a Responsible Representative of the Contractor or Qualifying Subcontractor shall 
attest under penalty of perjury that the Contractor or Qualifying Subcontractor complied with 
Chapter 13.104 of the Berkeley Municipal Code and Labor Code sections 226(a) and 2810.5 for 
each employee who performed work on the Project. The City will maintain Pay Transparency 
Attestation forms for period of at least three years after their date of receipt by the City.

11. Posting of Ordinance (BMC Section 13.104.050)
Each day work is performed on the Project, each Permittee shall post, and keep posted in a 
conspicuous location where it may be easily read by employees during the hours of the workday, 
a notice that: (A) contains the text of Chapter 13.104 of the Berkeley Municipal Code; (B) 
explains that workers can report violations of Labor Code sections 226 and 2810.5 to the Labor 
Commissioner of the State of California; and (C) provides current contact information, including 

Page 21 of 263

Page 187



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 10 of 25

office address, telephone number, and email address of the Labor Commissioner of the State of 
California.

12. Conditions of Approval (BMC Section 13.104.060)
The requirements of Sections 13.104.030 through 13.104.050 shall be included as conditions of 
approval of any Use Permit or Zoning Certificate for any Project that is subject to this Chapter. 
Failure to comply with the requirements of any provision of this Chapter shall be grounds for 
issuance of an administrative citation under Chapter 1.28 and/or the revocation or modification 
of any Use Permit issued for the Project under Chapter 23B.60.

13. Indemnification Agreement
The applicant shall hold harmless, defend, and indemnify the City of Berkeley and its officers, 
agents, and employees against any and all liability, damages, claims, demands, judgments or 
other losses (including without limitation, attorney’s fees, expert witness and consultant fees and 
other litigation expenses), referendum or initiative relating to, resulting from or caused by, or 
alleged to have resulted from, or caused by, any action or approval associated with the project.   
The indemnity includes without limitation, any legal or administrative challenge, referendum or 
initiative filed or prosecuted to overturn, set aside, stay or otherwise rescind any or all approvals 
granted in connection with the Project, any environmental determination made for the project 
and granting any permit issued in accordance with the project.   This indemnity includes, without 
limitation, payment of all direct and indirect costs associated with any action specified herein.   
Direct and indirect costs shall include, without limitation, any attorney’s fees, expert witness and 
consultant fees, court costs, and other litigation fees.   City shall have the right to select counsel 
to represent the City at Applicant’s expense in the defense of any action specified in this 
condition of approval.   City shall take reasonable steps to promptly notify the Applicant of any 
claim, demand, or legal actions that may create a claim for indemnification under these 
conditions of approval.   

VII. ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED BY THE ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD
Pursuant to BMC 23.406.040(E), the Zoning Adjustments Board attaches the following additional 
conditions to this Permit:

Prior to Submittal of Any Building Permit:
14. Project Liaison. The applicant shall include in all building permit plans and post onsite the name 

and telephone number of an individual empowered to manage construction-related complaints 
generated from the project.   The individual’s name, telephone number, and responsibility for the 
project shall be posted at the project site for the duration of the project in a location easily visible 
to the public.   The individual shall record all complaints received and actions taken in response, 
and submit written reports of such complaints and actions to the project planner on a weekly 
basis. Please designate the name of this individual below:

 Project Liaison ____________________________________________________
Name Phone #

15. Plan Revision. Submit revised floor plans that reflect the step back at the facade that were 
illustrated in the renderings. 

Page 22 of 263

Page 188



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 11 of 25

16. Neighbor- Applicant Meeting. The applicant shall provide documentation showing that they have 
met with neighbors to discuss additional project considerations. 

 
17. Final Design Review. The Project requires approval of a Final Design Review application by the 

Design Review Committee. 

18. Address Assignment. The applicant shall file an “Address Assignment Request Application” with 
the Permit Service Center (1947 Center Street) for any address change or new address 
associated with this Use Permit. The new address(es) shall be assigned and entered into the 
City’s database prior to the applicant’s submittal of a building permit application.

19. Traffic Study. Provide a memo analyzing existing and existing plus project traffic operations at 
University Avenue / California Street. Project shall use findings to revise the signal timing at 
University Avenue /California Street, updating pedestrian crossing times and implementing a 
leading pedestrian interval. 

20. Construction Noise Reduction Program. The applicant shall develop a site-specific noise 
reduction program prepared by a qualified acoustical consultant to reduce construction noise 
impacts to the maximum extent feasible, subject to review and approval of the Zoning Officer. 
The noise reduction program shall include the time limits for construction listed above, as 
measures needed to ensure that construction complies with BMC Section 13.40.070. The noise 
reduction program should include, but shall not be limited to, the following available controls to 
reduce construction noise levels as low as practical:
A. Construction equipment should be well maintained and used judiciously to be as quiet as 

practical.
B. Equip all internal combustion engine-driven equipment with mufflers, which are in good 

condition and appropriate for the equipment.
C. Utilize “quiet” models of air compressors and other stationary noise sources where 

technology exists.   Select hydraulically or electrically powered equipment and avoid 
pneumatically powered equipment where feasible.

D. Locate stationary noise-generating equipment as far as possible from sensitive receptors 
when adjoining construction sites.   Construct temporary noise barriers or partial enclosures 
to acoustically shield such equipment where feasible.

E. Prohibit unnecessary idling of internal combustion engines.
F. If impact pile driving is required, pre-drill foundation pile holes to minimize the number of 

impacts required to seat the pile.
G. Construct solid plywood fences around construction sites adjacent to operational business, 

residences or other noise-sensitive land uses where the noise control plan analysis 
determines that a barrier would be effective at reducing noise.

H. Erect temporary noise control blanket barriers, if necessary, along building facades facing 
construction sites.   This mitigation would only be necessary if conflicts occurred which were 
irresolvable by proper scheduling. Noise control blanket barriers can be rented and quickly 
erected.

I. Route construction related traffic along major roadways and away from sensitive receptors 
where feasible.

21. Damage Due to Construction Vibration. The project applicant shall submit screening level 
analysis prior to, or concurrent with demolition building permit. If a screening level analysis 

Page 23 of 263

Page 189



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 12 of 25

shows that the project has the potential to result in damage to structures, a structural engineer 
or other appropriate professional shall be retained to prepare a vibration impact assessment 
(assessment). The assessment shall take into account project specific information such as the 
composition of the structures, location of the various types of equipment used during each phase 
of the project, as well as the soil characteristics in the project area, in order to determine whether 
project construction may cause damage to any of the structures identified as potentially impacted 
in the screening level analysis. If the assessment finds that the project may cause damage to 
nearby structures, the structural engineer or other appropriate professional shall recommend 
design means and methods of construction that to avoid the potential damage, if feasible. The 
assessment and its recommendations shall be reviewed and approved by the Building and 
Safety Division and the Zoning Officer. If there are no feasible design means or methods to 
eliminate the potential for damage, the structural engineer or other appropriate professional shall 
undertake an existing conditions study (study) of any structures (or, in case of large buildings, 
of the portions of the structures) that may experience damage. This study shall establish the 
baseline condition of these structures, including, but not limited to, the location and extent of any 
visible cracks or spalls; and include written descriptions and photographs. 

The study shall be reviewed and approved by the Building and Safety Division and the Zoning 
Officer prior to issuance of a grading permit. Upon completion of the project, the structures (or, 
in case of large buildings, of the portions of the structures) previously inspected will be 
resurveyed, and any new cracks or other changes shall be compared to pre-construction 
conditions and a determination shall be made as to whether the proposed project caused the 
damage. The findings shall be submitted to the Building and Safety Division and the Zoning 
Officer for review. If it is determined that project construction has resulted in damage to the 
structure, the damage shall be repaired to the pre-existing condition by the project sponsor, 
provided that the property owner approves of the repair.

Prior to Issuance of Any Building & Safety Permit (Demolition or Construction)

22. Tree Protection. Tree protection fencing shall be shown on all demolition, site, landscaping, 
grading, and utility plans, and shall be installed prior to demolition, grubbing, or grading around 
the five existing Crepe Trees located along California Street.  Fences shall be 6 feet in height, 
composed of chain link with posts sunk into the ground.  Fences are to remain until all grading 
and construction is completed.  

23. Construction Noise Management - Public Notice Required.   At least two weeks prior to initiating 
any construction activities at the site, the applicant shall provide notice to businesses and 
residents within 500 feet of the project site.   This notice shall at a minimum provide the following: 
(1) project description, (2) description of construction activities during extended work hours and 
reason for extended hours, (3) daily construction schedule (i.e., time of day) and expected 
duration (number of months), (4) the name and phone number of the Project Liaison for the 
project that is responsible for responding to any local complaints, and (5) that construction work 
is about to commence. The liaison would determine the cause of all construction-related 
complaints (e.g., starting too early, bad muffler, worker parking, etc.) and institute reasonable 
measures to correct the problem. A copy of such notice and methodology for distributing the 
notice shall be provided in advance to the City for review and approval.

Page 24 of 263

Page 190



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 13 of 25

24. Construction Phases.   The applicant shall provide the Zoning Officer with a schedule of major 
construction phases with start dates and expected duration, a description of the activities and 
anticipated noise levels of each phase, and the name(s) and phone number(s) of the individual(s) 
directly supervising each phase.   The Zoning Officer or his/her designee shall have the authority 
to require an on-site meeting with these individuals as necessary to ensure compliance with 
these conditions.   The applicant shall notify the Zoning Officer of any changes to this schedule 
as soon as possible.

25. Demolition.   Demolition of the existing building cannot commence until a complete application 
is submitted for the replacement building.   In addition, all plans presented to the City to obtain 
a permit to allow the demolition are subject to these conditions.

26. Construction and Demolition Diversion. Applicant shall submit a Construction Waste 
Management Plan that meets the requirements of BMC Chapter 19.37 including 100% diversion 
of asphalt, concrete, excavated soil and land-clearing debris and a minimum of 65% diversion 
of other nonhazardous construction and demolition waste.

27. Toxics. The applicant shall provide documentation verifying approval/ clearance from either 
Department of Toxics and Substances Control, the Regional Water Board, or Alameda County 
Local Oversight Program will be required to ensure vapor from the historic gas stations does not 
need to be better addressed with additional sampling or a soil vapor barrier.

28. Toxics. The applicant shall contact the Toxics Management Division (TMD) at 1947 Center 
Street or (510) 981-7470 to determine which of the following documents are required and timing 
for their submittal: 
A. Environmental Site Assessments:

1) Phase I & Phase II Environmental Site Assessments (latest ASTM 1527-13).   A recent 
Phase I ESA (less than 2 years old*) shall be submitted to TMD for developments for:
 All new commercial, industrial and mixed use developments and all large 

improvement projects. 
 All new residential buildings with 5 or more dwelling units located in the 

Environmental Management Area (or EMA).
 EMA is available online at:   

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/IT/Level_3_-_General/ema.pdf
2) Phase II ESA is required to evaluate Recognized Environmental Conditions (REC) 

identified in the Phase I or other RECs identified by TMD staff.   The TMD may require a 
third-party toxicologist to review human or ecological health risks that may be identified. 
The applicant may apply to the appropriate state, regional or county cleanup agency to 
evaluate the risks.   

3) If the Phase I is over 2 years old, it will require a new site reconnaissance and interviews. 
If the facility was subject to regulation under Title 15 of the Berkeley Municipal Code since 
the last Phase I was conducted, a new records review must be performed.

B. Soil and Groundwater Management Plan:
1) A Soil and Groundwater Management Plan (SGMP) shall be submitted to TMD for all non-

residential projects, and residential or mixed-use projects with five or more dwelling units, 
that: (1) are in the Environmental Management Area (EMA) and (2) propose any 
excavations deeper than 5 feet below grade. The SGMP shall be site specific and identify 

Page 25 of 263

Page 191

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/IT/Level_3_-_General/ema.pdf


  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 14 of 25

procedures for soil and groundwater management including identification of pollutants 
and disposal methods. The SGMP will identify permits required and comply with all 
applicable local, state and regional requirements. 

2) The SGMP shall require notification to TMD of any hazardous materials found in soils and 
groundwater during development. The SGMP will provide guidance on managing odors 
during excavation. The SGMP will provide the name and phone number of the individual 
responsible for implementing the SGMP and post the name and phone number for the 
person responding to community questions and complaints.

3) TMD may impose additional conditions as deemed necessary. All requirements of the 
approved SGMP shall be deemed conditions of approval of this Use Permit.

C. Building Materials Survey:
1) Prior to approving any permit for partial or complete demolition and renovation activities 

involving the removal of 20 square or lineal feet of interior or exterior walls, a building 
materials survey shall be conducted by a qualified professional. The survey shall include, 
but not be limited to, identification of any lead-based paint, asbestos, polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PBC) containing equipment, hydraulic fluids in elevators or lifts, refrigeration 
systems, treated wood and mercury containing devices (including fluorescent light bulbs 
and mercury switches). The Survey shall include plans on hazardous waste or hazardous 
materials removal, reuse or disposal procedures to be implemented that fully comply state 
hazardous waste generator requirements (22 California Code of Regulations 66260 et 
seq). The Survey becomes a condition of any building or demolition permit for the project. 
Documentation evidencing disposal of hazardous waste in compliance with the survey 
shall be submitted to TMD within 30 days of the completion of the demolition. If asbestos 
is identified, Bay Area Air Quality Management District Regulation 11-2-401.3 a 
notification must be made and the J number must be made available to the City of 
Berkeley Permit Service Center. 

D. Hazardous Materials Business Plan:
1) A Hazardous Materials Business Plan (HMBP) in compliance with BMC Section 

15.12.040 shall be submitted electronically at http://cers.calepa.ca.gov/   within 30 days 
if on-site hazardous materials exceed BMC 15.20.040. HMBP requirement can be found 
at http://ci.berkeley.ca.us/hmr/   

Prior to Issuance of Any Building (Construction) Permit 
29. Parcel Merger. The applicant shall secure approval of any parcel merger and/or lot line 

adjustment associated with this Use Permit.

30. Percent for Public Art: Consistent with BMC §6.13 the applicant shall either pay the required in-
lieu fee or provide the equivalent amount in a financial guarantee to be released after installation 
of the On-Site Publicly Accessible Art.

31. Affordable Housing Mitigation Fee: Consistent with BMC §22.20.065, and fee resolution 
applicable to this project, the applicant shall provide a schedule, consistent with a schedule 
approved by the City Manager or her designee, outlining the timeframe for payment of the AHMF, 
and they shall pay this fee.

31. HVAC Noise Reduction. Prior to the issuance of building permits, the project applicant shall 
submit plans that show the location, type, and design of proposed heating, ventilation, and 

Page 26 of 263

Page 192

http://cers.calepa.ca.gov/
http://ci.berkeley.ca.us/hmr/


  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 15 of 25

cooling (HVAC) equipment. In addition, the applicant shall provide product specification sheets 
or a report from a qualified acoustical consultant showing that operation of the proposed HVAC 
equipment will meet the City’s exterior noise requirements in BMC Section 13.40.050. The City’s 
Planning and Development Department shall review the submitted plans, including the selected 
HVAC equipment, to verify compliance with exterior noise standards.

32. Interior Noise Levels. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit a report 
to the Building and Safety Division and the Zoning Officer by a qualified acoustic engineer 
certifying that the interior residential portions of the project will achieve interior noise levels of no 
more than 45 Ldn (Average Day-Night Levels). If the adopted Building Code imposes a more 
restrictive standard for interior noise levels, the report shall certify compliance with this standard.

33. Solar Photovoltaic (Solar PV) and Battery Energy Storage Systems (ESS). A solar PV system 
shall be installed, subject to specific limited exceptions, as specified by the Berkeley Energy 
Code (BMC Chapter 19.36). Energy storage system (ESS) readiness (new single-family, duplex, 
and townhouse homes) or ESS installation (new multifamily and most nonresidential buildings) 
shall be completed as specified by BMC Chapter 19.36. Location of the solar PV system and the 
ESS, if applicable, shall be noted on the construction plans.

34. Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. At least 5 percent of the project parking spaces for residential 
parking shall have installed Level 2 (40 amp) electric vehicle (EV) charging stations, at least 25 
percent shall have installed low power Level 2 EV charging receptacles (20 amp), and at least 
20 percent shall be “EV Capable” equipped with raceway, electrical panel service capacity, and 
an electrical system to support future Level 2 (40 amp) EV charging stations, or any more 
stringent EV charging requirements as specified by the Berkeley Green Code (BMC Chapter 
19.37). Required Level 2 charging stations and low power Level 2 EV charging receptacles shall 
be installed, maintained, and made available for building resident use. EV charging station 
installations, EV charging receptacles, and EV Capable spaces shall be noted on the 
construction plans. Public access parking spaces shall provide any applicable mandatory 
accessibility provisions.

35. Nonresidential Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. At least 10 percent of project parking spaces for 
nonresidential use shall have installed Level 2 (40 amp) electric vehicle (EV) charging stations 
and/or DC Fast Charging Stations, and least 40 percent shall be “EV Capable” equipped with 
raceway, electrical panel service capacity, and an electrical system to support future Level 2 (40 
amp) EV charging stations, or any more stringent EV charging requirements, as specified by the 
Berkeley Green Code (BMC Chapter 19.37). EV charging station installations and EV Capable 
spaces shall be noted on the construction plans. Public access parking spaces shall provide any 
applicable mandatory accessibility provisions.

36. Water Efficient Landscaping. Landscaping, totaling 500 square feet of more of new landscaping 
or 2,500 square feet or more of renovated irrigated area, shall comply with the State’s Model 
Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO). MWELO-compliant landscape documentation 
including a planting, grading, and irrigation plan shall be included in site plans. Water budget 
calculations are also required for landscapes of 2,500 square feet or more and shall be included 
in site plans. The reference evapotranspiration rate (ETo) for Berkeley is 41.8.

Page 27 of 263

Page 193



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 16 of 25

37. Prohibition of Natural Gas Infrastructure in New Buildings. The project shall comply with the City 
of Berkeley Prohibition of Natural Gas Infrastructure in New Buildings (BMC Chapter 12.80). The 
building permit plan set submission shall include a cover sheet declaration: ‘Natural Gas-Free 
Design as required by BMC Chapter 12.80.

38. Recycling and Organics Collection. Applicant shall provide recycling and organics collection 
areas for occupants, clearly marked on site plans, which comply with the Alameda County 
Mandatory Recycling Ordinance (ACWMA Ordinance 2012-01).

39. Public Works ADA.   Plans submitted for building permit shall include replacement of sidewalk, 
curb, gutter, and other streetscape improvements, as necessary to comply with current City of 
Berkeley standards for accessibility.

40. Required Parking Spaces for Persons with Disabilities.   Per BMC Section 23.322.040.H of the 
Zoning Ordinance, “If the number of required off-street parking spaces in a non-residential 
district is reduced as allowed by this chapter, the number of required parking spaces for persons 
with disabilities shall be calculated as if there had been no reduction in required spaces.”

41. Affordable Housing Requirements. Project shall comply with BMC Chapter 23.328 Inclusionary 
Housing, effective April 1, 2023 and Resolution 70,698-N.S1. Adopting Regulations for Voucher 
Program and Establishing an In-Lieu Fee to Support the Provision of Affordable Housing 
Pursuant to Berkeley Municipal Code 23.328 and Rescinding Resolution 70,668-N.S.

Prior to Demolition or Start of Construction: 
42. Construction Meeting. The applicant shall request of the Zoning Officer an on-site meeting with 

City staff and key parties involved in the early phases of construction (e.g., applicant, general 
contractor, foundation subcontractors) to review these conditions and the construction schedule. 
The general contractor or applicant shall ensure that all subcontractors involved in subsequent 
phases of construction aware of the conditions of approval.

During Construction:

43. Construction Hours.   Construction activity shall be limited to between the hours of 7:00 AM and 
6:00 PM on Monday through Friday, and between 9:00 AM and 4:00 PM on Saturday. No 
construction-related activity shall occur on Sunday or any Federal Holiday.   

44. Construction Hours- Exceptions.   It is recognized that certain construction activities, such as the 
placement of concrete, must be performed in a continuous manner and may require an extension 
of these work hours.   Prior to initiating any activity that might require a longer period, the 
developer must notify the Zoning Officer and request an exception for a finite period of time.   If 
the Zoning Officer approves the request, then two weeks prior to the expanded schedule, the 
developer shall notify businesses and residents within 500 feet of the project site describing the 
expanded construction hours. A copy of such notice and methodology for distributing the notice 

1 Resolution 70,698-N.S
https://records.cityofberkeley.info/PublicAccess/api/Document/AXRmh4dlB0rJ02AHum9YVPQg6S0on6bgeISn9lPGWKO
mMUWAXjaHtrfmti1eVaEGgu4Prom1WFIwÉbVOJqVMiÉo%3D/ 

Page 28 of 263

Page 194

https://records.cityofberkeley.info/PublicAccess/api/Document/AXRmh4dlB0rJ02AHum9YVPQg6S0on6bgeISn9lPGWKOmMUWAXjaHtrfmti1eVaEGgu4Prom1WFIw%C3%89bVOJqVMi%C3%89o%3D/
https://records.cityofberkeley.info/PublicAccess/api/Document/AXRmh4dlB0rJ02AHum9YVPQg6S0on6bgeISn9lPGWKOmMUWAXjaHtrfmti1eVaEGgu4Prom1WFIw%C3%89bVOJqVMi%C3%89o%3D/


  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 17 of 25

shall be provided in advance to the City for review and approval. The project shall not be allowed 
more than 15 extended working days.

45. Project Construction Website. The applicant shall establish a project construction website with 
the following information clearly accessible and updated monthly or more frequently as changes 
warrant:
 Contact information (i.e. “hotline” phone number, and email address) for the project 

construction manager
 Calendar and schedule of daily/weekly/monthly construction activities
 The final Conditions of Approval, Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program, 

Transportation Construction Plan, Construction Noise Reduction Program, and any other 
reports or programs related to construction noise, air quality, and traffic. 

46. Public Works - Implement BAAQMD-Recommended Measures during Construction.   For all 
proposed projects, BAAQMD recommends implementing all the Basic Construction Mitigation 
Measures, listed below to meet the best management practices threshold for fugitive dust:
A. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, and 

unpaved access roads) shall be watered two times per day.
B. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material off-site shall be covered.
C. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet power 

vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is prohibited.
D. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 mph.
E. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as possible. 

Building pads shall be laid as soon as possible after grading unless seeding or soil binders 
are used.

F. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing 
the maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California airborne toxics control 
measure Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of Regulations [CCR]). Clear signage 
shall be provided for construction workers at all access points.

G. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with 
manufacturer’s specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified visible 
emissions evaluator.

H. Post a publicly visible sign with the telephone number and person to contact at the lead 
agency regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective action 
within 48 hours. The Air District’s phone number shall also be visible to ensure compliance 
with applicable regulations. 

47. Air Quality - Diesel Particulate Matter Controls during Construction. All off-road construction 
equipment used for projects with construction lasting more than 2 months shall comply with one 
of the following measures:
A. The project applicant shall prepare a health risk assessment that demonstrates the project’s 

on-site emissions of diesel particulate matter during construction will not exceed health risk 
screening criteria after a screening-level health risk assessment is conducted in accordance 
with current guidance from BAAQMD and OEHHA. The health risk assessment shall be 
submitted to the Land Use Planning Division for review and approval prior to the issuance of 
building permits; or

Page 29 of 263

Page 195



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 18 of 25

B. All construction equipment shall be equipped with Tier 2 or higher engines and the most 
effective Verified Diesel Emission Control Strategies (VDECS) available for the engine type 
(Tier 4 engines automatically meet this requirement) as certified by the California Air 
Resources Board (CARB). The equipment shall be properly maintained and tuned in 
accordance with manufacturer specifications.   

In addition, a Construction Emissions Minimization Plan (Emissions Plan) shall be prepared that 
includes the following:
 An equipment inventory summarizing the type of off-road equipment required for each phase 

of construction, including the equipment manufacturer, equipment identification number, 
engine model year, engine certification (tier rating), horsepower, and engine serial number. 
For all VDECS, the equipment inventory shall also include the technology type, serial 
number, make, model, manufacturer, CARB verification number level, and installation date.

 A Certification Statement that the Contractor agrees to comply fully with the Emissions Plan 
and acknowledges that a significant violation of the Emissions Plan shall constitute a material 
breach of contract.   The Emissions Plan shall be submitted to the Public Works Department 
for review and approval prior to the issuance of building permits.

48. Construction and Demolition Diversion.   Divert debris according to your plan and collect 
required documentation. Get construction debris receipts from sorting facilities in order to verify 
diversion requirements. Upload recycling and disposal receipts if using Green Halo and submit 
online for City review and approval prior to final inspection. Alternatively, complete the second 
page of the original Construction Waste Management Plan and present it, along with your 
construction debris receipts, to the Building Inspector by the final inspection to demonstrate 
diversion rate compliance. The Zoning Officer may request summary reports at more frequent 
intervals, as necessary to ensure compliance with this requirement.

49. Low-Carbon Concrete. The project shall maintain compliance with the Berkeley Green Code 
(BMC Chapter 19.37) including use of concrete mix design with a cement reduction of at least 
25%. Documentation on concrete mix design shall be available at all times at the construction 
site for review by City Staff.

50. Transportation Construction Plan.   The applicant and all persons associated with the project are 
hereby notified that a Transportation Construction Plan (TCP) is required for all phases of 
construction, particularly for the following activities:
 Alterations, closures, or blockages to sidewalks, pedestrian paths or vehicle travel lanes 

(including bicycle lanes);
 Storage of building materials, dumpsters, debris anywhere in the public ROW;
 Provision of exclusive contractor parking on-street; or 
 Significant truck activity.

The applicant shall secure the City Traffic Engineer’s approval of a TCP.   Please contact the 
Office of Transportation at 981-7010, or 1947 Center Street, and ask to speak to a traffic 
engineer.   In addition to other requirements of the Traffic Engineer, this plan shall include the 
locations of material and equipment storage, trailers, worker parking, a schedule of site 
operations that may block traffic, and provisions for traffic control.   The TCP shall be consistent 
with any other requirements of the construction phase.   

Page 30 of 263

Page 196

https://greenhalosystems.com/
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-02/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf


  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 19 of 25

Contact the Permit Service Center (PSC) at 1947 Center Street or 981-7500 for details on 
obtaining Construction/No Parking Permits (and associated signs and accompanying dashboard 
permits).   Please note that the Zoning Officer and/or Traffic Engineer may limit off-site parking 
of construction-related vehicles if necessary to protect the health, safety or convenience of the 
surrounding neighborhood.   A current copy of this Plan shall be available at all times at the 
construction site for review by City Staff.

51. Avoid Disturbance of Nesting Birds. Initial site disturbance activities, including vegetation and 
concrete removal, shall be prohibited during the general avian nesting season (February 1 to 
August 30), if feasible. If nesting season avoidance is not feasible, the applicant shall retain a 
qualified biologist to conduct a preconstruction nesting bird survey to determine the 
presence/absence, location, and activity status of any active nests on or adjacent to the project 
site. The extent of the survey buffer area surrounding the site shall be established by the qualified 
biologist to ensure that direct and indirect effects to nesting birds are avoided. To avoid the 
destruction of active nests and to protect the reproductive success of birds protected by the 
MBTA and CFGC, nesting bird surveys shall be performed not more than 14 days prior to 
scheduled vegetation and concrete removal. In the event that active nests are discovered, a 
suitable buffer (typically a minimum buffer of 50 feet for passerines and a minimum buffer of 250 
feet for raptors) shall be established around such active nests and no construction shall be 
allowed inside the buffer areas until a qualified biologist has determined that the nest is no longer 
active (e.g., the nestlings have fledged and are no longer reliant on the nest). No ground-
disturbing activities shall occur within this buffer until the qualified biologist has confirmed that 
breeding/nesting is completed and the young have fledged the nest. Nesting bird surveys are 
not required for construction activities occurring between August 31 and January 31.

52. Archaeological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). 
Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15064.5(f), “provisions for historical or unique 
archaeological resources accidentally discovered during construction” should be instituted. 
Therefore:
A. In the event that any prehistoric or historic subsurface cultural resources are discovered 

during ground disturbing activities, all work within 50 feet of the resources shall be halted 
and the project applicant and/or lead agency shall consult with a qualified archaeologist, 
historian or paleontologist to assess the significance of the find.

B. If any find is determined to be significant, representatives of the project proponent and/or 
lead agency and the qualified professional would meet to determine the appropriate 
avoidance measures or other appropriate measure, with the ultimate determination to be 
made by the City of Berkeley. All significant cultural materials recovered shall be subject to 
scientific analysis, professional museum curation, and/or a report prepared by the qualified 
professional according to current professional standards.

C. In considering any suggested measure proposed by the qualified professional, the project 
applicant shall determine whether avoidance is necessary or feasible in light of factors such 
as the uniqueness of the find, project design, costs, and other considerations.

D. If avoidance is unnecessary or infeasible, other appropriate measures (e.g., data recovery) 
shall be instituted. Work may proceed on other parts of the project site while mitigation 
measures for cultural resources is carried out.

E. If significant materials are recovered, the qualified professional shall prepare a report on the 
findings for submittal to the Northwest Information Center.

Page 31 of 263

Page 197



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 20 of 25

53. Human Remains (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). In the event 
that human skeletal remains are uncovered at the project site during ground-disturbing activities, 
all work shall immediately halt and the Alameda County Coroner shall be contacted to evaluate 
the remains, and following the procedures and protocols pursuant to Section 15064.5 (e)(1) of 
the CEQA Guidelines. If the County Coroner determines that the remains are Native American, 
the City shall contact the California Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC), pursuant to 
subdivision (c) of Section 7050.5 of the Health and Safety Code, and all excavation and site 
preparation activities shall cease within a 50-foot radius of the find until appropriate 
arrangements are made. If the agencies determine that avoidance is not feasible, then an 
alternative plan shall be prepared with specific steps and timeframe required to resume 
construction activities. Monitoring, data recovery, determination of significance and avoidance 
measures (if applicable) shall be completed expeditiously.

54. Paleontological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). In the 
event of an unanticipated discovery of a paleontological resource during construction, 
excavations within 50 feet of the find shall be temporarily halted or diverted until the discovery 
is examined by a qualified paleontologist (per Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards 
[SVP 1995,1996]). The qualified paleontologist shall document the discovery as needed, 
evaluate the potential resource, and assess the significance of the find. The paleontologist shall 
notify the appropriate agencies to determine procedures that would be followed before 
construction is allowed to resume at the location of the find. If the City determines that avoidance 
is not feasible, the paleontologist shall prepare an excavation plan for mitigating the effect of the 
project on the qualities that make the resource important, and such plan shall be implemented. 
The plan shall be submitted to the City for review and approval.

55. Halt Work/Unanticipated Discovery of Tribal Cultural Resources. In the event that cultural 
resources of Native American origin are identified during construction, all work within 50 feet of 
the discovery shall be redirected. The project applicant and project construction contractor shall 
notify the City Planning Department within 24 hours.   The City will again contact any tribes who 
have requested consultation under AB 52, as well as contact a qualified archaeologist, to 
evaluate the resources and situation and provide recommendations.   If it is determined that the 
resource is a tribal cultural resource and thus significant under CEQA, a mitigation plan shall be 
prepared and implemented in accordance with State guidelines and in consultation with Native 
American groups. If the resource cannot be avoided, additional measures to avoid or reduce 
impacts to the resource and to address tribal concerns may be required. 

56. Stormwater Requirements. The applicant shall demonstrate compliance with the requirements 
of the City’s National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit as described in 
BMC Section 17.20.   The following conditions apply:
A. The project plans shall identify and show site-specific Best Management Practices (BMPs) 

appropriate to activities conducted on-site to limit to the maximum extent practicable the 
discharge of pollutants to the City's storm drainage system, regardless of season or weather 
conditions.

B. Trash enclosures and/or recycling area(s) shall be covered; no other area shall drain onto 
this area.   Drains in any wash or process area shall not discharge to the storm drain system; 
these drains should connect to the sanitary sewer.   Applicant shall contact the City of 
Berkeley and EBMUD for specific connection and discharge requirements.   Discharges to 

Page 32 of 263

Page 198



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 21 of 25

the sanitary sewer are subject to the review, approval and conditions of the City of Berkeley 
and EBMUD.

C. Landscaping shall be designed with efficient irrigation to reduce runoff, promote surface 
infiltration and minimize the use of fertilizers and pesticides that contribute to stormwater 
pollution.   Where feasible, landscaping should be designed and operated to treat runoff.   
When and where possible, xeriscape and drought tolerant plants shall be incorporated into 
new development plans.

D. Design, location and maintenance requirements and schedules for any stormwater quality 
treatment structural controls shall be submitted to the Department of Public Works for review 
with respect to reasonable adequacy of the controls.   The review does not relieve the 
property owner of the responsibility for complying with BMC Chapter 17.20 and future 
revisions to the City's overall stormwater quality ordinances.   This review shall be shall be 
conducted prior to the issuance of a Building Permit.

E. All paved outdoor storage areas must be designed to reduce/limit the potential for runoff to 
contact pollutants.

F. All on-site storm drain inlets/catch basins must be cleaned at least once a year immediately 
prior to the rainy season.   The property owner shall be responsible for all costs associated 
with proper operation and maintenance of all storm drainage facilities (pipelines, inlets, catch 
basins, outlets, etc.) associated with the project, unless the City accepts such facilities by 
Council action.   Additional cleaning may be required by City of Berkeley Public Works 
Engineering Dept.

G. All private or public projects that create and/or replace 10,000 square feet or more of 
impervious surface must comply with Provision C.3 of the Alameda County NPDES permit 
and must incorporate stormwater controls to enhance water quality. Permit submittals shall 
include a Stormwater Requirement Checklist and detailed information showing how the 
proposed project will meet Provision C.3 stormwater requirements, including a) Site design 
measures to reduce impervious surfaces, promote infiltration, and reduce water quality 
impacts; b) Source Control Measures to keep pollutants out of stormwater runoff; c) 
Stormwater treatment measures that are hydraulically sized to remove pollutants from 
stormwater; d) an O & M (Operations and Maintenance) agreement for all stormwater 
treatment devices and installations; and e) Engineering calculations for all stormwater 
devices (both mechanical and biological). 

H. All on-site storm drain inlets must be labeled “No Dumping – Drains to Bay” or equivalent 
using methods approved by the City.

I. Most washing and/or steam cleaning must be done at an appropriately equipped facility that 
drains to the sanitary sewer.   Any outdoor washing or pressure washing must be managed 
in such a way that there is no discharge or soaps or other pollutants to the storm drain.   
Sanitary connections are subject to the review, approval and conditions of the sanitary 
district with jurisdiction for receiving the discharge.   

J. All loading areas must be designated to minimize “run-on” or runoff from the area. 
Accumulated waste water that may contribute to the pollution of stormwater must be drained 
to the sanitary sewer or intercepted and pretreated prior to discharge to the storm drain 
system.   The property owner shall ensure that BMPs are implemented to prevent potential 
stormwater pollution.   These BMPs shall include, but are not limited to, a regular program 
of sweeping, litter control and spill cleanup.

K. Restaurants, where deemed appropriate, must be designed with a contained area for 
cleaning mats, equipment and containers.   This contained wash area shall be covered or 
designed to prevent run-on or run-off from the area.   The area shall not discharge to the 

Page 33 of 263

Page 199



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 22 of 25

storm drains; wash waters should drain to the sanitary sewer, or collected for ultimate 
disposal to the sanitary sewer.   Employees shall be instructed and signs posted indicating 
that all washing activities shall be conducted in this area.   Sanitary connections are subject 
to the review, approval and conditions of the waste water treatment plant receiving the 
discharge. 

L. Sidewalks and parking lots shall be swept regularly to prevent the accumulation of litter and 
debris.   If pressure washed, debris must be trapped and collected to prevent entry to the 
storm drain system.   If any cleaning agent or degreaser is used, wash water shall not 
discharge to the storm drains; wash waters should be collected and discharged to the 
sanitary sewer.   Discharges to the sanitary sewer are subject to the review, approval and 
conditions of the sanitary district with jurisdiction for receiving the discharge.

M. The applicant is responsible for ensuring that all contractors and sub-contractors are aware 
of and implement all stormwater quality control measures.   Failure to comply with the 
approved construction BMPs shall result in the issuance of correction notices, citations, or 
a project stop work order.

57. Public Works.   All piles of debris, soil, sand, or other loose materials shall be covered at night 
and during rainy weather with plastic at least one-eighth millimeter thick and secured to the 
ground.

58. Public Works.   The applicant shall ensure that all excavation takes into account surface and 
subsurface waters and underground streams so as not to adversely affect adjacent properties 
and rights-of-way.

59. Public Works.   The project sponsor shall maintain sandbags or other devices around the site 
perimeter during the rainy season to prevent on-site soils from being washed off-site and into 
the storm drain system.   The project sponsor shall comply with all City ordinances regarding 
construction and grading.

60. Public Works.   Prior to any excavation, grading, clearing, or other activities involving soil 
disturbance during the rainy season the applicant shall obtain approval of an erosion prevention 
plan by the Building and Safety Division and the Public Works Department.   The applicant shall 
be responsible for following these and any other measures required by the Building and Safety 
Division and the Public Works Department.

61. Public Works.   The removal or obstruction of any fire hydrant shall require the submission of a 
plan to the City’s Public Works Department for the relocation of the fire hydrant during 
construction. 

62. Public Works.   If underground utilities leading to adjacent properties are uncovered and/or 
broken, the contractor involved shall immediately notify the Public Works Department and the 
Building & Safety Division, and carry out any necessary corrective action to their satisfaction.

Prior to Final Inspection or Issuance of Occupancy Permit:
63. Compliance with Conditions.   The project shall conform to the plans and statements in the Use 

Permit. The developer is responsible for providing sufficient evidence to demonstrate 
compliance with the requirements throughout the implementation of this Use Permit.   

Page 34 of 263

Page 200



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 23 of 25

64. Compliance with Approved Plan.   The project shall conform to the plans and statements in the 
Use Permit.   All landscape, site and architectural improvements shall be completed per the 
attached approved drawings dated May 3, 2023, except as modified by conditions of approval.

65. Number of Below Market Rate Units. Should the Applicant elect to provide BMR units prior to 
receiving a building permit for the Project, they are entitled to eliminate or receive a proportional 
reduction in the AHMF consistent with BMC Section 22.20.065. The BMR Units shall be designated 
in the Regulatory Agreement; comply with the City’s BMR administrative guidelines; shall be 
reasonably dispersed throughout the project; be of the same size and contain, on average, the same 
number of bedrooms as the non-BMR units in the project; and be comparable with the design or use 
of non-BMR units in terms of appearance, materials and finish quality. The designation of BMR Units 
shall conform to the addresses assigned to the building by the City. Any additional BMR units the 
applicant may choose to provide must also conform with these conditions.

65. Transportation-Crosswalk. Project shall restripe north and south crosswalks at 
University/California with white continental crosswalk striping, per Caltrans standard

66. Transportation – Bulb Out. Project shall establish a SW corner concrete sidewalk bulb out at 
University/California extending onto the University roadway, with bidirectional curb ramps. 
Existing conflicting right turn pocket striping to be removed by the Project.

67. Transportation Demand Management. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the 
property owner shall facilitate a site inspection by Planning Department staff to confirm that the 
physical improvements required in Section 23.334.030(C) and 23.322.090 (bike parking) have 
been installed. The property owner shall also provide documentation that the programmatic 
measures required in 23.334.030(A) and 23.334.030(B) will be implemented.
A. Consistent with Section 23.334.030(A), all parking spaces provided for residents be leased or 

sold separate from the rental or purchase of dwelling units for the life of the dwelling units, such 
that potential renters or buyers shall have the option of renting or buying a dwelling unit at a 
price lower than would be the case if there were a single price for both the dwelling unit and 
the parking space(s).

B. Consistent with Section 23.334.030(B), at least one of the following transit benefits shall be 
offered, at no cost to the resident, for a period of ten years after the issuance of a Certificate 
of Occupancy. A notice describing these transportation benefits shall be posted in a location 
or locations visible to all employees.

1. One monthly pass for unlimited local bus transit service for every bedroom in each 
dwelling unit.

2. Subject to the review and approval of the Zoning Officer in consultation with the 
Transportation Division Manager, a functionally equivalent transit benefit in an 
amount at least equal to the price of a non-discounted unlimited monthly local bus 
pass. 

C. Consistent with Section 23.334.030(C), publicly-available, real-time transportation information 
in a common area, such as a lobby or elevator bay, on televisions, computer monitors or other 
displays readily visible to residents and/or visitors, shall be provided. Transportation 
information shall include, but is not limited to, transit arrivals and departures for nearby transit 
routes.

Page 35 of 263

Page 201



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 24 of 25

D. Property owners may be required to pay administrative fees associated with compliance with 
this Condition.

At All Times:
68. Tree Protection – Inspections.  Inspections by the City’s consulting arborist may be conducted 

throughout demolition and construction to ensure compliance with tree protection measures.  

69. Transportation Demand Management Compliance. The property owner shall submit to the 
Planning Department periodic TDM Compliance Reports in accordance with Administrative 
Regulations, subject to the review and oversight of the Zoning Officer. Property owners may be 
required to pay administrative fees associated with compliance with this Condition, pursuant to 
BMC Section 23.334.040(B).

70. Exterior Lighting. All exterior lighting shall be energy efficient where feasible; and shielded and 
directed downward and away from property lines to prevent excessive glare beyond the subject 
property.

71. Rooftop Projections.   No additional rooftop or elevator equipment shall be added to exceed the 
approved maximum roof height without submission of an application for a Use Permit 
Modification, subject to Board review and approval.

72. Design Review. Signage and any other exterior modifications, including but not limited to 
landscaping and lighting, shall be subject to Design Review approval.

73. Drainage Patterns. The applicant shall establish and maintain drainage patterns that do not 
adversely affect adjacent properties and rights-of-way.   Drainage plans shall be submitted for 
approval of the Building & Safety Division and Public Works Department, if required.

74. Electrical Meter. Only one electrical meter fixture may be installed per dwelling unit.

75. Loading.   All loading/unloading activities associated with deliveries to all uses shall be restricted 
to the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. daily.

76. Residential Permit Parking. No Residential Permit Parking (RPP) permits shall be issued to 
project residents, nor shall commercial placards be issued to non-residential occupants and/or 
users of the site. The project planner shall notify the Finance Department, Customer Service 
Center, to add these addresses to the list of addresses ineligible for RPP permits. The property 
owner shall notify all tenants of rental units, and/or buyers of condominium units, of this 
restriction in leases and/or contracts, and shall provide sample leases and/or contracts including 
such notification to the project planner prior to issuance of an occupancy permit or final 
inspection.

77. Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. Required Level 2 charging stations and low power Level 2 EV 
charging receptacles, as specified by the Berkeley Green Code (BMC Chapter 19.37) shall be 
maintained in good working condition and made available for building resident use.

Page 36 of 263

Page 202



  
   

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS
September 26, 2023 Page 25 of 25

78. Nonresidential Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. Required Level 2 charging stations and DC Fast 
Charge stations, as specified by the Berkeley Green Code (BMC Chapter 19.37) shall be 
maintained in good working condition and made available for building occupant and/or visitor 
use.

79. Tenant Notification. The developer shall provide tenant notification, via a lease rider or deed 
covenant, that each dwelling unit is located in a mixed-use area that includes commercial, food 
service and entertainment uses, and that each occupant shall not seek to impede their lawful 
operation. 

80. Transportation Demand Management. A Transportation Demand Management compliance 
report shall be submitted to the Transportation Division Manager, on a form acceptable to the 
City, prior to occupancy, and on an annual basis thereafter, which demonstrates that the project 
is in compliance with the applicable requirements.

A. The food service operation, if qualifying for participation in the Alameda County Guaranteed 
Ride Home program (or successor program), shall participate in the “Guarantee Ride Home” 
program to reduce employee single occupant vehicle trips by providing alternate means of 
leaving work in an emergency.   Enrollment shall be encouraged by providing Guarantee Ride 
Home information to all employees.   An affidavit/statement indicating number of participating 
employees shall be provided annually to the Transportation Division Manager

81. Transit Subsidy Condition. If 10 or more employees, the business operator shall reimburse 
employees the maximum non-taxable cost of commuting to and from work on public 
transportation (e.g., monthly passes) if they so commute, and a notice informing employees of 
the availability of such subsidy shall be permanently displayed in the employee area as per BMC 
Chapter 9.88.

Page 37 of 263

Page 203



UNIVERSITY
AVE.

C
ALIFO

R
N

IA

ADDISON

SAC
R

AM
EN

TO

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY

N

GENERAL
INFORMATION

A0.0

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
N.T.S.

PROJECT DIRECTORYVICINITY MAP
OWNER/APPLICANT:
1598 University Avenue, LLC
NX VENTURES
1958A University Ave
Berkeley, CA 94704

PROJECT ADDRESS:  1598 University Ave. Berkeley, CA 94703
(APN: 056 200300100) (056 200302500) (056 200302401)

SCOPE OF WORK:
REMOVAL OF TWO EXISTING 1 STORY COMMERCIAL STRUCTURES & CONSTRUCTION
OF A NEW 8-STORY MIXED-USE  BUILDING WITH 207 DWELLING UNITS, GROUND LEVEL
LOBBIES, COMMERCIAL SPACE, AND PARKING GARAGE WITH STATE OF CALIFORNIA
DENSITY BONUS.

DRAWING LIST
A0.0 GENERAL INFORMATION

FLOOR PLANA2.1

A2.2

A3.1 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A3.2 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A3.3

A0.1

FLOOR PLAN

BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A3.4 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A3.6 PHOTO CONTEXT VIEWS

ARCHITECT:
David Trachtenberg, Principal
TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS
2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, CA 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

A2.3

A2.4

ZONING INFORMATION & DIAGRAMS

A0.5 SITE CONTEXT PHOTOS

A0.6 VICINITY MAP

A3.5 STREETSCAPE ELEVATIONS

A0.4A SHADOW STUDIES A3.7 PHOTO CONTEXT VIEWS

DENSITY BONUS DIAGRAMSA0.3A

A0.4B SHADOW STUDIES

A0.4C SHADOW STUDIES

A4.1 BUILDING SECTION

A2.5

ROOF PLAN

A3.8 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

A3.9 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

SURVEYA1.1

SURVEYA1.2

A2.6

A3.10 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

MAT MATERIAL BOARD

L1.0 COURTYARD LANDSCAPE CONCEPT PLAN&SITE FEATURES

L2.1 COURTYARD LANDSCAPE PLAN

L2.0 LANDSCAPE SITE PLAN

L3.0 COURTYARD SITE IMPROVEMENT IMAGERY

L3.1 COURTYARD PLANTING IMAGERY

I1.0 IRRIGATION PLAN

I2.0 IRRIGATION NOTES, LEGEND, SCHEDULES, CALCS.

I2.1 IRRIGATION DETAILS

I2.2 IRRIGATION DETAILS

FLOOR PLAN

FLOOR PLAN
FLOOR PLAN

A3.11 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

A3.12 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

A3.13 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

LANDSCAPE SHEETS

A4.2 BUILDING SECTION

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

Attachment 1, Exhibit B
Page 38 of 263

Page 204



PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

94
'-5

"
7'

-5
"

61'-10"

23'-8"

25
'-1

"

59
4 

SF

0"

GROUND
LEVEL

GARDEN
6,273 SF

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL

24
 R

AC
KS

 T
O

TA
L

FRAME

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

96 gal
96 gal

23'-8"

25'-1"

594 SF

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

12
'-8

"

30'-0" 30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

FR
AM

E

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL
24

 R
AC

KS
 T

O
TA

L

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

12
'-8

"

30'-0" 30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

12
'-8

"

30'-0" 30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

04.27.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ZONING DATA

A0.1

ZONING CODE DATA

GROUND LEVEL

OPEN SPACE DIAGRAMS

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY

N.T.S.

N

ZONING MAP

REFUSE AND RECYCLING

LEVEL 7

BIKE ROOM

LEVEL 8

92 BIKE RACKS TOTAL

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

94
'-5

"
7'

-5
"

61'-10"

23'-8"

25
'-1

"

59
4 

SF

0"

GROUND
LEVEL

GARDEN
6,273 SF

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL

24
 R

AC
KS

 T
O

TA
L

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

12
'-8

"

30'-0" 30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

FR
AM

E

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL
24

 R
AC

KS
 T

O
TA

L

30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

12
'-8

"

30'-0"

30'-0"

12
'-8

"

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

GROUND LEVEL

OPEN SPACE DIAGRAMS

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY

N.T.S.

N

ZONING MAP

LEVEL 7

BIKE ROOM

LEVEL 8

92 BIKE RACKS TOTAL

15937
571
3.6%

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

94
'-5

"
7'

-5
"

61'-10"

23'-8"

25
'-1

"

59
4 

SF

0"

GROUND
LEVEL

GARDEN
9,165 SF

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL

24
 R

AC
KS

 T
O

TA
L

82'-0" 63'-1"

10
2'

-0
"

12
'-3

"

10'-4"

GROUND LEVEL

Page 39 of 263

Page 205



8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8' x 18'
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)

8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8' x 18'
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)
8' x 18'

8' x 18'
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)

8' x 18'
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)

UNEXCAVATED AREA

8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8' x 18'

8' x 18'

PARKING
19 SPACES

GARAGE
ENTRY

#1

#2

#3

#4

#5

#6

#7

#8

#13

#14

#15

#16

#17

#18

#10

#11

#12

#198' x 18'

#9

TRASH
BIKE RM

BACK
OF

HOUSE
OFFICE

(52)

8 
RA

CK
S

8 
RA

CK
S

10
 R

AC
KS

8 
RA

CK
S

8 
RA

CK
S

10
 R

AC
KS

2 yd. trash
2 yd. trash

2 yd. trash

2 yd. trash

2 yd. trash

96
gal

96
gal

13
'-9

"
10

%
 M

IN
.

20
'-0

" A
VG

.

2'-
0"

 A
VG

. A
T

GR
OU

ND
LE

VE
L

2'-0"

5'-0"

RETAIL
4,952SF

TOTAL COMMERCIAL AREA =
4925+972+797+500+1485 =
8,709SF (30% LOT AREA)

96'

10% OF OPEN SPACE TO ENHANCE
PROJECT ENTRY AT UNIVERSITY AVE

GARAGE
ENTRY

6,536 SF OF OPEN
SPACE AT GROUND

LEVEL, SHOWN
GREEN DASHED

1

2

3

4

5
8

9

10

11

12

13
14

67

15

LOBBY

RESIDENTIAL
AMENITIES

MEP

PUBLIC PLAZA AREA, 1% LOT
AREA, 289 SF TOTAL, 6' MIN.

RETAIL
797SF

RETAIL
972SF

34'

TOTAL COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE ON
UNIVERSITY = 28'+34'+96'=158' (75%)

6'-
0"

RETAIL MEZZANINE
1,485SF

RETAIL MEZZANINE
500SF

RESIDENTIAL
MEZZANINE

1,247SF

210'-0"

28'

NO SETBACK REQUIRED AT
UPPER LEVELS

1

2

3

4

5
8

9

10

11

12

13 14 28

30

31

32

33

34

41

40

39

38

37

13
'-9

"
10

%
 M

IN
.

20
'-0

" A
VG

.

2'-
0"

 A
VG

. A
T

GR
OU

ND
LE

VE
L

2'-0"

5'-0"

6
7 3536

15 16 17 18 19 252423222120 26 27 29

1

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"
PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

6,273 SF OF OPEN
SPACE AT GROUND

LEVEL

#1

#2
#3,4

#5,6,7

#8,9,10

#11,12,13

#14,15,16

#17,18,19

#20,21,22

#23,24,25

#26,27,28

#29,30,31

#32,33,34

#35,36,37

#38,39

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

GRADE AT UNIVERSITY
SIDEWALK

13
'-4

" CALIFORNIA

74
'-8

" (
BE

LO
W

 H
IG

H-
RI

SE
)

CLUB
ROOM

10
'-8

"

PL

PL

RETAIL

MEZZ.

STAIRS

10
'-4

"

89
'-2

" A
VG

. G
RA

DE
 T

O
 P

AR
AP

ET

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

" 3'-
6"

23
'-8

"

8'-
6"

8'-
6"

GRADE AT UNIVERSITY
SIDEWALK

<
5'-

6"

9'-
8"

VA
RI

ES

48
'-0

" A
VG

. G
RA

DE
TO

 P
AR

AP
ET

9'-
8"

9'-
8"

BASEMENT PARKING

ELEVATOR
OVERRUN

STAIRS STAIRS

COMMERCIAL CALIFORNIA15
'-9

"MEZZ.MEZZ.

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

BASE PROJECT

DENSITY BONUS
DIAGRAMS

A0.3A

PLAN AT GROUND / MEZZANINE

PLAN AT LEVELS 2-4

PROPOSED DENSITY BONUS PROJECT

PLAN AT GROUND

PLAN AT LEVEL 2

PLAN AT LEVELS 3-6

PLAN AT LEVEL 7

PLAN AT BASEMENT PARKING

PLAN AT LEVEL 8

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

04.27.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PLAN AT LEVEL 7PLAN AT LEVEL 8

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

Page 40 of 263

Page 206



CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

ADDISON ST

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

BERKELEY WAY

ADDISON ST

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

UNIVERSITY AVE

CALIF
ORNIA S

T

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1551
COMMERCIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

RESIDENTIAL

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

ADDISON ST

NEW SHADOWS CAST ON

EXISTING RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

RESIDENTIAL

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

ADDISON ST

NEW SHADOWS CAST ON

EXISTING RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

ADDISON ST

COMMERCIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

N
EW

 SH
A

D
O

W
S C

A
ST O

N

EXISTIN
G

 R
ESID

EN
TIA

L

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

NEW SHADOWS CAST ON

EXISTING RESIDENTIAL

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

N

SHADOW STUDIES
DECEMBER 21ST

A0.4A

WINTER SOLSTICE
DEC 21ST: 
2-HRS BEFORE SUNSET (PM)

WINTER SOLSTICE
DEC 21ST: 
NOON

WINTER SOLSTICE
DEC 21ST: 
2-HRS AFTER SUNRISE (AM)

3 SHADOW STUDY - NOON

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

5 SHADOW STUDY - PM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

1 SHADOW STUDY - AM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

2 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - AM

N.T.S.

4 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - NOON

NT.S.

6 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - PM

N.T.S.

N

N

Page 41 of 263

Page 207



CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

ADDISON ST

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1512
COMMERCIAL

1516
COMMERCIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

UNIVERSITY AVE

CALIF
ORNIA S

T
BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

ADDISON ST

N
E

W
 S

H
A

D
O

W
S

 C
A

S
T O

N

E
XIS

TIN
G

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

TIA
L

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

NEW SHADOWS

CAST ON

EXISTING

RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Xref 1721 - Titleblock 24 x36.dwg

N

SHADOW STUDIES
JUNE 21ST

A0.4B

SUMMER SOLSTICE
JUN 21ST: 
2-HRS BEFORE SUNSET (PM)

SUMMER SOLSTICE
JUN 21ST: 
NOON

SUMMER SOLSTICE 
JUN 21ST: 
2-HRS AFTER SUNRISE (AM)

3 SHADOW STUDY - NOON

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

5 SHADOW STUDY - PM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

1 SHADOW STUDY - AM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

2 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - AM

N.T.S.

4 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - NOON

NT.S.

6 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - PM

N.T.S.

N

N

Page 42 of 263

Page 208



2091 RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

ADDISON ST

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1512
COMMERCIAL

1516
COMMERCIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

UNIVERSITY AVE

CALIF
ORNIA S

T
BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

RESIDENTIAL

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

N
E

W
 S

H
A

D
O

W
S

 C
A

S
T O

N

E
XIS

TIN
G

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

TIA
L

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

NEW SHADOWS

CAST ON

EXISTING

RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

N

SHADOW STUDIES
MAY 11TH

A0.4C

CURRENT
MAY 11TH:
2-HRS BEFORE SUNSET (PM)

CURRENT

NOON

CURRENT

2-HRS AFTER SUNRISE (AM)

3 SHADOW STUDY - NOON

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

5 SHADOW STUDY - PM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

1 SHADOW STUDY - AM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

2 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - AM

N.T.S.

4 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - NOON

NT.S.

6 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - PM

N.T.S.

N

N

MAY 11TH:

MAY 11TH:

Page 43 of 263

Page 209



SITE CONTEXT
PHOTOS

A0.5
1
-

GOOGLE EARTH BIRD'S EYE CONTEXT VIEW3
-

VIEW FROM UNIVERSITY AVE. LOOKING WEST

4
-

VIEW FROM CALIFORNIA LOOKING SOUTH 2
-

VIEW FROM UNIVERSITY AVE. LOOKING EAST

1752 SHATTUCK
PROJECT SITE

2091 CALIFORNIA
(4-STORY

MULTIFAMILY)
1598 UNIVERSITY

PROJECT SITE
1516 UNIVERSITY
(COMMERCIAL)

1530 UNIVERSITY
(2-STORY MULTIFAMILY)

1597 CALIFORNIA
(3-STORY MULTIFAMILY,

MIXED-USE)

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY AVE

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

THREE STONE HEARTH
KITCHEN

(COMMERCIAL)

OUT OF THE
CLOSET

(COMMERCIAL)
2020 CALIFORNIA

(SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL)

BodyROK
PILATES STUDIO
(COMMERCIAL)

1630 UNIVERSITY
(3-STORY MULTIFAMILY,

MIXED USE)
SUPER 8 MOTEL
(RESIDENTIAL)

SPUN SUGAR
BAKERY

(COMMERCIAL)

1617 UNIVERSITY
(2-STORY

RESIDENTIAL)

1598
UNIVERSITY

PROJECT SITE

OUT OF THE
CLOSET

(COMMERCIAL)

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

Page 44 of 263

Page 210



1598
1556

1548
1530

1528
1516

1512

1500

1501

1535

1551
1581

1587

1597

1587

1528
1524

1520
1516

1510
1951

2026
1543-1545

1537
1535

1531
1529

1525
1523

1519
1515-1517

1501-2075
1507-1511

2026

2022

2020

1598

1600

2009

2015

2091

1597

1542
1929

1601

1601
1611

1617

1619

1499

1498
1486

1632

1600

1591

1535

1501

1500

1507-
1511

2101

2105

2107

2105-
2107

2115

1522

1606-
2166

2100

2106

2108

2110

2112

1606-
2166

1498

2020

2030

1473

1498

1518

2104

2106

2108

1920

1499

1912

1910

1470

1498

2101
1516

1518

1522
1526

1530
1534

1542
2100

2091
1609

1611

1473

1435

1920

1912

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY

UNIVERSITY AVE

C
A

LIFO
R

N
IA

 S
T

C
A

LIFO
R

N
IA

 S
TS

A
C

R
A

M
E

N
TO

 S
T

ADDISON ST

S
P

A
U

LD
IN

G
 A

VE

ADDISON ST

2-STORY
COMM.

3-STORY
MULTIFAMILY

2-STORY
COMM.

4-STORY
MULTIFAMILY

2-STORY
MULTIFAM.

2-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
2-STORY

RES.

1-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM.

2-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.2-STORY

RES.2-STORY
RES.2-STORY

RES.2-STORY
RES.2-STORY

RES.2-STORY
RES.2-STORY

MULTIFAM2-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
COMMERCIAL

2-STORY
COMMERCIAL

1-STORY
COMM.

1-STORY
COMM.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM.

5-STORY
MULTIFAMILY

1-STORY
COMMERCIAL

1-STORY
COMM.

2-STORY
COMM.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

3-STORY
MULTIFAM.

1-STORY
COMM.

1-STORY
COMM.

2-STORY
COMMERCIAL2-STORY

MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

1-STORY
MULTIFAMILY1-STORY

RES.2-STORY
RES.2-STORY

RES.

2-STORY
RES.1-STORY

RES.1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
COMMERCIAL

2-STORY
MULTIFAM.2-STORY

RES.
1-STORY

RES.1-STORY
RES.1-STORY

RES.

2-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
RES.

2-STORY

3-STORY
MULTIFAM.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

3-STORY
MULTIFAM

3-STORY
MULTIFAM

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

4-STORY
MULTIFAMILY

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
RESIDENTIAL

2-STORY
RESIDENTIAL

PARKING
LOT

PARKING
LOT

PARKING
LOT

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

1-STORY
RES.

VICINITY MAP

A0.6
1
-

VICINITY MAP
NTS

N

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

Page 45 of 263

Page 211



SURVEY

A1.1

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

Page 46 of 263

Page 212



SURVEY

A1.2

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

Page 47 of 263

Page 213



R-2
(RESIDENTIAL USE)

1556 SAN PABLO
EXISTING PARKING LOT

1598 UNIVERSITY
EXISTING COMMERCIAL

USE

EXISTING BUILDINGS TO
BE DEMOLISHED,
SHOWN DASHED

3 PARCELS TO BE
MERGED INTO A SINGLE

LOT, SHOWN RED

R-2
(RESIDENTIAL USE)

EXISTING BUILDINGS TO
BE DEMOLISHED,
SHOWN DASHED

1550 UNIVERSITY
EXISTING COMMERCIAL

USE

C-W
(RESIDENTIAL USE
IN COMMERCIAL

DISTRICT)

C-W
(RESIDENTIAL USE
IN COMMERCIAL

DISTRICT)

R-2
(RESIDENTIAL USE)

UNIVERSITY AVE

CA
LI

FO
RN

IA
 S

T

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

EXISTING
SITE PLAN

A2.0N

1
-

EXISTING SITE PLAN
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

Page 48 of 263

Page 214



UNIVERSITY

CA
LI

FO
RN

IA

ON-SITE PUBLIC PLAZA
AREA, 1% LOT AREA,
661 SF TOTAL, 6' MIN.

TRASH

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PARKING
39 SPACES

(37 TRIPLE-LIFTS
AND 2 ADA SPACES)

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

CLUB
ROOM

FITNESS

MEP

AT-GRADE
GARDEN

OPEN SPACE
6,273 SF

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

COMMERCIAL
5,728 TOTAL SF

(4,721 SF AT GROUND + 1,007 AT
MEZZANINES)

ELEC

LOBBY

+3

+6.5

+4 +5

+0.5

+3

+3

+5.5

WC

LEASING

750 SQ FT.
FLOW THROUGH

PLANTERS (4% OF ROOF
AREA), LOCATION T.B.D.

SIDE GARDEN

SIDE GARDEN

STAIR B

STAIR A

+0' +1' +6'

+8'

+3'

+3

COMMERCIAL
POTENTIAL SUITE

COMMERCIAL
POTENTIAL SUITE

COMMERCIAL
POTENTIAL SUITE

COMMERCIAL
POTENTIAL SUITE

10'-7"

18'-0" (N) CURB CUT 45'-0" (N) LOADING ZONE

45
'-0

" (
N)

 L
O

AD
IN

G
 Z

O
NE

49
'-3

"

STREET TREE LOCATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY
SURVEY. CITY FORESTER AND PROJECT LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT TO DETERMINE TREES TO REMAIN/REPLACE

74'-0"

BIKE
RM 2
(24)

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
90

'-2
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

12
'-4

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
90

'-2
"

12
'-4

"

13
7'-

10
"

20'-0"
2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

BIKE
RM 1
(68)

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

17'-6"

+7

(8) BIKE RACKS

22'-2" 18'-8" 21'-0"

18'-2"

+7

8'-2"

10'-1"

13'-3"

3'-3"

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

04.27.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

GROUND LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

A2.1N

1
-

GROUND LEVEL PLAN
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

Page 49 of 263

Page 215



MAINT.

PUMP

OPEN TO
BELOW

GEN.

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

STAIR B

MEZZANINE MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEP/
STORAGE

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

#01#02#03#04#05

#06

#07

#08

#09

#10

#11 #12

#13

#14

#15

#16

UNIVERSITY

CA
LI

FO
RN

IA

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
90

'-2
"

65'-6"90'-1"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

12
'-4

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

40'-10"

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

04.27.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

LEVEL 2 
FLOOR PLAN

A2.2N

1
-

PLAN AT LEVEL 2
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

Page 50 of 263

Page 216



DOUBLE-HEIGHT
LOUNGE

(EVERY OTHER
FLOOR)

LOUNGE
DECK

MEP/

STORAGE

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-7
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

#33, 66, 99, 132 #34, 67, 100, 133 #35, 68, 101, 134 #36, 69, 102, 135 #37, 70, 103, 136 #38, 71, 104, 137#17, 50, 83, 116#18, 51, 84, 117#19, 52, 85, 118#20, 53, 86, 119#21, 54, 87, 120

#22, 55, 88, 121

#23, 56, 89, 122

#24, 57, 90, 123

#25, 58, 91, 124

#26, 59, 92, 125

#27, 60, 93, 126 #28, 61, 94, 127

#29, 62, 95, 128

#30, 63, 96, 129

#31, 64, 97, 130

#39, 72, 105, 138

#40, 73, 106, 139

#41, 74, 107, 140

#42, 75, 108, 141

#43, 76, 109, 142 #44, 77, 110, 143

#45, 78, 111, 144

#46, 79, 112, 145

#47, 80, 113, 146

#48, 81, 114, 147

#49, 82, 115, 148
#32, 65, 98, 131

LEVELS 3-6
FLOOR PLANS

A2.3N

1
-

PLAN AT LEVELS 3-6
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 51 of 263

Page 217



DOUBLE-HEIGHT
LOUNGE

(EVERY OTHER
FLOOR)

STAIR B

LOUNGE
DECK

PRIVATE PATIO

25
'-0

"

2-BR

2-BR

2-BR

2-BR

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-7
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

MEP/

STORAGE

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

STAIR A

#163

#164 #165 #166 #167 #168#150#151#152#153

#154

#155

#156

#157

#158

#160

#149 #169

#170

#171

#172

#173

#174

#175

#176

#177

#178

#179

#161

#162

#159
2-BR

PRIVATE PATIO

2-BR2-BR

LEVEL 7
FLOOR PLANS

A2.4N

1
-

PLAN AT LEVEL 7
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 52 of 263

Page 218



OPEN TO BELOW

LOUNGE
BELOW

PRIVATE PATIO

STAIR B

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-7
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

STAIR B

STAIR A

2-BR
2-BR

MEP/

STORAGE

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME2-BR

#192

#193 #194 #195 #196 #197#181#182#183#184

#185

#186

#187

#188

#189

#180 #198

#199

#200

#201

#204

#205

#206

#207

#203

#191

#190 #202

OPEN TO BELOW

PRIVATE PATIO

2-BR2-BR

PRIVATE PATIO PRIVATE PATIO

PLAN AT
LEVEL 8

A2.5N

1
-

PLAN AT LEVEL 8
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 53 of 263

Page 219



UNOCCUPIED ROOF DECK
W/ 15% SOLAR READY AREA

ELEVATOR
OVERRUN

152SF

OPEN TO BELOW

OPEN TO BELOW

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-7
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

OPEN TO BELOW

STAIR
BULKHEAD

223SF

STAIR
BULKHEAD

196 SF

OPEN TO BELOW

OPEN TO BELOWOPEN TO BELOW

ROOF PLAN

A2.6N

1
-

PLAN AT ROOF
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 54 of 263

Page 220



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

VA
RI

ES

LEVEL 8

BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS

A3.1
1
-

EAST ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

METAL INFILL
PANEL

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

(UNIVERSITY AVE.)

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

Page 55 of 263

Page 221



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
VA

RI
ES

LEVEL 8

10
'-4

"

BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS

A3.2
1
-

NORTH ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

METAL INFILL
PANEL

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

(CALIFORNIA ST.)

Page 56 of 263

Page 222



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

VA
RI

ES

LEVEL 8

BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS

A3.3
1
-

WEST  ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

METAL INFILL
PANEL

80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

(UNIVERSITY AVE.)

Page 57 of 263

Page 223



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
VA

RI
ES

LEVEL 8

10
'-4

"

BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS

A3.4
1
-

SOUTH ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

METAL INFILL
PANEL

80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

Page 58 of 263

Page 224



STREET STRIP
ELEVATIONS

A3.5

2
-

STREET STRIP ELEVATION @ UNIVERSITY AVE
1/32"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/16" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

1
-

STREET STRIP ELEVATION @ CALIFORNIA ST
1/32"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/16" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

0 4 8 16 32

0 4 8 16 32

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

2026 CALIFORNIA 2022 CALIFORNIA 2020 CALIFORNIA
1598 UNIVERSITY

(UNIVERSITY AVE.)

1597 UNIVERSITY

1600 UNIVERSITY

(CALIFORNIA ST.)

1598 UNIVERSITY
1548 UNIVERSITY 1530 UNIVERSITY

Page 59 of 263

Page 225



PHOTO CONTEXT 
VIEWS

A3.6
1
-

CALIFORNIA LOOKING SOUTH - BEFORE

2
-

CALIFORNIA LOOKING SOUTH - AFTER

3
-

CALIFORNIA LOOKING NORTH - BEFORE

4
-

CALIFORNIA LOOKING NORTH - AFTER
1548-1598 University Ave

Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 60 of 263

Page 226



PHOTO CONTEXT 
VIEWS

A3.7
1
-

UNIVERSITY LOOKING WEST - BEFORE

2
-

UNIVERSITY LOOKING WEST - AFTER

3
-

UNIVERSITY LOOKING EAST - BEFORE

4
-

UNIVERSITY LOOKING EAST - AFTER
1548-1598 University Ave

Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 61 of 263

Page 227



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.8
1
-

PERSPECTIVE VIEW - UNIVERSITY LOOKING WEST
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 62 of 263

Page 228



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.9
1
-

PERSPECTIVE VIEW - UNIVERSITY AND CALIFORNIA
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 63 of 263

Page 229



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.10
1
-

SIDEWALK VIEW - CALIFORNIA AND UNIVERSITY
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 64 of 263

Page 230



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.11
1
-

SIDEWALK VIEW - ACROSS UNIVERSITY
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 65 of 263

Page 231



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.12
1
-

SIDEWALK VIEW - CAFE ENTANCE
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 66 of 263

Page 232



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.13
1
-

PERSPECTIVE VIEW - CALIFORNIA LOOKING NORTHWEST
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 67 of 263

Page 233



GRADE AT UNIVERSITY
SIDEWALK

13
'-4

" CALIFORNIA

74
'-8

" (
BE

LO
W

 H
IG

H-
RI

SE
)

CLUB
ROOM

10
'-8

"

PL

PL

RETAIL

MEZZ.

STAIRS

10
'-4

"

89
'-2

" A
VG

. G
RA

DE
 T

O
 P

AR
AP

ET

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

" 3'-
6"

1522 UNIVERSITY 23
'-8

"

8'-
6"

8'-
6"

BUILDING 
SECTION

A4.1
1
-

BUILDING SECTION
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11X17     3/32" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 68 of 263

Page 234



UNIVERSITY

PL

1535 ADDISON 1535 ADDISON

10
'-4

"

89
'-2

" A
VG

. G
RA

DE
 T

O
 P

AR
AP

ET

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"3
'-6

"
23

'-8
"

BUILDING 
SECTION

A4.2
1
-

BUILDING SECTION
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11X17     3/32" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Page 69 of 263

Page 235



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
VA

RI
ES

LEVEL 8

10
'-4

"

MATERIAL
BOARD

MAT

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

METAL INFILL PANELINSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

1
-

NORTH ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36 80 4 16

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

METAL INFILL
PANEL

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

(CALIFORNIA ST.)

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

Page 70 of 263

Page 236



MAIN ROOF
16,022 SQ. FT.

7TH LEVEL DECK
817 SQ. FT.

8TH LEVEL DECK
840 SQ. FT.

8TH LEVEL DECK
840 SQ. FT.

GROUND LEVEL GARDEN
9,404 SQ. FT.

GROUND LEVEL STORMWATER PLANTERS
1310 SQ. FT.

PRELIMINARY
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT
PLAN

SW-1
1
-

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT DATA2
-

PRELIMINARY STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN
1/32"=1'-0" @ 11x17 1/16"=1'-0" @ 24x36

80 4 16

N

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

Page 71 of 263

Page 237



Club room

Gym

Metal panels / screen
mounted to elevator shaft

Pockets of plantings seen from
club room and lobby

Manzanita
grove

Seating

Seatwall & dining

Dining

Fire pit & seating 'nook'

Raised planter / seating with groundcover below

Art / sculpture

Built-in seating

Projector / movie screen

'Pop-up' chaise lounges for cinema viewing

Large screening trees

Foundation planting

Koi pond or water feature

Vertical garden at elevator
shaft

Dominant courtyard tree-
Crape myrtle

Concrete steppers "float" on water surface

Paving material travels inside
out merging the two spaces

Manzanita
grove

Raised counter top seating with built-in BBQ

North4 120

3/16"=1'-0"

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

COURTYARD CONCEPT
AND SITE FEATURES

L1.0

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL GRADES, EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DIMENSIONS IN THE FIELD
PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK. ALL DISCREPANCIES OR QUESTIONS SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE
ATTENTION OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT FOR RESOLUTION. REDIRECT WORK TO AVOID DELAY.
2. ALL CURVES AND ALL TRANSITIONS BETWEEN CURVES AND STRAIGHT EDGES SHALL BE SMOOTH
3. TAKE ALL DIMENSIONS PERPENDICULAR TO ANY REFERENCE LINE, WORK LINE, FACE OF
BUILDING, FACE OF WALL OR CENTERLINE.
4. S.A.D. FOR ALL INFORMATION ON WATERPROOFING, DRAINAGE & GRADING ON STRUCTURES.

SEE L2.1 FOR GENERAL PLANTING NOTES.

STREET TREE PROTECTION NOTES:
1. ALL TREE PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS SHALL BE INCLUDED IN THE
CONSTRUCTION NOTES AND PRINTED ON ALL COPIES OF THE PLANS.

a) INCLUDE THE NAME AND PHONE NUMBER OF THE PARTY THAT WILL MONITOR THE SITE AND
ENSURE THE TREE PROTECTION MEASURES ARE BEING FOLLOWED; AND WHAT THE MONITORING
SCHEDULE WILL BE: NAME / PHONE / SCHEDULE
b) INSTALL 6 FOOT CHAIN-LINK FENCING TO PROTECT THE AREA WITHIN THE DRIP-LINE OF ANY
PROTECTED TREE IN THE DEVELOPMENT AREA. FENCING SHALL BE MOUNTED TO POSTS THAT ARE DRIVEN
INTO THE GROUND. WHERE THIS IS NOT POSSIBLE BECAUSE OF EXISTING STRUCTURES, TREE ROOTS, OR
OTHER OBSTACLES, CHAIN-LINK PANELS MOUNTED TO STANCHIONS AND CONNECTED TO EACH OTHER
MAY BE APPROVED. IN AREAS WHERE DIFFICULT TERRAIN MAKES THIS IMPRACTICAL, ORANGE
CONSTRUCTION FENCING MAY BE APPROVED.

c) ALL FENCING SHALL HAVE SIGNAGE STATING THE REQUIREMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS, AND THE
CONTACT INFORMATION FOR THE PROJECT ARBORIST.

d) WHEN ANY APPROVED CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY WILL OCCUR WITHIN THE DRIP LINE OF A
PROTECTED TREE THAT IS NOT SURROUNDED BY PROTECTIVE FENCING, THE TRUNK SHALL BE PROTECTED
BY WRAPPING IT WITH STRAW TUBES (WATTLE) OR VERTICAL WOOD SLATS (EX. 2X4), UP TO A MINIMUM
OF 8 FEET FROM GRADE (SEE FIGURE 1, PAGE 6). SLATS SHALL BE ANGLED TO PROTECT THE ROOT FLARE AT
THE BASE OF THE TREE; AND CLOSED CELL FOAM OR EQUIVALENT MATERIAL SHALL BE USED TO PROTECT
THE TRUNK OF THE TREE WHERE IT CONTACTS THE SLATS. LATERAL BRANCHES BELOW 8 FEET SHALL ALSO
BE PROTECTED. IN ADDITION, THE AREA SHALL BE COVERED WITH A 6 INCH LAYER OF MULCH TOPPED
WITH 3/4 INCH PLYWOOD THAT IS FASTENED TOGETHER. IF ANY LARGE OR MOTORIZED EQUIPMENT (MINI
EXCAVATOR, BOBCAT, POWERED WHEELBARROW) WILL TRAVEL OVER THIS AREA, THE PLYWOOD MUST BE
A MINIMUM OF 1 INCH AND ADEQUATE FOR THE WEIGHT OF THE EQUIPMENT THAT WILL TRAVEL OVER IT.
IF LARGER EQUIPMENT (BACKHOE, TRACTOR) WILL BE USED, CONSULT THE CITY ARBORIST.
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY REFERS TO ANY MOVEMENT OF PEOPLE, TOOLS, OR EQUIPMENT; OR STORAGE
OF ANY TOOLS, EQUIPMENT, OR SUPPLIES.
f) LOCATE AND EXPOSE ANY ROOTS 2 INCHES IN DIAMETER OR GREATER THAT MAY NEED TO BE
PRUNED TO FACILITATE THE PROJECT. THIS INCLUDES ANY TRENCHING THAT WILL BE DONE AS PART OF
FOUNDATION OR UTILITY INSTALLATION. CONTACT THE CITY ARBORIST IN ADVANCE TO LESSEN THE
AMOUNT OF TIME THAT THE ROOTS WILL BE EXPOSED. IF ROOTS MUST BE LEFT EXPOSED FOR MORE THAN
THREE DAYS, CONSULT THE CITY ARBORIST.  NOTE: THE 2 INCH DIAMETER THRESHOLD FOR ROOTS IS A
GUIDELINE THAT MAY BE ADJUSTED BY THE CITY ARBORIST DEPENDING ON THE SIZE AND CONDITION OF
THE TREE, AND THE LOCATION OF THE ROOTS. THE CITY ARBORIST MAY INCREASE THE TPZ, OR IMPOSE
OTHER RESTRICTIONS, WHEN THE DRIPLINE OF A TREE HAS BEEN ALTERED BY PRUNING OR UNUSUAL
GROWTH PATTERNS.

g) NO STORAGE OF BUILDING MATERIALS, REFUSE, EXCAVATED SPOILS, OR DUMPING OF POISONOUS
MATERIALS, IS PERMITTED WITHIN THE DRIP LINE OF ANY PROTECTED TREE. POISONOUS MATERIALS
INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, PAINT, PETROLEUM PRODUCTS, CONCRETE OR STUCCO MIX, DIRTY
WATER, OR ANY OTHER MATERIAL WHICH MAY BE DELETERIOUS TO TREE HEALTH.

STREET TREE PLANTING NOTES:
1. FOR NEW PLANTING:

a. THE CITY ARBORIST SHALL BE NOTIFIED, BY CALLING (510) 981-6660, PRIOR TO THE DELIVERY OF THE
TREES FOR INSPECTION OF THEIR SIZE AND STRUCTURE.

b. EACH TREE SHALL BE PROPERLY PLANTED AT OR JUST BELOW GRADE (<1"). SOIL AMENDMENT IS
NOT RECOMMENDED. NO CONSTRUCTION RUBBLE OR NON-ORGANIC MATERIAL SHALL BE WITHIN THE
TREE WELL.

c. THE SURROUNDING SOIL OUTSIDE THE CONTAINER (ROOT BALL) SHOULD BE LIGHTLY
COMPACTED TO ABOUT 4 INCHES BELOW GRADE WITH THE ROOT BALL HIGHER THAN THAT.

d. 2 TO 2.5 INCHES OF BASE ROCK SHOULD BE APPLIED AROUND THE ROOT BALL LEAVING 1.5 TO 2
INCHES LEFT FOR THE MATERIAL.

e. 15G CONTAINERS ARE APPROXIMATELY 15-16 INCHES IN DIAMETER AND THE MATERIAL
SHOULD BE APPLIED TO THE APPROXIMATE EDGE OF THE ROOT BALL WITH THE TOP GRADE OF
THE ROOT BALL UP TO 1 INCH BELOW THE TOP OF THE MATERIAL THAT WILL BE APPLIED.

f. EACH NEW TREE SHALL HAVE AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION INCLUDING TWO TREE BUBBLERS THAT
CURVE OVER THE TOP OF THE TREES' ROOT BALL AND PROVIDE A MINIMUM OF 20 GALLONS PER
WEEK BETWEEN MARCH 15 AND OCTOBER 15 FOR THE FIRST THREE YEARS. LARGER TREES MAY
REQUIRE ADDITIONAL BUBBLERS. THE BUBBLERS SHOULD BE LOCATED ON TOP OF THE ROOT
BALL WITHIN THIS 15-16 INCH CIRCLE AND NOT BE COVERED WITH MATERIAL. 

g. TREES THAT DIE WITHIN THE FIRST THREE YEARS MUST BE REPLACED AT THE PROPERTY OWNER'S
EXPENSE.

LANDSCAPE SHEET INDEX

NOTES

CITY OF BERKELEY
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE
HEARING SET 04.20.2023

L1.0 Courtyard Concept and Site Features
L2.0 Landscape Plan at Streetscape
L2.1 Courtyard Landscape Site Plan; Plant List
L3.0 Courtyard Site Improvements Imagery
L3.1 Courtyard Planting Imagery
L3.2 Screening Tree Options
I1.0 Irrigation Plan
I2.0 Irrigation Notes, Legend, Schedules & Calcs.
I2.1 Irrigation Details
I2.2 Irrigation Details

Page 72 of 263

Page 238



PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

U N IV E R S I T Y    A V E N E U E 

C
 A

 L
 I 

F 
O

 R
 N

 I 
A 

   
  S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T
 

FOR COURTYARD AREA,
SEE ENLARGEMENT ON
SHEET L2.1 FOR DETAILED
INFORMATION

4' WIDE
CONCRETE
ACCESS PATH

REMOVE & REPLACE (E) STREET TREES

EXISTING CRAPE MYRTLES (5) TO REMAIN &
BE PROTECTED (EXPAND TREE WELLS
PER ARBORIST RECOMMENDATION)

TREE WELLS FILLED WITH FLEXI-PAVE, TYP.

3' X 3' SCORING
PATTERN PER
CITY STANDARDS

8' PLANTING AREA
ACCOMMODATES

LARGE SCREENING
TREES, SPECIES TBD

PROPOSED STREET TREE AT UNIVERSITY AVE:
-EMERALD SUNSHINE ELM
(Ulmus davidiana var. japonica ‘Emerald Sunshine’)

North

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

LANDSCAPE PLAN
AT STREETSCAPE

L2.00 4 8 16

NOTES:
1. SEE L1.0 FOR STREET TREE PROTECTION AND PLANTING NOTES.
2. PROPOSED STREET TREE SPECIES, LOCATION, AND CONDITIONS SUBJECT TO ONGOING REVIEW AND APPROVAL BY THE CITY OF BERKELEY'S MANAGING CONSULTING URBAN FORESTER AND
ARBORIST.  PROPOSED STREET TREES ARE CURRENT WITH EXISTING UTILITIES AS OF 03.01.2023 AND WILL BE SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL REVIEW AFTER PROPOSED UTILITIES ARE FINALIZED.

SEE L1.0 AND L2.1 FOR COURTYARD

Page 73 of 263

Page 239



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

COURTYARD 
LANDSCAPE SITE PLAN

L2.1

North4 120

3/16"=1'-0"

Note: all landscape lighting will comply with the City of Berkeley Dark Skies ordinance and Bird Safe requirements.  

GENERAL PLANTING NOTES

6. SOIL PREPARATION: The Landscape Contractor shall be
responsible for finish grading and all planting area drainage.
Positive drainage away from the building as per city codes shall be
maintained. No low spots which hold standing water will be
accepted.

The Landscape Contractor shall incorporate soil preparation
amendment into planting areas as noted below. Where roto-tilling
is not possible, incorporate soil amendments into top 6 Inches with
hand tools. After installation of irrigation system, all planting areas
are to be fine graded to within 2 inches and slightly mounded
away from edges of top of planter, curb, walk, header, etc. and
raked smooth with all rocks and debris over 1-inch in diameter
removed.

7. SOIL PREPARATION AMENDMENTS AND BACKFILL
MIX: The Landscape Contractor shall amend existing soil per the
soils report.

8. TREE PLANTING: Trees shall be planted per detail on plan.
Trees shall typically be located a minimum of 3 1/2 feet from curbs,
walks, headers, buildings, and overhead structures within the
project. Backfill per soils report. Thoroughly water trees
immediately after planting.

9. SHRUB PLANTING: The shrubs shall be spotted as per
plan, spotted at the shown locations, and approved by Landscape
Architect prior to the digging of the holes. Shrub backfill shall be
per soils report.  Thoroughly water shrubs immediately after
planting. Do not plant any shrub within 2 feet of any building wall.

10. MAINTENANCE: The Contractor shall maintain the project
for 90 days (or as requested by owner) following the approval to
begin the maintenance period. During the entire maintenance
period, watering, cultivating, weeding, mowing, repair/tightening of
stakes and ties, restoration of basins, provision of supplemental
water by hand in addition to irrigation system is required as

necessary.  No pre-emergence herbicides shall be applied - hand
remove weeds. Only organic fertilizers shall be applied such as
those specified. Install per manufacturer's recommendations. At
the end of the 90 day maintenance period all areas are to be weed
free and all plant material shall be in a healthy, thriving condition.
Integrated pest management practices shall be implemented.

11. SUBSTITUTIONS: Requests for plant substitutions shall be
made to the Landscape Architect within 15 days after signing of
contract.

12. GUARANTEE: All construction, trees and shrubs by the
Landscape Contractor and/or subcontractors shall be guaranteed
for (1) one year after start of maintenance period. The contractor
shall replace, at no expense to the Owner, any and all landscape
materials that are in an unacceptable condition for time of use, and
trees or shrubs that are dead or not in a vigorous, healthy growing
condition, within two weeks of notification of such condition.
Replacement shall be of the same kind and size as the originally
specified item and shall be replaced as originally described on the
drawings. The Contractor shall not be held liable for loss of plant
materials during the guarantee period due to vandalism, accidental
causes or acts of neglect by others than the Contractor, his agents
and employees.

13. CLEAN UP: At the end of each work day, at the inspection
for substantial completion, and before acceptance of project - clean
paved areas that are dirtied or stained by construction operations
by sweeping or washing, and remove defacements and stains.
Remove construction equipment, excess materials and tools. Haul
from Owners property any debris resulting from construction, and
dispose of it legally. Remove remaining temporary protection at
time of acceptance by Owner unless otherwise agreed.

14. FERTILIZERS: Available from California Organic Fertilizers,
Inc. 1-800-269-5690 www.organicag.com.

TOTAL HARDSCAPE =  4,602 SF

TOTAL LANDSCAPE AREA =  4,537 SF

TOTAL LANDSCAPE %  =  (4,537  /  9,165) * 100

 TOTAL USEABLE AREA =   9,165 SF

TOTAL LANDSCAPE %  =  50%

Page 74 of 263

Page 240



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

COURTYARD
SITE IMPROVEMENTS
IMAGERY

L3.0

Emerald Sunshine Elm (Ulmus davidiana var. japonica ‘Emerald Sunshine’)  

Page 75 of 263

Page 241



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

COURTYARD 
PLANTING IMAGERY

L3.1

Page 76 of 263

Page 242



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

SCREENING TREE
OPTIONS

L3.2

Canary Island Pine  (Pinus canariensis)

· Mature size: 50-80 ft tall  /  20-35 ft wide
· Growth rate: Fast
· Water use: Low
· For 1598 University: Space at 12 ft apart on center

California Incense Cedar  (Calocedrus decurrens)

Mature size: 75-90 ft tall  /  10-15 ft wide
· Growth rate: Moderate
· Water use: Moderate
· For 1598 University: Space at 8 ft apart on center

Italian Cypress  (Cupressus sempervirens)

Mature size: 40-60 ft tall  /  5-10 ft wide
· Growth rate: Moderate
· Water use: Low
· For 1598 University: Space at 5 ft apart on center

Coast Redwood  (Sequoia sempervirens)

· Mature size: 70-100 ft tall  /  20-30 ft wide
· Growth rate: Very fast
· Water use: High
· For 1598 University: Space 10 ft apart on center

Page 77 of 263

Page 243



PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

WEATHER SENSOR - SEE
LEGEND FOR SPEC.

OUTDOOR SMART CONTROLLER
IN ELECTRICAL ROOM
- SEE LEGEND
  FOR SPEC.

1"
2

9.0
A

M

1799 SF

1"
7

1.5
A

L

307 SF

1"
8

7.0
A

L

7 SF

1"
3

12.0
A

L

12 SF

1-1/2"

1-1/2"1-1/2"

1-1/2"

1-1/2"

1-1/2"

1-1/2"

1"

3/4"

1"

1-1/4"

1"

1"
6

1.4
A

L

270 SF

3/4"

1"
4

10.8
A

M

2160 SF
1"
1

10.0
A

L

10 SF

1"

1"
5

10.0
A

L

10 SF

1"

North

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

05.11.2022 PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023 DRC HEARING

IRRIGATION
PLAN

I1.00 5' 10' 20'

Page 78 of 263

Page 244



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

05.11.2022 PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023 DRC HEARING

IRRIGATION
NOTES, LEGEND,
SCHEDULES & CALCS.

I2.0

          SYMBOL  MFG.                   MODEL NO.                                               DESCRIPTION                                             RAD             GPM              PSI          PR

IRRIGATION LEGEND
(2) RZWS-36-50-CVHUNTER ROOT ZONE WATERING SYSTEM 0.50 (1.0) 0.701' 30

DRIP IRRIGATION NOTES

HUNTER DRIP LINE SYSTEMHDL-06-18-500-CV 0.5
Per 100 S.F.

300.4318"
(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)

AT THE EXHAUST HEADER OF DRIP SYSTEM, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL HUNTER PLD-BV FLUSH
VALVE W/ BALL VALVE AND A HUNTER ECO-INDICATOR AT EACH DRIP SYSTEM AT OPTIMAL FURTHEST
POINT FROM CONTROL ZONE KIT (SEE DETAILS).

HUNTER DRIP LINE SYSTEMHDL-06-18-500-CV 0.5
Per 100 S.F.

300.4318"
(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)

THE CONTRACTOR WILL NEED TO FIELD LOCATE HUNTER PLD-ARV AIR RELIEF VALVE KIT (SEE DETAIL) AT  
THE HIGHEST LOCATIONS ON EACH DRIP LINE SYSTEM

HUNTER DRIP LINE SYSTEMHDL-06-18-500-CV 0.5
Per 100 S.F.

300.4318"
(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)

- PROVIDE  SLEEVES UNDER ALL PAVING.
PVC SCH 40 MAIN AND LATERAL LINE SLEEVE 2x DIA. OF PIPE ENCASED. 

MAINLINE - INSTALL  18"  COVER IN PLANTING AREAS, 
24" COVER UNDER PAVING -  SIZES INDICATED.

NIBCO T-580 BALL VALVE - LINE SIZE.

Mainlines (pressurized) 1 1/2 inch and smaller shall be Schedule 40 solvent-weld P.V.C..
Mainlines (pressurized) 2 inch through 3 inch  shall be Class 315 solvent-weld P.V.C., 

with thrust blocks per detail.

PVC SCH. 40 LATERAL LINE- 12" COVER IN PLANTING AREAS,
24" COVER UNDER PAVING. - SIZES INDICATED.

POTABLE LATERAL LINE

INDICATES VALVE SIZE

INDICATES STATION NUMBER

INDICATES GPM

INDICATES CONTROLLER

INDICATES HYDROZONE

INDICATES STATION S.F.

NOTE:SEE IRRIGATION SYSTEM
INFORMATION FOR INDIVIDUAL
VALVE PRECIPITATION RATES
AND OPERATING PSI AS
REQUIRED BY CODE.

HUNTER ICZ-101-40 1" CONTROL ZONE KIT WITH PVC BALL VALVE FOR FLOW 2.0 TO 20 GPM.

HUNTER ICV-101G-FS-AS-ADJ SERIES REMOTE CONTROL VALVE - SIZE INDICATED.

HUNTER, QUICK COUPLER, HQ-22DLRC WITH LOCKING CAP.

I HAVE COMPLIED WITH THE CRITERIA OF THE MODEL WATER EFFICIENT
LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE AND HAVE APPLIED THEM FOR THE EFFICIENT
USE OF WATER IN THE IRRIGATION DESIGN PLAN.

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

JOHN PENNELL PHILLIPS DATE

04-13-2023

WATER METER BY OTHERS

1 1/2" HUNTER IBC-151G-FS NORMALLY CLOSED MASTER VALVE - RELAY TO CONTROLLER

1" WILKINS 375XL BACKFLOW PREVENTER W/ 1" SXL WYE STRAINER LOCATED IN V.I.T. STRONGBOX SBBC-30SS
STAINLESS STEEL ENCLOSURE OR EQUAL

1" HUNTER FCT-100 FLOW SENSOR IN PVC HOUSING - RELAY TO CONTROLLER.

AUTOMATIC CONTROLLER LOCATION - SEE NOTE ON THIS SHEET

WEATHER SENSOR LOCATION - SEE NOTE ON THIS SHEET

POINT OF CONNECTION NOTE

AVAILABLE PRESSURE: 

MAXIMUM DEMAND: 
DESIGN PRESSURE: 

66.0 PSI (ASSUMED)
59.8 PSI
12.0 GPM 

CONTRACTOR TO LOCATE A WATER METER. INSTALL A REDUCED BACKFLOW PREVENTER, A MASTER VALVE AND A FLOW
SENSOR AT THE APPROXIMATE LOCATION AS SHOWN. ALL POC APPURTENANCE MUST BE INSTALLED IN PLANTING AREA.
COORDINATE THESE LOCATIONS WITH OWNER/DEVELOPER. CONTRACTOR TO RELAY MASTER VALVE & FLOW SENSOR TO
CONTROLLER.

CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL A (12) STATION HUNTER IC-600-M INTERIOR CONTROLLER W/ (1) ICM-600 MODULES IN METAL WALL
MOUNT LOCATED IN THE ELECTRICAL ROOM. CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL AN HUNTER WSS-SEN WIRELESS SOLAR SYNC
LOCATED DIRECTLY ABOVE CONTROLLER AND ATTACHED TO TOP STORY ROOF EAVE OR GUTTER PER MFG. SPECS. IN AN
AREA FREE OF OVERHEAD OBSTRUCTIONS. IRRIGATION SYSTEMS ARE DESIGNED TO OPERATE AT A MAXIMUM OF 12.0 GPM.
CONTRACTOR TO PULL 24V WIRES AND CONNECT TO A MASTER VALVE, FLOW SENSOR AND REMOTE CONTROL VALVES AT
THE APPROPRIATE LOCATIONS AS SHOWN AS REQUIRED. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 120V CONTINUOUS POWER TO THE
CONTROLLER.  COORDINATE THESE LOCATIONS WITH OWNER/ DEVELOPER AND SHALL BE LOCATED WITHIN 800' AWAY FROM
FLOW SENSOR.

CONTROLLER NOTE

MUST BE OVERSIZED LEAVING AMPLE ROOM FOR FUTURE WIRE ADDITIONS OR REPAIRS.
PVC SCH 40 WIRE SLEEVE - SIZE TO BE MIN. 2" AND DETERMINED BY THE CONTRACTOR. 

- PROVIDE  SLEEVES UNDER ALL PAVING.

IRRIGATION NOTES

INSTALL ALL HEADS A MINIMUM OF 18" AWAY FROM BUILDING WALLS & A MINIMUM  

THIS SYSTEM IS DIAGRAMMATIC. ALL PIPE, VALVES, ETC. SHOWN WITHIN PAVED 
AREAS ARE FOR DESIGN CLARIFICATION ONLY AND SHALL BE INSTALLED IN 

THE IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR SHALL FLUSH AND ADJUST ALL SPRINKLER HEADS 
FOR OPTIMUM PERFORMANCE AND PREVENT OVERSPRAY ONTO WALKS AND 
ROADWAYS AS MUCH AS POSSIBLE. THIS SHALL INCLUDE SELECTING THE BEST 

INSTALL ALL HEADS WITH DOUBLE OR TRIPLE SWING JOINTS, USING STREET ELLS, 

DO NOT WILLFULLY INSTALL THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM AS INDICATED ON THE 
DRAWINGS WHEN IT IS OBVIOUS IN THE FIELD THAT UNKNOWN OBSTRUCTIONS OR 
GRADE DIFFERENCES EXIST AND SHOULD BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE 

NOT PERFORMED, THE CONTRACTOR MUST ASSUME FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY 

THE SPRINKLER SYSTEM DESIGN IS BASED ON A MINIMUM OPERATIONAL PRESSURE 
AND A MAXIMUM DEMAND AT THE POINT OF CONNECTION, AS NOTED ON THE PLAN. 
BEFORE INSTALLING THE SYSTEM, CHECK POINT OF CONNECTION AND IMMEDIATELY 
NOTIFY CONTRACTING OFFICER IF PRESSURE IS NOT AS NOTED OR THE REQUIRED 

ALL MAINLINE UNDER PAVING SHALL BE INSTALLED 24" DEEP. ALL LATERAL LINES 

THE IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR IS TO ADJUST HEAD LOCATIONS IN THE FIELD IN 
ORDER TO GUARANTEE 100% COVERAGE. CONTRACTOR TO CONTACT THE 
CONTRACTING OFFICER PRIOR TO ANY MAJOR CHANGE(S) RESULTING IN 

INSTALL NECESSARY CHECK VALVE IN HEADS THAT EXHIBIT TENDENCIES FOR LOW  

PRESSURE COMPENSATING SCREENS WHEN RADIUS IS REDUCED MORE THAN FIFTY 
DEGREE OF ARC TO FIT THE EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS. CONTRACTOR TO USE 

GALLONS PER MINUTE IS NOT AVAILABLE.

WATER LINE UNDER PAVING

SYSTEM COVERAGE

ADDITIONAL COST TO THE OWNER.

UNDER PAVING SHALL BE SCH 40 PVC AND INSTALLED 24" DEEP.

OF 12" AWAY FROM ALL STUCCO SURFACES.

DIAGRAMMATIC PLAN

SPRINKLER ADJUSTMENT REQUIRED
PLANTING AREAS AND JOINT TRENCHES WHEREVER POSSIBLE.

REVISIONS REQUIRED.

HEAD DRAINAGE.

FIELD CONDITIONS

CONTRACTING OFFICER. IN THE EVENT THAT THIS NOTIFICATION IS 

MINIMUM PRESSURE AND MAXIMUM GALLONS REQUIRED

SWING JOINTS

AS PER DETAIL.

PERCENT (50%).

Irrigation System Maintenance Procedures
While the system is deigned to operate automatically, a regular maintenance schedule is
necessary to prevent and address failures in the system as well as ensure that the system
operates in a manner that meets or exceeds the MAWA values provided.

Any broken or malfunctioning irrigation system components should be replaced with
the same components, or an equal or superior equivalent.

Upon completion of the project, the following measures should be performed by
property management at intervals noted below:

Weekly:
During weekly landscape maintenance operations, the maintenance personnel should
look for signs of runoff, erosion, and plant die off due to irrigation system failures. If
issues are detected, they should be brought to the attention of the maintenance
supervisor and property management for timely correction.

All overhead spray heads shall be inspected to ensure clear operation and in order to
identify and repair any damaged equipment.

Monthly:
All irrigation and master valves shall be visually inspected by a property management
representative while the valve is under operating conditions. All control valves and
filters should be visually inspected and cleaned as required and in accordance with
manufactures specifications. All leaks shall be promptly reported to a landscape
maintenance representative so that the valve may be repaired or replaced in a timely
fashion with the minimum amount of leaking water exposed to open air.

All Root Watering Systems are to be visually inspected to insure that all locking grates
are being reasonably kept free of debris. All grates that are not kept reasonably free of
debris are to be reported to a landscape maintenance representative. All Root Watering
Systems that have their locking grates damaged or missing are to be reported to a
landscape maintenance representative so that the locking grate may be repaired or
replaced in a timely fashion.

MAINTENANCE LOG
Keep a log of all inspections and maintenance performance on the irrigation system
(Updated copy to be provided to Property Manager on a monthly basis)

Overall Landscape Maintenance Procedures
At a minimum, the following items should be addressed on a regular basis as required
per city code:

Weekly
Pruning, weeding and maintenance of turf areas should be done on a weekly basis

Monthly
Dead, dying and diseased vegetation should be replaced with equivalent plant material
w/ similar hydrozone requirements, provided that the replaced vegetation does not
result in mixing higher water use plants with low water use plants in the same
hydrozone.

Invasive plant species should be eradicated as required.

Plant material should be maintained in order to avoid obstruction of motorists views.

Annually
Mulch should be replenished in order to maintain appropriate soil moisture levels.

Soil amendments consistent with the agronomic soils report for this project should be
applied in the manner prescribed in order to support and maintain healthy plant growth.

Lawns should be fertilized in a manner consistent with best management practices

IRRIGATION CALCULATIONS & SCHEDULES

in contractor being responsible for changes that might occur.
to notify Owner for instructions. Failure to do so will result
prior to installation.  If different from PSI noted above, Contractor
Contractor shall verify the static water pressure with supplier

PRESSURE LOSS CALCULATIONS - POC 'A'

RESIDUAL PRESSURE REMAINING

AVAILABLE PRESSURE (P.O.C.) 

BACKFLOW PREVENTER (1")

LATERAL LINE  
ELEVATION CHANGE

TOTAL PRESSURE LOSS

VALVE

VALVE #

BALL VALVES (1 1/2")

WATER METER (3/4" - ASSUMED)

GPM

66.0 (ASSUMED)

+6.2 (10.4%)

0.0(UP GRADE 0')

29.8

12.0

3.0

(5.0 MAX.)

'A3'

12.0 GPM

2.6

1.0

MASTER VALVE (1 1/2") 1.5
FLOW METER (1") 1.0

FITTING LOSS (10%) 2.7

MINIMUM OPERATING PRESSURE 30

DESIGN PRESSURE REQUIRED 59.8

(185' @ 1 1/2")MAINLINE 1.0

FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT PERIOD, THE CONTRACTOR IS TO SELECT THE APPROPRIATE 
90 DAY PERIOD (I.E. MAY,JUNE,JULY) FROM THE ANNUAL SCHEDULE PROVIDED 

NOTE:

(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)
HUNTER DRIP LINE SYSTEMHDL-06-18-500-CV 0.5

Per 100 S.F.
300.4318"

(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)

Page 79 of 263

Page 245



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

05.11.2022 PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023 DRC HEARING

IRRIGATION
DETAILS

I2.1

A. AUTOMATIC CONTROLLER

B. BACKFLOW PREVENTER

C. MASTER VALVE

D. FLOW SENSOR

E. TYPICAL TRENCHING

F. TYPICAL SLEEVING

G. BALL VALVE

H. VALVE BOX INSTALLATION

I. WIRE CONNECTOR

1. STRIP WIRES 1/2" TO 5/8". USING
LINEMANS PLIERS OR OTHER STYLE
TOOL, TWIST ENDS TOGETHER MIN 3
TIMES. INSERT INTO SCOTCHLOK
ELECTRICAL CONNECTOR AND ROTATE
CLOCKWISE UNTIL ADDITIONAL 
FORCE IS REQUIRED.

2. INSERT THE SPLICE INTO THE 
GEL-FILLED INSULATOR TUBE. 
PUSH PAST THE LOCKING 
FINGERS TO HOLD THE SCOTHLOK 
CONNECTOR IN PLACE.

3. POSITION WIRE CHANNELS AND 
SNAP INSULATOR TUBE COVER 
CLOSED.

* WIRE CONNECTORS TO BE DBR/Y-6 BY 3M
OR EQUAL

WIRE SPLICE STEPS

J. RAIN SENSOR

Page 80 of 263

Page 246



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

05.11.2022 PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023 DRC HEARING

IRRIGATION
DETAILS

I2.2

A. QUICK COUPLER

B. REMOTE CONTROL VALVE

C. CONROL ZONE KIT

D. DRIP LINE LAYOUT

E. FLUSH VALVE ASSEMBLY

F. SURSURFACE  DRIP LINE

G. PRESSURE INDICATOR

H. AIR RELIEF VALVE

J. ROOT ZONE WATERING SYSTEM

LEGEND

1
2
3
4
5

1

2

LEGEND:
BALL VALVE

3

FINISHED GRADE

IRRIGATION HOSE (LENGTH AS NECESSARY)

4 FILTER FABRIC

5 BRICK

1
2
3
4
5

1

2

LEGEND:
PRESSURE INDICATOR

3

4 PVC LATERAL PIPE

FINISHED GRADE

ADJACENT MULCH

5 SWING JOINT

Page 81 of 263

Page 247



Attachment 2
Page 82 of 263

Page 248



Page 83 of 263

Page 249



Page 84 of 263

Page 250



Page 85 of 263

Page 251



Page 86 of 263

Page 252



Page 87 of 263

Page 253



Page 88 of 263

Page 254



Page 89 of 263

Page 255



Page 90 of 263

Page 256



Page 91 of 263

Page 257



Z O N I N G 

A D J U S T M E N T S 

B O A R D 

N o t i c e  o f  D e c i s i o n

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.7474    Fax: 510.981.7420 
E-mail: zab@berkeleyca.gov

DATE OF BOARD DECISION: May 11, 2023 
DATE NOTICE MAILED: May 18, 2023 

APPEAL PERIOD EXPIRATION: June 1, 2023 
EFFECTIVE DATE OF PERMIT (Barring Appeal or Certification)1: June 2, 2023 

1598 University Avenue 
Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 to demolish anon-residential structure and 
construct a 127,492 square-foot, eight-story (89 feet- 2 inches) mixed-use 
residential building containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income) and 
5,943 square foot commercial space, with 39 automobile parking spaces and 
92 bicycle parking spaces, utilizing State Density Bonus. 

The Zoning Adjustments Board of the City of Berkeley, after conducting a public hearing, 
APPROVED the following permits: 

A. Zoning Permits Required:
• Use Permit to demolish two non-residential buildings, under Berkeley Municipal

Code (BMC) Section 23.326.070
• Use Permit to establish a mixed-use residential building, under BMC Section

23.204.020
• Use Permit to create 5,000 square feet of new floor area in the University

Commercial District, under BMC Section 23.204.030(A)
• Use Permit to establish residential uses on the ground floor, under BMC

23.204.060(B)(3)
• Use Permit to reduce the rear setback (interior) to provide greater privacy along the

side setback (south) that abuts residential district, under BMC 23204.060
• Administrative Use Permit Administrative Use Permit for projections that exceed

the maximum building height limit, under 23.304.050(A)

B. Concessions and Waivers – Pursuant to State Density Bonus Law (CA Gov’t
Code Section 65915)

1 Pursuant to BMC Section 23.410.050(C), the City Council may certify any ZAB decision for review during the 14-
day appeal period after the notice of the ZAB’s decision is issued. Certification has the same effect as an appeal. 
However, BMC Section 1.04.070 suspends or “tolls” the Council’s deadline to certify when the Council is on recess. 
Thus, in cases where the 14-day appeal period is scheduled to end during a Council recess, the certification deadline 
is extended past the end of the recess for the remainder of the appeal period. In cases where the appeal period 
begins during a Council recess, the certification deadline is extended until 14 days after the first Council meeting after 
the recess. Extension of the certification deadline has no effect on the appeal deadline. 

Attachment 3
Page 92 of 263

Page 258



   
ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY  AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 2 of 5 
 

 

g:\landuse\projects by address\university\1598\zp2022-0099\document finals\2023-05-18_zab_nod_1598 university.docx 

a. Concession to allow for a reduction in open space to 10,365 square feet, where 
41,400 square feet is required under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1)  

b. Waiver to reduce the ground floor commercial use feature street frontage along 
University Avenue from 75 percent to 31.8 percent, under BMC Section 
23.204.060(D)(6) 

c. Waiver to reduce the minimum ground floor area for a commercial use feature from 
20 percent to 19.8 percent, under 23.204.060 (D)(6) 

d. Waiver to increase the building height to 89’-2 where the requirement is 48’ under 
BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

e. Waiver to increase the number of stories to eight where the maximum is four under 
BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

f. Waiver to increase the FAR to 4.47, where the maximum is 3 under BMC Section 
23.204.060(D)(1) 

g. Waiver to reduce the rear setback to a 5-foot average where the requirement is a 
20-foot average, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

h. Waiver to reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is a 
2-foot average, under 23.204.060(D)(1) 
 

ZONING: University Commercial District (C-U), Node Area – South Side of University Avenue 
 
APPLICANT: Isaiah Stackhouse, Trachtenberg Architects, 2421 Fourth Street, Berkeley CA 
94710 
 
PROPERTY OWNER: 1598 University Avenue, LLC, 2343 Stuart Street, Berkeley CA 94705 
 
INTERESTED PARTY: Sienna Shankel, Adams Broadwell Joseph & Cardozo, 601 Gateway 
Blvd., Ste. 1000, So San Francisco CA 94080, sshankel@adamsbroadwell.com 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW STATUS: It is staff’s recommendation to the Zoning Adjustments 
Board (ZAB) that the project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code Section 21000, et seq. and California 
Code of Regulations, Section15000, et seq.) pursuant to Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines 
(“Infill Development Project”).  
 
 

FINDINGS, CONDITIONS AND APPROVED PLANS ARE ATTACHED TO THIS NOTICE 
 
 

Page 93 of 263

Page 259

mailto:sshankel@adamsbroadwell.com


   
ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY  AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 3 of 5 
 

 

g:\landuse\projects by address\university\1598\zp2022-0099\document finals\2023-05-18_zab_nod_1598 university.docx 

 Yes No Abstain Absent    Recused 
DUFFY x    
KAHN x                                  
YUNG x                       
O’KEEFE       x              
LUNAPARRA       x             
SANDERSON x    
THOMPSON x    
GAFFNEY x    
TREGUB x    
BOARD VOTE:                9 0       0         0                       0 

  

    

     
 
 

     ATTEST:     
Samantha Updegrave, Zoning Adjustments Board 

Secretary 
 
 
PUBLICATION OF NOTICE: 
Pursuant to BMC Section 23.404.050, this notice shall be mailed to the applicant at the mailing 
address stated in the application and to any person who requests such notification by filing a 
written request with the Zoning Officer on or before the date of the Board action.  This notice shall 
also be filed with the City Clerk. In addition, the notice shall be forwarded to the Zoning 
Adjustments Board and to the Main Library. The notice shall also be posted at a bulletin board at 
the Zoning Counter. The City Clerk shall make the notice available to interested members of the 
Council and the public. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION: 
Questions about the project should be directed to the project planner, Russell Roe, at (510) 981-
7548 or rroe@berkeleyca.gov. All project application materials, including full-size plans, may be 
viewed online at: https://aca.cityofberkeley.info/CitizenAccess/Welcome.aspx. or in the Permit 
Service Center at the Zoning Counter at 1947 Center Street, Third Floor, during normal office 
hours.   
 

Page 94 of 263

Page 260

https://aca.cityofberkeley.info/CitizenAccess/Welcome.aspx


   
ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY  AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 4 of 5 
 

 

g:\landuse\projects by address\university\1598\zp2022-0099\document finals\2023-05-18_zab_nod_1598 university.docx 

TO APPEAL THIS DECISION (see Section 23.410 of the Berkeley Municipal Code): 
To appeal a decision of the Zoning Adjustments Board to the City Council you must: 
1. Submit a letter clearly and concisely setting forth the grounds for the appeal to the City Clerk, 

located at 2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley.  The City Clerk’s telephone number is (510) 
981-6900. 

2. Submit the required appeal fee (checks and money orders payable to “City of Berkeley”): 
A. The fee for persons other than the applicant is $1500. This fee may be reduced to $500 if 

the appeal is signed by persons who lease or own at least 50 percent of the parcels or 
dwelling units within 300 feet of the project site, or at least 25 such persons (not including 
dependent children), whichever is less.  

B. The fee for all appeals by Applicants is $5,520. 
3. The appeal must be received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the "APPEAL PERIOD EXPIRATION" date 

shown on page 1 (if the close of the appeal period falls on a weekend or holiday, then the 
appeal period expires the following business day). 

If no appeal is received, the permit will be issued on the first business day following expiration of 
the appeal period, and the project may proceed at that time. 
 

Page 95 of 263

Page 261



   
ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY  AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 5 of 5 
 

 

g:\landuse\projects by address\university\1598\zp2022-0099\document finals\2023-05-18_zab_nod_1598 university.docx 

NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: 
If you object to this decision, the following requirements and restrictions apply: 
1. If you challenge this decision in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or 

someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the Zoning Adjustments Board at, or prior to, the public hearing. 

2. You must appeal to the City Council within fourteen (14) days after the Notice of Decision of 
the action of the Zoning Adjustments Board is mailed.  It is your obligation to notify the Land 
Use Planning Division in writing of your desire to receive a Notice of Decision when it is 
completed. 

3. Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.6(b) and Government Code Section 
65009(c)(1), no lawsuit challenging a City Council decision, as defined by Code of Civil 
Procedure Section 1094.6(e), regarding a use permit, variance or other permit may be filed 
more than ninety (90) days after the date the decision becomes final, as defined in Code of 
Civil Procedure Section 1094.6(b).  Any lawsuit not filed within that ninety (90) day period will 
be barred. 

4. Pursuant to Government Code Section 66020(d)(1), notice is hereby given to the applicant 
that the 90-day protest period for any fees, dedications, reservations, or other exactions 
included in any permit approval begins upon final action by the City, and that any challenge 
must be filed within this 90-day period. 

5. If you believe that this decision or any condition attached to it denies you any reasonable 
economic use of the subject property, was not sufficiently related to a legitimate public 
purpose, was not sufficiently proportional to any impact of the project, or for any other reason 
constitutes a “taking” of property for public use without just compensation under the California 
or United States Constitutions, your appeal of this decision must include the following 
information: 
A. That this belief is a basis of your appeal. 
B. Why you believe that the decision or condition constitutes a "taking" of property as set forth 

above. 
C. All evidence and argument in support of your belief that the decision or condition 

constitutes a “taking” as set forth above. 
If you do not do so, you will waive any legal right to claim that your property has been taken, 
both before the City Council and in court. 
 

 

Page 96 of 263

Page 262



   

    
A t t a c h m e n t  1 

F i n d i n g s  a n d  C o n d i t i o n s 
MAY 11, 2023 

 
1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA   94704      Tel: 510.981.7410      TDD: 510.981.7474      Fax: 510.981.7420 

E-mail: zab@cityofberkeley.info 

 

1598 University Avenue  
Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 to demolish anon-residential structure and construct a 
127,492 square-foot, eight-story (89 feet- 2 inches) mixed-use residential building 
containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income) and 5,943 square foot 
commercial space, with 39 automobile parking spaces and 92 bicycle parking 
spaces, utilizing State Density Bonus. 
 
PERMITS REQUIRED 
• Use Permit to demolish two non-residential buildings, under Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) 

Section 23.326.070 
• Use Permit to establish a mixed-use residential building, under BMC Section 23.204.020 
• Use Permit to create 5,000 square feet of new floor area in the University Commercial District, 

under BMC Section 23.204.030(A) 
• Use Permit to establish residential uses on the ground floor, under BMC 23.204.060(B)(3) 
• Use Permit to reduce the rear setback (interior) to provide greater privacy along the side setback 

(south) that abuts residential district, under BMC 23204.060  
• Administrative Use Permit Administrative Use Permit for projections that exceed the maximum 

building height limit, under 23.304.050(A) 
  
CONCESSIONS/WAIVERS UNDER GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 65915-65918  
• Concession to allow for a reduction in open space to 10,365 square feet, where 41,400 square 

feet is required under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1)  
• Waiver to reduce the ground floor commercial use feature street frontage along University Avenue 

from 75 percent to 31.8 percent, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(6) 
• Waiver to reduce the minimum ground floor area for a commercial use feature from 20 percent to 

19.8 percent, under 23.204.060 (D)(6) 
• Waiver to increase the building height to 89’-2 where the requirement is 48’ under BMC Section 

23.204.060(D)(1) 
• Waiver to increase the number of stories to eight where the maximum is four under BMC Section 

23.204.060(D)(1) 
• Waiver to increase the FAR to 4.47, where the maximum is 3 under BMC Section 

23.204.060(D)(1) 
• Waiver to reduce the rear setback to a 5-foot average where the requirement is a 20-foot 

average, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 
• Waiver to reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is a 2-foot 

average, under 23.204.060(D)(1) 
 
I. CEQA FINDINGS 

 

Page 97 of 263

Page 263



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 2 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

1. The project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code §21000, et seq. and California Code of Regulations, 
§15000, et seq.) pursuant to Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines (“Infill Development 
Project”).  
 
The project meets all of the requirements of this exemption, as follows: 
A. The project is consistent with the applicable General Plan designation and policies, and 

with the applicable zoning designation and regulations.  
B. The project occurs within the Berkeley City limits on a project site of no more than five 

acres, and is surrounded by urban uses.  
C. The parcels within the project site have previously been developed and have no value as 

habitat for endangered, rare or threatened species. 
D. The project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality or 

water quality. The Traffic Impact Analysis prepared for the project was reviewed by the 
City Transportation Division which concurred with the findings of less than significant 
impacts. City Standard Conditions would address potential impacts related to traffic, 
noise, air quality, and water quality.  

E. The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services.  
 
2. Furthermore, none of the exceptions in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2 apply, as follows: 

(a) the site is not located in an environmentally sensitive area, (b) there are no cumulative 
impacts, (c) there are no significant effects, (d) the project is not located near a scenic highway, 
(e) the project site is not located on a hazardous waste site pursuant to Government Code 
Section 65962.5, and (f) the project would not affect any historical resource. 
 

II. HOUSING ACCOUNTABILTY ACT FINDINGS  
A. The Housing Accountability Act, Government Code Section 65589.5(j) requires that when a 

proposed housing development complies with applicable, objective general plan and zoning 
standards, a local agency may not deny the project or approve it with reduced density unless 
the agency makes written findings supported by substantial evidence that: (A) the development 
would have a specific adverse impact on public health or safety unless disapproved or 
approved at a lower density; and (B) there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or 
avoid the specific adverse impact, other than the disapproval or approval at a lower density.  
 

B. Because the project complies with applicable, objective general plan and zoning standards, 
§65589.5(j) does apply to this project. No significant, quantifiable, direct and unavoidable 
impacts, based on objective, identified written public health or safety standards, polices, or 
conditions, have been identified. 
 

III. DENSITY BONUS FINDINGS 
1. Pursuant to Government Code Section 65915, the Zoning Adjustments Board finds that: 

A. Under the City’s methodology for implementing density bonuses, the “base project” 
consists of 138 units; 

B. The project will provide at least 21 qualifying units in the 138-unit “base project”, as more 
fully set forth in Condition 39; 

C. The project is entitled to a density increase of 50   percent over the otherwise maximum 
allowable residential density under the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan Land Use 

Page 98 of 263

Page 264



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 3 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

Element, under the requirements of Government Code Section 65915(b) and (f), plus three 
concessions or incentives. This equates to a density bonus of 69 units above the Base 
Project, for a total of 207-units. 

 
2. In accordance with Government Code Section 65915(d) and (k), the Zoning Adjustments Board 

hereby grants the following concession in order to provide for affordable housing costs:  
A. To allow for a reduction in open space provided to 10,365 square feet, where the 

requirement is 41,400 square feet under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1); and  
 
3. In accordance with Government Code Section 65915(d), in order to allow construction of the 

proposed project with the density permitted under State law, the Zoning Adjustments Board 
finds that the approval of the concessions is required to provide for affordable rents, as 
provided in Government Code Section 65915(d)(1)(A) because 1) approval of the concession 
would result in identifiable and actual cost reduction; 2) approval of the concession would not 
have a specific adverse impact upon public health and safety, or the physical environment, or 
on any real property listed in the California Register of Historical Resources; and 3) would not 
be contrary to State or Federal law. 

 
4. In accordance with Government Code Section 65915(e) the Zoning Adjustments Board hereby 

grants the following waivers: 
• To reduce the ground floor commercial use feature street frontage along University 

Avenue from 75 percent to 31.8 percent, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(6) 
• To reduce the minimum ground floor area for a commercial use feature from 20 percent 

to 19.8 percent, under 23.204.060 (D)(6) 
• To increase the building height to 89’-2 where the requirement is 48’ under BMC 

Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 
• To increase the number of stories to eight where the maximum is four under BMC 

Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 
• To increase the FAR to 4.47, where the maximum is 3 under BMC Section 

23.204.060(D)(1) 
• To reduce the rear setback to a 5-foot average where the requirement is a 20-foot 

average, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 
• To reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is a 2-foot 

average, under 23.204.060(D)(1) 
• To reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is a 2-foot 

average, under 23.204.060(D)(1) 
 
These waivers are required because state law requires the City to modify development 
standards as necessary to accommodate these density bonus units, and because the Zoning 
Adjustments Board hereby finds that the density bonus units can best be accommodated by 
granting these waivers. 
 

5. In accordance with Government Code Section 65915(e), in order to allow construction of the 
proposed project with the density permitted under State law, the Zoning Adjustments Board 
finds approval of waivers is required 1) construct the proposed project at the density permitted 
under State law; 2) approval of requested waivers would not have a specific adverse impact 
upon public health and safety, or the physical environment, or on any real property listed in the 

Page 99 of 263

Page 265



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 4 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

California Register of Historical Resources; and 3) approval of the requested waivers would 
not be contrary to State or Federal law. 

 
IV. FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL 

6. As required by Section 23.406.040(E)(1) of the BMC, the project, under the circumstances of 
this particular case existing at the time at which the application is granted, would not be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, and general welfare of the persons 
residing or working in the neighborhood of such proposed use or be detrimental or injurious to 
property and improvements of the adjacent properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood, 
or to the general welfare of the City because: 
A. The project is a higher-density development in proximity to entitled and in-progress mixed 

uses of a comparable density along University Avenue, transit, commercial districts, and 
amenities that is compatible with the purposes of the zoning district and the surrounding 
uses and buildings. The project site is located within the C-U commercial district, within the 
UASP. The project provides 207 new dwelling units sized from studios to two-bedroom 
units. Twenty-one of the units will be restricted as affordable housing units for very-low-
income residents.   Over 5,000 square feet of commercial space will be provided primarily 
along California Street, accompanied by a pedestrian oriented on-site public plaza.   The 
proposal also includes a 9,165 square foot open space feature at the ground floor.   The 
ground floor also includes residential amenities like a club room, fitness center, and long-
term bicycle parking room.   The project site is well served by public transportation, with 
several AC transit bus stops along University Avenue, BART within a half-mile, and several 
bicycle share kiosks within a half-mile radius. The project adds additional dwelling units, 
new commercial floor area, and an at-grade garden on the ground floor, furthering the 
mixed-use uses that are compatible purposes of the district and not detrimental to 
neighborhood-serving commercial uses;  
 

B. New shadows will be cast on existing residential and commercial buildings throughout the 
year. During the summer months new shadows will shade existing residential units to the 
west, south, and east of the project (1632 University, 2091 California, 2020 California, 1543 
Addison, 1537 Addison, 1528 University, and 1530 University). New shadows shall also be 
cast existing residential units north and west (1597 University, 1587 University, 1535 
University, and 1530 University) of the project during the winter months. These changes in 
sunlight pattern are found to be reasonable given the orientation of these properties in 
relation to the subject building and their close proximity given the urban residential 
environment. These affects are not found to be detrimental because limited in duration and 
will not persist for extended periods throughout the year. Shadow impact on adjacent 
dwellings are to be expected, because the subject site is located in the C-U district, which 
allows heights of up to 48 feet without a use permit and roof top projections beyond the 
base height with an administrative use permit; and 
 

C. The project is subject to the City’s standard conditions of approval regarding construction 
noise and air quality, waste diversion, toxics, and stormwater requirements, thereby 
ensuring the project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort 
or general welfare of persons residing or working in the area or neighborhood of such 
proposed use or be detrimental or injurious to property and improvements of the adjacent 
properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood or to the general welfare of the City. 

Page 100 of 263

Page 266



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 5 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

 
V. OTHER FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL 

7. As required by Section 23.326.070 of the BMC, to approve the demolition of non-residential 
buildings, the ZAB must find that the demolition is required for the development of a new 
building and will not be materially detrimental to commercial needs of the impacted 
neighborhood.   The proposed demolition of the existing non-residential buildings will not be 
detrimental needs of the neighborhood, as the project redevelops underdeveloped lots that are 
primarily used for surface parking with a new mixed-use building, with ground floor commercial 
that is compatible with existing development patterns along University Avenue.  The project is 
aligned with the UASP goals and district’s objectives to promote appropriate new mixed-use 
infill development that is compatible with the commercial and residential areas within C-U 
district.  
 

8. As required by Section 23.204.060(E) of the BMC, to approve a Use Permit for a project in the 
C-U district, the ZAB must find that the proposed use or structure is compatible with the 
purpose of the district, the surrounding uses and buildings, and does not interfere with the 
continuity of retail and service facilities at the ground level. 
A. The project infills an underutilized site with a mixed-use building with ground floor 

commercial space fronting California Street, residential services (i.e. leasing office, lobby, 
bike storage, fitness center, club room) on the ground floor along University, and 207 
dwelling units on the upper floors; 

B. The project is consistent with the UASP and C-U district and will revitalize the corridor with 
additional housing and creates a service-oriented and commercial street-wall along both 
University Avenue and California Street.; and 

C. With respect to the existing residential uses that abut the rear of the site, the project breaks 
down the massing by including an open-air courtyard on the ground floor, which results in 
a rear average setback of 57 feet, and stepping back the building with balconies at floors 
seven and eight.  

 
9. As required by Section 23.204.060, a Use Permit for the reduction of rear setback within a 

commercial district, provided that the reduction enhances privacy or improved amenities in the 
Residential District.  In the Base Project, the rear setback (interior) is reduced from a 20- foot 
average to 0 feet.  This reduction allows for the massing of the building to move away from the 
Southern property line and results in 20-foot average setback that confronts the R2-A district.  
The reduction also allows for more useable open space on the ground floor, a residential 
amenity.  Generally, this reduction improves privacy along the southern property line, between 
the commercial and residential districts.  
 

10. As required by BMC Section 23.304.050(A), the Zoning Adjustments Board finds that the 
proposed rooftop equipment, which exceeds the district height limit, does not exceed 15 
percent the average floor area of the building’s floors. None of the equipment structures will 
be used as habitable or commercial space.  

 
 
  

Page 101 of 263

Page 267



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 6 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

VI. STANDARD CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR ALL PROJECTS 
The following conditions, as well as all other applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, apply to 
this Permit: 
 
1. Conditions Shall be Printed on Plans 

The conditions of this Permit shall be printed on the second sheet of each plan set submitted for 
a building permit pursuant to this Use Permit, under the title ‘Use Permit Conditions.’ Additional 
sheets may also be used if the second sheet is not of sufficient size to list all of the conditions. 
The sheet(s) containing the conditions shall be of the same size as those sheets containing the 
construction drawings; 8-1/2” by 11” sheets are not acceptable.    

 
2. Compliance Required (BMC Section 23.102.050) 

All land uses and structures in Berkeley must comply with the Zoning Ordinance and all 
applicable City ordinances and regulations. Compliance with the Zoning Ordinance does not 
relieve an applicant from requirements to comply with other federal, state, and City regulations 
that also apply to the property. 
 

3. Approval Limited to Proposed Project and Replacement of Existing Uses (BMC Sections 
23.404.060.B.1 and 2) 
A. This Permit authorizes only the proposed project described in the application. In no way 

does an approval authorize other uses, structures or activities not included in the project 
description. 

B. When the City approves a new use that replaces an existing use, any prior approval of the 
existing use becomes null and void when permits for the new use are exercised (e.g., 
building permit or business license issued). To reestablish the previously existing use, an 
applicant must obtain all permits required by the Zoning Ordinance for the use. 

 
4. Conformance to Approved Plans (BMC Section 23.404.060.B.4) 

All work performed under an approved permit shall be in compliance with the approved plans 
and any conditions of approval. 

 
5. Exercise and Expiration of Permits (BMC Section 23.404.060.C) 

A. A permit authorizing a land use is exercised when both a valid City business license is issued 
(if required) and the land use is established on the property.  

B. A permit authorizing construction is exercised when both a valid City building permit (if 
required) is issued and construction has lawfully begun. 

C. The Zoning Officer may declare a permit lapsed if it is not exercised within one year of its 
issuance, except if the applicant has applied for a building permit or has made a substantial 
good faith effort to obtain a building permit and begin construction. The Zoning Officer may 
declare a permit lapsed only after 14 days written notice to the applicant. A determination 
that a permit has lapsed may be appealed to the ZAB in accordance with Chapter 23.410 
(Appeals and Certification).  

D. A permit declared lapsed shall be void and of no further force and effect. To establish the 
use or structure authorized by the lapsed permit, an applicant must apply for and receive 
City approval of a new permit. 
 

  

Page 102 of 263

Page 268



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 7 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

6. Permit Remains Effective for Vacant Property (BMC Section 23.404.060.D) 
Once a Permit for a use is exercised and the use is established, the permit authorizing the use 
remains effective even if the property becomes vacant. The same use as allowed by the original 
permit may be re-established without obtaining a new permit, except as set forth in Standard 
Condition #5 above. 
 

7. Permit Modifications (BMC Section 23.404.070) 
No change in the use or structure for which this Permit is issued is permitted unless the Permit 
is modified by the Board. The Zoning Officer may approve changes to plans approved by the 
Board, consistent with the Board’s policy adopted on May 24, 1978, which reduce the size of the 
project.    
 

8. Permit Revocation (BMC Section 23.404.080) 
The City may revoke or modify a discretionary permit for completed projects due to: 1) violations 
of permit requirements; 2) Changes to the approved project; and/or 3) Vacancy for one year or 
more. However, no lawful residential use can lapse, regardless of the length of time of the 
vacancy. Proceedings to revoke or modify a permit may be initiated by the Zoning Officer, Zoning 
Adjustments Board (ZAB), or City Council referral.  

 
9. Transparency Acknowledgement (BMC Section 13.104.030) 

Prior to the issuance of a building permit for any Project subject to this Chapter: 
A. A Responsible Representative of the Permittee shall certify under penalty of perjury that: 

(1) the Permittee has reviewed Chapter 13.104 of the Berkeley Municipal Code; and (2) 
the Permittee will be responsible for demonstrating compliance with this Chapter. 

B. The Permittee shall provide to the City a Contractor Pay Transparency Acknowledgment 
on a form approved by the City for this purpose. A Responsible Representative of the 
Permittee shall certify under penalty of perjury that the Contractor and all Qualifying 
Subcontractors performing work on the Project will comply with Chapter 13.104 of the 
Berkeley Municipal Code and with Labor Code sections 226(a) and 2810.5 for each 
employee who works on the Project.  
 

10. Pay Transparency Attestations Following Project Completion (BMC Section 13.104.040) 
Within 10 days of the approved final inspection of any Project subject to this Chapter, each 
Permittee shall provide to the City for each Contractor and Qualifying Subcontractor a Pay 
Transparency Attestation on a form approved by the City. On each Pay Transparency 
Attestation, a Responsible Representative of the Contractor or Qualifying Subcontractor shall 
attest under penalty of perjury that the Contractor or Qualifying Subcontractor complied with 
Chapter 13.104 of the Berkeley Municipal Code and Labor Code sections 226(a) and 2810.5 for 
each employee who performed work on the Project. The City will maintain Pay Transparency 
Attestation forms for period of at least three years after their date of receipt by the City. 
 

11. Posting of Ordinance (BMC Section 13.104.050) 
Each day work is performed on the Project, each Permittee shall post, and keep posted in a 
conspicuous location where it may be easily read by employees during the hours of the workday, 
a notice that: (A) contains the text of Chapter 13.104 of the Berkeley Municipal Code; (B) 
explains that workers can report violations of Labor Code sections 226 and 2810.5 to the Labor 
Commissioner of the State of California; and (C) provides current contact information, including 

Page 103 of 263

Page 269



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 8 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

office address, telephone number, and email address of the Labor Commissioner of the State of 
California. 
 

12. Conditions of Approval (BMC Section 13.104.060) 
The requirements of Sections 13.104.030 through 13.104.050 shall be included as conditions of 
approval of any Use Permit or Zoning Certificate for any Project that is subject to this Chapter. 
Failure to comply with the requirements of any provision of this Chapter shall be grounds for 
issuance of an administrative citation under Chapter 1.28 and/or the revocation or modification 
of any Use Permit issued for the Project under Chapter 23B.60. 
 

13. Indemnification Agreement 
The applicant shall hold harmless, defend, and indemnify the City of Berkeley and its officers, 
agents, and employees against any and all liability, damages, claims, demands, judgments or 
other losses (including without limitation, attorney’s fees, expert witness and consultant fees and 
other litigation expenses), referendum or initiative relating to, resulting from or caused by, or 
alleged to have resulted from, or caused by, any action or approval associated with the project.   
The indemnity includes without limitation, any legal or administrative challenge, referendum or 
initiative filed or prosecuted to overturn, set aside, stay or otherwise rescind any or all approvals 
granted in connection with the Project, any environmental determination made for the project 
and granting any permit issued in accordance with the project.   This indemnity includes, without 
limitation, payment of all direct and indirect costs associated with any action specified herein.   
Direct and indirect costs shall include, without limitation, any attorney’s fees, expert witness and 
consultant fees, court costs, and other litigation fees.   City shall have the right to select counsel 
to represent the City at Applicant’s expense in the defense of any action specified in this 
condition of approval.   City shall take reasonable steps to promptly notify the Applicant of any 
claim, demand, or legal actions that may create a claim for indemnification under these 
conditions of approval.    

 
VII. ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED BY THE ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 
Pursuant to BMC 23.406.040(E), the Zoning Adjustments Board attaches the following additional 
conditions to this Permit: 
 
See conditions of approval # 15, 16, 22, and 41 – below.  
 
Prior to Submittal of Any Building Permit: 
14. Project Liaison. The applicant shall include in all building permit plans and post onsite the name 

and telephone number of an individual empowered to manage construction-related complaints 
generated from the project.   The individual’s name, telephone number, and responsibility for the 
project shall be posted at the project site for the duration of the project in a location easily visible 
to the public.   The individual shall record all complaints received and actions taken in response, 
and submit written reports of such complaints and actions to the project planner on a weekly 
basis. Please designate the name of this individual below: 

 
 Project Liaison ____________________________________________________ 
 Name       Phone # 

15. Plan Revision. Submit revised floor plans that reflect the step back at the facade that were 
illustrated in the renderings.  

Page 104 of 263

Page 270



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 9 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

 
16. Neighbor- Applicant Meeting. The applicant shall provide documentation showing that they have 

met with neighbors to discuss additional project considerations.  
  
17. Final Design Review. The Project requires approval of a Final Design Review application by the 

Design Review Committee.  
 
18. Address Assignment. The applicant shall file an “Address Assignment Request Application” with 

the Permit Service Center (1947 Center Street) for any address change or new address 
associated with this Use Permit. The new address(es) shall be assigned and entered into the 
City’s database prior to the applicant’s submittal of a building permit application. 

 
19. Traffic Study. Provide a memo analyzing existing and existing plus project traffic operations at 

University Avenue / California Street. Project shall use findings to revise the signal timing at 
University Avenue /California Street, updating pedestrian crossing times and implementing a 
leading pedestrian interval.  

 
20. Construction Noise Reduction Program. The applicant shall develop a site-specific noise 

reduction program prepared by a qualified acoustical consultant to reduce construction noise 
impacts to the maximum extent feasible, subject to review and approval of the Zoning Officer. 
The noise reduction program shall include the time limits for construction listed above, as 
measures needed to ensure that construction complies with BMC Section 13.40.070. The noise 
reduction program should include, but shall not be limited to, the following available controls to 
reduce construction noise levels as low as practical: 
A. Construction equipment should be well maintained and used judiciously to be as quiet as 

practical. 
B. Equip all internal combustion engine-driven equipment with mufflers, which are in good 

condition and appropriate for the equipment. 
C. Utilize “quiet” models of air compressors and other stationary noise sources where 

technology exists.   Select hydraulically or electrically powered equipment and avoid 
pneumatically powered equipment where feasible. 

D. Locate stationary noise-generating equipment as far as possible from sensitive receptors 
when adjoining construction sites.   Construct temporary noise barriers or partial enclosures 
to acoustically shield such equipment where feasible. 

E. Prohibit unnecessary idling of internal combustion engines. 
F. If impact pile driving is required, pre-drill foundation pile holes to minimize the number of 

impacts required to seat the pile. 
G. Construct solid plywood fences around construction sites adjacent to operational business, 

residences or other noise-sensitive land uses where the noise control plan analysis 
determines that a barrier would be effective at reducing noise. 

H. Erect temporary noise control blanket barriers, if necessary, along building facades facing 
construction sites.   This mitigation would only be necessary if conflicts occurred which were 
irresolvable by proper scheduling. Noise control blanket barriers can be rented and quickly 
erected. 

I. Route construction related traffic along major roadways and away from sensitive receptors 
where feasible. 

 

Page 105 of 263

Page 271



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 10 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

21. Damage Due to Construction Vibration. The project applicant shall submit screening level 
analysis prior to, or concurrent with demolition building permit. If a screening level analysis 
shows that the project has the potential to result in damage to structures, a structural engineer 
or other appropriate professional shall be retained to prepare a vibration impact assessment 
(assessment). The assessment shall take into account project specific information such as the 
composition of the structures, location of the various types of equipment used during each phase 
of the project, as well as the soil characteristics in the project area, in order to determine whether 
project construction may cause damage to any of the structures identified as potentially impacted 
in the screening level analysis. If the assessment finds that the project may cause damage to 
nearby structures, the structural engineer or other appropriate professional shall recommend 
design means and methods of construction that to avoid the potential damage, if feasible. The 
assessment and its recommendations shall be reviewed and approved by the Building and 
Safety Division and the Zoning Officer. If there are no feasible design means or methods to 
eliminate the potential for damage, the structural engineer or other appropriate professional shall 
undertake an existing conditions study (study) of any structures (or, in case of large buildings, 
of the portions of the structures) that may experience damage. This study shall establish the 
baseline condition of these structures, including, but not limited to, the location and extent of any 
visible cracks or spalls; and include written descriptions and photographs.  

 
The study shall be reviewed and approved by the Building and Safety Division and the Zoning 
Officer prior to issuance of a grading permit. Upon completion of the project, the structures (or, 
in case of large buildings, of the portions of the structures) previously inspected will be 
resurveyed, and any new cracks or other changes shall be compared to pre-construction 
conditions and a determination shall be made as to whether the proposed project caused the 
damage. The findings shall be submitted to the Building and Safety Division and the Zoning 
Officer for review. If it is determined that project construction has resulted in damage to the 
structure, the damage shall be repaired to the pre-existing condition by the project sponsor, 
provided that the property owner approves of the repair. 

 
Prior to Issuance of Any Building & Safety Permit (Demolition or Construction) 
 
22. Tree Protection. Tree protection fencing shall be shown on all demolition, site, landscaping, 

grading, and utility plans, and shall be installed prior to demolition, grubbing, or grading around 
the five existing Crepe Trees located along California Street.  Fences shall be 6 feet in height, 
composed of chain link with posts sunk into the ground.  Fences are to remain until all grading 
and construction is completed.   
 

23. Construction Noise Management - Public Notice Required.   At least two weeks prior to initiating 
any construction activities at the site, the applicant shall provide notice to businesses and 
residents within 500 feet of the project site.   This notice shall at a minimum provide the following: 
(1) project description, (2) description of construction activities during extended work hours and 
reason for extended hours, (3) daily construction schedule (i.e., time of day) and expected 
duration (number of months), (4) the name and phone number of the Project Liaison for the 
project that is responsible for responding to any local complaints, and (5) that construction work 
is about to commence. The liaison would determine the cause of all construction-related 
complaints (e.g., starting too early, bad muffler, worker parking, etc.) and institute reasonable 

Page 106 of 263

Page 272



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 11 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

measures to correct the problem. A copy of such notice and methodology for distributing the 
notice shall be provided in advance to the City for review and approval. 

 
24. Construction Phases.   The applicant shall provide the Zoning Officer with a schedule of major 

construction phases with start dates and expected duration, a description of the activities and 
anticipated noise levels of each phase, and the name(s) and phone number(s) of the individual(s) 
directly supervising each phase.   The Zoning Officer or his/her designee shall have the authority 
to require an on-site meeting with these individuals as necessary to ensure compliance with 
these conditions.   The applicant shall notify the Zoning Officer of any changes to this schedule 
as soon as possible. 

 
25. Demolition.   Demolition of the existing building cannot commence until a complete application 

is submitted for the replacement building.   In addition, all plans presented to the City to obtain 
a permit to allow the demolition are subject to these conditions. 

 
26. Construction and Demolition Diversion. Applicant shall submit a Construction Waste 

Management Plan that meets the requirements of BMC Chapter 19.37 including 100% diversion 
of asphalt, concrete, excavated soil and land-clearing debris and a minimum of 65% diversion 
of other nonhazardous construction and demolition waste. 

 
27. Toxics. The applicant shall contact the Toxics Management Division (TMD) at 1947 Center 

Street or (510) 981-7470 to determine which of the following documents are required and timing 
for their submittal:  
A. Environmental Site Assessments: 

1) Phase I & Phase II Environmental Site Assessments (latest ASTM 1527-13).   A recent 
Phase I ESA (less than 2 years old*) shall be submitted to TMD for developments for: 
• All new commercial, industrial and mixed use developments and all large 

improvement projects.  
• All new residential buildings with 5 or more dwelling units located in the 

Environmental Management Area (or EMA). 
• EMA is available online at:   

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/IT/Level_3_-_General/ema.pdf 
2) Phase II ESA is required to evaluate Recognized Environmental Conditions (REC) 

identified in the Phase I or other RECs identified by TMD staff.   The TMD may require a 
third party toxicologist to review human or ecological health risks that may be identified. 
The applicant may apply to the appropriate state, regional or county cleanup agency to 
evaluate the risks.    

3) If the Phase I is over 2 years old, it will require a new site reconnaissance and interviews. 
If the facility was subject to regulation under Title 15 of the Berkeley Municipal Code since 
the last Phase I was conducted, a new records review must be performed. 

B. Soil and Groundwater Management Plan: 
1) A Soil and Groundwater Management Plan (SGMP) shall be submitted to TMD for all non-

residential projects, and residential or mixed-use projects with five or more dwelling units, 
that: (1) are in the Environmental Management Area (EMA) and (2) propose any 
excavations deeper than 5 feet below grade. The SGMP shall be site specific and identify 
procedures for soil and groundwater management including identification of pollutants 

Page 107 of 263

Page 273

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/IT/Level_3_-_General/ema.pdf


   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 12 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

and disposal methods. The SGMP will identify permits required and comply with all 
applicable local, state and regional requirements.  

2) The SGMP shall require notification to TMD of any hazardous materials found in soils and 
groundwater during development. The SGMP will provide guidance on managing odors 
during excavation. The SGMP will provide the name and phone number of the individual 
responsible for implementing the SGMP and post the name and phone number for the 
person responding to community questions and complaints. 

3) TMD may impose additional conditions as deemed necessary. All requirements of the 
approved SGMP shall be deemed conditions of approval of this Use Permit. 

C. Building Materials Survey: 
1) Prior to approving any permit for partial or complete demolition and renovation activities 

involving the removal of 20 square or lineal feet of interior or exterior walls, a building 
materials survey shall be conducted by a qualified professional. The survey shall include, 
but not be limited to, identification of any lead-based paint, asbestos, polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PBC) containing equipment, hydraulic fluids in elevators or lifts, refrigeration 
systems, treated wood and mercury containing devices (including fluorescent light bulbs 
and mercury switches). The Survey shall include plans on hazardous waste or hazardous 
materials removal, reuse or disposal procedures to be implemented that fully comply state 
hazardous waste generator requirements (22 California Code of Regulations 66260 et 
seq). The Survey becomes a condition of any building or demolition permit for the project. 
Documentation evidencing disposal of hazardous waste in compliance with the survey 
shall be submitted to TMD within 30 days of the completion of the demolition. If asbestos 
is identified, Bay Area Air Quality Management District Regulation 11-2-401.3 a 
notification must be made and the J number must be made available to the City of 
Berkeley Permit Service Center.  

D. Hazardous Materials Business Plan: 
1) A Hazardous Materials Business Plan (HMBP) in compliance with BMC Section 

15.12.040 shall be submitted electronically at http://cers.calepa.ca.gov/   within 30 days 
if on-site hazardous materials exceed BMC 15.20.040. HMBP requirement can be found 
at http://ci.berkeley.ca.us/hmr/    

 
Prior to Issuance of Any Building (Construction) Permit  
28. Parcel Merger.   The applicant shall secure approval of any parcel merger and/or lot line 

adjustment associated with this Use Permit. 
 
29. Percent for Public Art: Consistent with BMC §6.13 the applicant shall either pay the required in-

lieu fee or provide the equivalent amount in a financial guarantee to be released after installation 
of the On-Site Publicly Accessible Art. 

 
30. Affordable Housing Mitigation Fee: Consistent with BMC §22.20.065, and fee resolution 

applicable to this project, the applicant shall provide a schedule, consistent with a schedule 
approved by the City Manager or her designee, outlining the timeframe for payment of the AHMF, 
and they shall pay this fee. 

 
31. HVAC Noise Reduction. Prior to the issuance of building permits, the project applicant shall 

submit plans that show the location, type, and design of proposed heating, ventilation, and 
cooling (HVAC) equipment. In addition, the applicant shall provide product specification sheets 

Page 108 of 263

Page 274

http://cers.calepa.ca.gov/
http://ci.berkeley.ca.us/hmr/


   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 13 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

or a report from a qualified acoustical consultant showing that operation of the proposed HVAC 
equipment will meet the City’s exterior noise requirements in BMC Section 13.40.050. The City’s 
Planning and Development Department shall review the submitted plans, including the selected 
HVAC equipment, to verify compliance with exterior noise standards. 

 
32. Interior Noise Levels. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit a report 

to the Building and Safety Division and the Zoning Officer by a qualified acoustic engineer 
certifying that the interior residential portions of the project will achieve interior noise levels of no 
more than 45 Ldn (Average Day-Night Levels). If the adopted Building Code imposes a more 
restrictive standard for interior noise levels, the report shall certify compliance with this standard. 

 
33. Solar Photovoltaic (Solar PV) and Battery Energy Storage Systems (ESS). A solar PV system 

shall be installed, subject to specific limited exceptions, as specified by the Berkeley Energy 
Code (BMC Chapter 19.36). Energy storage system (ESS) readiness (new single-family, duplex, 
and townhouse homes) or ESS installation (new multifamily and most nonresidential buildings) 
shall be completed as specified by BMC Chapter 19.36. Location of the solar PV system and the 
ESS, if applicable, shall be noted on the construction plans. 

 
34. Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. At least 5 percent of the project parking spaces for residential 

parking shall have installed Level 2 (40 amp) electric vehicle (EV) charging stations, at least 25 
percent shall have installed low power Level 2 EV charging receptacles (20 amp), and at least 
20 percent shall be “EV Capable” equipped with raceway, electrical panel service capacity, and 
an electrical system to support future Level 2 (40 amp) EV charging stations, or any more 
stringent EV charging requirements as specified by the Berkeley Green Code (BMC Chapter 
19.37). Required Level 2 charging stations and low power Level 2 EV charging receptacles shall 
be installed, maintained, and made available for building resident use. EV charging station 
installations, EV charging receptacles, and EV Capable spaces shall be noted on the 
construction plans. Public access parking spaces shall provide any applicable mandatory 
accessibility provisions. 

 
35. Nonresidential Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. At least 10 percent of project parking spaces for 

nonresidential use shall have installed Level 2 (40 amp) electric vehicle (EV) charging stations 
and/or DC Fast Charging Stations, and least 40 percent shall be “EV Capable” equipped with 
raceway, electrical panel service capacity, and an electrical system to support future Level 2 (40 
amp) EV charging stations, or any more stringent EV charging requirements, as specified by the 
Berkeley Green Code (BMC Chapter 19.37). EV charging station installations and EV Capable 
spaces shall be noted on the construction plans. Public access parking spaces shall provide any 
applicable mandatory accessibility provisions. 

 
36. Water Efficient Landscaping. Landscaping, totaling 500 square feet of more of new landscaping 

or 2,500 square feet or more of renovated irrigated area, shall comply with the State’s Model 
Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO). MWELO-compliant landscape documentation 
including a planting, grading, and irrigation plan shall be included in site plans. Water budget 
calculations are also required for landscapes of 2,500 square feet or more and shall be included 
in site plans. The reference evapotranspiration rate (ETo) for Berkeley is 41.8. 

 
37. Prohibition of Natural Gas Infrastructure in New Buildings. The project shall comply with the City 

of Berkeley Prohibition of Natural Gas Infrastructure in New Buildings (BMC Chapter 12.80). The 

Page 109 of 263

Page 275



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 14 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

building permit plan set submission shall include a cover sheet declaration: ‘Natural Gas-Free 
Design as required by BMC Chapter 12.80. 

 
38. Recycling and Organics Collection. Applicant shall provide recycling and organics collection 

areas for occupants, clearly marked on site plans, which comply with the Alameda County 
Mandatory Recycling Ordinance (ACWMA Ordinance 2012-01). 

 
39. Public Works ADA.   Plans submitted for building permit shall include replacement of sidewalk, 

curb, gutter, and other streetscape improvements, as necessary to comply with current City of 
Berkeley standards for accessibility. 

 
40. Required Parking Spaces for Persons with Disabilities.   Per BMC Section 23.322.040.H of the 

Zoning Ordinance, “If the number of required off-street parking spaces in a non-residential 
district is reduced as allowed by this chapter, the number of required parking spaces for persons 
with disabilities shall be calculated as if there had been no reduction in required spaces.” 

 
41. Affordable Housing Requirements. Project shall comply with BMC Chapter 23.328 Inclusionary 

Housing, effective April 1, 2023 and Resolution 70,698-N.S. Adopting Regulations for Voucher 
Program and Establishing an In-Lieu Fee to Support the Provision of Affordable Housing 
Pursuant to Berkeley Municipal Code 23.328 and Rescinding Resolution 70,668-N.S (attached). 

 
Prior to Demolition or Start of Construction:  
42. Construction Meeting. The applicant shall request of the Zoning Officer an on-site meeting with 

City staff and key parties involved in the early phases of construction (e.g., applicant, general 
contractor, foundation subcontractors) to review these conditions and the construction schedule. 
The general contractor or applicant shall ensure that all subcontractors involved in subsequent 
phases of construction aware of the conditions of approval. 

 
During Construction: 
 
43. Construction Hours.   Construction activity shall be limited to between the hours of 7:00 AM and 

6:00 PM on Monday through Friday, and between 9:00 AM and 4:00 PM on Saturday. No 
construction-related activity shall occur on Sunday or any Federal Holiday.    

 
44. Construction Hours- Exceptions.   It is recognized that certain construction activities, such as the 

placement of concrete, must be performed in a continuous manner and may require an extension 
of these work hours.   Prior to initiating any activity that might require a longer period, the 
developer must notify the Zoning Officer and request an exception for a finite period of time.   If 
the Zoning Officer approves the request, then two weeks prior to the expanded schedule, the 
developer shall notify businesses and residents within 500 feet of the project site describing the 
expanded construction hours. A copy of such notice and methodology for distributing the notice 
shall be provided in advance to the City for review and approval. The project shall not be allowed 
more than 15 extended working days. 

 
45. Project Construction Website. The applicant shall establish a project construction website with 

the following information clearly accessible and updated monthly or more frequently as changes 
warrant: 

Page 110 of 263

Page 276



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 15 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

• Contact information (i.e. “hotline” phone number, and email address) for the project 
construction manager 

• Calendar and schedule of daily/weekly/monthly construction activities 
• The final Conditions of Approval, Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program, 

Transportation Construction Plan, Construction Noise Reduction Program, and any other 
reports or programs related to construction noise, air quality, and traffic.  

 
46. Public Works - Implement BAAQMD-Recommended Measures during Construction.   For all 

proposed projects, BAAQMD recommends implementing all the Basic Construction Mitigation 
Measures, listed below to meet the best management practices threshold for fugitive dust: 
A. All exposed surfaces (e.g., parking areas, staging areas, soil piles, graded areas, and 

unpaved access roads) shall be watered two times per day. 
B. All haul trucks transporting soil, sand, or other loose material off-site shall be covered. 
C. All visible mud or dirt track-out onto adjacent public roads shall be removed using wet power 

vacuum street sweepers at least once per day. The use of dry power sweeping is prohibited. 
D. All vehicle speeds on unpaved roads shall be limited to 15 mph. 
E. All roadways, driveways, and sidewalks to be paved shall be completed as soon as possible. 

Building pads shall be laid as soon as possible after grading unless seeding or soil binders 
are used. 

F. Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use or reducing 
the maximum idling time to 5 minutes (as required by the California airborne toxics control 
measure Title 13, Section 2485 of California Code of Regulations [CCR]). Clear signage 
shall be provided for construction workers at all access points. 

G. All construction equipment shall be maintained and properly tuned in accordance with 
manufacturer‘s specifications. All equipment shall be checked by a certified visible 
emissions evaluator. 

H. Post a publicly visible sign with the telephone number and person to contact at the lead 
agency regarding dust complaints. This person shall respond and take corrective action 
within 48 hours. The Air District‘s phone number shall also be visible to ensure compliance 
with applicable regulations.  

 
47. Air Quality - Diesel Particulate Matter Controls during Construction. All off-road construction 

equipment used for projects with construction lasting more than 2 months shall comply with one 
of the following measures: 
A. The project applicant shall prepare a health risk assessment that demonstrates the project’s 

on-site emissions of diesel particulate matter during construction will not exceed health risk 
screening criteria after a screening-level health risk assessment is conducted in accordance 
with current guidance from BAAQMD and OEHHA. The health risk assessment shall be 
submitted to the Land Use Planning Division for review and approval prior to the issuance of 
building permits; or 

B. All construction equipment shall be equipped with Tier 2 or higher engines and the most 
effective Verified Diesel Emission Control Strategies (VDECS) available for the engine type 
(Tier 4 engines automatically meet this requirement) as certified by the California Air 
Resources Board (CARB). The equipment shall be properly maintained and tuned in 
accordance with manufacturer specifications.    

 

Page 111 of 263

Page 277



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 16 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

In addition, a Construction Emissions Minimization Plan (Emissions Plan) shall be prepared that 
includes the following: 
• An equipment inventory summarizing the type of off-road equipment required for each phase 

of construction, including the equipment manufacturer, equipment identification number, 
engine model year, engine certification (tier rating), horsepower, and engine serial number. 
For all VDECS, the equipment inventory shall also include the technology type, serial 
number, make, model, manufacturer, CARB verification number level, and installation date. 

• A Certification Statement that the Contractor agrees to comply fully with the Emissions Plan 
and acknowledges that a significant violation of the Emissions Plan shall constitute a material 
breach of contract.   The Emissions Plan shall be submitted to the Public Works Department 
for review and approval prior to the issuance of building permits. 

 
48. Construction and Demolition Diversion.   Divert debris according to your plan and collect 

required documentation. Get construction debris receipts from sorting facilities in order to verify 
diversion requirements. Upload recycling and disposal receipts if using Green Halo and submit 
online for City review and approval prior to final inspection. Alternatively, complete the second 
page of the original Construction Waste Management Plan and present it, along with your 
construction debris receipts, to the Building Inspector by the final inspection to demonstrate 
diversion rate compliance. The Zoning Officer may request summary reports at more frequent 
intervals, as necessary to ensure compliance with this requirement. 

 
49. Low-Carbon Concrete. The project shall maintain compliance with the Berkeley Green Code 

(BMC Chapter 19.37) including use of concrete mix design with a cement reduction of at least 
25%. Documentation on concrete mix design shall be available at all times at the construction 
site for review by City Staff. 

 
50. Transportation Construction Plan.   The applicant and all persons associated with the project are 

hereby notified that a Transportation Construction Plan (TCP) is required for all phases of 
construction, particularly for the following activities: 
• Alterations, closures, or blockages to sidewalks, pedestrian paths or vehicle travel lanes 

(including bicycle lanes); 
• Storage of building materials, dumpsters, debris anywhere in the public ROW; 
• Provision of exclusive contractor parking on-street; or  
• Significant truck activity. 

 
The applicant shall secure the City Traffic Engineer’s approval of a TCP.   Please contact the 
Office of Transportation at 981-7010, or 1947 Center Street, and ask to speak to a traffic 
engineer.   In addition to other requirements of the Traffic Engineer, this plan shall include the 
locations of material and equipment storage, trailers, worker parking, a schedule of site 
operations that may block traffic, and provisions for traffic control.   The TCP shall be consistent 
with any other requirements of the construction phase.    

 
Contact the Permit Service Center (PSC) at 1947 Center Street or 981-7500 for details on 
obtaining Construction/No Parking Permits (and associated signs and accompanying dashboard 
permits).   Please note that the Zoning Officer and/or Traffic Engineer may limit off-site parking 
of construction-related vehicles if necessary to protect the health, safety or convenience of the 

Page 112 of 263

Page 278

https://greenhalosystems.com/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Online_Service_Center/Planning/Waste%20Management%20Plan.pdf


   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 17 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

surrounding neighborhood.   A current copy of this Plan shall be available at all times at the 
construction site for review by City Staff. 

 
51. Avoid Disturbance of Nesting Birds. Initial site disturbance activities, including vegetation and 

concrete removal, shall be prohibited during the general avian nesting season (February 1 to 
August 30), if feasible. If nesting season avoidance is not feasible, the applicant shall retain a 
qualified biologist to conduct a preconstruction nesting bird survey to determine the 
presence/absence, location, and activity status of any active nests on or adjacent to the project 
site. The extent of the survey buffer area surrounding the site shall be established by the qualified 
biologist to ensure that direct and indirect effects to nesting birds are avoided. To avoid the 
destruction of active nests and to protect the reproductive success of birds protected by the 
MBTA and CFGC, nesting bird surveys shall be performed not more than 14 days prior to 
scheduled vegetation and concrete removal. In the event that active nests are discovered, a 
suitable buffer (typically a minimum buffer of 50 feet for passerines and a minimum buffer of 250 
feet for raptors) shall be established around such active nests and no construction shall be 
allowed inside the buffer areas until a qualified biologist has determined that the nest is no longer 
active (e.g., the nestlings have fledged and are no longer reliant on the nest). No ground-
disturbing activities shall occur within this buffer until the qualified biologist has confirmed that 
breeding/nesting is completed and the young have fledged the nest. Nesting bird surveys are 
not required for construction activities occurring between August 31 and January 31. 

 
52. Archaeological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). 

Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15064.5(f), “provisions for historical or unique 
archaeological resources accidentally discovered during construction” should be instituted. 
Therefore: 
A. In the event that any prehistoric or historic subsurface cultural resources are discovered 

during ground disturbing activities, all work within 50 feet of the resources shall be halted 
and the project applicant and/or lead agency shall consult with a qualified archaeologist, 
historian or paleontologist to assess the significance of the find. 

B. If any find is determined to be significant, representatives of the project proponent and/or 
lead agency and the qualified professional would meet to determine the appropriate 
avoidance measures or other appropriate measure, with the ultimate determination to be 
made by the City of Berkeley. All significant cultural materials recovered shall be subject to 
scientific analysis, professional museum curation, and/or a report prepared by the qualified 
professional according to current professional standards. 

C. In considering any suggested measure proposed by the qualified professional, the project 
applicant shall determine whether avoidance is necessary or feasible in light of factors such 
as the uniqueness of the find, project design, costs, and other considerations. 

D. If avoidance is unnecessary or infeasible, other appropriate measures (e.g., data recovery) 
shall be instituted. Work may proceed on other parts of the project site while mitigation 
measures for cultural resources is carried out. 

E. If significant materials are recovered, the qualified professional shall prepare a report on the 
findings for submittal to the Northwest Information Center. 

 
53. Human Remains (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). In the event 

that human skeletal remains are uncovered at the project site during ground-disturbing activities, 
all work shall immediately halt and the Alameda County Coroner shall be contacted to evaluate 
the remains, and following the procedures and protocols pursuant to Section 15064.5 (e)(1) of 

Page 113 of 263

Page 279



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 18 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

the CEQA Guidelines. If the County Coroner determines that the remains are Native American, 
the City shall contact the California Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC), pursuant to 
subdivision (c) of Section 7050.5 of the Health and Safety Code, and all excavation and site 
preparation activities shall cease within a 50-foot radius of the find until appropriate 
arrangements are made. If the agencies determine that avoidance is not feasible, then an 
alternative plan shall be prepared with specific steps and timeframe required to resume 
construction activities. Monitoring, data recovery, determination of significance and avoidance 
measures (if applicable) shall be completed expeditiously. 

 
54. Paleontological Resources (Ongoing throughout demolition, grading, and/or construction). In the 

event of an unanticipated discovery of a paleontological resource during construction, 
excavations within 50 feet of the find shall be temporarily halted or diverted until the discovery 
is examined by a qualified paleontologist (per Society of Vertebrate Paleontology standards 
[SVP 1995,1996]). The qualified paleontologist shall document the discovery as needed, 
evaluate the potential resource, and assess the significance of the find. The paleontologist shall 
notify the appropriate agencies to determine procedures that would be followed before 
construction is allowed to resume at the location of the find. If the City determines that avoidance 
is not feasible, the paleontologist shall prepare an excavation plan for mitigating the effect of the 
project on the qualities that make the resource important, and such plan shall be implemented. 
The plan shall be submitted to the City for review and approval. 

 
55. Halt Work/Unanticipated Discovery of Tribal Cultural Resources. In the event that cultural 

resources of Native American origin are identified during construction, all work within 50 feet of 
the discovery shall be redirected. The project applicant and project construction contractor shall 
notify the City Planning Department within 24 hours.   The City will again contact any tribes who 
have requested consultation under AB 52, as well as contact a qualified archaeologist, to 
evaluate the resources and situation and provide recommendations.   If it is determined that the 
resource is a tribal cultural resource and thus significant under CEQA, a mitigation plan shall be 
prepared and implemented in accordance with State guidelines and in consultation with Native 
American groups. If the resource cannot be avoided, additional measures to avoid or reduce 
impacts to the resource and to address tribal concerns may be required.  

 
56. Stormwater Requirements. The applicant shall demonstrate compliance with the requirements 

of the City’s National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit as described in 
BMC Section 17.20.   The following conditions apply: 
A. The project plans shall identify and show site-specific Best Management Practices (BMPs) 

appropriate to activities conducted on-site to limit to the maximum extent practicable the 
discharge of pollutants to the City's storm drainage system, regardless of season or weather 
conditions. 

B. Trash enclosures and/or recycling area(s) shall be covered; no other area shall drain onto 
this area.   Drains in any wash or process area shall not discharge to the storm drain system; 
these drains should connect to the sanitary sewer.   Applicant shall contact the City of 
Berkeley and EBMUD for specific connection and discharge requirements.   Discharges to 
the sanitary sewer are subject to the review, approval and conditions of the City of Berkeley 
and EBMUD. 

C. Landscaping shall be designed with efficient irrigation to reduce runoff, promote surface 
infiltration and minimize the use of fertilizers and pesticides that contribute to stormwater 
pollution.   Where feasible, landscaping should be designed and operated to treat runoff.   

Page 114 of 263

Page 280



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 19 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

When and where possible, xeriscape and drought tolerant plants shall be incorporated into 
new development plans. 

D. Design, location and maintenance requirements and schedules for any stormwater quality 
treatment structural controls shall be submitted to the Department of Public Works for review 
with respect to reasonable adequacy of the controls.   The review does not relieve the 
property owner of the responsibility for complying with BMC Chapter 17.20 and future 
revisions to the City's overall stormwater quality ordinances.   This review shall be shall be 
conducted prior to the issuance of a Building Permit. 

E. All paved outdoor storage areas must be designed to reduce/limit the potential for runoff to 
contact pollutants. 

F. All on-site storm drain inlets/catch basins must be cleaned at least once a year immediately 
prior to the rainy season.   The property owner shall be responsible for all costs associated 
with proper operation and maintenance of all storm drainage facilities (pipelines, inlets, catch 
basins, outlets, etc.) associated with the project, unless the City accepts such facilities by 
Council action.   Additional cleaning may be required by City of Berkeley Public Works 
Engineering Dept. 

G. All private or public projects that create and/or replace 10,000 square feet or more of 
impervious surface must comply with Provision C.3 of the Alameda County NPDES permit 
and must incorporate stormwater controls to enhance water quality. Permit submittals shall 
include a Stormwater Requirement Checklist and detailed information showing how the 
proposed project will meet Provision C.3 stormwater requirements, including a) Site design 
measures to reduce impervious surfaces, promote infiltration, and reduce water quality 
impacts; b) Source Control Measures to keep pollutants out of stormwater runoff; c) 
Stormwater treatment measures that are hydraulically sized to remove pollutants from 
stormwater; d) an O & M (Operations and Maintenance) agreement for all stormwater 
treatment devices and installations; and e) Engineering calculations for all stormwater 
devices (both mechanical and biological).  

H. All on-site storm drain inlets must be labeled “No Dumping – Drains to Bay” or equivalent 
using methods approved by the City. 

I. Most washing and/or steam cleaning must be done at an appropriately equipped facility that 
drains to the sanitary sewer.   Any outdoor washing or pressure washing must be managed 
in such a way that there is no discharge or soaps or other pollutants to the storm drain.   
Sanitary connections are subject to the review, approval and conditions of the sanitary 
district with jurisdiction for receiving the discharge.    

J. All loading areas must be designated to minimize “run-on” or runoff from the area. 
Accumulated waste water that may contribute to the pollution of stormwater must be drained 
to the sanitary sewer or intercepted and pretreated prior to discharge to the storm drain 
system.   The property owner shall ensure that BMPs are implemented to prevent potential 
stormwater pollution.   These BMPs shall include, but are not limited to, a regular program 
of sweeping, litter control and spill cleanup. 

K. Restaurants, where deemed appropriate, must be designed with a contained area for 
cleaning mats, equipment and containers.   This contained wash area shall be covered or 
designed to prevent run-on or run-off from the area.   The area shall not discharge to the 
storm drains; wash waters should drain to the sanitary sewer, or collected for ultimate 
disposal to the sanitary sewer.   Employees shall be instructed and signs posted indicating 
that all washing activities shall be conducted in this area.   Sanitary connections are subject 
to the review, approval and conditions of the waste water treatment plant receiving the 
discharge.  

Page 115 of 263

Page 281



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 20 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

L. Sidewalks and parking lots shall be swept regularly to prevent the accumulation of litter and 
debris.   If pressure washed, debris must be trapped and collected to prevent entry to the 
storm drain system.   If any cleaning agent or degreaser is used, wash water shall not 
discharge to the storm drains; wash waters should be collected and discharged to the 
sanitary sewer.   Discharges to the sanitary sewer are subject to the review, approval and 
conditions of the sanitary district with jurisdiction for receiving the discharge. 

M. The applicant is responsible for ensuring that all contractors and sub-contractors are aware 
of and implement all stormwater quality control measures.   Failure to comply with the 
approved construction BMPs shall result in the issuance of correction notices, citations, or 
a project stop work order. 

 
57. Public Works.   All piles of debris, soil, sand, or other loose materials shall be covered at night 

and during rainy weather with plastic at least one-eighth millimeter thick and secured to the 
ground. 

 
58. Public Works.   The applicant shall ensure that all excavation takes into account surface and 

subsurface waters and underground streams so as not to adversely affect adjacent properties 
and rights-of-way. 

 
59. Public Works.   The project sponsor shall maintain sandbags or other devices around the site 

perimeter during the rainy season to prevent on-site soils from being washed off-site and into 
the storm drain system.   The project sponsor shall comply with all City ordinances regarding 
construction and grading. 

 
60. Public Works.   Prior to any excavation, grading, clearing, or other activities involving soil 

disturbance during the rainy season the applicant shall obtain approval of an erosion prevention 
plan by the Building and Safety Division and the Public Works Department.   The applicant shall 
be responsible for following these and any other measures required by the Building and Safety 
Division and the Public Works Department. 

 
61. Public Works.   The removal or obstruction of any fire hydrant shall require the submission of a 

plan to the City’s Public Works Department for the relocation of the fire hydrant during 
construction.  

 
62. Public Works.   If underground utilities leading to adjacent properties are uncovered and/or 

broken, the contractor involved shall immediately notify the Public Works Department and the 
Building & Safety Division, and carry out any necessary corrective action to their satisfaction. 

 
Prior to Final Inspection or Issuance of Occupancy Permit: 
63. Compliance with Conditions.   The project shall conform to the plans and statements in the Use 

Permit. The developer is responsible for providing sufficient evidence to demonstrate 
compliance with the requirements throughout the implementation of this Use Permit.    
 

64. Compliance with Approved Plan.   The project shall conform to the plans and statements in the 
Use Permit.   All landscape, site and architectural improvements shall be completed per the 
attached approved drawings dated May 3, 2023, except as modified by conditions of approval. 

 

Page 116 of 263

Page 282



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 21 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

65. Number of Below Market Rate Units. Should the Applicant elect to provide BMR units prior to 
receiving a building permit for the Project, they are entitled to eliminate or receive a proportional 
reduction in the AHMF consistent with BMC Section 22.20.065. The BMR Units shall be 
designated in the Regulatory Agreement; comply with the City’s BMR administrative guidelines; 
shall be reasonably dispersed throughout the project; be of the same size and contain, on 
average, the same number of bedrooms as the non-BMR units in the project; and be comparable 
with the design or use of non-BMR units in terms of appearance, materials and finish quality. 
The designation of BMR Units shall conform to the addresses assigned to the building by the 
City. Any additional BMR units the applicant may choose to provide must also conform with 
these conditions. 

 
66. Transportation-Crosswalk. Project shall restripe north and south crosswalks at 

University/California with white continental crosswalk striping, per Caltrans standard 
 

67. Transportation – Bulb Out. Project shall establish a SW corner concrete sidewalk bulb out at 
University/California extending onto the University roadway, with bidirectional curb ramps. 
Existing conflicting right turn pocket striping to be removed by the Project. 

 
68. Transportation Demand Management. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the 

property owner shall facilitate a site inspection by Planning Department staff to confirm that the 
physical improvements required in Section 23.334.030(C) and 23.322.090 (bike parking) have 
been installed. The property owner shall also provide documentation that the programmatic 
measures required in 23.334.030(A) and 23.334.030(B) will be implemented. 
A. Consistent with Section 23.334.030(A), all parking spaces provided for residents be leased or 

sold separate from the rental or purchase of dwelling units for the life of the dwelling units, such 
that potential renters or buyers shall have the option of renting or buying a dwelling unit at a 
price lower than would be the case if there were a single price for both the dwelling unit and 
the parking space(s). 

B. Consistent with Section 23.334.030(B), at least one of the following transit benefits shall be 
offered, at no cost to the resident, for a period of ten years after the issuance of a Certificate 
of Occupancy. A notice describing these transportation benefits shall be posted in a location 
or locations visible to all employees. 

1. One monthly pass for unlimited local bus transit service for every bedroom in each 
dwelling unit. 

2. Subject to the review and approval of the Zoning Officer in consultation with the 
Transportation Division Manager, a functionally equivalent transit benefit in an 
amount at least equal to the price of a non-discounted unlimited monthly local bus 
pass.  

C. Consistent with Section 23.334.030(C), publicly-available, real-time transportation information 
in a common area, such as a lobby or elevator bay, on televisions, computer monitors or other 
displays readily visible to residents and/or visitors, shall be provided. Transportation 
information shall include, but is not limited to, transit arrivals and departures for nearby transit 
routes. 
 

D. Property owners may be required to pay administrative fees associated with compliance with 
this Condition. 

 
 

Page 117 of 263

Page 283



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 22 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

At All Times: 
69. Tree Protection – Inspections.  Inspections by the City’s consulting arborist may be conducted 

throughout demolition and construction to ensure compliance with tree protection measures.   
 

70. Transportation Demand Management Compliance. The property owner shall submit to the 
Planning Department periodic TDM Compliance Reports in accordance with Administrative 
Regulations, subject to the review and oversight of the Zoning Officer. Property owners may be 
required to pay administrative fees associated with compliance with this Condition, pursuant to 
BMC Section 23.334.040(B). 
 

71. Exterior Lighting. All exterior lighting shall be energy efficient where feasible; and shielded and 
directed downward and away from property lines to prevent excessive glare beyond the subject 
property. 

 
72. Rooftop Projections.   No additional rooftop or elevator equipment shall be added to exceed the 

approved maximum roof height without submission of an application for a Use Permit 
Modification, subject to Board review and approval. 

 
73. Design Review. Signage and any other exterior modifications, including but not limited to 

landscaping and lighting, shall be subject to Design Review approval. 
 
74. Drainage Patterns. The applicant shall establish and maintain drainage patterns that do not 

adversely affect adjacent properties and rights-of-way.   Drainage plans shall be submitted for 
approval of the Building & Safety Division and Public Works Department, if required. 

 
75. Electrical Meter. Only one electrical meter fixture may be installed per dwelling unit. 
 
76. Loading.   All loading/unloading activities associated with deliveries to all uses shall be restricted 

to the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. daily. 
 
77. Residential Permit Parking. No Residential Permit Parking (RPP) permits shall be issued to 

project residents, nor shall commercial placards be issued to non-residential occupants and/or 
users of the site. The project planner shall notify the Finance Department, Customer Service 
Center, to add these addresses to the list of addresses ineligible for RPP permits. The property 
owner shall notify all tenants of rental units, and/or buyers of condominium units, of this 
restriction in leases and/or contracts, and shall provide sample leases and/or contracts including 
such notification to the project planner prior to issuance of an occupancy permit or final 
inspection. 

 
78. Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. Required Level 2 charging stations and low power Level 2 EV 

charging receptacles, as specified by the Berkeley Green Code (BMC Chapter 19.37) shall be 
maintained in good working condition and made available for building resident use. 

 
79. Nonresidential Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging. Required Level 2 charging stations and DC Fast 

Charge stations, as specified by the Berkeley Green Code (BMC Chapter 19.37) shall be 
maintained in good working condition and made available for building occupant and/or visitor 
use. 

Page 118 of 263

Page 284



   
    

1598 UNIVERSITY- USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099 FINDINGS & CONDITIONS 
May 11, 2023 Page 23 of 23 
 

File:  G:\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\ZAB\2023-05-11_ATT1 Revised_FC_1598 University.docx 

 
80. Tenant Notification. The developer shall provide tenant notification, via a lease rider or deed 

covenant, that each dwelling unit is located in a mixed-use area that includes commercial, food 
service and entertainment uses, and that each occupant shall not seek to impede their lawful 
operation.  

 
81. Transportation Demand Management. A Transportation Demand Management compliance 

report shall be submitted to the Transportation Division Manager, on a form acceptable to the 
City, prior to occupancy, and on an annual basis thereafter, which demonstrates that the project 
is in compliance with the applicable requirements. 

A. The food service operation, if qualifying for participation in the Alameda County Guaranteed 
Ride Home program (or successor program), shall participate in the “Guarantee Ride Home” 
program to reduce employee single occupant vehicle trips by providing alternate means of 
leaving work in an emergency.   Enrollment shall be encouraged by providing Guarantee Ride 
Home information to all employees.   An affidavit/statement indicating number of participating 
employees shall be provided annually to the Transportation Division Manager 

 
82. Transit Subsidy Condition. If 10 or more employees, the business operator shall reimburse 

employees the maximum non-taxable cost of commuting to and from work on public 
transportation (e.g., monthly passes) if they so commute, and a notice informing employees of 
the availability of such subsidy shall be permanently displayed in the employee area as per BMC 
Chapter 9.88. 
 

 
 
 

Page 119 of 263

Page 285



UNIVERSITY
AVE.

C
ALIFO

R
N

IA

ADDISON

SAC
R

AM
EN

TO

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY

N

GENERAL
INFORMATION

A0.0

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
N.T.S.

PROJECT DIRECTORYVICINITY MAP
OWNER/APPLICANT:
1598 University Avenue, LLC
NX VENTURES
1958A University Ave
Berkeley, CA 94704

PROJECT ADDRESS:  1598 University Ave. Berkeley, CA 94703
(APN: 056 200300100) (056 200302500) (056 200302401)

SCOPE OF WORK:
REMOVAL OF TWO EXISTING 1 STORY COMMERCIAL STRUCTURES & CONSTRUCTION
OF A NEW 8-STORY MIXED-USE  BUILDING WITH 207 DWELLING UNITS, GROUND LEVEL
LOBBIES, COMMERCIAL SPACE, AND PARKING GARAGE WITH STATE OF CALIFORNIA
DENSITY BONUS.

DRAWING LIST
A0.0 GENERAL INFORMATION

FLOOR PLANA2.1

A2.2

A3.1 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A3.2 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A3.3

A0.1

FLOOR PLAN

BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A3.4 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

A3.6 PHOTO CONTEXT VIEWS

ARCHITECT:
David Trachtenberg, Principal
TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS
2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, CA 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

A2.3

A2.4

ZONING INFORMATION & DIAGRAMS

A0.5 SITE CONTEXT PHOTOS

A0.6 VICINITY MAP

A3.5 STREETSCAPE ELEVATIONS

A0.4A SHADOW STUDIES A3.7 PHOTO CONTEXT VIEWS

DENSITY BONUS DIAGRAMSA0.3A

A0.4B SHADOW STUDIES

A0.4C SHADOW STUDIES

A4.1 BUILDING SECTION

A2.5

ROOF PLAN

A3.8 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

A3.9 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

SURVEYA1.1

SURVEYA1.2

A2.6

A3.10 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

MAT MATERIAL BOARD

L1.0 COURTYARD LANDSCAPE CONCEPT PLAN&SITE FEATURES

L2.1 COURTYARD LANDSCAPE PLAN

L2.0 LANDSCAPE SITE PLAN

L3.0 COURTYARD SITE IMPROVEMENT IMAGERY

L3.1 COURTYARD PLANTING IMAGERY

I1.0 IRRIGATION PLAN

I2.0 IRRIGATION NOTES, LEGEND, SCHEDULES, CALCS.

I2.1 IRRIGATION DETAILS

I2.2 IRRIGATION DETAILS

FLOOR PLAN

FLOOR PLAN
FLOOR PLAN

A3.11 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

A3.12 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

A3.13 CONCEPTUAL RENDERING

LANDSCAPE SHEETS

A4.2 BUILDING SECTION

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 1 of 44

Page 120 of 263

Page 286

MJacob
BG Sign



PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

94
'-5

"
7'

-5
"

61'-10"

23'-8"

25
'-1

"

59
4 

SF

0"

GROUND
LEVEL

GARDEN
6,273 SF

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL

24
 R

AC
KS

 T
O

TA
L

FRAME

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 CY
BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

96 gal
96 gal

23'-8"

25'-1"

594 SF

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

12
'-8

"

30'-0" 30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

FR
AM

E

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL

24
 R

AC
KS

 T
O

TA
L

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

12
'-8

"

30'-0" 30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

12
'-8

"

30'-0" 30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

04.27.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ZONING DATA

A0.1

ZONING CODE DATA

GROUND LEVEL

OPEN SPACE DIAGRAMS

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY

N.T.S.

N

ZONING MAP

REFUSE AND RECYCLING

LEVEL 7

BIKE ROOM

LEVEL 8

92 BIKE RACKS TOTAL

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

94
'-5

"
7'

-5
"

61'-10"

23'-8"

25
'-1

"

59
4 

SF

0"

GROUND
LEVEL

GARDEN
6,273 SF

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL

24
 R

AC
KS

 T
O

TA
L

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

12
'-8

"

30'-0" 30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

FR
AM

E

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL

24
 R

AC
KS

 T
O

TA
L

30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

12
'-8

"

30'-0"

30'-0"

12
'-8

"

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

30'-0"

12
'-8

"PRIVATE PATIO
200 SF

GROUND LEVEL

OPEN SPACE DIAGRAMS

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY

N.T.S.

N

ZONING MAP

LEVEL 7

BIKE ROOM

LEVEL 8

92 BIKE RACKS TOTAL

15937
571
3.6%

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

94
'-5

"
7'

-5
"

61'-10"

23'-8"

25
'-1

"

59
4 

SF

0"

GROUND
LEVEL

GARDEN
9,165 SF

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

8 RACKS

10 RACKS

68 RACKS TOTAL

24
 R

AC
KS

 T
O

TA
L

82'-0" 63'-1"

10
2'

-0
"

12
'-3

"

10'-4"

GROUND LEVEL

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 2 of 44

Page 121 of 263

Page 287



8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8' x 18'
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)

8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8' x 18'
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)
8' x 18'

8' x 18'
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)

8' x 18'
8'-6" x 18'

(COL)

UNEXCAVATED AREA

8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8'-6" x 18'
(COL)

8' x 18'

8' x 18'

PARKING
19 SPACES

GARAGE
ENTRY

#1

#2

#3

#4

#5

#6

#7

#8

#13

#14

#15

#16

#17

#18

#10

#11

#12

#198' x 18'

#9

TRASH
BIKE RM

BACK
OF

HOUSE
OFFICE

(52)

8 
RA

CK
S

8 
RA

CK
S

10
 R

AC
KS

8 
RA

CK
S

8 
RA

CK
S

10
 R

AC
KS

2 yd. trash
2 yd. trash

2 yd. trash

2 yd. trash

2 yd. trash

96
gal

96
gal

13
'-9

"
10

%
 M

IN
.

20
'-0

" A
VG

.

2'-
0"

 A
VG

. A
T

GR
OU

ND
LE

VE
L

2'-0"

5'-0"

RETAIL
4,952SF

TOTAL COMMERCIAL AREA =
4925+972+797+500+1485 =
8,709SF (30% LOT AREA)

96'

10% OF OPEN SPACE TO ENHANCE
PROJECT ENTRY AT UNIVERSITY AVE

GARAGE
ENTRY

6,536 SF OF OPEN
SPACE AT GROUND

LEVEL, SHOWN
GREEN DASHED

1

2

3

4

5
8

9

10

11

12

13
14

67

15

LOBBY

RESIDENTIAL
AMENITIES

MEP

PUBLIC PLAZA AREA, 1% LOT
AREA, 289 SF TOTAL, 6' MIN.

RETAIL
797SF

RETAIL
972SF

34'

TOTAL COMMERCIAL FRONTAGE ON
UNIVERSITY = 28'+34'+96'=158' (75%)

6'-
0"

RETAIL MEZZANINE
1,485SF

RETAIL MEZZANINE
500SF

RESIDENTIAL
MEZZANINE

1,247SF

210'-0"

28'

NO SETBACK REQUIRED AT
UPPER LEVELS

1

2

3

4

5
8

9

10

11

12

13 14 28

30

31

32

33

34

41

40

39

38

37

13
'-9

"
10

%
 M

IN
.

20
'-0

" A
VG

.

2'-
0"

 A
VG

. A
T

GR
OU

ND
LE

VE
L

2'-0"

5'-0"

6
7 3536

15 16 17 18 19 252423222120 26 27 29

1

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

" PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

6,273 SF OF OPEN
SPACE AT GROUND

LEVEL

#1

#2
#3,4

#5,6,7

#8,9,10

#11,12,13

#14,15,16

#17,18,19

#20,21,22

#23,24,25

#26,27,28

#29,30,31

#32,33,34

#35,36,37

#38,39

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

GRADE AT UNIVERSITY
SIDEWALK

13
'-4

" CALIFORNIA

74
'-8

" (
BE

LO
W

 H
IG

H-
RI

SE
)

CLUB
ROOM

10
'-8

"

PL

PL

RETAIL

MEZZ.

STAIRS

10
'-4

"

89
'-2

" A
VG

. G
RA

DE
 T

O
 P

AR
AP

ET

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

" 3'-
6"

23
'-8

"

8'-
6"

8'-
6"

GRADE AT UNIVERSITY
SIDEWALK

<
5'-

6"

9'-
8"

VA
RI

ES

48
'-0

" A
VG

. G
RA

DE
TO

 P
AR

AP
ET

9'-
8"

9'-
8"

BASEMENT PARKING

ELEVATOR
OVERRUN

STAIRS STAIRS

COMMERCIAL CALIFORNIA15
'-9

"MEZZ.MEZZ.

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

BASE PROJECT

DENSITY BONUS
DIAGRAMS

A0.3A

PLAN AT GROUND / MEZZANINE

PLAN AT LEVELS 2-4

PROPOSED DENSITY BONUS PROJECT

PLAN AT GROUND

PLAN AT LEVEL 2

PLAN AT LEVELS 3-6

PLAN AT LEVEL 7

PLAN AT BASEMENT PARKING

PLAN AT LEVEL 8

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

04.27.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PLAN AT LEVEL 7PLAN AT LEVEL 8

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 3 of 44

Page 122 of 263

Page 288



CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

ADDISON ST

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

BERKELEY WAY

ADDISON ST

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

UNIVERSITY AVE

CALIF
ORNIA S

T

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1551
COMMERCIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

RESIDENTIAL

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

ADDISON ST

NEW SHADOWS CAST ON

EXISTING RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

RESIDENTIAL

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

ADDISON ST

NEW SHADOWS CAST ON

EXISTING RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

ADDISON ST

COMMERCIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

N
EW

 SH
A

D
O

W
S C

A
ST O

N

EXISTIN
G

 R
ESID

EN
TIA

L

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

NEW SHADOWS CAST ON

EXISTING RESIDENTIAL

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

N

SHADOW STUDIES
DECEMBER 21ST

A0.4A

WINTER SOLSTICE
DEC 21ST: 
2-HRS BEFORE SUNSET (PM)

WINTER SOLSTICE
DEC 21ST: 
NOON

WINTER SOLSTICE
DEC 21ST: 
2-HRS AFTER SUNRISE (AM)

3 SHADOW STUDY - NOON

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

5 SHADOW STUDY - PM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

1 SHADOW STUDY - AM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

2 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - AM

N.T.S.

4 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - NOON

NT.S.

6 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - PM

N.T.S.

N

N

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 4 of 44

Page 123 of 263

Page 289



CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

ADDISON ST

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1512
COMMERCIAL

1516
COMMERCIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

UNIVERSITY AVE

CALIF
ORNIA S

T

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

ADDISON ST

N
E

W
 S

H
A

D
O

W
S

 C
A

S
T O

N

E
XIS

TIN
G

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

TIA
L

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

NEW SHADOWS

CAST ON

EXISTING

RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

Xref 1721 - Titleblock 24 x36.dwg

N

SHADOW STUDIES
JUNE 21ST

A0.4B

SUMMER SOLSTICE
JUN 21ST: 
2-HRS BEFORE SUNSET (PM)

SUMMER SOLSTICE
JUN 21ST: 
NOON

SUMMER SOLSTICE 
JUN 21ST: 
2-HRS AFTER SUNRISE (AM)

3 SHADOW STUDY - NOON

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

5 SHADOW STUDY - PM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

1 SHADOW STUDY - AM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

2 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - AM

N.T.S.

4 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - NOON

NT.S.

6 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - PM

N.T.S.

N

N

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 5 of 44

Page 124 of 263

Page 290



2091 RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

ADDISON ST

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

CALIFORNIA ST

UNIVERSITY AVE

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1512
COMMERCIAL

1516
COMMERCIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG

UNIVERSITY AVE

CALIF
ORNIA S

T

BERKELEY WAY

SACRAMENTO ST

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

RESIDENTIAL

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

N
E

W
 S

H
A

D
O

W
S

 C
A

S
T O

N

E
XIS

TIN
G

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

TIA
L

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

NEW SHADOWS

CAST ON

EXISTING

RESIDENTIAL

1598
PROPOSED

BLDG1530
RESIDENTIAL

1632
RESIDENTIAL

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
 S

T

SA
C

R
AM

EN
TO

 S
T

UNIVERSITY AVE

1528
RESIDENTIAL1516

COMMERCIAL

1512
COMMERCIAL

1500
RESIDENTIAL

1600
COMMERCIAL

2091 RESIDENTIAL

1609
RESIDENTIAL

1632
COMMERCIAL

1623
COMMERCIAL

1619
COMMERCIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1611
COMMERCIAL

1601
COMMERCIAL

1597
RESIDENTIAL

1587
RESIDENTIAL

1581
COMMERCIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1542
RESIDENTIAL

2020
RESIDENTIAL

2022
RESIDENTIAL

2026
RESIDENTIAL

1545
RESIDENTIAL

1543
RESIDENTIAL

1537
RESIDENTIAL

1535
RESIDENTIAL

1531
RESIDENTIAL

1529
RESIDENTIAL1525

RESIDENTIAL
1523

RESIDENTIAL

1519
RESIDENTIAL

1515
RESIDENTIAL

1517
RESIDENTIAL

1501
RESIDENTIAL

1511
1507
1509

1551
COMMERCIAL

1534
RESIDENTIAL

1530
RESIDENTIAL

1528
RESIDENTIAL1524

RESIDENTIAL
1520

RESIDENTIAL1516
RESIDENTIAL1510

RESIDENTIAL
1951

RESIDENTIAL

1501
COMMERCIAL

1611
RESIDENTIAL

1617
RESIDENTIAL

1621
RESIDENTIAL

2060
RESIDENTIAL

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

LIGHTER TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM PROPOSED BUILDING

DARK TONE GREY INDICATES SHADOWS
FROM EXISTING BUILDINGS

ALL RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS BEING
SHADOWED SHOWN IN THESE DIAGRAMS

NEW SHADOW AT RESIDENTIAL BUILDING

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

N

SHADOW STUDIES
MAY 11TH

A0.4C

CURRENT
MAY 11TH:
2-HRS BEFORE SUNSET (PM)

CURRENT

NOON

CURRENT

2-HRS AFTER SUNRISE (AM)

3 SHADOW STUDY - NOON

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

5 SHADOW STUDY - PM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

1 SHADOW STUDY - AM

1:160 @ 11X17     1:80 @ 24X36

2 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - AM

N.T.S.

4 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - NOON

NT.S.

6 SHADOW STUDY AXONOMETRIC - PM

N.T.S.

N

N

MAY 11TH:

MAY 11TH:

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 6 of 44

Page 125 of 263

Page 291



SITE CONTEXT
PHOTOS

A0.5
1
-

GOOGLE EARTH BIRD'S EYE CONTEXT VIEW3
-

VIEW FROM UNIVERSITY AVE. LOOKING WEST

4
-

VIEW FROM CALIFORNIA LOOKING SOUTH 2
-

VIEW FROM UNIVERSITY AVE. LOOKING EAST

1752 SHATTUCK
PROJECT SITE

2091 CALIFORNIA
(4-STORY

MULTIFAMILY)
1598 UNIVERSITY

PROJECT SITE
1516 UNIVERSITY
(COMMERCIAL)

1530 UNIVERSITY
(2-STORY MULTIFAMILY)

1597 CALIFORNIA
(3-STORY MULTIFAMILY,

MIXED-USE)

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY AVE

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

THREE STONE HEARTH
KITCHEN

(COMMERCIAL)

OUT OF THE
CLOSET

(COMMERCIAL)
2020 CALIFORNIA

(SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL)

BodyROK
PILATES STUDIO
(COMMERCIAL)

1630 UNIVERSITY
(3-STORY MULTIFAMILY,

MIXED USE)
SUPER 8 MOTEL
(RESIDENTIAL)

SPUN SUGAR
BAKERY

(COMMERCIAL)

1617 UNIVERSITY
(2-STORY

RESIDENTIAL)

1598
UNIVERSITY

PROJECT SITE

OUT OF THE
CLOSET

(COMMERCIAL)

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 7 of 44

Page 126 of 263

Page 292



1598
1556

1548
1530

1528
1516

1512

1500

1501

1535

1551
1581

1587

1597

1587

1528
1524

1520
1516

1510
1951

2026
1543-1545

1537
1535

1531
1529

1525
1523

1519
1515-1517

1501-2075
1507-1511

2026

2022

2020

1598

1600

2009

2015

2091

1597

1542
1929

1601

1601
1611

1617

1619

1499

1498
1486

1632

1600

1591

1535

1501

1500

1507-
1511

2101

2105

2107

2105-
2107

2115

1522

1606-
2166

2100

2106

2108

2110

2112

1606-
2166

1498

2020

2030

1473

1498

1518

2104

2106

2108

1920

1499

1912

1910

1470

1498

2101
1516

1518

1522
1526

1530
1534

1542
2100

2091
1609

1611

1473

1435

1920

1912

PROJECT SITE
1598 UNIVERSITY

UNIVERSITY AVE

C
A

LIFO
R

N
IA

 S
T

C
A

LIFO
R

N
IA

 S
TS

A
C

R
A

M
E

N
TO

 S
T

ADDISON ST

S
P

A
U

LD
IN

G
 A

VE

ADDISON ST

2-STORY
COMM.

3-STORY
MULTIFAMILY

2-STORY
COMM.

4-STORY
MULTIFAMILY

2-STORY
MULTIFAM.

2-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
2-STORY

RES.

1-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM.

2-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.2-STORY

RES.2-STORY
RES.2-STORY

RES.2-STORY
RES.2-STORY

RES.2-STORY
RES.2-STORY

MULTIFAM2-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
COMMERCIAL

2-STORY
COMMERCIAL

1-STORY
COMM.

1-STORY
COMM.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM.

5-STORY
MULTIFAMILY

1-STORY
COMMERCIAL

1-STORY
COMM.

2-STORY
COMM.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

3-STORY
MULTIFAM.

1-STORY
COMM.

1-STORY
COMM.

2-STORY
COMMERCIAL2-STORY

MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

1-STORY
MULTIFAMILY1-STORY

RES.2-STORY
RES.2-STORY

RES.

2-STORY
RES.1-STORY

RES.1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
COMMERCIAL

2-STORY
MULTIFAM.2-STORY

RES.
1-STORY

RES.1-STORY
RES.1-STORY

RES.

2-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
RES.

2-STORY
RES.

2-STORY

3-STORY
MULTIFAM.

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

3-STORY
MULTIFAM

3-STORY
MULTIFAM

1-STORY
RES.

1-STORY
RES.

4-STORY
MULTIFAMILY

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
RESIDENTIAL

2-STORY
RESIDENTIAL

PARKING
LOT

PARKING
LOT

PARKING
LOT

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

2-STORY
MULTIFAM

1-STORY
RES.

VICINITY MAP

A0.6
1
-

VICINITY MAP
NTS

N

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 8 of 44

Page 127 of 263

Page 293



SURVEY

A1.1

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 9 of 44

Page 128 of 263

Page 294



SURVEY

A1.2

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 10 of 44

Page 129 of 263

Page 295



R-2
(RESIDENTIAL USE)

1556 SAN PABLO
EXISTING PARKING LOT

1598 UNIVERSITY
EXISTING COMMERCIAL

USE

EXISTING BUILDINGS TO
BE DEMOLISHED,
SHOWN DASHED

3 PARCELS TO BE
MERGED INTO A SINGLE

LOT, SHOWN RED

R-2
(RESIDENTIAL USE)

EXISTING BUILDINGS TO
BE DEMOLISHED,
SHOWN DASHED

1550 UNIVERSITY
EXISTING COMMERCIAL

USE

C-W
(RESIDENTIAL USE
IN COMMERCIAL

DISTRICT)

C-W
(RESIDENTIAL USE
IN COMMERCIAL

DISTRICT)

R-2
(RESIDENTIAL USE)

UNIVERSITY AVE

CA
LI

FO
RN

IA
 S

T

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION RESUBMITTAL

EXISTING
SITE PLAN

A2.0N

1
-

EXISTING SITE PLAN
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 11 of 44

Page 130 of 263

Page 296



UNIVERSITY

CA
LI

FO
RN

IA

ON-SITE PUBLIC PLAZA
AREA, 1% LOT AREA,
661 SF TOTAL, 6' MIN.

TRASH
PA

RK
LI

FT
8'-

10
 3

/8
"

X 
18

'-3
" PARKLIFT

8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"

X 18'-3"

PARKING
39 SPACES

(37 TRIPLE-LIFTS
AND 2 ADA SPACES)

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

CLUB
ROOM

FITNESS

MEP

AT-GRADE
GARDEN

OPEN SPACE
6,273 SF

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"
COMMERCIAL
5,728 TOTAL SF

(4,721 SF AT GROUND + 1,007 AT
MEZZANINES)

ELEC

LOBBY

+3

+6.5

+4 +5

+0.5

+3

+3

+5.5

WC

LEASING

750 SQ FT.
FLOW THROUGH

PLANTERS (4% OF ROOF
AREA), LOCATION T.B.D.

SIDE GARDEN

SIDE GARDEN

STAIR B

STAIR A

+0' +1' +6'

+8'

+3'

+3

COMMERCIAL
POTENTIAL SUITE

COMMERCIAL
POTENTIAL SUITE

COMMERCIAL
POTENTIAL SUITE

COMMERCIAL
POTENTIAL SUITE

10'-7"

18'-0" (N) CURB CUT 45'-0" (N) LOADING ZONE

45
'-0

" (
N)

 L
O

AD
IN

G
 Z

O
NE

49
'-3

"

STREET TREE LOCATIONS TO BE DETERMINED BY
SURVEY. CITY FORESTER AND PROJECT LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT TO DETERMINE TREES TO REMAIN/REPLACE

74'-0"

BIKE
RM 2
(24)

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
90

'-2
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

12
'-4

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
90

'-2
"

12
'-4

"

13
7'-

10
"

20'-0"
2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

BIKE
RM 1
(68)

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

17'-6"

+7

(8) BIKE RACKS

22'-2" 18'-8" 21'-0"

18'-2"

+7

8'-2"

10'-1"

13'-3"

3'-3"

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

04.27.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

GROUND LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

A2.1N

1
-

GROUND LEVEL PLAN
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

5,943
(4,936

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 12 of 44

Page 131 of 263

Page 297



MAINT.

PUMP

OPEN TO
BELOW

GEN.

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

OPEN TO
BELOW

STAIR B

MEZZANINE MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEZZANINE

MEP/
STORAGE

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

#01#02#03#04#05

#06

#07

#08

#09

#10

#11 #12

#13

#14

#15

#16

UNIVERSITY

CA
LI

FO
RN

IA

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
90

'-2
"

65'-6"90'-1"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

12
'-4

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

40'-10"

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

04.27.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

LEVEL 2 
FLOOR PLAN

A2.2N

1
-

PLAN AT LEVEL 2
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 13 of 44

Page 132 of 263

Page 298



DOUBLE-HEIGHT
LOUNGE

(EVERY OTHER
FLOOR)

LOUNGE
DECK

MEP/

STORAGE

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-7
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

#33, 66, 99, 132 #34, 67, 100, 133 #35, 68, 101, 134 #36, 69, 102, 135 #37, 70, 103, 136 #38, 71, 104, 137#17, 50, 83, 116#18, 51, 84, 117#19, 52, 85, 118#20, 53, 86, 119#21, 54, 87, 120

#22, 55, 88, 121

#23, 56, 89, 122

#24, 57, 90, 123

#25, 58, 91, 124

#26, 59, 92, 125

#27, 60, 93, 126 #28, 61, 94, 127

#29, 62, 95, 128

#30, 63, 96, 129

#31, 64, 97, 130

#39, 72, 105, 138

#40, 73, 106, 139

#41, 74, 107, 140

#42, 75, 108, 141

#43, 76, 109, 142 #44, 77, 110, 143

#45, 78, 111, 144

#46, 79, 112, 145

#47, 80, 113, 146

#48, 81, 114, 147

#49, 82, 115, 148
#32, 65, 98, 131

LEVELS 3-6
FLOOR PLANS

A2.3N

1
-

PLAN AT LEVELS 3-6
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 14 of 44

Page 133 of 263

Page 299



DOUBLE-HEIGHT
LOUNGE

(EVERY OTHER
FLOOR)

STAIR B

LOUNGE
DECK

PRIVATE PATIO

25
'-0

"

2-BR

2-BR

2-BR

2-BR

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-7
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

MEP/

STORAGE

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

STAIR A

#163

#164 #165 #166 #167 #168#150#151#152#153

#154

#155

#156

#157

#158

#160

#149 #169

#170

#171

#172

#173

#174

#175

#176

#177

#178

#179

#161

#162

#159
2-BR

PRIVATE PATIO

2-BR2-BR

LEVEL 7
FLOOR PLANS

A2.4N

1
-

PLAN AT LEVEL 7
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 15 of 44

Page 134 of 263

Page 300



OPEN TO BELOW

LOUNGE
BELOW

PRIVATE PATIO

STAIR B

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-7
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

STAIR B

STAIR A

2-BR
2-BR

MEP/

STORAGE

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FR
AM

E

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME

FRAME2-BR

#192

#193 #194 #195 #196 #197#181#182#183#184

#185

#186

#187

#188

#189

#180 #198

#199

#200

#201

#204

#205

#206

#207

#203

#191

#190 #202

OPEN TO BELOW

PRIVATE PATIO

2-BR2-BR

PRIVATE PATIO PRIVATE PATIO

PLAN AT
LEVEL 8

A2.5N

1
-

PLAN AT LEVEL 8
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 16 of 44

Page 135 of 263

Page 301



UNOCCUPIED ROOF DECK
W/ 15% SOLAR READY AREA

ELEVATOR
OVERRUN

152SF

OPEN TO BELOW

OPEN TO BELOW

1
A4.1

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-7
"

90'-11"16'-0"89'-7"

17'-7"

30'-0"

61'-2"

4'-6" 30'-0" 30'-0"4'-6"30'-0"

10
1'-

10
"

8'-2"5'-5"

210'-0"

64'-6" 64'-6"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

210'-0"

30
'-0

"
5'-

3"
89

'-6
"

13
'-0

"

13
7'-

10
"

4'-1"2'-2"

2
A4.2

2'-4"

6'-0"

OPEN TO BELOW

STAIR
BULKHEAD

223SF

STAIR
BULKHEAD

196 SF

OPEN TO BELOW

OPEN TO BELOWOPEN TO BELOW

ROOF PLAN

A2.6N

1
-

PLAN AT ROOF
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11x17 3/32"=1'-0" @ 24x36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 17 of 44

Page 136 of 263

Page 302



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

VA
RI

ES

LEVEL 8

BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS

A3.1
1
-

EAST ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

METAL INFILL
PANEL

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

(UNIVERSITY AVE.)

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 18 of 44

Page 137 of 263

Page 303



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
VA

RI
ES

LEVEL 8

10
'-4

"

BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS

A3.2
1
-

NORTH ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36 80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

METAL INFILL
PANEL

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

(CALIFORNIA ST.)

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 19 of 44

Page 138 of 263

Page 304



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

VA
RI

ES

LEVEL 8

BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS

A3.3
1
-

WEST  ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

METAL INFILL
PANEL

80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

(UNIVERSITY AVE.)

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 20 of 44

Page 139 of 263

Page 305



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
VA

RI
ES

LEVEL 8

10
'-4

"

BUILDING 
ELEVATIONS

A3.4
1
-

SOUTH ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

METAL INFILL
PANEL

80 4 16

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 21 of 44

Page 140 of 263

Page 306



STREET STRIP
ELEVATIONS

A3.5

2
-

STREET STRIP ELEVATION @ UNIVERSITY AVE
1/32"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/16" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

1
-

STREET STRIP ELEVATION @ CALIFORNIA ST
1/32"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/16" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

0 4 8 16 32

0 4 8 16 32

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

2026 CALIFORNIA 2022 CALIFORNIA 2020 CALIFORNIA
1598 UNIVERSITY

(UNIVERSITY AVE.)

1597 UNIVERSITY

1600 UNIVERSITY

(CALIFORNIA ST.)

1598 UNIVERSITY
1548 UNIVERSITY 1530 UNIVERSITY

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 22 of 44

Page 141 of 263

Page 307



PHOTO CONTEXT 
VIEWS

A3.6
1
-

CALIFORNIA LOOKING SOUTH - BEFORE

2
-

CALIFORNIA LOOKING SOUTH - AFTER

3
-

CALIFORNIA LOOKING NORTH - BEFORE

4
-

CALIFORNIA LOOKING NORTH - AFTER
1548-1598 University Ave

Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 23 of 44

Page 142 of 263

Page 308



PHOTO CONTEXT 
VIEWS

A3.7
1
-

UNIVERSITY LOOKING WEST - BEFORE

2
-

UNIVERSITY LOOKING WEST - AFTER

3
-

UNIVERSITY LOOKING EAST - BEFORE

4
-

UNIVERSITY LOOKING EAST - AFTER
1548-1598 University Ave

Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 24 of 44

Page 143 of 263

Page 309



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.8
1
-

PERSPECTIVE VIEW - UNIVERSITY LOOKING WEST
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 25 of 44

Page 144 of 263

Page 310



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.9
1
-

PERSPECTIVE VIEW - UNIVERSITY AND CALIFORNIA
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 26 of 44

Page 145 of 263

Page 311



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.10
1
-

SIDEWALK VIEW - CALIFORNIA AND UNIVERSITY
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 27 of 44

Page 146 of 263

Page 312



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.11
1
-

SIDEWALK VIEW - ACROSS UNIVERSITY
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 28 of 44

Page 147 of 263

Page 313



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.12
1
-

SIDEWALK VIEW - CAFE ENTANCE
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 29 of 44

Page 148 of 263

Page 314



CONCEPTUAL
RENDERING

A3.13
1
-

PERSPECTIVE VIEW - CALIFORNIA LOOKING NORTHWEST
-

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 30 of 44

Page 149 of 263

Page 315



GRADE AT UNIVERSITY
SIDEWALK

13
'-4

" CALIFORNIA

74
'-8

" (
BE

LO
W

 H
IG

H-
RI

SE
)

CLUB
ROOM

10
'-8

"

PL

PL

RETAIL

MEZZ.

STAIRS

10
'-4

"

89
'-2

" A
VG

. G
RA

DE
 T

O
 P

AR
AP

ET

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

" 3'-
6"

1522 UNIVERSITY 23
'-8

"

8'-
6"

8'-
6"

BUILDING 
SECTION

A4.1
1
-

BUILDING SECTION
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11X17     3/32" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 31 of 44

Page 150 of 263

Page 316



UNIVERSITY

PL

1535 ADDISON 1535 ADDISON

10
'-4

"

89
'-2

" A
VG

. G
RA

DE
 T

O
 P

AR
AP

ET

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"3
'-6

"
23

'-8
"

BUILDING 
SECTION

A4.2
1
-

BUILDING SECTION
3/64"=1'-0" @ 11X17     3/32" = 1'-0" @ 24X36

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 32 of 44

Page 151 of 263

Page 317



10
'-4

"
3'-

6"

89
'-2

"

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 5

LEVEL 6

LEVEL 7

ROOF

AVG. GRADE

PARAPET5'-
6"

STAIR ROOF

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
10

'-4
"

10
'-4

"
VA

RI
ES

LEVEL 8

10
'-4

"

MATERIAL
BOARD

MAT

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

04.20.2023 DRC

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING

METAL INFILL PANELINSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

1
-

NORTH ELEVATION
1/16"=1'-0" @ 11X17     1/8" = 1'-0" @ 24X36 80 4 16

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

METAL INFILL
PANEL

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

ALUMINUM
WINDOWS

INSULATED METAL
PANELS

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

(CALIFORNIA ST.)

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

DECORATIVE
METAL SCREEN

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 33 of 44

Page 152 of 263

Page 318



MAIN ROOF
16,022 SQ. FT.

7TH LEVEL DECK
817 SQ. FT.

8TH LEVEL DECK
840 SQ. FT.

8TH LEVEL DECK
840 SQ. FT.

GROUND LEVEL GARDEN
9,404 SQ. FT.

GROUND LEVEL STORMWATER PLANTERS
1310 SQ. FT.

PRELIMINARY
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT
PLAN

SW-1
1
-

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT DATA2
-

PRELIMINARY STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN
1/32"=1'-0" @ 11x17 1/16"=1'-0" @ 24x36

80 4 16

N

1548-1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2030JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

01.21.2022 SB-330 APPLICATION

03.03.2022 DESIGN STUDIES

03.18.2022 REVISED BASE PLANS

04.01.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

07.20.2022 ZONING APPLICATION

09.06.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

10.28.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

12.19.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION20212.23.2022 ZONING RESUBMISSION

03.16.2023 DRC HEARING SET

05.11.2023 ZAB HEARING SET

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 34 of 44

Page 153 of 263

Page 319



Club room

Gym

Metal panels / screen
mounted to elevator shaft

Pockets of plantings seen from
club room and lobby

Manzanita
grove

Seating

Seatwall & dining

Dining

Fire pit & seating 'nook'

Raised planter / seating with groundcover below

Art / sculpture

Built-in seating

Projector / movie screen

'Pop-up' chaise lounges for cinema viewing

Large screening trees

Foundation planting

Koi pond or water feature

Vertical garden at elevator
shaft

Dominant courtyard tree-
Crape myrtle

Concrete steppers "float" on water surface

Paving material travels inside
out merging the two spaces

Manzanita
grove

Raised counter top seating with built-in BBQ

North4 120

3/16"=1'-0"

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

COURTYARD CONCEPT
AND SITE FEATURES

L1.0

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL GRADES, EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DIMENSIONS IN THE FIELD
PRIOR TO COMMENCING WORK. ALL DISCREPANCIES OR QUESTIONS SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE
ATTENTION OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT FOR RESOLUTION. REDIRECT WORK TO AVOID DELAY.
2. ALL CURVES AND ALL TRANSITIONS BETWEEN CURVES AND STRAIGHT EDGES SHALL BE SMOOTH
3. TAKE ALL DIMENSIONS PERPENDICULAR TO ANY REFERENCE LINE, WORK LINE, FACE OF
BUILDING, FACE OF WALL OR CENTERLINE.
4. S.A.D. FOR ALL INFORMATION ON WATERPROOFING, DRAINAGE & GRADING ON STRUCTURES.

SEE L2.1 FOR GENERAL PLANTING NOTES.

STREET TREE PROTECTION NOTES:
1. ALL TREE PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS SHALL BE INCLUDED IN THE
CONSTRUCTION NOTES AND PRINTED ON ALL COPIES OF THE PLANS.

a) INCLUDE THE NAME AND PHONE NUMBER OF THE PARTY THAT WILL MONITOR THE SITE AND
ENSURE THE TREE PROTECTION MEASURES ARE BEING FOLLOWED; AND WHAT THE MONITORING
SCHEDULE WILL BE: NAME / PHONE / SCHEDULE
b) INSTALL 6 FOOT CHAIN-LINK FENCING TO PROTECT THE AREA WITHIN THE DRIP-LINE OF ANY
PROTECTED TREE IN THE DEVELOPMENT AREA. FENCING SHALL BE MOUNTED TO POSTS THAT ARE DRIVEN
INTO THE GROUND. WHERE THIS IS NOT POSSIBLE BECAUSE OF EXISTING STRUCTURES, TREE ROOTS, OR
OTHER OBSTACLES, CHAIN-LINK PANELS MOUNTED TO STANCHIONS AND CONNECTED TO EACH OTHER
MAY BE APPROVED. IN AREAS WHERE DIFFICULT TERRAIN MAKES THIS IMPRACTICAL, ORANGE
CONSTRUCTION FENCING MAY BE APPROVED.

c) ALL FENCING SHALL HAVE SIGNAGE STATING THE REQUIREMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS, AND THE
CONTACT INFORMATION FOR THE PROJECT ARBORIST.

d) WHEN ANY APPROVED CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY WILL OCCUR WITHIN THE DRIP LINE OF A
PROTECTED TREE THAT IS NOT SURROUNDED BY PROTECTIVE FENCING, THE TRUNK SHALL BE PROTECTED
BY WRAPPING IT WITH STRAW TUBES (WATTLE) OR VERTICAL WOOD SLATS (EX. 2X4), UP TO A MINIMUM
OF 8 FEET FROM GRADE (SEE FIGURE 1, PAGE 6). SLATS SHALL BE ANGLED TO PROTECT THE ROOT FLARE AT
THE BASE OF THE TREE; AND CLOSED CELL FOAM OR EQUIVALENT MATERIAL SHALL BE USED TO PROTECT
THE TRUNK OF THE TREE WHERE IT CONTACTS THE SLATS. LATERAL BRANCHES BELOW 8 FEET SHALL ALSO
BE PROTECTED. IN ADDITION, THE AREA SHALL BE COVERED WITH A 6 INCH LAYER OF MULCH TOPPED
WITH 3/4 INCH PLYWOOD THAT IS FASTENED TOGETHER. IF ANY LARGE OR MOTORIZED EQUIPMENT (MINI
EXCAVATOR, BOBCAT, POWERED WHEELBARROW) WILL TRAVEL OVER THIS AREA, THE PLYWOOD MUST BE
A MINIMUM OF 1 INCH AND ADEQUATE FOR THE WEIGHT OF THE EQUIPMENT THAT WILL TRAVEL OVER IT.
IF LARGER EQUIPMENT (BACKHOE, TRACTOR) WILL BE USED, CONSULT THE CITY ARBORIST.
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY REFERS TO ANY MOVEMENT OF PEOPLE, TOOLS, OR EQUIPMENT; OR STORAGE
OF ANY TOOLS, EQUIPMENT, OR SUPPLIES.
f) LOCATE AND EXPOSE ANY ROOTS 2 INCHES IN DIAMETER OR GREATER THAT MAY NEED TO BE
PRUNED TO FACILITATE THE PROJECT. THIS INCLUDES ANY TRENCHING THAT WILL BE DONE AS PART OF
FOUNDATION OR UTILITY INSTALLATION. CONTACT THE CITY ARBORIST IN ADVANCE TO LESSEN THE
AMOUNT OF TIME THAT THE ROOTS WILL BE EXPOSED. IF ROOTS MUST BE LEFT EXPOSED FOR MORE THAN
THREE DAYS, CONSULT THE CITY ARBORIST.  NOTE: THE 2 INCH DIAMETER THRESHOLD FOR ROOTS IS A
GUIDELINE THAT MAY BE ADJUSTED BY THE CITY ARBORIST DEPENDING ON THE SIZE AND CONDITION OF
THE TREE, AND THE LOCATION OF THE ROOTS. THE CITY ARBORIST MAY INCREASE THE TPZ, OR IMPOSE
OTHER RESTRICTIONS, WHEN THE DRIPLINE OF A TREE HAS BEEN ALTERED BY PRUNING OR UNUSUAL
GROWTH PATTERNS.

g) NO STORAGE OF BUILDING MATERIALS, REFUSE, EXCAVATED SPOILS, OR DUMPING OF POISONOUS
MATERIALS, IS PERMITTED WITHIN THE DRIP LINE OF ANY PROTECTED TREE. POISONOUS MATERIALS
INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, PAINT, PETROLEUM PRODUCTS, CONCRETE OR STUCCO MIX, DIRTY
WATER, OR ANY OTHER MATERIAL WHICH MAY BE DELETERIOUS TO TREE HEALTH.

STREET TREE PLANTING NOTES:
1. FOR NEW PLANTING:

a. THE CITY ARBORIST SHALL BE NOTIFIED, BY CALLING (510) 981-6660, PRIOR TO THE DELIVERY OF THE
TREES FOR INSPECTION OF THEIR SIZE AND STRUCTURE.

b. EACH TREE SHALL BE PROPERLY PLANTED AT OR JUST BELOW GRADE (<1"). SOIL AMENDMENT IS
NOT RECOMMENDED. NO CONSTRUCTION RUBBLE OR NON-ORGANIC MATERIAL SHALL BE WITHIN THE
TREE WELL.

c. THE SURROUNDING SOIL OUTSIDE THE CONTAINER (ROOT BALL) SHOULD BE LIGHTLY
COMPACTED TO ABOUT 4 INCHES BELOW GRADE WITH THE ROOT BALL HIGHER THAN THAT.

d. 2 TO 2.5 INCHES OF BASE ROCK SHOULD BE APPLIED AROUND THE ROOT BALL LEAVING 1.5 TO 2
INCHES LEFT FOR THE MATERIAL.

e. 15G CONTAINERS ARE APPROXIMATELY 15-16 INCHES IN DIAMETER AND THE MATERIAL
SHOULD BE APPLIED TO THE APPROXIMATE EDGE OF THE ROOT BALL WITH THE TOP GRADE OF
THE ROOT BALL UP TO 1 INCH BELOW THE TOP OF THE MATERIAL THAT WILL BE APPLIED.

f. EACH NEW TREE SHALL HAVE AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION INCLUDING TWO TREE BUBBLERS THAT
CURVE OVER THE TOP OF THE TREES' ROOT BALL AND PROVIDE A MINIMUM OF 20 GALLONS PER
WEEK BETWEEN MARCH 15 AND OCTOBER 15 FOR THE FIRST THREE YEARS. LARGER TREES MAY
REQUIRE ADDITIONAL BUBBLERS. THE BUBBLERS SHOULD BE LOCATED ON TOP OF THE ROOT
BALL WITHIN THIS 15-16 INCH CIRCLE AND NOT BE COVERED WITH MATERIAL. 

g. TREES THAT DIE WITHIN THE FIRST THREE YEARS MUST BE REPLACED AT THE PROPERTY OWNER'S
EXPENSE.

LANDSCAPE SHEET INDEX

NOTES

CITY OF BERKELEY
DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE
HEARING SET 04.20.2023

L1.0 Courtyard Concept and Site Features
L2.0 Landscape Plan at Streetscape
L2.1 Courtyard Landscape Site Plan; Plant List
L3.0 Courtyard Site Improvements Imagery
L3.1 Courtyard Planting Imagery
L3.2 Screening Tree Options
I1.0 Irrigation Plan
I2.0 Irrigation Notes, Legend, Schedules & Calcs.
I2.1 Irrigation Details
I2.2 Irrigation Details

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 35 of 44

Page 154 of 263

Page 320



PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

U N IV E R S I T Y    A V E N E U E 

C
 A

 L
 I 

F 
O

 R
 N

 I 
A 

   
  S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T
 

FOR COURTYARD AREA,
SEE ENLARGEMENT ON
SHEET L2.1 FOR DETAILED
INFORMATION

4' WIDE
CONCRETE
ACCESS PATH

REMOVE & REPLACE (E) STREET TREES

EXISTING CRAPE MYRTLES (5) TO REMAIN &
BE PROTECTED (EXPAND TREE WELLS
PER ARBORIST RECOMMENDATION)

TREE WELLS FILLED WITH FLEXI-PAVE, TYP.

3' X 3' SCORING
PATTERN PER
CITY STANDARDS

8' PLANTING AREA
ACCOMMODATES

LARGE SCREENING
TREES, SPECIES TBD

PROPOSED STREET TREE AT UNIVERSITY AVE:
-EMERALD SUNSHINE ELM
(Ulmus davidiana var. japonica ‘Emerald Sunshine’)

North

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

LANDSCAPE PLAN
AT STREETSCAPE

L2.00 4 8 16

NOTES:
1. SEE L1.0 FOR STREET TREE PROTECTION AND PLANTING NOTES.
2. PROPOSED STREET TREE SPECIES, LOCATION, AND CONDITIONS SUBJECT TO ONGOING REVIEW AND APPROVAL BY THE CITY OF BERKELEY'S MANAGING CONSULTING URBAN FORESTER AND
ARBORIST.  PROPOSED STREET TREES ARE CURRENT WITH EXISTING UTILITIES AS OF 03.01.2023 AND WILL BE SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL REVIEW AFTER PROPOSED UTILITIES ARE FINALIZED.

SEE L1.0 AND L2.1 FOR COURTYARD

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 36 of 44

Page 155 of 263

Page 321



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

COURTYARD 
LANDSCAPE SITE PLAN

L2.1

North4 120

3/16"=1'-0"

Note: all landscape lighting will comply with the City of Berkeley Dark Skies ordinance and Bird Safe requirements.  

GENERAL PLANTING NOTES

6. SOIL PREPARATION: The Landscape Contractor shall be
responsible for finish grading and all planting area drainage.
Positive drainage away from the building as per city codes shall be
maintained. No low spots which hold standing water will be
accepted.

The Landscape Contractor shall incorporate soil preparation
amendment into planting areas as noted below. Where roto-tilling
is not possible, incorporate soil amendments into top 6 Inches with
hand tools. After installation of irrigation system, all planting areas
are to be fine graded to within 2 inches and slightly mounded
away from edges of top of planter, curb, walk, header, etc. and
raked smooth with all rocks and debris over 1-inch in diameter
removed.

7. SOIL PREPARATION AMENDMENTS AND BACKFILL
MIX: The Landscape Contractor shall amend existing soil per the
soils report.

8. TREE PLANTING: Trees shall be planted per detail on plan.
Trees shall typically be located a minimum of 3 1/2 feet from curbs,
walks, headers, buildings, and overhead structures within the
project. Backfill per soils report. Thoroughly water trees
immediately after planting.

9. SHRUB PLANTING: The shrubs shall be spotted as per
plan, spotted at the shown locations, and approved by Landscape
Architect prior to the digging of the holes. Shrub backfill shall be
per soils report.  Thoroughly water shrubs immediately after
planting. Do not plant any shrub within 2 feet of any building wall.

10. MAINTENANCE: The Contractor shall maintain the project
for 90 days (or as requested by owner) following the approval to
begin the maintenance period. During the entire maintenance
period, watering, cultivating, weeding, mowing, repair/tightening of
stakes and ties, restoration of basins, provision of supplemental
water by hand in addition to irrigation system is required as

necessary.  No pre-emergence herbicides shall be applied - hand
remove weeds. Only organic fertilizers shall be applied such as
those specified. Install per manufacturer's recommendations. At
the end of the 90 day maintenance period all areas are to be weed
free and all plant material shall be in a healthy, thriving condition.
Integrated pest management practices shall be implemented.

11. SUBSTITUTIONS: Requests for plant substitutions shall be
made to the Landscape Architect within 15 days after signing of
contract.

12. GUARANTEE: All construction, trees and shrubs by the
Landscape Contractor and/or subcontractors shall be guaranteed
for (1) one year after start of maintenance period. The contractor
shall replace, at no expense to the Owner, any and all landscape
materials that are in an unacceptable condition for time of use, and
trees or shrubs that are dead or not in a vigorous, healthy growing
condition, within two weeks of notification of such condition.
Replacement shall be of the same kind and size as the originally
specified item and shall be replaced as originally described on the
drawings. The Contractor shall not be held liable for loss of plant
materials during the guarantee period due to vandalism, accidental
causes or acts of neglect by others than the Contractor, his agents
and employees.

13. CLEAN UP: At the end of each work day, at the inspection
for substantial completion, and before acceptance of project - clean
paved areas that are dirtied or stained by construction operations
by sweeping or washing, and remove defacements and stains.
Remove construction equipment, excess materials and tools. Haul
from Owners property any debris resulting from construction, and
dispose of it legally. Remove remaining temporary protection at
time of acceptance by Owner unless otherwise agreed.

14. FERTILIZERS: Available from California Organic Fertilizers,
Inc. 1-800-269-5690 www.organicag.com.

TOTAL HARDSCAPE =  4,602 SF

TOTAL LANDSCAPE AREA =  4,537 SF

TOTAL LANDSCAPE %  =  (4,537  /  9,165) * 100

 TOTAL USEABLE AREA =   9,165 SF

TOTAL LANDSCAPE %  =  50%

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 37 of 44

Page 156 of 263

Page 322



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

COURTYARD
SITE IMPROVEMENTS
IMAGERY

L3.0

Emerald Sunshine Elm (Ulmus davidiana var. japonica ‘Emerald Sunshine’)  

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 38 of 44

Page 157 of 263

Page 323



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

COURTYARD 
PLANTING IMAGERY

L3.1

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 39 of 44

Page 158 of 263

Page 324



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

07.15.2022   PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023   DRC HEARING

05.11.2023   ZAB HEARING

SCREENING TREE
OPTIONS

L3.2

Canary Island Pine  (Pinus canariensis)

· Mature size: 50-80 ft tall  /  20-35 ft wide
· Growth rate: Fast
· Water use: Low
· For 1598 University: Space at 12 ft apart on center

California Incense Cedar  (Calocedrus decurrens)

Mature size: 75-90 ft tall  /  10-15 ft wide
· Growth rate: Moderate
· Water use: Moderate
· For 1598 University: Space at 8 ft apart on center

Italian Cypress  (Cupressus sempervirens)

Mature size: 40-60 ft tall  /  5-10 ft wide
· Growth rate: Moderate
· Water use: Low
· For 1598 University: Space at 5 ft apart on center

Coast Redwood  (Sequoia sempervirens)

· Mature size: 70-100 ft tall  /  20-30 ft wide
· Growth rate: Very fast
· Water use: High
· For 1598 University: Space 10 ft apart on center

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 40 of 44

Page 159 of 263

Page 325



PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

PA
RK

LI
FT

8'-
10

 3
/8

"
X 

18
'-3

"

PARKLIFT
8'-10 3/8"
X 18'-3"

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 C
Y

BIN

3 CY
BIN

96
gal

96
gal

WEATHER SENSOR - SEE
LEGEND FOR SPEC.

OUTDOOR SMART CONTROLLER
IN ELECTRICAL ROOM
- SEE LEGEND
  FOR SPEC.

1"
2

9.0
A

M

1799 SF

1"
7

1.5
A

L

307 SF

1"
8

7.0
A

L

7 SF

1"
3

12.0
A

L

12 SF

1-1/2"

1-1/2"1-1/2"

1-1/2"

1-1/2"

1-1/2"

1-1/2"

1"

3/4"

1"

1-1/4"

1"

1"
6

1.4
A

L

270 SF

3/4"

1"
4

10.8
A

M

2160 SF
1"
1

10.0
A

L

10 SF

1"

1"
5

10.0
A

L

10 SF

1"

North

1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

05.11.2022 PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023 DRC HEARING

IRRIGATION
PLAN

I1.00 5' 10' 20'

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 41 of 44

Page 160 of 263

Page 326



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

05.11.2022 PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023 DRC HEARING

IRRIGATION
NOTES, LEGEND,
SCHEDULES & CALCS.

I2.0

          SYMBOL  MFG.                   MODEL NO.                                               DESCRIPTION                                             RAD             GPM              PSI          PR

IRRIGATION LEGEND
(2) RZWS-36-50-CVHUNTER ROOT ZONE WATERING SYSTEM 0.50 (1.0) 0.701' 30

DRIP IRRIGATION NOTES

HUNTER DRIP LINE SYSTEMHDL-06-18-500-CV 0.5
Per 100 S.F.

300.4318"
(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)

AT THE EXHAUST HEADER OF DRIP SYSTEM, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL HUNTER PLD-BV FLUSH
VALVE W/ BALL VALVE AND A HUNTER ECO-INDICATOR AT EACH DRIP SYSTEM AT OPTIMAL FURTHEST
POINT FROM CONTROL ZONE KIT (SEE DETAILS).

HUNTER DRIP LINE SYSTEMHDL-06-18-500-CV 0.5
Per 100 S.F.

300.4318"
(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)

THE CONTRACTOR WILL NEED TO FIELD LOCATE HUNTER PLD-ARV AIR RELIEF VALVE KIT (SEE DETAIL) AT  
THE HIGHEST LOCATIONS ON EACH DRIP LINE SYSTEM

HUNTER DRIP LINE SYSTEMHDL-06-18-500-CV 0.5
Per 100 S.F.

300.4318"
(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)

- PROVIDE  SLEEVES UNDER ALL PAVING.
PVC SCH 40 MAIN AND LATERAL LINE SLEEVE 2x DIA. OF PIPE ENCASED. 

MAINLINE - INSTALL  18"  COVER IN PLANTING AREAS, 
24" COVER UNDER PAVING -  SIZES INDICATED.

NIBCO T-580 BALL VALVE - LINE SIZE.

Mainlines (pressurized) 1 1/2 inch and smaller shall be Schedule 40 solvent-weld P.V.C..
Mainlines (pressurized) 2 inch through 3 inch  shall be Class 315 solvent-weld P.V.C., 

with thrust blocks per detail.

PVC SCH. 40 LATERAL LINE- 12" COVER IN PLANTING AREAS,
24" COVER UNDER PAVING. - SIZES INDICATED.

POTABLE LATERAL LINE

INDICATES VALVE SIZE

INDICATES STATION NUMBER

INDICATES GPM

INDICATES CONTROLLER

INDICATES HYDROZONE

INDICATES STATION S.F.

NOTE:SEE IRRIGATION SYSTEM
INFORMATION FOR INDIVIDUAL
VALVE PRECIPITATION RATES
AND OPERATING PSI AS
REQUIRED BY CODE.

HUNTER ICZ-101-40 1" CONTROL ZONE KIT WITH PVC BALL VALVE FOR FLOW 2.0 TO 20 GPM.

HUNTER ICV-101G-FS-AS-ADJ SERIES REMOTE CONTROL VALVE - SIZE INDICATED.

HUNTER, QUICK COUPLER, HQ-22DLRC WITH LOCKING CAP.

I HAVE COMPLIED WITH THE CRITERIA OF THE MODEL WATER EFFICIENT
LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE AND HAVE APPLIED THEM FOR THE EFFICIENT
USE OF WATER IN THE IRRIGATION DESIGN PLAN.

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

JOHN PENNELL PHILLIPS DATE

04-13-2023

WATER METER BY OTHERS

1 1/2" HUNTER IBC-151G-FS NORMALLY CLOSED MASTER VALVE - RELAY TO CONTROLLER

1" WILKINS 375XL BACKFLOW PREVENTER W/ 1" SXL WYE STRAINER LOCATED IN V.I.T. STRONGBOX SBBC-30SS
STAINLESS STEEL ENCLOSURE OR EQUAL

1" HUNTER FCT-100 FLOW SENSOR IN PVC HOUSING - RELAY TO CONTROLLER.

AUTOMATIC CONTROLLER LOCATION - SEE NOTE ON THIS SHEET

WEATHER SENSOR LOCATION - SEE NOTE ON THIS SHEET

POINT OF CONNECTION NOTE

AVAILABLE PRESSURE: 

MAXIMUM DEMAND: 
DESIGN PRESSURE: 

66.0 PSI (ASSUMED)
59.8 PSI
12.0 GPM 

CONTRACTOR TO LOCATE A WATER METER. INSTALL A REDUCED BACKFLOW PREVENTER, A MASTER VALVE AND A FLOW
SENSOR AT THE APPROXIMATE LOCATION AS SHOWN. ALL POC APPURTENANCE MUST BE INSTALLED IN PLANTING AREA.
COORDINATE THESE LOCATIONS WITH OWNER/DEVELOPER. CONTRACTOR TO RELAY MASTER VALVE & FLOW SENSOR TO
CONTROLLER.

CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL A (12) STATION HUNTER IC-600-M INTERIOR CONTROLLER W/ (1) ICM-600 MODULES IN METAL WALL
MOUNT LOCATED IN THE ELECTRICAL ROOM. CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL AN HUNTER WSS-SEN WIRELESS SOLAR SYNC
LOCATED DIRECTLY ABOVE CONTROLLER AND ATTACHED TO TOP STORY ROOF EAVE OR GUTTER PER MFG. SPECS. IN AN
AREA FREE OF OVERHEAD OBSTRUCTIONS. IRRIGATION SYSTEMS ARE DESIGNED TO OPERATE AT A MAXIMUM OF 12.0 GPM.
CONTRACTOR TO PULL 24V WIRES AND CONNECT TO A MASTER VALVE, FLOW SENSOR AND REMOTE CONTROL VALVES AT
THE APPROPRIATE LOCATIONS AS SHOWN AS REQUIRED. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 120V CONTINUOUS POWER TO THE
CONTROLLER.  COORDINATE THESE LOCATIONS WITH OWNER/ DEVELOPER AND SHALL BE LOCATED WITHIN 800' AWAY FROM
FLOW SENSOR.

CONTROLLER NOTE

MUST BE OVERSIZED LEAVING AMPLE ROOM FOR FUTURE WIRE ADDITIONS OR REPAIRS.
PVC SCH 40 WIRE SLEEVE - SIZE TO BE MIN. 2" AND DETERMINED BY THE CONTRACTOR. 

- PROVIDE  SLEEVES UNDER ALL PAVING.

IRRIGATION NOTES

INSTALL ALL HEADS A MINIMUM OF 18" AWAY FROM BUILDING WALLS & A MINIMUM  

THIS SYSTEM IS DIAGRAMMATIC. ALL PIPE, VALVES, ETC. SHOWN WITHIN PAVED 
AREAS ARE FOR DESIGN CLARIFICATION ONLY AND SHALL BE INSTALLED IN 

THE IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR SHALL FLUSH AND ADJUST ALL SPRINKLER HEADS 
FOR OPTIMUM PERFORMANCE AND PREVENT OVERSPRAY ONTO WALKS AND 
ROADWAYS AS MUCH AS POSSIBLE. THIS SHALL INCLUDE SELECTING THE BEST 

INSTALL ALL HEADS WITH DOUBLE OR TRIPLE SWING JOINTS, USING STREET ELLS, 

DO NOT WILLFULLY INSTALL THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM AS INDICATED ON THE 
DRAWINGS WHEN IT IS OBVIOUS IN THE FIELD THAT UNKNOWN OBSTRUCTIONS OR 
GRADE DIFFERENCES EXIST AND SHOULD BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE 

NOT PERFORMED, THE CONTRACTOR MUST ASSUME FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY 

THE SPRINKLER SYSTEM DESIGN IS BASED ON A MINIMUM OPERATIONAL PRESSURE 
AND A MAXIMUM DEMAND AT THE POINT OF CONNECTION, AS NOTED ON THE PLAN. 
BEFORE INSTALLING THE SYSTEM, CHECK POINT OF CONNECTION AND IMMEDIATELY 
NOTIFY CONTRACTING OFFICER IF PRESSURE IS NOT AS NOTED OR THE REQUIRED 

ALL MAINLINE UNDER PAVING SHALL BE INSTALLED 24" DEEP. ALL LATERAL LINES 

THE IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR IS TO ADJUST HEAD LOCATIONS IN THE FIELD IN 
ORDER TO GUARANTEE 100% COVERAGE. CONTRACTOR TO CONTACT THE 
CONTRACTING OFFICER PRIOR TO ANY MAJOR CHANGE(S) RESULTING IN 

INSTALL NECESSARY CHECK VALVE IN HEADS THAT EXHIBIT TENDENCIES FOR LOW  

PRESSURE COMPENSATING SCREENS WHEN RADIUS IS REDUCED MORE THAN FIFTY 
DEGREE OF ARC TO FIT THE EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS. CONTRACTOR TO USE 

GALLONS PER MINUTE IS NOT AVAILABLE.

WATER LINE UNDER PAVING

SYSTEM COVERAGE

ADDITIONAL COST TO THE OWNER.

UNDER PAVING SHALL BE SCH 40 PVC AND INSTALLED 24" DEEP.

OF 12" AWAY FROM ALL STUCCO SURFACES.

DIAGRAMMATIC PLAN

SPRINKLER ADJUSTMENT REQUIRED
PLANTING AREAS AND JOINT TRENCHES WHEREVER POSSIBLE.

REVISIONS REQUIRED.

HEAD DRAINAGE.

FIELD CONDITIONS

CONTRACTING OFFICER. IN THE EVENT THAT THIS NOTIFICATION IS 

MINIMUM PRESSURE AND MAXIMUM GALLONS REQUIRED

SWING JOINTS

AS PER DETAIL.

PERCENT (50%).

Irrigation System Maintenance Procedures
While the system is deigned to operate automatically, a regular maintenance schedule is
necessary to prevent and address failures in the system as well as ensure that the system
operates in a manner that meets or exceeds the MAWA values provided.

Any broken or malfunctioning irrigation system components should be replaced with
the same components, or an equal or superior equivalent.

Upon completion of the project, the following measures should be performed by
property management at intervals noted below:

Weekly:
During weekly landscape maintenance operations, the maintenance personnel should
look for signs of runoff, erosion, and plant die off due to irrigation system failures. If
issues are detected, they should be brought to the attention of the maintenance
supervisor and property management for timely correction.

All overhead spray heads shall be inspected to ensure clear operation and in order to
identify and repair any damaged equipment.

Monthly:
All irrigation and master valves shall be visually inspected by a property management
representative while the valve is under operating conditions. All control valves and
filters should be visually inspected and cleaned as required and in accordance with
manufactures specifications. All leaks shall be promptly reported to a landscape
maintenance representative so that the valve may be repaired or replaced in a timely
fashion with the minimum amount of leaking water exposed to open air.

All Root Watering Systems are to be visually inspected to insure that all locking grates
are being reasonably kept free of debris. All grates that are not kept reasonably free of
debris are to be reported to a landscape maintenance representative. All Root Watering
Systems that have their locking grates damaged or missing are to be reported to a
landscape maintenance representative so that the locking grate may be repaired or
replaced in a timely fashion.

MAINTENANCE LOG
Keep a log of all inspections and maintenance performance on the irrigation system
(Updated copy to be provided to Property Manager on a monthly basis)

Overall Landscape Maintenance Procedures
At a minimum, the following items should be addressed on a regular basis as required
per city code:

Weekly
Pruning, weeding and maintenance of turf areas should be done on a weekly basis

Monthly
Dead, dying and diseased vegetation should be replaced with equivalent plant material
w/ similar hydrozone requirements, provided that the replaced vegetation does not
result in mixing higher water use plants with low water use plants in the same
hydrozone.

Invasive plant species should be eradicated as required.

Plant material should be maintained in order to avoid obstruction of motorists views.

Annually
Mulch should be replenished in order to maintain appropriate soil moisture levels.

Soil amendments consistent with the agronomic soils report for this project should be
applied in the manner prescribed in order to support and maintain healthy plant growth.

Lawns should be fertilized in a manner consistent with best management practices

IRRIGATION CALCULATIONS & SCHEDULES

in contractor being responsible for changes that might occur.
to notify Owner for instructions. Failure to do so will result
prior to installation.  If different from PSI noted above, Contractor
Contractor shall verify the static water pressure with supplier

PRESSURE LOSS CALCULATIONS - POC 'A'

RESIDUAL PRESSURE REMAINING

AVAILABLE PRESSURE (P.O.C.) 

BACKFLOW PREVENTER (1")

LATERAL LINE  
ELEVATION CHANGE

TOTAL PRESSURE LOSS

VALVE

VALVE #

BALL VALVES (1 1/2")

WATER METER (3/4" - ASSUMED)

GPM

66.0 (ASSUMED)

+6.2 (10.4%)

0.0(UP GRADE 0')

29.8

12.0

3.0

(5.0 MAX.)

'A3'

12.0 GPM

2.6

1.0

MASTER VALVE (1 1/2") 1.5
FLOW METER (1") 1.0

FITTING LOSS (10%) 2.7

MINIMUM OPERATING PRESSURE 30

DESIGN PRESSURE REQUIRED 59.8

(185' @ 1 1/2")MAINLINE 1.0

FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT PERIOD, THE CONTRACTOR IS TO SELECT THE APPROPRIATE 
90 DAY PERIOD (I.E. MAY,JUNE,JULY) FROM THE ANNUAL SCHEDULE PROVIDED 

NOTE:

(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)
HUNTER DRIP LINE SYSTEMHDL-06-18-500-CV 0.5

Per 100 S.F.
300.4318"

(SPACE DRIPLINES 18" O.C.)

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 42 of 44

Page 161 of 263

Page 327



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

05.11.2022 PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023 DRC HEARING

IRRIGATION
DETAILS

I2.1

A. AUTOMATIC CONTROLLER

B. BACKFLOW PREVENTER

C. MASTER VALVE

D. FLOW SENSOR

E. TYPICAL TRENCHING

F. TYPICAL SLEEVING

G. BALL VALVE

H. VALVE BOX INSTALLATION

I. WIRE CONNECTOR

1. STRIP WIRES 1/2" TO 5/8". USING
LINEMANS PLIERS OR OTHER STYLE
TOOL, TWIST ENDS TOGETHER MIN 3
TIMES. INSERT INTO SCOTCHLOK
ELECTRICAL CONNECTOR AND ROTATE
CLOCKWISE UNTIL ADDITIONAL 
FORCE IS REQUIRED.

2. INSERT THE SPLICE INTO THE 
GEL-FILLED INSULATOR TUBE. 
PUSH PAST THE LOCKING 
FINGERS TO HOLD THE SCOTHLOK 
CONNECTOR IN PLACE.

3. POSITION WIRE CHANNELS AND 
SNAP INSULATOR TUBE COVER 
CLOSED.

* WIRE CONNECTORS TO BE DBR/Y-6 BY 3M
OR EQUAL

WIRE SPLICE STEPS

J. RAIN SENSOR

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 43 of 44

Page 162 of 263

Page 328



1598
UNIVERSITY

ALL DRAWINGS AND WRITTEN MATERIAL APPEARING
HEREIN CONSTITUTE ORIGINAL AND UNPUBLISHED
WORK OF THE ARCHITECT AND MAY NOT BE
DUPLICATED, USED OR DISCLOSED WITHOUT  WRITTEN
CONSENT OF TRACHTENBERG ARCHITECTS.

2104JOB:

SHEET:

2421 Fourth Street
Berkeley, California 94710
510.649.1414
www.TrachtenbergArch.com

TRACHTENBERG
ARCHITECTS

05.11.2022 PROGRESS PLANS

1598 University Ave
Berkeley, CA

OUTINSIDEO
landscape architecture
6000 Harwood Ave
Oakland CA 94618
www.aboutinsideout.com

04.20.2023 DRC HEARING

IRRIGATION
DETAILS

I2.2

A. QUICK COUPLER

B. REMOTE CONTROL VALVE

C. CONROL ZONE KIT

D. DRIP LINE LAYOUT

E. FLUSH VALVE ASSEMBLY

F. SURSURFACE  DRIP LINE

G. PRESSURE INDICATOR

H. AIR RELIEF VALVE

J. ROOT ZONE WATERING SYSTEM

LEGEND

1
2
3
4
5

1

2

LEGEND:
BALL VALVE

3

FINISHED GRADE

IRRIGATION HOSE (LENGTH AS NECESSARY)

4 FILTER FABRIC

5 BRICK

1
2
3
4
5

1

2

LEGEND:
PRESSURE INDICATOR

3

4 PVC LATERAL PIPE

FINISHED GRADE

ADJACENT MULCH

5 SWING JOINT

ATTACHMENT 2 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 44 of 44

Page 163 of 263

Page 329



Z O N I N G 

A D J U S T M E N T S 

B O A R D 

M e m o r a n d u m

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.7474    Fax: 510.981.7420 
E-mail: zab@cityofberkeley.info

FOR BOARD ACTION 
MAY 11, 2023 

1598 University Avenue 
Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 to demolish a non-residential structure and 
construct a 127,492 square-foot, eight-story (89 feet- 2 inches) mixed-use 
residential building containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income) 
and 5,943 square foot commercial space, with 39 automobile parking 
spaces and 92 bicycle parking spaces, utilizing State Density Bonus  

RE: Changes to Conditions of Approval related to Affordable Hosuing Provisions and 
Street Trees 

New SB 330 Preliminary Development Project Vesting Date 

On May 2, 2023, the project applicant contacted staff to submit a new SB 330 preliminary 
development project application, superseding the preliminary housing development project 
application submitted in January 2022. The new preliminary application presents a project that 
is the same as the project before ZAB. The number of units or the size of the project has not 
changed. Staff invoiced the applicant for the new preliminary application, and the invoice was 
paid on May 5, 2023. Submittal of all the information listed in the pre-app form and payment of 
the permit processing fee freezes fees and development standards as of May 5, 2023, unless 
exceptions per Government Code § 65889.5(o) are triggered. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 1 of 75
Attachment 4

Page 164 of 263

Page 330

mailto:zab@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:zab@cityofberkeley.info


   
ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 2 of 5 
 

 

Table 3: Project Chronology 
Date Action 

January 26, 2022 SB 330 complete preliminary housing development project application 
submitted 

July 7, 2022 SB 330 Use Permit Application submitted 

August 24, 2022 Application deemed incomplete 

September 22, 2022 Application resubmitted 

October 20, 2022 Application deemed incomplete 

November 1, 2022 Application resubmitted 

December 1, 2022 Application deemed incomplete 

December 23, 2022 Application resubmitted  

January 23, 2023 Application deemed complete 

February 2, 2023 LPC hearing 

April 20, 2023 DRC hearing 

May 3, 2023 Plans Resubmitted 

May 4, 2023 Public hearing notices mailed/posted 

May 5, 2023 SB 330 complete preliminary housing development project application 
submitted (supersedes previous)  

May 11, 2023 ZAB hearing 

 
The new vesting date affects the affordable housing mitigation fee and inclusionary housing 
requirements, Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) 22.20.065 and 23.328, respectively. The 
Findings and Conditions will be revised to remove reference to BMC 22.20.065, which was 
repealed. The affordable housing conditions will be revised to require full compliance with all 
applicable provisions of BMC Chapter 23.328, Inclusionary Housing, and Council Resolution 
70,698 (both are attached to this memo), which include elements such as a regulatory 
agreement, income requirements, approval of a final Affordable Housing Compliance Plan 
prior to issuance of a building permit, and timing of any required in-lieu payments.   
 
BELOW MARKET RATE UNITS 
1. Affordable Housing Mitigation Fee (AHMF): Consistent with BMC 22.20.065 and fee 

resolution No. 68,074-N.S., the applicant shall provide a schedule, consistent with a 
schedule approved by the City Manager or her designee, outlining the timeframe for 
payment of the AHMF, or provide an alternative to the fee payment as permitted by the 
BMC. Payment of the AHMF may be reduced if paid prior to the building permit per 
resolution No. 68,074-N.S., and shall be paid no later than prior to the issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy for the project.  
 

2. Number of Below Market Rate Units. The project shall provide 17 (Very Low-Income) 
below market rate rental dwelling units (“BMR Units”), which are required to comply with 
the State Density Bonus Law (Government Code Section 65915). The BMR Units shall 
be designated in the Regulatory Agreement and shall be reasonably dispersed 
throughout the project; be of the same size and contain, on average, the same number 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 2 of 75

Page 165 of 263

Page 331



   
ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 3 of 5 
 

 

of bedrooms as the non-BMR units in the project; and be comparable with the design or 
use of non-BMR units in terms of appearance, materials and finish quality. The 
designation of BMR Units shall conform to the addresses assigned to the building by the 
City. 

 

3. Regulatory Agreement. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall 
enter into a Regulatory Agreement that implements Government Code Section 65915 
and this Use Permit.  The Regulatory Agreement may include any terms and affordability 
standards determined by the City to be necessary to ensure such compliance. The 
maximum qualifying household income for the BMR Units shall be 50 percent of area 
median income (AMI), and the maximum housing payment shall be 30 percent of 50 
percent of AMI, as set forth in the following paragraphs of this condition. If the BMR units 
are occupied by very low-income tenants receiving a rental subsidy through the Section 
8 or Shelter Plus Care programs, the rent received by the project sponsor may exceed 
the restricted rent to the payment standards allowed under those programs so long as 
the rent allowed under the payment standards is not greater than the market rents 
charged for comparable units in the development. The applicant shall submit the 
Regulatory Agreement to the Housing and Community Services Department (HHCS) 
via email to affordablehousing@cityofberkeley.info for review and approval.  

 
4. Affordable Housing: Below Market Rate Program. In addition, the following provisions 

shall apply: 
A. Maximum rent shall be adjusted for the family size appropriate for the unit pursuant to 

California Health & Safety Code Section 50052.5 (h). 
B. Rent shall include a reasonable allowance for utilities, as published and updated by the 

Berkeley Housing Authority, including garbage collection, sewer, water, electricity, gas, 
and other heating, cooking and refrigeration fuels.  Such allowance shall take into 
account the cost of an adequate level of service.  Utilities do not include telephone 
service.  Rent also includes any separately charged fees or service charges assessed 
by the lessor which are required of all tenants, other than security deposits. 

C. BMR units will be provided for the life of the project under Section 22.20.065. 
 
5. Determination of Area Median Income (AMI). 

• The “AMI” (Area Median Income) shall be based on the income standards for the 
Oakland Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area reported by the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  In the event HUD 
discontinues establishing such income standards, AMI shall be based on income 
standards determined by the California State Department of Housing and 
Community Development (HCD).  If such income standards are no longer in 
existence, the City will designate another appropriate source or method for 
determining the median household income. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 3 of 75

Page 166 of 263

Page 332

mailto:affordablehousing@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:affordablehousing@cityofberkeley.info


   
ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 4 of 5 
 

 

• The applicable AMI for the purpose of determining the allowable rent for each unit 
(but not for the purpose of determining eligibility for occupancy of an inclusionary 
unit) shall be determined in accordance with the following table: 

 

U n i t  
S i z e  

AMI Standard 

Studio unit AMI for a one-person household 
One-bedroom unit AMI for a two-person household 
Two-bedroom unit AMI for a three-person household 
Three-bedroom unit AMI for a four-person household 

 

6. Nothing in these conditions shall be interpreted to prohibit, or to require modification of 
the Use Permit or Regulatory Agreement to allow, the provision of additional BMR units, 
or additional affordability, than are required in the foregoing provisions. 
 

7. Affordable Housing. Nothing in conditions 24-32 shall be interpreted to prohibit, or to 
require modification of the Use Permit or Regulatory Agreement to allow, the provision 
of additional BMR units, or additional affordability, then are required in the foregoing 
provisions.  
 

8. Affordable Housing. Dwellings that are approved as rental units, but in which a condo 
map is approved prior to issuance of an occupancy permit, shall be subject to the 
affordability requirements within BMC 23.328.  

 
A. Residential housing projects for the construction of five or more Dwelling Units; 
B. Residential housing projects for the construction of one to four new Dwelling Units, 

when such Units are added to an existing one to four-unit property, which has 
been developed after August 14, 1986, and the resulting number of units totals 
five or more. All Units in such a property are subject to the requirements of this 
chapter;  

C. Residential housing projects proposed on lots whose size and zoning designation 
is such to  
allow construction of five or more Dwelling Units. 
 

9. Affordable Housing – Density Bonus. If a density bonus was granted for the project, the 
regulatory agreement shall reflect the number of qualifying units set forth in Section 
65915(f)(4) that are needed to support the bonus that was granted.  
s 

Affordable Housing Requirements   
 
10. Project shall comply with BMC Chapter 23.328 Inclusionary Housing, effective April 1, 

2023 and Resolution 70,698-N.S. Adopting Regulations for Voucher Program and 
Establishing an In-Lieu Fee to Support the Provision of Affordable Housing Pursuant to 
Berkeley Municipal Code 23.328 and Rescinding Resolution 70,668-N.S (attached). 

 
 
Conditions of Approval – Street Trees  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 4 of 75

Page 167 of 263

Page 333



   
ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 5 of 5 
 

 

 
Pursuant to BMC Section 23.204.060(12), the project shall provide sidewalk amentities 
necessary to comply with current city standards.  Improvements may include pedestrian-scaled 
lighting, street trees, benches and bicyble racks.  In consultation with the City’s consulting 
arborist, the following conditions have been added to ensure the protection of existing street 
trees throughout the construction of the building.  The memo from the City’s consulting arborist 
is attached.  
 
Prior to Issuance of Any Building & Safety Permit (Demolition or Construction) 
 
XX. Tree Protection. Tree protection fencing shall be shown on all demolition, site, landscaping, 
grading, and utility plans, and shall be installed prior to demolition, grubbing, or grading around 
the five existing Crepe Trees located along California Street.  Fences shall be 6 feet in height, 
composed of chain link with posts sunk into the ground.  Fences are to remain until all grading 
and construction is completed.   
 
At All Times: 
 
XX.  Tree Protection – Inspections.  Inspections by the City’s consulting arborist may be 
conducted throughout demolition and construction to ensure compliance with tree protection 
measures.   
 
Attachments:  

• Council Resolution No. 70,698-NS 
• Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 23.328 Inclusionary Housing 
• Arborist Memorandum – May 5, 2023 

 
Staff Planner: Katrina Lapira, klapira@cityofberkeley.info, (510) 981-7488 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 5 of 75

Page 168 of 263

Page 334

mailto:klapira@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:klapira@cityofberkeley.info


SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 6 of 75

Page 169 of 263

Page 335



SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 7 of 75

Page 170 of 263

Page 336



SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 8 of 75

Page 171 of 263

Page 337



23.328.010 
23.328.020 
23.328.030 
23.328.040 
23.328.050 

Chapter 23.328 
INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 

Sections: 

Findings and Purpose. 
Definitions. 
Affordable Housing Requirements. 
Waiver or Modification of Affordable Housing Requirements. 
Implementation. 

23.328.010 Findings and Purpose. 

A. The State of California has established a Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) process under which it 
allocates a "fair share" of the regional housing need, updated periodically, to each local jurisdiction. The "fair 
share" allocated to Berkeley increased significantly based on the regional housing needs determination finalized in 
late 2021. The sixth cycle of the RHNA for the San Francisco Bay Area allocates to Berkeley a "fair share" that calls 
for adequate sites for 8,934 housing units for the period from 2023 to 2031, including sites for 2,446 Very Low 
Income units, 1,408 Low Income units, and 1,416 Moderate Income units. 

B. The Bay Area suffers from a shortage of affordable housing. As the Bay Area region experiences increased 
economic growth and a high demand for housing, housing prices continue to rise, which leads to displacement of 
low income residents and exacerbates the shelter crisis that has led to unacceptably high rates of homelessness in 
the City of Berkeley and the Bay Area region. 

C. In 1990, the City established the Housing Trust Fund program to pool available funding for affordable housing 
development. The Housing Trust Fund program is funded by federal, state, and local revenues, including by in-lieu 
and mitigation fees paid by developers of market-rate housing projects under the City’s existing affordable 
housing ordinances. 

D. The City Council hereby finds that there is a legitimate public interest in the provision of affordable housing to 
address the crises of displacement, homelessness, and lack of housing affordability in the City, and that there is a 
significant and increasing need for affordable housing in the City to meet the City’s regional share of housing 
needs under the California Housing Element Law. 

E. The City Council further finds that the public interest would best be served if new affordable housing were 
integrated into new market-rate residential developments to facilitate economically diverse housing, while also 
providing alternative options to the on-site construction of affordable housing such as the payment of fees to 
replenish the City’s Housing Trust Fund program and allowing for the construction of affordable housing on land 
dedicated by market-rate housing developers. 

Ch. 23.328 Inclusionary Housing | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 1 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through February 28, 2023.

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 9 of 75

Page 172 of 263

Page 338



F. The City Council intends that this Ordinance be construed as an amendment to the City’s existing affordability 
requirements, and that the repeal and re-enactment of any requirement shall not be construed to relieve a party 
of any outstanding obligation to comply with the requirements applicable to any previously approved Housing 
Development Project. (Ord. 7853-NS § 2, 2023) 

23.328.020 Definitions. 

A. "Affordable Unit" means a Residential Unit that is in perpetuity affordable to Very Low Income Households or 
Lower-Income Households, as defined in California Health and Safety Code sections 50052.5 and 50053. 

B. "Affordable Housing Compliance Plan" means an enforceable commitment by an Applicant to comply with the 
requirements of this Chapter that identifies the number and type of Affordable Units, the amount of In-Lieu Fees, 
and/or the parcels of land (or portions thereof) that will be provided and/or paid by the Applicant to comply with 
those requirements. 

C. "AMI" means the area median income applicable to the City of Berkeley, as defined by the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development, or its successor provision, or as established by the City of Berkeley in the event 
that such median income figures are no longer published by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development. 

D. "Applicant" means any individual, person, firm, partnership, association, joint venture, corporation, entity, 
combination of entities or authorized representative thereof, who applies to the City for any Housing 
Development Project. 

E. "Housing Development Project" means a development project, including a Mixed-Use Residential project (as 
defined in 23.502.020(M)(13), involving the new construction of at least one Residential Unit. Projects with one or 
more buildings or projects including multiple contiguous parcels under common ownership or control shall be 
considered as a sole Housing Development Project and not as individual projects. 

F. "Housing Trust Fund" means the program to finance low and moderate-income housing established by 
Resolution No. 55,504-N.S., or any successor fund established for the same purpose. 

G. "Lower-Income Household" means a household whose income does not exceed the low-income limits 
applicable to Alameda County, as defined in California Health and Safety Code section 50079.5 and published 
annually pursuant to Title 25 of the California Code of Regulations, Section 6932 (or its successor provision) by the 
California Department of Housing and Community Development. 

H. "Regulatory Agreement and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants" means, for the purposes of this Chapter, a 
legally binding agreement recorded against the property to codify the requirements and conditions of a Housing 
Development Project providing Affordable Units. 

I. "Residential Unit" means, for purposes of this Chapter, any Dwelling Unit, any Live/Work Unit, or any 
bedroom of a Group Living Accommodation (GLA) except a GLA in a University-recognized fraternity, sorority or 

Ch. 23.328 Inclusionary Housing | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 2 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through February 28, 2023.

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 10 of 75

Page 173 of 263

Page 339

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50052.5
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50052.5
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50053
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50053
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.502.020(M)(13)
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.502.020(M)(13)
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50079.5
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50079.5
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/CCR/25
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/CCR/25
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/CCR/6932
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/CCR/6932


co-op; provided, however, that for purposes of this Chapter, "Residential Unit" shall not include any Accessory 
Dwelling Unit or Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit. 

J. "Residential Unit Floor Area" means, for the purpose of this Chapter, the floor area of the Residential Unit(s) 
of a Housing Development Project. 

1. Residential Unit Floor Area shall be measured from the interior of the walls of each unit. The Residential 
Unit Floor Area shall exclude areas that are not habitable residential square footage such as: 

(a) Balconies, whether private or open to all residents 

(b) Storage lockers not located within residential units 

(c) Vehicular (e.g., automobile or motorcycle) and bicycle parking areas that are separate areas from 
the residential unit 

(d) Other qualifying areas that are not associated with residential units, upon approval of the Zoning 
Officer. 

2. For Residential Units consisting of Group Living Accommodations, Residential Unit Floor Area shall also 
include common rooms/lounges and supporting facilities such as kitchens and restrooms. 

K. "Very Low Income Household" means a household whose income is no more than 50% of AMI, as defined in 
California Health and Safety Code section 50105. (Ord. 7853-NS § 2, 2023) 

23.328.030 Affordable Housing Requirements. 

A. Requirement to Construct Affordable Units. 

1. Except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, no permit for the construction of any Housing 
Development Project shall be issued unless at least 20% of the Residential Units are Affordable Units. When 
the calculation results in a fractional unit, an Applicant will round up to the nearest whole unit. The Affordable 
Units shall have the same proportion of unit types (i.e., number of bedrooms) and average size as the market 
rate units (provided, however, that no Affordable Unit may have more than three bedrooms). 

2. In lieu of providing Affordable Units pursuant to Paragraph 1, an Applicant may propose an alternative 
mix of unit-types to comply with this Chapter by providing Affordable Units that comprise at least 20% of the 
Residential Unit Floor Area of the Housing Development Project in order to achieve a mix of Affordable Units 
including two-bedroom or three-bedroom units. The City Manager or their designee may approve the 
proposed alternative mix of unit- types that meet the requirements of this section. 

3. Affordable Units shall be (a) reasonably dispersed throughout the Housing Development Project; and (b) 
comparable to other Residential Units in the Housing Development Project in terms of appearance, materials, 

Ch. 23.328 Inclusionary Housing | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 3 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through February 28, 2023.

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 11 of 75

Page 174 of 263

Page 340

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50105
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50105


and finish quality. Residents of Affordable Units shall have access to the same common areas and amenities 
that are available to residents of other Residential Units in the Housing Development Project. 

4. The City Manager or their designee shall adopt rules and regulations (a) establishing the affordable sales 
price or affordable rent for each Affordable Unit, consistent with the requirements of Health and Safety Code 
sections 50052.5 and 50053; and (b) ensuring that Affordable Units are sold or rented to Very Low Income 
and Lower Income Households, consistent with the requirements of this Chapter. 

5. Rental Units. 

(a) At least 50% of the required Affordable Units in the Housing Development Project shall be offered at 
a rent that is affordable to Very Low Income Households, up to a maximum requirement of 10% of the 
total units in the Housing Development Project if the project provides more Affordable Units than are 
otherwise required by this Chapter. 

(b) In determining whether a unit is affordable to Very Low Income or Low Income Households, 
maximum allowable rent for any affordable unit shall be reduced by an amount equal to the value of the 
City-published utility allowance provided for Tenant-paid utilities and any other mandatory fee imposed 
by the property owner as a condition of tenancy. 

(c) Any percentage increase in rent of an occupied Affordable Unit shall not exceed the lesser of 65% of 
the increase in the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) in the San Francisco-Oakland-
San Jose region as reported and published by the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 
for the twelve-month period ending the previous December 31, or 65% of the percentage increase in AMI 
for the same calendar year. In no event, however, shall the allowable annual adjustment be less than 
zero (0%) or greater than seven percent (7%). 

(d) Affordable Units designated for Very Low Income Households shall be offered for rent to tenants 
receiving assistance under the Section 8 Program (42 U.S.C. Section 1437f), the Shelter Plus Care 
Program (42 U.S.C. Section 11403 et. seq.), or any similar state or federally funded rent subsidy program 
prior to being offered to other potential tenants. The Council may establish related program 
requirements by resolution. 

(e) The owner of any Affordable Unit offered for rent must report to the City annually the occupancy 
and rents charged for each Affordable Unit, and any other information required pursuant to rules and 
regulations adopted by the City Manager or their designee. 

6. Ownership Units. Inclusionary units in ownership projects shall be sold at a price that is affordable to an 
appropriate-sized household whose income is no more than 80 percent of the AMI. 

7. All Affordable Units shall be subject to a recorded affordability restriction requiring in perpetuity that 
each Affordable Unit be sold at an affordable sales price or offered for rent at an affordable rent, as defined 
in this Chapter. 

Ch. 23.328 Inclusionary Housing | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 4 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through February 28, 2023.

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 12 of 75

Page 175 of 263

Page 341

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50052.5
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50052.5
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50053
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/HSC/50053


8. Affordable Live/Work Units shall be proactively marketed by the Applicant and/or owner to income-
eligible persons performing a work activity permitted in the district where the project is located whose type of 
work causes them to have a requirement for a space larger in size than typically found in residential units. 

9. An Affordable Unit that is constructed to qualify for a density bonus under Government Code 
section65915 that otherwise meets the requirements of this Chapter shall qualify as an Affordable Unit under 
this Chapter. 

B. Option to Pay In-Lieu Fee. 

1. In lieu of providing some or all of the Affordable Units required under this Chapter (including any 
fractional units), an Applicant may elect to pay a fee, the amount of which the City Council may establish by 
resolution ("In-Lieu Fee"). The City Council may by resolution differentiate among types, classes, and locations 
of Housing Development Projects to the extent permitted by law; may establish separate fees and criteria for 
the provision of units that are affordable to Very Low Income Households and units that are affordable to 
Low Income Households; and may establish the method for calculation of the In-Lieu Fee. 

2. In-Lieu Fees shall be applied to the Residential Unit Floor Area of a Housing Development Project. For 
Live/Work units, the In-Lieu Fee shall be applied to the Residential Unit Floor Area that is designated as non-
workspace in the zoning permit approvals consistent with BMC section 23.312.040. 

3. In-Lieu Fees shall be estimated as part of the preliminary Affordable Housing Compliance Plan and 
finalized at the time of building permit issuance, consistent with the final Affordable Housing Compliance 
Plan. 

4. In-Lieu Fees shall be paid prior to the issuance of the first Certificate of Occupancy, or if no Certificate of 
Occupancy is required, prior to the initial occupancy of the Housing Development Project. 

5. Up to 15% of In-Lieu Fees collected may be used to pay for administration of the In-Lieu Fee or the 
Housing Trust Fund program. At least 85% of In-Lieu Fees collected shall be deposited into the City’s Housing 
Trust Fund program. 

C. Option to Dedicate Land. 

1. At the discretion of the City Manager or their designee, the requirements of this Chapter may be satisfied 
by the dedication of land in lieu of constructing Affordable Units within the Housing Development Project if 
the City Manager or their designee determines that all of the following criteria have been met: 

(a) Marketable title to the site is transferred to the City, or an affordable housing developer approved 
by the City, prior to issuance of building permit of the Housing Development Project pursuant to an 
agreement between the Applicant and the City. 

(b) The site has a General Plan designation that authorizes residential uses and is zoned for residential 
development at a density to accommodate at least the number of Affordable Units that would otherwise 
be required under Paragraph A. 

Ch. 23.328 Inclusionary Housing | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 5 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through February 28, 2023.

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 13 of 75

Page 176 of 263

Page 342

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65915
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65915
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.312.040
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.312.040


(c) The site is suitable for development of the Affordable Units, taking into consideration its 
configuration, physical characteristics, location, access, adjacent uses, and applicable development 
standards and other relevant planning and development criteria including, but not limited to, factors 
such as the cost of construction or development arising from the nature, condition, or location of the 
site. 

(d) Infrastructure to serve the dedicated site, including, but not limited to, streets and public utilities, 
are available at the property line and have adequate capacity to serve the maximum allowable 
residential density permitted under zoning regulations. 

(e) The site has been evaluated for the presence of hazardous materials and for the presence of 
geological hazards and all such hazards are or will be mitigated to the satisfaction of the City prior to 
acceptance of the site by the City. 

(f) The value of the site upon the date of dedication is equal to or greater than the in-lieu fee that 
would otherwise be required under Paragraph A. The value of the site shall be determined pursuant to 
the program guidelines approved by the City Manager or their designee. 

2. The City shall solicit proposals from affordable housing developers to construct restricted income units 
on the site dedicated to the City, but if the City is unable to obtain a qualified affordable housing developer to 
construct a viable affordable housing development on the property within two years of its solicitation or to 
commence construction within five years, the City may sell, transfer, lease, or otherwise dispose of the 
dedicated site for any purpose. Any funds collected as the result of a sale, transfer, lease, or other disposition 
of sites dedicated to the City shall be deposited into a fund designated for use in the City’s Housing Trust 
Fund program. (Ord. 7853-NS § 2, 2023) 

23.328.040 Waiver or Modification of Affordable Housing Requirements. 

A. The City Manager or their designee may waive or modify up to fifty percent of the requirements of this 
Chapter at their sole discretion where any of the following conditions are established: 

1. A project providing low- or moderate-income housing is funded in whole or in part by the City’s Housing 
Trust Fund program; 

2. The implementation of the requirements of this Chapter would violate the rights of any person under the 
California or United States Constitutions, any federal law, or any state law governing a matter of statewide 
concern and applicable to a charter city; or 

3. The benefits of the project to the City outweigh the detriment of foregoing the provision of Affordable 
Housing or the contribution of In-Lieu fees to the Housing Trust Fund program. In weighing the benefits and 
detriment to the City, the following factors may be considered: 

(a) The impact of the requirements of this Chapter on the feasibility of a Housing Development Project; 

Ch. 23.328 Inclusionary Housing | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 6 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through February 28, 2023.

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 14 of 75

Page 177 of 263

Page 343



(b) Other economically beneficial uses of the Applicant’s property; 

(c) The burdens the Housing Development Project places on the City in terms of increased demand for 
affordable housing, childcare, public facilities or amenities, or other impacts which reasonably may be 
anticipated to be generated by or attributable to the Housing Development Project; and 

(d) The impact on the Housing Trust Fund program of foregoing the payment of any In-Lieu fee that 
would otherwise be made. 

B. Waivers or modifications greater than fifty percent of the amount which otherwise would be required by this 
Chapter shall be subject to the approval of City Council. 

C. The Applicant shall bear the burden of proof to establish eligibility for a waiver or modification of the 
requirements of this Chapter. (Ord. 7853-NS § 2, 2023) 

23.328.050 Implementation. 

A. The Applicant for any Use Permit or Zoning Certificate for a Housing Development Project shall submit a 
preliminary Affordable Housing Compliance Plan to the Zoning Officer at the time of application. The preliminary 
Affordable Housing Compliance Plan shall be incorporated as a condition of approval of any Use Permit or Zoning 
Certificate issued to the Applicant. No building permit may be issued for the project until the final Affordable 
Housing Compliance Plan is approved. 

B. The Applicant must execute a Regulatory Agreement and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants to regulate all 
Affordable Units provided in a Housing Development Project. No building permit may be issued for the project 
until the Regulatory Agreement and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants are executed. 

C. The Affordable Housing Compliance Plan and/or Regulatory Agreement and Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants may be amended administratively, provided that the Zoning Officer finds them to be in full compliance 
with the provisions of this ordinance and State law, prior to issuance of Certificate of Occupancy. 

D. The City Manager or their designee may promulgate additional rules and regulations consistent with the 
requirements of this Chapter. 

E. The City Council may by resolution establish fees for the implementation and administration of this Chapter 
and may establish administrative penalties for violations of this Chapter. 

F. Exemptions. The following types of Housing Development Projects and Residential Units are exempt from this 
Chapter: 

1. A Housing Development Project for which either a building permit was issued on or before April 1, 2023 
or a preliminary application including all of the information required by subdivision (a) of California 
Government Code section65941.1 was submitted on or before April 1, 2023 shall be subject to this Chapter’s 
requirements that were in place as of the preliminary application’s submittal date but shall otherwise be 

Ch. 23.328 Inclusionary Housing | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 7 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through February 28, 2023.

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 15 of 75

Page 178 of 263

Page 344

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65941.1
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65941.1


The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through 
February 28, 2023. 

Disclaimer: The City Clerk’s Office has the official version of the Berkeley Municipal Code. Users should contact the 
City Clerk’s Office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above. 

City Website: www.berkeleyca.gov 
Code Publishing Company, A General Code Company 

exempt from this Chapter. This exemption shall expire upon the occurrence of any of the circumstances 
defined in paragraphs (2), (6), or (7) of subdivision (o) of California Government Code section 65589.5 or in 
subdivision (d) of California Government Code section 65941. 

2. A Housing Development Project with 5,000 square feet or less of Residential Unit Floor Area, unless it is 
part of a larger Housing Development Project. This exemption shall expire on April 1, 2025, or at such time as 
the City Council modifies or repeals this exemption, whichever date is sooner. 

3. A Residential Unit that replaces a unit existing as of April 1, 2023 that has been destroyed by fire, 
earthquake or other disaster, or that was previously subject to a mitigation fee or inclusionary housing 
requirement. 

4. A Residential Unit existing as of April 1, 2023 that is expanded, renovated, or rehabilitated. (Ord. 7853-NS 
§ 2, 2023) 

Ch. 23.328 Inclusionary Housing | Berkeley Municipal Code Page 8 of 8

The Berkeley Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 7854-NS, and legislation passed through February 28, 2023.

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 16 of 75

Page 179 of 263

Page 345

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65589.5
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65589.5
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65941
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65941
https://www.berkeleyca.gov/
https://www.berkeleyca.gov/
https://www.codebook.com/
https://www.codebook.com/


 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning and Development Department 

 
 
 

DATE: May 5, 2023 
 
TO: Katrina Lapira, Associate Planner 
 
FROM: Darya Barar, Consulting Urban Forester 
  
SUBJECT: 1589 University Ave. – Arborist Comments 
 
 
I reviewed Insideouts Landscape Architecture’s landscape plan dated March 16, 2023.  Based on my 
review of the plans I recommend the applicant be required to preserve the five crepe myrtle street trees 
growing along California Street.   
 
Trees should be protected for the entire construction period with fencing.  Fencing shall completely 
enclose the TREE PROTECTION ZONE and shall be erected prior to demolition, grubbing, or grading 
(Figure 1).  Fences shall be 6 ft. chain link with posts sunk into the ground.  Fences are to remain until all 
grading and construction is completed.   
 

 
The current plans show seven trees to be planted on University Avenue.  Trees should be planted in 
accordance with the City’s tree planting standards.  Flexi-pave shall be used instead of tree grates.  
Irrigation is required to be placed in the tree wells.  No root barriers shall be used. 
 
 

Figure 1.  Fence trees to be preserved with 6 ft. chain link with posts sunk into the ground for 
the duration of construction.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 17 of 75

Page 180 of 263

Page 346



1

Jacob, Melinda

From: Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB)
Subject: FW: 1598 University Ave

From: Larry Mandella <larry.mandella@comcast.net>  
Sent: Tuesday, May 9, 2023 4:56 PM 
To: Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) <Planningzab@cityofberkeley.info> 
Subject: 1598 University Ave 
 
WARNING: This is not a City of Berkeley email. Do not click links or attachments unless you trust the sender and know the content is 

safe.  

Dear Members of the Zoning Adjustments Board, 

 My comment concerns the project at 1598 University Ave. 

 I have lived in Berkeley since 1968 and our family has lived in our current home since 1974 on Addison St., directly 
behind the proposed project. 

 My primary concern is the impact of an eight story building adjacent to the houses just south of the project. The current 
plan has a step down from 8 to 7 to 6 stories on the West wing of the U‐shaped building. On the East wing, the step 
down is only 8 to 7 stories. 

 I strongly would like to see the developers match the East wing step‐down to the one on the West Wing, thus making 
them both 8 to 7 to 6 stories. The height and mass of this project will greatly impact those of us living the closest to it. I 
believe it would make a significant difference for the walls nearest us to be as low as possible. 

 Thank you for your consideration in your deliberations. 

 Larry Mandella,  

1543 Addison St., Berkeley 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 18 of 75

Page 181 of 263

Page 347



1

Jacob, Melinda

From: Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB)
Subject: FW: Agenda Item No. 4: 1598 University Mixed-Use Project (6031)
Attachments: 6031-010j -  1598 University Ave ZAB Comments.pdf

From: Lorrie J. LeLe <ljlele@adamsbroadwell.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, May 9, 2023 4:37 PM 
To: Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) <Planningzab@cityofberkeley.info>; Lapira, Katrina <KLapira@cityofberkeley.info> 
Cc: Aidan P. Marshall <amarshall@adamsbroadwell.com> 
Subject: Agenda Item No. 4: 1598 University Mixed‐Use Project (6031) 
 
WARNING: This is not a City of Berkeley email. Do not click links or attachments unless you trust the sender and know the content is 

safe.  
On behalf of East Bay Residents for Responsible Development, we submit the a. ached comments on Agenda Item No. 4. 
 
We are also providing you with a Dropbox link which contains the referenced documents for your convenience. 
 
h ps://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/rk2jxl8nmnu56xdn64ukt/h?dl=0&rlkey=hajtr9f6bjaod5ng8z8twv4r8 
 
If you have any ques ons, please contact Aiden Marshall – amarshall@adamsbroadwell.com 
 
Thank you, 
 

Lorrie LeLe 
Legal Assistant 
Adams Broadwell Joseph & Cardozo 
520 Capitol Mall, Suite 350 
Sacramento, CA  95814 
ljlele@adamsbroadwell.com | Phone: 916. 444.6201  Ext. 10  |  Fax: 916.444.6209 | 
 
__________________________________ 
This e-mail may contain material that is confidential, privileged and/or attorney work product for the sole use of the intended 
recipient.  Any review, reliance or distribution by others or forwarding without express permission is strictly prohibited.  If you are 
not the intended recipient, please contact the send and delete all copies. 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 19 of 75

Page 182 of 263

Page 348



 

6031-010j 

KEVIN T. CARMICHAEL 
CHRISTINA M. CARO 
THOMAS A. ENSLOW 

KELILAH D. FEDERMAN 
RICHARD M. FRANCO 

ANDREW J. GRAF 
TANYA A. GULESSERIAN 

RACHAEL E. KOSS 
AIDAN P. MARSHALL 

TARA C. RENGIFO 
 

Of Counsel 
MARC D. JOSEPH 

DANIEL L. CARDOZO 
 

SACRAMENTO OFFICE 
 
520 CAPITOL MALL, SUITE 350 
SACRAMENTO, CA 95814-4721 

T E L :  ( 9 1 6 )  4 4 4 - 6 2 0 1  
F A X :  ( 9 1 6 )  4 4 4 - 6 2 0 9  

ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO 
 

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION 
 

A T T O RN E Y S  A T  L A W  
 

6 0 1  G A T E W A Y  B O U L E V A R D ,  S U I T E  1 0 0 0  

S O U T H  S A N  F R A N C I S C O ,  C A  9 4 0 8 0 - 7 0 3 7  
___________ 

 
T E L :  ( 6 5 0 )  5 8 9 - 1 6 6 0  
F A X :  ( 6 5 0 )  5 8 9 - 5 0 6 2  

a m a r s h a l l @ a d a m s b r o a d w e l l . c o m  

 

 printed on recycled paper 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 9, 2023 

 

Via Email and Overnight Mail  

Yes Duffy, Chairperson 

Kimberly Gaffney, Vice Chairperson 

Igor Tregub, Member 

Michael Thompson, Member 

Holly Scheider, Member 

Shoshana O’Keefe, Member  

Charles Kahn, Member 

Brandon Yung, Member 

Debra Sanderson, Member 

Zoning Adjustments Board 

Planning and Development 

1947 Center Street, 2nd Floor  

Berkeley, CA 94704 

Email: zab@cityofberkeley.info  

 

Via Email Only 

Katrina Lapira, Associate Planner 

Email: klapira@cityofberkeley.info  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Re:     Agenda Item No. 4: 1598 University Mixed-Use Project (File No. 

DRCP2022-0008; ZP2022-0099) 

 

Dear Chairperson Duffy, Vice Chairperson Gaffney, Members: Tregub, Thompson, 

Schneider, O’Keefe, Kahn, Yung, Sanderson, and Ms. Riemer: 

 

 We are writing on behalf of East Bay Residents for Responsible Development 

(“East Bay Residents” or “EBRRD”) to provide comments on the 1598 University 

Mixed-Use Project (File No. DRCP2022-0008; ZP2022-0099) proposed by 1598 

University Avenue, LLC/NX Ventures/Trachtenberg Architects (“Applicant”). The 

City of Berkeley (“City) Zoning Adjustments Board (“ZAB”) will consider approval of 

the Project at the May 11, 2023, ZAB meeting. The ZAB will consider approval of 

the following Use Permits:  

 

• Use Permit to demolish two non-residential buildings, under Berkeley 

Municipal Code (BMC) Section 23.326.070 

• Use Permit to establish a mixed-use residential building, under BMC Section 

23.204.020 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 20 of 75

Page 183 of 263

Page 349

mailto:zab@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:zab@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:klapira@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:klapira@cityofberkeley.info


May 9, 2023 

Page 2 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

• Use Permit to create 5,000 square feet of new floor area in the University 

Commercial District, under BMC Section 23.204.030(A) 

• Use Permit to establish residential uses on the ground floor, under BMC 

23.204.060(B)(3) 

• Use Permit to reduce the rear setback (interior) to provide greater privacy 

along the side setback (south) that abuts residential district, under BMC 

23204.060.  

• Administrative Use Permit for projections that exceed the maximum building 

height limit, under 23.304.050(A) 

 

The Project consists of the demolition of an existing non-residential structure 

and construction of a 134,409 square-foot, eight-story mixed-use residential building 

containing 207 dwelling units (including 21 very low-income units) and 5,787 

square foot commercial space, with 39 parking spaces and 92 bicycle parking 

spaces. The Project is seeking a 50% Density Bonus by providing 15% of the base 

project units as affordable to very-low income households. The Project site is located 

at 1598 University Ave., Berkeley, CA 94703 (APN 056 200300100). 

 

The staff report for the ZAB hearing includes a recommendation that the 

ZAB find the Project categorically exempt from the provisions of the California 

Environmental Quality Act1 (“CEQA”) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15332 

(“Class 32” or “Infill Development Project”).2 But, as explained herein, and in 

comments East Bay Residents submitted in advance of the Project’s Preliminary 

Design Review,3 the City cannot rely on the Class 32 exemption due to the Project’s 

potentially significant impacts of air quality, noise, traffic, and public health. Since 

the City defers its own analysis of the Project’s environmental impacts until after 

Project approval, the staff recommendation that the Project is exempt from CEQA is 

not supported by substantial evidence and fails to comply with CEQA. Rather, the 

Project’s substantial size, 24-month construction period, and its proximity to 

sensitive receptors indicate that the Project’s impacts may be potentially 

significant, precluding reliance on the Class 32 Exemption. As a result, an 

environmental impact report (“EIR”) must be prepared for this Project. 

 

Additionally, the Project Applicant has not made a commitment to ensure the 

Project is built with local skilled and trained workforce, or provide workforce 

benefits for City of Berkeley or East Bay residents. The Project thus fails to 

demonstrate consistency with the workforce and economic requirements of the City 

 
1 Pub. Resources Code (“PRC”) §§ 21000 et seq. 
2 14 Cal. Code Regs. (“CCR” or “CEQA Guidelines”) §§ 15000 et seq.; Staff Report.  
3 Letter from East Bay Residents re: Comments on Agenda Item IV.2 – Preliminary Design Review 

for the 1598 University Mixed-Use Project (File No. DRCP2022-0008; ZP2022-0099) (April 20, 2023).  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 21 of 75

Page 184 of 263

Page 350



May 9, 2023 

Page 3 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

of Berkeley General Plan (“General Plan”). Inconsistency with applicable General 

Plan and local plan workforce policies precludes reliance on the Class 32 

Exemption, which requires that projects be consistent with the applicable general 

plan designation and “all applicable general plan policies.”4  

 

The ZAB also lacks the evidence necessary to approve the Project’s requested 

Use Permits. As required by BMC Section 23.406.040(E), the ZAB must find that 

the proposed structure will not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, 

comfort, or general welfare of persons and adjacent properties to approve the Use 

Permits. But because the City has deferred environmental review until after 

approval of the Use Permits, the ZAB lacks substantial evidence to support a 

conclusion that the Project is exempt from CEQA and will not be detrimental to the 

general welfare. 

 

East Bay Residents respectfully requests that the ZAB remand the Project to 

staff to prepare an environmental impact report (“EIR”) pursuant to CEQA. The 

EIR must contain the necessary supporting analysis to fully disclose and mitigate 

the Project’s adverse impacts, including but not limited to construction and 

operational air quality and public health impacts, hazardous materials, noise, and 

land use impacts. The Project should also incorporate workforce standards which 

are consistent with the City’s General Plan and Specific Plan workforce goals and 

policies.5  

 

I. STATEMENT OF INTEREST  

 

East Bay Residents for Responsible Development (“ERRBD” or “East Bay 

Residents”) is an unincorporated association of individuals and labor organizations 

that may be adversely affected by the potential impacts associated with Project 

development. The association includes the UA Plumbers and Pipefitters Local 342, 

International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 595, Sheet Metal Workers 

Local 104, Sprinkler Fitters Local 483, and their members and their families who 

live and/or work in the City of Berkeley and Alameda County. 

 

The individual members of East Bay Residents live, work, and raise their 

families in the City of Berkeley and Alameda County. They would be directly 

affected by the Project and its impacts. The organizational members of Residents 

 
4 14 CCR 15332(a).  
5 We reserve the right to supplement these comments at later hearings and proceedings on the 

Project. Gov. Code § 65009(b); PRC § 21177(a); Bakersfield Citizens for Local Control v. Bakersfield 

(“Bakersfield”) (2004) 124 Cal. App. 4th 1184, 1199-1203; see Galante Vineyards v. Monterey Water 

Dist. (1997) 60 Cal. App. 4th 1109, 1121. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 22 of 75

Page 185 of 263

Page 351



May 9, 2023 

Page 4 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

also have an interest in enforcing public interest, health and safety, labor and 

environmental laws that encourage sustainable development and ensure a safe 

working environment for its members. East Bay Residents’ members are also 

concerned about projects that are built without providing opportunities to improve 

local recruitment, apprenticeship training, and retention of skilled workforces, and 

without providing lifesaving healthcare expenditures for the construction workforce. 

 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

 

CEQA has two basic purposes, neither of which the City has satisfied in this 

case. First, CEQA is designed to inform decision makers and the public about the 

potential, significant environmental impacts of a project before harm is done to the 

environment.6 The EIR is the “heart” of this requirement,7 and has been described 

as “an environmental ‘alarm bell’ whose purpose it is to alert the public and its 

responsible officials to environmental changes before they have reached ecological 

points of no return.”8 To fulfill this purpose, the discussion of impacts in an EIR 

must be detailed, complete, and “reflect a good faith effort at full disclosure.”9 An 

adequate EIR must contain facts and analysis, not just an agency’s conclusions.10  

 

Second, CEQA directs public agencies to avoid or reduce environmental 

damage when possible by requiring imposition of mitigation measures and by 

requiring the consideration of environmentally superior alternatives.11 CEQA 

imposes an affirmative obligation on agencies to avoid or reduce environmental 

harm by adopting feasible project alternatives or mitigation measures to address all 

potentially significant impacts identified in the agency’s CEQA analysis.12 Without 

an adequate analysis and description of feasible mitigation measures, it would be 

impossible for agencies relying upon an EIR or other environmental document to 

meet this obligation. 

 

  

 
6 Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 15002, subd. (a)(1) (“CEQA Guidelines”); Berkeley Keep Jets Over the 
Bay v. Bd. of Port Comm’rs. (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1344, 1354 (“Berkeley Jets”); County of Inyo v. 
Yorty (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 795, 810. 
7 No Oil, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (1974) 13 Cal.3d 68, 84. 
8 County of Inyo v. Yorty (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 795, 810. 
9 CEQA Guidelines, § 15151; San Joaquin Raptor/Wildlife Rescue Center v. County of Stanislaus 

(1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 713, 721-722. 
10 See Citizens of Goleta Valley v. Bd. of Supervisors (1990) 52 Cal.3d 553, 568. 
11 CEQA Guidelines, § 15002, subd. (a)(2) and (3); Berkeley Jets, 91 Cal.App.4th, at p. 1354; Laurel 
Heights Improvement Ass’n v. Regents of the University of Cal. (1998) 47 Cal.3d 376, 400. 
12 Pub. Resources Code, §§ 21002-21002.1. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 23 of 75

Page 186 of 263

Page 352



May 9, 2023 

Page 5 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

Under CEQA, mitigation measures must be fully enforceable through permit 

conditions, agreements or other legally binding instruments.13 A CEQA lead agency 

is precluded from making the required CEQA findings to approve a project unless 

the record shows that all uncertainties regarding the mitigation of impacts have 

been resolved. For this reason, an agency may not rely on mitigation measures of 

uncertain efficacy or feasibility.14 This approach helps “insure the integrity of the 

process of decision by precluding stubborn problems or serious criticism from being 

swept under the rug.”15 

 

Following preliminary review of a project to determine whether an activity is 

subject to CEQA, a lead agency is required to prepare an initial study to determine 

whether to prepare an EIR or negative declaration, identify whether a program 

EIR, tiering, or other appropriate process can be used for analysis of the project’s 

environmental effects, or determine whether a previously prepared EIR could be 

used with the project, among other purposes.16 CEQA requires an agency to analyze 

the potential environmental impacts of its proposed actions in an EIR except in 

certain limited circumstances.17 A negative declaration may be prepared instead of 

an EIR when, after preparing an initial study, a lead agency determines that a 

project “would not have a significant effect on the environment.”18  

 

III. THE CITY LACKS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A 

CEQA INFILL EXEMPTION 

 

The City improperly determined that the Project qualifies for Infill 

Exemption under CEQA Guidelines Section 15332. CEQA is “an integral part of any 

public agency’s decision making process.”19  It was enacted to require public 

agencies and decision makers to document and consider the environmental 

implications of their actions before formal decisions are made.20  CEQA requires an 

agency to conduct adequate environmental review prior to taking any discretionary 

action that may significantly affect the environment unless an exemption applies.21 

 
13 CEQA Guidelines, § 15126.4, subd. (a)(2). 
14 Kings County Farm Bureau v. County of Hanford (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 692, 727-28 (a 

groundwater purchase agreement found to be inadequate mitigation because there was no record 

evidence that replacement water was available). 
15 Concerned Citizens of Costa Mesa, Inc. v. 32nd Dist. Agricultural Assn. (1986) 42 Cal.3d 929, 935. 
16 CEQA Guidelines, §§ 15060, 15063, subd. (c). 
17 See, e.g., Pub. Resources Code, § 21100. 
18 Quail Botanical Gardens v. City of Encinitas (1994) 29 Cal.App.4th 1597; Pub. Resources Code 

§ 21080(c).  
19 Pub. Resources Code § 21006. 
20 Id., §§ 21000, 21001. 
21 Id., § 21100(a); see also CEQA Guidelines § 15004(a). 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 24 of 75

Page 187 of 263

Page 353



May 9, 2023 

Page 6 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

Thus, exemptions must be narrowly construed and are not to be expanded beyond 

the scope of their plain language.22 

 

CEQA requires an agency to analyze whether a project conforms with the 

applicable land use plan, policy, or regulation of an agency with jurisdiction over 

the project (including, but not limited to the general plan, specific plan, local coastal 

program, or zoning ordinance) adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an 

environmental effect.23  Here, the Project fails to conform with the General Plan.  

 

A. The Infill Exemption 

 

Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines provides an exemption from CEQA for 

projects characterized as in-fill development meeting the following conditions:  

 

(a) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all 

applicable general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation 

and regulations. 

(b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no 

more than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. 

(c) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened 

species. 

(d) Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to 

traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. 

(e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public 

services.  

 

The infill exemption requires a lead agency provide “substantial evidence to 

support [their] finding that the Project will not have a significant effect.”24 

"Substantial evidence" means enough relevant information and reasonable 

inferences from this information that a fair argument can be made to support a 

conclusion, even though other conclusions might also be reached. Whether a fair 

argument can be made that the project may have a significant effect on the 

environment is to be determined by examining the whole record before the lead 

agency.25  If a court locates substantial evidence in the record to support the City’s 

conclusion, the City’s decision will be upheld.26 

 
22 Castaic Lake Water Agency v. City of Santa Clarita (1995) 41 Cal.App.4th 1257. 
23 CEQA Guidelines Appendix G, XI Land Use and Planning.  
24 Banker’s Hill, Hillcrest, Park West Community Preservation Group v. City of San Diego (2006) 139 

Cal.App.4th 249, 269.  
25 CEQA Guidelines § 15384. 
26 Bankers Hill Hillcrest, 139 Cal.App.4th at 269. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 25 of 75

Page 188 of 263

Page 354



May 9, 2023 

Page 7 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

The Project fails to meet the requirements of Section 15332(a) and (d) 

because, as discussed below, the Project is likely to result in inconsistencies with 

the Berkeley General Plan and may result in potentially significant impacts to 

public health, air quality, and noise. The record demonstrates that neither the City 

nor the Applicant have provided substantial evidence demonstrating that the 

Project qualifies for the infill exemption. By contrast, there is substantial evidence 

supporting a fair argument that the Project would result in potentially significant 

environmental effects that require preparation of an EIR. 

 

B. The City Lacks Substantial Evidence to Conclude that the Project 

Satisfies the Infill Exemption Criteria 

 

i. The City Lacks Substantial Evidence to Support a Conclusion 

that the Project Will Not Result in Significant Noise and 

Vibration Impacts 

 

The City failed to provide substantial evidence that the Project will not result 

in significant noise and vibration impacts. Instead, the Project’s proposed conditions 

of approval propose to require improperly deferred analysis of the Project’s noise 

and vibration impacts after the Project is approved, in violation of CEQA.  

 

First, the Staff Report provides no information regarding the baseline noise 

levels against which to determine the significance of noise from Project construction 

and operation. The City thus does not have substantial evidence in the record to 

support a determination that noise and vibration impacts are less than significant.  

 

Second, the Findings and Conditions in Attachment 1 of the Staff Report 

provide that the Project applicant “shall submit screening level analysis prior to, or 

concurrent with, demolition building permit. If a screening level analysis shows 

that the project has the potential to result in damage to structures, a structural 

engineer or other appropriate professional shall be retained to prepare a vibration 

impact assessment (assessment)… This study shall establish the baseline condition 

of these structures, including, but not limited to, the location and extent of any 

visible cracks or spalls.”27  This condition represents improperly deferred analysis. 

“By deferring environmental assessment to a future date, the conditions run 

counter to that policy of CEQA which requires environmental review at the earliest 

feasible stage in the planning process.”28  The City requires the Applicant to analyze 

noise and vibration impacts after project approval. This contravenes the purposes of  

  

 
27 Staff Report, Attachment 1, pg. 9 of 25.  
28 Sundstrom (1998) 202 Cal.App.3d 296, 305.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 26 of 75

Page 189 of 263

Page 355



May 9, 2023 

Page 8 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

CEQA, which requires environmental review at the earliest feasible stage in the 

planning process. The City must prepare an EIR to adequately analyze and 

mitigate potentially significant noise and vibration impacts.  

 

ii. Substantial Evidence Supports a Fair Argument that the 

Project Will Result in Significant Noise Impacts 

 

Substantial evidence supports a fair argument that the Project’s noise 

impacts would exceed the City’s noise significance thresholds. Section 13.40, 

Community Noise, of the Berkeley Municipal Code establishes the City’s standards 

for on-site operational noise and construction noise. Section 13.40.050 sets limits for 

exterior noise generated on a property, as measured at any other property. Table 

13.40-129 shows the City’s exterior noise limits that cannot be exceeded for more 

than 30 minutes in any hour. 

 
 

Exterior noise generated on a property also cannot exceed the following limits 

for shorter periods of time in a given hour:  

 

• The noise standard for that land use as specified in Table 13.40-1 plus 5 dBA 

for a cumulative period of more than 15 minutes in any hour; or 

• The noise standard for that land use as specified in Table 13.40-1 plus 10 

dBA for a cumulative period of more than 5 minutes in any hour; or 

 
29 Berkeley, Municipal Code Section 13.40.050.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 27 of 75

Page 190 of 263

Page 356



May 9, 2023 

Page 9 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

• The noise standard for that land use as specified in Table 13.40-1 plus 15 

dBA for a cumulative period of more than 1 minute in any hour; or 

• The noise standard for that land use as specified in Table 13.40-1 plus 20 

dBA for any period of time.  

 

Section 13.40.060 of the Berkeley Municipal Code sets interior noise limits 

for multi-residential uses as shown in Table 13.40-2. These standards apply within 

dwellings with their windows in normal seasonal configurations. 

 

 
 

Section 13.40.070 of the Berkeley Municipal Code sets standards for 

construction noise. This section prohibits construction activity between the hours of 

7:00 PM and 7:00 AM on weekdays, and between 8:00 PM to 9:00 AM on weekends 

and holidays, such that the resulting noise creates a noise disturbance across a 

residential or commercial property line. Table 13.40-3 (“Maximum sound levels for 

nonscheduled, intermittent, short-term operation (less than 10 days) of mobile 

equipment”) lists the City’s maximum sound levels for mobile equipment that apply 

to construction activity “where technically and economically feasible” during 

permitted hours of construction (Section 13.40.070.B of the Berkeley Municipal 

Code). 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 28 of 75

Page 191 of 263

Page 357



May 9, 2023 

Page 10 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

 
 

Table 13.40-3 lists the City’s maximum sound levels for stationary equipment 

that apply to construction activity “where technically and economically feasible” 

during permitted hours of construction (Section 13.40.070.B of the Berkeley 

Municipal Code). 

 

 
 

The Project would likely exceed the construction noise thresholds set forth 

above. Noise from temporary construction activity can be estimated using the 

Federal Highway Administration’s Roadway Construction Noise Model (RCNM). 

The model applies a typical list of equipment used in multi-story residential 

developments during each phase of construction. Impact or sonic pile drivers, if 

used to install foundations, would be the loudest individual noise source. This 

equipment can generate noise levels exceeding 100 dBA within 50 feet.30  Pile 

 
30 City of Berkeley, Ashby and North Berkeley BART Stations Transit-Oriented Development Zoning 

Project, Draft Environmental Impact Report SCH#2020110320, October 2021, pg. 4.8-10, available 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 29 of 75

Page 192 of 263

Page 358



May 9, 2023 

Page 11 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

drivers are most often used to set pile foundations for new concrete buildings that 

are at least six stories in height. Since the proposed Project would allow a building 

up to eight stories tall, it is reasonably foreseeable that pile drivers could be used in 

construction. 

 

The aforementioned noise impacts would not be substantially attenuated by 

distance, as sensitive residential receptors are located adjacent to the Project site:31 

 

 
 

As a result, construction noise impacts on these residential receptors could 

potentially reach 100 dBA, depending on the construction equipment used. The 

Project’s construction noise impacts would thus potentially exceed significance 

thresholds in BMC Section 13.40.070, and the City’s record lacks any evidence that 

noise levels would not exceed these levels. Therefore, substantial evidence 

demonstrates that a Class 32 exemption is inapplicable and the City lacks 

substantial evidence to support the exemption.  

 

iii. The City Lacks Substantial Evidence to Support a Conclusion 

that the Project Will Not Result in Significant Air Quality and 

Public Health Impacts 

 

The City lacks substantial evidence to support the conclusion that the Project 

will not result in significant air quality and health risk impacts because the City 

 
at https://files.ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/266033-

3/attachment/EyFhr7sIb9vpYiN2os0U2JXH1_Z1NDR1zkMAQg4tNWn7pnT65Bisli6o1b3px8VW1r5

aRigVUN_t7OF40  
31 DRC Meeting Staff Report, Figure 1: Vicinity Map, pg. 3, available at 

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-

20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 30 of 75

Page 193 of 263

Page 359

https://files.ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/266033-3/attachment/EyFhr7sIb9vpYiN2os0U2JXH1_Z1NDR1zkMAQg4tNWn7pnT65Bisli6o1b3px8VW1r5aRigVUN_t7OF40
https://files.ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/266033-3/attachment/EyFhr7sIb9vpYiN2os0U2JXH1_Z1NDR1zkMAQg4tNWn7pnT65Bisli6o1b3px8VW1r5aRigVUN_t7OF40
https://files.ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/266033-3/attachment/EyFhr7sIb9vpYiN2os0U2JXH1_Z1NDR1zkMAQg4tNWn7pnT65Bisli6o1b3px8VW1r5aRigVUN_t7OF40
https://files.ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/266033-3/attachment/EyFhr7sIb9vpYiN2os0U2JXH1_Z1NDR1zkMAQg4tNWn7pnT65Bisli6o1b3px8VW1r5aRigVUN_t7OF40
https://files.ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/266033-3/attachment/EyFhr7sIb9vpYiN2os0U2JXH1_Z1NDR1zkMAQg4tNWn7pnT65Bisli6o1b3px8VW1r5aRigVUN_t7OF40
https://files.ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/266033-3/attachment/EyFhr7sIb9vpYiN2os0U2JXH1_Z1NDR1zkMAQg4tNWn7pnT65Bisli6o1b3px8VW1r5aRigVUN_t7OF40
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf


May 9, 2023 

Page 12 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

failed to conduct a health risk analysis. Absent a health risk analysis, the City 

cannot conclude that air pollution and public health impacts are less than 

significant to support reliance on a Class 32 Infill Exemption. Moreover, readily 

available facts demonstrate that the Project is likely result in significant air quality 

and health risk impacts requiring preparation of an EIR.  

 

As explained in EBRRD’s prior comments, the City failed to prepare a health 

risk analysis (“HRA”) to quantify the health impact of the Project’s construction and 

operational emissions on sensitive receptors located near the Project site, violating 

CEQA’s requirement to disclose the health impacts of a project. In Sierra Club v. 

County of Fresno, the California Supreme Court affirmed CEQA’s mandate to 

protect public health and safety by holding that a CEQA document fails as an 

informational document when it fails to disclose the public health impacts from air 

pollutants that would be generated by a development project.32 As the Court 

explained, “a sufficient discussion of significant impacts requires not merely a 

determination of whether an impact is significant, but some effort to explain the 

nature and magnitude of the impact.”33 The Court concluded that the county’s EIR 

was inadequate for failing to disclose the nature and extent of public health impacts 

caused by the project’s air pollution. As the Court explained, the EIR failed to 

comply with CEQA because after reading the EIR, “the public would have no idea of 

the health consequences that result when more pollutants are added to a 

nonattainment basin.”34  

 

Here, by failing to produce any analysis of the Project’s health risk, the City 

fails to disclose the Project’s potential health risks. These risks are potentially 

significant – the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment’s ("OEHHA”) 

risk assessment guidelines recommend a formal health risk analysis (“HRA”) for 

short-term construction exposures to TACs lasting longer than 2 months and 

exposures from projects lasting more than 6 months should be evaluated for the 

duration of the project.35 In an HRA, lead agencies must first quantify the 

 
32 (2018) 6 Cal.5th 502, 518–522.  
33 Id. at 519, citing Cleveland National Forest Foundation v. San Diego Assn. of Governments (2017) 

3 Cal.5th 497, 514–515. 
34 Id. at 518. CEQA’s statutory scheme and legislative intent also include an express mandate that 

agencies analyze human health impacts and determine whether the “environmental effects of a 

project will cause substantial adverse effects on human beings, either directly or 

indirectly.” (Public Resources Code § 21083(b)(3) (emphasis added).) Moreover, CEQA directs 

agencies to “take immediate steps to identify any critical thresholds for the health and safety of 

the people of the state and take all coordinated actions necessary to prevent such thresholds being 

reached.” (Public Resources Code § 21000(d) (emphasis added).) 
35 Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA), Risk Assessment Guidelines: 

Guidance Manual for Preparation of Health Risk Assessments, February 2015 (OEHHA 2015), 

Section 8.2.10: Cancer Risk Evaluation of Short Term Projects, pp. 8-17/18; 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 31 of 75

Page 194 of 263

Page 360



May 9, 2023 

Page 13 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

concentration released into the environment at each of the sensitive receptor 

locations through air dispersion modeling, calculate the dose of each TAC at that 

location, and quantify the cancer risk and hazard index for each of the chemicals of 

concern.36 Following that analysis, then the City can make a determination of the 

relative significance of the emissions. Here, the Project is located in close proximity 

to residential receptors, and construction is expected to last for over two months. 

Without the requisite analysis of the Project’s health risk impacts, a finding that 

impacts would be less-than-significant and that the Project is exempt from CEQA 

would not be supported by substantial evidence. 

 

 The City may argue that standard conditions of approval in the staff report 

would ensure health risk and air quality impacts would be less than significant. 

However, CEQA requires the assessment of the severity of a project’s impacts prior 

to mitigation, not after mitigation.37 Therefore, that argument would be a red 

herring. 

 

Moreover, even when the standard conditions of approval are considered, they are 

not adequate to ensure that construction emissions and the health risk posed by 

exposure to construction TAC emissions would be less than significant. The staff 

report includes the condition that the Project will either prepare an HRA prior to 

issuance of the building permits, or “[a]ll construction equipment shall be equipped 

with Tier 2 or higher engines and the most effective Verified Diesel Emission 

Control Strategies (VDECS) available for the engine type (Tier 4 engines 

automatically meet this requirement) as certified by the California Air Resources 

Board (CARB).38 But the requirement to use “Tier 2 or higher” construction 

equipment fails to ensure that the Project’s construction TAC emissions will be 

reduced to levels of insignificance because Tier 2 equipment provides far lower 

emissions reductions than the most effective emissions-reducing currently on the 

market – Tier 4 Final equipment. 

 

The United States Environmental Protection Agency’s (“USEPA”) 1998 

nonroad engine emission standards were structured as a three-tiered progression. 

Tier 1 standards were phased-in from 1996 to 2000 and Tier 2 emission standards 

were phased in from 2001 to 2006. Tier 3 standards, which applied to engines from 

37-560 kilowatts (kW) only, were phased in from 2006 to 2008. The Tier 4 emission 

 
https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-

preparation-health-risk-0. 
36 Id. 
37 Lotus v. Dept of Transportation (2014) 223 Cal. App. 4th 645, 651-52. 
38 Staff Report, Attachment 1, Findings and Conditions, pg. 17 of 25.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 32 of 75

Page 195 of 263

Page 361

https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-preparation-health-risk-0
https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-preparation-health-risk-0
https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-preparation-health-risk-0
https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-preparation-health-risk-0


May 9, 2023 

Page 14 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

standards were introduced in 2004, and were phased in from 2008 – 2015.39 The 

Tier 4 emission standards—phased-in from 2008 through 2015—introduce 

substantial reductions of NOx (for engines above 56 kW) and PM (above 19 kW), as 

well as more stringent HC limits. CO emission limits remain unchanged from the 

Tier 2-3 stage.40  

 

The City’s reliance on Tier 2 construction equipment to reduce the Project’s 

construction DPM and other TAC emissions to less than significant levels is not 

supported by substantial evidence due to the limited efficacy of Tier 2 equipment 

and because the Condition does not obligate the Applicant to use the more effective 

Tier 4 equipment mentioned in the Condition.  

 

iv. The City Lacks Substantial Evidence to Support a Conclusion 

that the Project Site Will Conform with the General Plan 

 

CEQA requires an agency to analyze whether a project conforms with the 

applicable land use plan, policy or regulation of an agency with jurisdiction over the 

project (including, but not limited to the general plan, specific plan, local coastal 

program, or zoning ordinance) adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an 

environmental effect.41  The Housing Accountability Act (“HAA”) also requires a 

showing of substantial evidence demonstrating that a housing project is consistent, 

compliant, and in conformity with applicable plans, programs, policies, ordinances, 

standards, requirements, or other similar provisions in order to be deemed 

consistent with those land use policies.42 

 

The Project is inconsistent with the General Plan Economic Development & 

Employment Element, and thus cannot be approved, or deemed consistent with the 

General Plan, until consistency is demonstrated with substantial evidence.43  The 

General Plan Economic Development and Employment Element Policy (ED-1) 

(Employment and Training) provides that the City must “[i]ncrease the number of 

jobs that go to Berkeley citizens by coordinating economic development efforts with 

employment placement.”44  Further, the General Plan provides that the City 

 
39 Emission Standards, Nonroad Diesel Engines, available at: 

https://www.dieselnet.com/standards/us/nonroad.php#tier3  
40 https://www.dieselnet.com/standards/us/nonroad.php#tier3.  
41 CEQA Guidelines Appendix G, XI Land Use and Planning.  
42 Govt. Code § 65589.5(f)(4). 
43 SB 330 requires conformance with applicable, objective general plan and zoning standards. Gov. 

Code § 65905.5. (a). 
44 Berkeley General Plan Economic Development and Employment Element, p. ED-5. Available at: 

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Emplo

yment%20Element-FINAL.pdf. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 33 of 75

Page 196 of 263

Page 362

https://www.dieselnet.com/standards/us/nonroad.php#tier3
https://www.dieselnet.com/standards/us/nonroad.php#tier3
https://www.dieselnet.com/standards/us/nonroad.php#tier3
https://www.dieselnet.com/standards/us/nonroad.php#tier3
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Employment%20Element-FINAL.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Employment%20Element-FINAL.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Employment%20Element-FINAL.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Employment%20Element-FINAL.pdf


May 9, 2023 

Page 15 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

intends to “[w]ork with job training programs and encourage training for life skills, 

job readiness, and specific target industries.”45 The Project does not include any 

commitment to provide local construction jobs to Berkeley or East Bay residents, 

and the record does not contain any evidence demonstrating that the Applicant 

proposes to contribute to apprenticeship or other construction job training 

programs, or take any other measures to comply with these General Plan policies in 

relation to the Project’s construction workforce. The Project is therefore inconsistent 

with those policies.  

 

Housing development projects in the City must also implement the goals and 

policies of the General Plan, including the following: 

 

1) Ensure that Berkeley has an adequate supply of decent housing, 

living wage jobs, and businesses providing basic goods and 

services. 

2) New housing will be developed to expand housing opportunities 

in Berkeley to meet the needs of all income groups.46 

 

The City has determined that “it is in the City of Berkeley’s economic interest 

to support a pipeline of skilled workers to accomplish the construction objectives 

and policies of the Berkeley General Plan.”47 The Project should support this goal by 

including community benefits such as local hire and healthcare and workforce 

benefits for its construction workers. Without specific commitments from the 

Applicant to ensure compliance with these policies, the Project is likely to be 

detrimental to the general welfare, violates the General Plan, and should not be 

approved. Since the record is devoid of substantial evidence demonstrating 

compliance with these General Plan policies, the Project therefore also fails to meet 

the facial requirements for a CEQA Class 32 exemption.  

 

IV. THE PROJECT MAY BE DETRIMENTAL TO THE GENERAL 

WELFARE OF THE CITY, RESIDENTS, AND WORKERS 

 

In order to approve the Project’s requested Use Permits, under Berkeley 

Municipal Code Section 23.406.040, the Zoning Adjustments Board must find that 

 
45 Id. 
46Id. 
47 City of Berkeley, Agenda and Staff Report, Berkeley City Council, Council Consent Item 14 

Helping Achieve Responsible Development with Healthcare and Apprenticeship Training Standards 

(HARD HATS), https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-

20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf (“HARD HATS Staff Report”) (Sept. 20, 

2022) p. 7. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 34 of 75

Page 197 of 263

Page 363

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf


May 9, 2023 

Page 16 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

the proposed project: 

 

i. Will not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, 

comfort, or general welfare of persons residing or visiting in 

the area or neighborhood of the proposed use; and 

ii. Will not be detrimental or injurious to property and 

improvements of the adjacent properties, the surrounding area 

or neighborhood, or to the general welfare of the City. 

 

And BMC Section 23.204.060(E) requires certain findings to be made to 

approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-U district: 

 

To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-U district, the review 

authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and 

find that the proposed use or structure: 

 

1. Is compatible with the purpose of the district; 

2. Is compatible with the surrounding uses and buildings; 

3. Does not interfere with the continuity of retail and service facilities 

at the ground level; and 

4. Does not exceed the amount and intensity of use that can be served 

by the available traffic capacity and potential parking supply. 

 

Further, the ZAB may approve a Use Permit for demolition of a non-

residential building or structure only if the ZAB finds that “demolition will not be 

materially detrimental to the commercial needs and public interest of any affected 

neighborhood or the City of Berkeley”48  

 

A. The Project May Be Detrimental to the General Welfare Due to 

Potentially Significant Environmental and Public Health Impacts 

 

As shown above, the Project may result in potentially significant air quality, 

public health, and noise impacts which may pose a detriment to the health, safety, 

and general welfare of the City of Berkeley. Regarding noise, the Project’s 

potentially significant noise and vibration impacts contravene the City’s Municipal 

Code which provides that “[c]ertain sound levels and vibrations are detrimental to 

the public health, welfare, safety, and quality of life, and are contrary to the public 

interest.”49 Significant noise impacts from Project construction and operation may 

be “detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare of 

 
48 Id. at § 23.326.070(D)(1).  
49 BMC § 13.40.010.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 35 of 75

Page 198 of 263

Page 364



May 9, 2023 

Page 17 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

persons residing or visiting in the area or neighborhood of the proposed use.”50 In 

order to approve a Use Permit, under Berkeley Municipal Code Section 23.406.040, 

the ZAB must find that the proposed project is not detrimental to the health or 

general welfare of the City’s residents. Here, because the Project’s noise and 

vibration impacts were not analyzed or mitigated and are potentially significant, 

the City cannot make the necessary non-detriment finding.  

 

Absent disclosure and mitigation of the Project’s potentially significant 

impacts in an EIR, the City lacks the evidence necessary to support the non-

detriment findings required to approve the Use Permits.  

 

B. The Project May Exceed the Amount and Intensity of Use that 

Can Be Served By the Available Traffic Capacity and Potential 

Parking Supply. 

 

To approve the Project’s Use Permits, BMC Section 23.204.060(E) requires 

the ZAB to find that the Project does not exceed the amount and intensity of use 

that can be served by the available traffic capacity and potential parking supply. 

But the City has not supplied evidence to support this finding, and the staff report’s 

draft Findings and Conditions do not address this determination.  

 

Here, the proposed use may not be adequately served by the available traffic 

capacity and potential parking supply due to the Project’s inadequate parking 

facilities. The Project proposes an eight-story mixed-use residential building with 

207 dwelling units and 5,787 square foot commercial space, but only provides 39 

parking spaces (27 residential, 12 commercial) and 92 bicycle parking spaces. This 

design will leave many residents without parking, and lead them to seek street 

parking in the neighborhood.51 This impact will unduly burden parking supply in 

the neighborhood. This type of impact is described in the University Avenue 

Strategic Plan: “the University Avenue Study Area must provide for the needs of 

visitors, as well as the merchants and residents working and living in the area… 

Most merchants in the University Avenue area, though, perceive a parking shortage 

and consider it a disadvantage to be located there.52 The City must gather evidence 

that the parking supply will not be exceeded before the ZAB can approve the Use 

Permits. 

 
50 BMC § 23.406.040.  
51 See City of Berkeley, University Avenue Strategic Plan (1996), pg. x (Immediate Action Item 3 – 

Expanding Parking Opportunities: “New mixed-use infill development will also generate increased 

parking demand, which could most effectively be met through a couple of strategically located 

parking sites”), available at https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-Ave-

Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf.  
52 Id. at 60. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 36 of 75

Page 199 of 263

Page 365

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-Ave-Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-Ave-Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-Ave-Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-Ave-Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf


May 9, 2023 

Page 18 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

 

C. The Project May Be Detrimental to the General Welfare for 

Failing to Provide Adequate Employment Training and Placement 

Facilities and Amenities 

 

Municipal Code Section 22.20.020 defines detrimental impacts to include, 

inter alia, increased demand for workforce housing, training, and benefits: “The 

increased demand for affordable housing, child care and public services, adequate 

employment training and placement facilities and amenities, and the other 

impacts generated by development projects, unless mitigated, are detrimental to the 

City’s public health, safety and general welfare.”53 Under Section 22.20.020, a 

detriment to the general welfare occurs when the City fails to mitigate the impacts 

of a development project, including the increased demand for housing, workforce 

training, and public services that may result from the Project.54 Pursuant to 

Municipal Code Section 22.20.020, the Project’s impacts to the general welfare for 

failure to provide employment training, placement facilities, and amenities, require 

mitigation.55 

 

As explained above, the ZAB may approve a Use Permit for demolition of a 

non-residential building or structure only if the ZAB finds that “demolition will not 

be materially detrimental to the commercial needs and public interest of any 

affected neighborhood or the City of Berkeley”56 Here, the ZAB cannot make the 

necessary findings that demolition of the existing structure and construction of the 

Project is in the public interest, because the Applicant has not provided any 

evidence demonstrating that Project construction will provide “adequate 

employment training and placement facilities and amenities” for its construction 

workforce. In contrast, the addition of community and workforce benefits related to 

Project construction would promote the general welfare.  

 

Housing projects that are constructed with low-wage or uninsured 

construction workers are detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, 

and general welfare of their communities. If the Project were constructed with low-

wage or uninsured construction workers, it would be similarly detrimental to 

persons residing or visiting the City and the Project’s Downtown neighborhood, as 

well as to the general welfare of the City. The City should request the Applicant  

  

 
53 BMC § 22.20.020(G) (emphasis added).  
54 Id. 
55 Id.  
56 Id. at § 23.326.070(D)(1).  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 37 of 75

Page 200 of 263

Page 366



May 9, 2023 

Page 19 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

voluntarily include community benefits in the Project’s conditions of approval, 

including local hire provisions and healthcare standards and benefits in order to 

promote, and avoid detriment to, the general welfare of the City.  

 

Examples of such conditions were recently adopted for the 2065 Kittredge 

Street Project, an eight-story, mixed-use building at 2065 Kittredge Street with 187 

dwelling units, 4,993 square feet commercial space and 43 parking spaces. On 

January 31, 2023, the City Council voted unanimously to affirm the Zoning 

Adjustments Board’s decision to approve the project’s Use Permit with modified 

conditions of approval. In approving the 2065 Kittredge Street Project, the Berkeley 

City Council determined that failing to implement General Plan policies ED-1 

(Employment and Training), ED-5 (Element Objectives), and ED-12 (Promoting 

Berkeley) related to Project construction could result in a detriment to the general 

welfare. The Applicant for the 2065 Kittredge Project voluntarily agreed to add the 

following language to the project’s findings and conditions of approval: 

 

1. The applicant shall evaluate the feasibility of implementing one or more of the 

following workforce programs for construction of the Project, but is not 

required to implement any said program: 

 

a. Participate in a joint labor-management apprenticeship program for each 

trade engaged in construction of the Project; 

b. Participate in an apprenticeship program approved by the State of California 

Division of Apprenticeship Standards that has a graduation rate of 50% or 

higher and has graduated an average of thirty (30) apprentices annually for 

the five (5) years immediately preceding the Covered Project. The applicant 

will also maintain at least the ratio of apprentices required by California 

Labor Code section 1777.5 for the duration of the project; or 

c. Make and require its subcontractors to make hourly contributions to the 

California Apprenticeship Council (“CAC”) for every apprenticeable craft 

hour worked on the Project of at least the apprenticeship contribution rate for 

the classification of “plumber, pipefitter, steamfitter” in Alameda County. 

d. The applicant shall evaluate the feasibility of making Health Care 

Expenditures of twenty (20) percent to or on behalf of each construction 

worker working on the Project in addition to their regular hourly wages 

during the period of employment. The Health Care Expenditures may be 

made to a health plan in which the construction worker is enrolled, to the 

construction worker’ health savings account, and/or to the construction 

worker in the form of cash. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, 

the applicant shall submit a report to the City Manager all steps taken to 

comply with this condition, as well as the results of the applicant’s feasibility 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 38 of 75

Page 201 of 263

Page 367



May 9, 2023 

Page 20 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

evaluation, and which, if any, program is implemented for the Project, 

whether Health Care Expenditures are implemented for the Project, and the 

number of construction worker recipients of Health Care Expenditures for 

the Project. 

 

2. The applicant shall make a good faith effort to attempt to meet a thirty (30) 

percent goal of all workers on the Project construction site be residents of 

living within ten (10) miles of the Project site and that, if the applicant fails 

to achieve such goal, documentation showing good faith efforts made to 

achieve the goal must be furnished to the City of Berkeley. This paragraph 

does not negate the requirement by the applicant to meet any other 

applicable requirements required by law. 

 

3. The applicant shall, before obtaining a certificate of occupancy for the 

Project, furnish an affidavit to the City of Berkeley disclosing the number of 

union workers for each craft, apprentices, contractors, contractors’ business 

addresses, number of local workers living within ten (10) miles of the Project 

site, and Berkeley residents working on the construction workforce for the 

Project.57 

 

 The City Council concluded that the inclusion of these voluntary workforce 

conditions were consistent with General Plan policies ED-1 (Employment and 

Training), ED-5 (Element Objectives), and ED-12 (Promoting Berkeley). In this 

case, such conditions would be consistent with the same General Plan policies, as 

well as with the Municipal Code general welfare requirements. The City should 

confer with Applicant about the feasibility of incorporating these or similar 

voluntary construction workforce conditions into the Project to bring the Project in 

closer conformance with General Plan and Specific Plan. 

  

D. The Project May Be Detrimental to the General Welfare for 

Failing to Hire Locally  

  

Absent evidence demonstrating that the Applicant has committed to hire 

locally, the Project may be detrimental to the general welfare of Berkeley residents. 

Local hire commitments are a critical way not only to hire local residents, but to use 

 
57 Berkeley City Council, Annotated Agenda (January 31, 2023) 

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2023-01-31 Annotated Agenda - 

Council.pdf.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 39 of 75

Page 202 of 263

Page 368



May 9, 2023 

Page 21 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

project hiring needs to target opportunities to low-income residents and people of 

color who might not otherwise benefit from new development.58  

 

Empirical studies demonstrate that local hire programs help address the 

fragmentation inherent in the development process, establishing better 

communication among developers, employers, community organizations, local job 

training resources, and the workforce development system that can provide job 

readiness and job retention support services.59 Here, the Project Applicant has not 

made a commitment to ensure the Project is built with a local skilled and trained 

workforce. The Project may therefore be detrimental to City goals and the Berkeley 

community – particularly to its highly qualified construction workforce, who may 

not have the opportunity to build much-needed housing in their own community. In 

order to assess the Project’s compliance with Municipal Code general welfare 

standards and General Plan policies, the City should ask the Applicant to provide 

evidence related to its proposed local hire percentage for the construction workforce, 

and inquire whether the Applicant would consider a specific local hire percentage as 

a community benefit for the Project.  

 

E. The Project May Be Detrimental to the General Welfare for 

Failing to Provide Healthcare to Construction Workers  

 

The City has several local workforce policies intended to promote the health 

and viability of its workforce, including payment of livable wages, health benefits, 

and paid sick leave for certain workers,60 and is in the process of considering an 

ordinance related to construction workforce benefits, including healthcare.61 

 

While providing construction worker healthcare is not a binding requirement 

for the Project, providing workforce healthcare promotes the health, safety, and 

general welfare of local workers and is consistent with the City’s values and 

policies. The Project has not committed to provide healthcare standards or benefits 

for the construction workers building the Project. This may result in a detriment to 

 
58 Kathleen Mulligan-Hansel, Making Development Work for Local Residents: Local Hire Programs 

and Implementation Strategies that Serve Low-Income Communities, (July 2008). Available at: 

https://s3.amazonaws.com/proggov21-

uploads/uploads/asset/asset_file/Making_Development_Work_Local_Residents_Mulligan-

HanselPWF2008.pdf.  
59 Id. 
60 See City of Berkeley Workforce Standards and Enforcement, available at 

https://berkeleyca.gov/doing-business/operating-berkeley/workforce-standards-and-enforcement (last 

visited 4/26/23). 
61 See HARD HATS Staff Report, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-

09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 40 of 75

Page 203 of 263

Page 369

https://s3.amazonaws.com/proggov21-uploads/uploads/asset/asset_file/Making_Development_Work_Local_Residents_Mulligan-HanselPWF2008.pdf
https://s3.amazonaws.com/proggov21-uploads/uploads/asset/asset_file/Making_Development_Work_Local_Residents_Mulligan-HanselPWF2008.pdf
https://s3.amazonaws.com/proggov21-uploads/uploads/asset/asset_file/Making_Development_Work_Local_Residents_Mulligan-HanselPWF2008.pdf
https://s3.amazonaws.com/proggov21-uploads/uploads/asset/asset_file/Making_Development_Work_Local_Residents_Mulligan-HanselPWF2008.pdf
https://s3.amazonaws.com/proggov21-uploads/uploads/asset/asset_file/Making_Development_Work_Local_Residents_Mulligan-HanselPWF2008.pdf
https://s3.amazonaws.com/proggov21-uploads/uploads/asset/asset_file/Making_Development_Work_Local_Residents_Mulligan-HanselPWF2008.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/doing-business/operating-berkeley/workforce-standards-and-enforcement
https://berkeleyca.gov/doing-business/operating-berkeley/workforce-standards-and-enforcement
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-09-20%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf


May 9, 2023 

Page 22 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

the general welfare of the City and its residents, including in particular, to its 

construction worker residents. If the Project does not provide healthcare for its 

construction workers, the Project leaves the responsibility of providing for the 

health, safety, and welfare of the workers and the community on the workers 

themselves, or on taxpayer-funded public assistance, thus externalizing the cost of 

construction. This may perpetuate existing income and healthcare inequities for 

construction workers, potentially causing a detriment to the general welfare by 

failing to provide for the health and safety of its workers. The City should inquire as 

to whether the Applicant would provide healthcare benefits to its construction 

workers as a community benefit of the Project. 

 

F. The City Lacks Substantial Evidence to Support Land Use and 

Non-Detriment Findings 

 

Project construction will increase the local demand for a construction 

workforce. The Project’s lack of workforce standards and worker healthcare may 

exacerbate the existing demand for local affordable housing and public services by 

construction workers that currently receive low pay without benefits. Without 

mitigation, these impacts may remain significant and the ZAB would be unable 

make the necessary findings that the Project complies with the General Plan and 

zoning code. To comply with the General Plan Economic Development and 

Employment Element, the City must ensure that new housing developments 

provide jobs that go to Berkeley residents and provide job training programs and job 

readiness.  

 

Moreover, the Municipal Code provides that the “Zoning Ordinance 

establishes minimum requirements to promote the public health, safety, and 

general welfare.”62 The Municipal Code also provides that, “[t]o the extent possible, 

it is the government’s responsibility to balance the responsibility to ensure the 

health, safety, and general welfare of the public at large in a fiscally and 

environmentally sustainable manner.”63 It is therefore the responsibility of the 

Zoning Adjustment Board to promote the general welfare beyond the minimum 

required by law. Here, the ZAB must require the Project to include community 

benefits like those detailed herein, otherwise, the Project contravenes the Municipal 

Code and General Plan.  

 

  

 
62 BMC § 22.104.030.  
63 Id. at § 2.09.020.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 41 of 75

Page 204 of 263

Page 370



May 9, 2023 

Page 23 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

V. THE PROJECT IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE CITY’S HOUSING 

ELEMENT 

 

The Project proposes to construct an eight-story residential building 

containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income unit).64 The Project is seeking a 

50% Density Bonus by providing 15% of the base project units as affordable to very 

low-income households. More affordable units must be provided for the Project to be 

consistent with the City’s Housing Element and state law.  

 

The Regional Housing Needs Assessment is the California State-required 

process that seeks to ensure cities and counties plan for enough housing in their 

Housing Element cycle to accommodate all economic segments of the community.65 

Accordingly, the Housing Element of the City’s General Plan identifies the City’s 

housing conditions and needs, evaluates the City’s ability to meet its Regional 

Housing Needs Allocation (“RHNA”), establishes the goals, objectives, and policies 

of the City’s housing strategy, and provides an array of programs to create mixed-

income neighborhoods across the City.66 The Housing Element, which was amended 

on February 17, 2023, states that “the City has a remaining RHNA of 5,033 units 

(1,923 very low income; 852 low income; 1,227 moderate income; and 1,031 above 

moderate income units)… The City must identify adequate site capacity for this 

remaining RHNA.”67 Accordingly, Policy H-1 – Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and 

Moderate-Income Housing – provides: “Increase the number of housing units 

affordable to Berkeley residents with lower income levels.”68 Projects that do not 

contribute to the City’s RHNA are inconsistent with the City’s Housing Element, a 

primary goal of which is to meet the RHNA.  

 

Further, Berkeley Municipal Code Section 23.328.010 provides that 

residential housing projects constructing five or more dwelling units must include 

at least 20 percent of the total number of dwelling units within the project as 

inclusionary units. As an alternative to providing inclusionary units required in an 

ownership project, the applicant may elect to enter in an agreement with the City to 

pay fees in-lieu of providing below-market rate units.69  

 
64 https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-

16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf  
65 Cal. Gov. Code Section 65580 – 65589.9; see City of Berkeley, Adopted 2023-2031 Housing 

Element, available at https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-

2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf.  
66Id.  
67 Id. at 107. 
68 Id. at 15. 
69 Effective July 1, 2022, the fee is set at follows: Paid at Certificate of Occupancy: $46,185 per rental 

unit; or Paid at building permit: $43,185 per rental unit.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 42 of 75

Page 205 of 263

Page 371

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf


May 9, 2023 

Page 24 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

 

However, the City has failed to meet its RHNA in previous cycles. Under the 

5th RHNA Cycle from 2015-2023, Berkeley was required to plan for 2,959 units.70 

This includes 532 at very low income, 442 at low income, 584 at moderate income, 

and 1,401 at above moderate income. The Housing Element states that 3,742 units 

have been built, or 126% of the target. However, the targets for affordable housing 

were missed, with 309 very low income (58%), 130 low income (29%), and 106 

moderate income (18%) units completed. 3,197 units of above moderate, or market 

rate housing was built, which was 228% of the goal.  

 

Here, the Project fails to provide the recommended 20% affordable units, 

contributing to the City’s pattern of overproducing market-rate housing but 

underproducing affordable housing. Only 15% of the base Project would be 

affordable, and only 10% of the total density bonus Project would be affordable. 

Although the Project will likely have to pay an in-lieu fee, the Project would not be 

consistent with the Housing Element because it places the burden on the City to 

identify adequate sites to construct affordable housing, and the record lacks 

evidence demonstrating that the City will utilize the in-lieu fee to supply the 

Project’s allocated affordable units in the timeframe necessary to meet its RHNA.71 

Further, it is unclear whether merely paying an in-lieu fee would result in the 

necessary affordable housing development the City needs to meet its RHNA. The 

City adopted the affordable housing mitigation fee on June 28, 2011 (Ordinance 

7,192-N.S.), well before 2015-2023 RHNA cycle commenced, yet the City’s RHNA 

was not met.72 Therefore, the Project must provide the recommended affordable 

units in order to be consistent with the City’s Housing Element and state law. 

 

The Project is one of several other projects proposed by the Applicant, which 

similarly fail to contribute an adequate percentage of affordable units. The 

Applicant also proposes to construct the 2900-2920 Shattuck Avenue Project,73 a 

ten-story residential building containing 221 dwelling units (22 Very Low-Income 

unit).74 The 2920 Shattuck Avenue project is seeking a 46.25% Density Bonus by 

providing only 14% of the base project units as affordable to very low-income 

 
70 City of Berkeley, Adopted 2023-2031 Housing Element, pg. D-8.  
71 Id. at 107. 
72 2015-2023 Berkeley Housing Element, pg. 62, available at 

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-

11_ZAB_Item%204_1598%20University_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf; 

see Resolution 68,074 – N.S.  
73 Use Permit #ZP2022-0116 (APN: 053 159000501).  
74 City of Berkeley, Zoning Project Application, 2920 Shattuck Ave. Berkeley CA 94705, APN 053 

159000501, (Sept. 4, 2022), https://www.dropbox.com/s/528twax3fw4fw9p/2022-09-

04_APP_PCKT_2920%20Shattuck.pdf?dl=0 (“Application Packet”), pdf pg. 2108 of 2143.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 43 of 75

Page 206 of 263

Page 372

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-11_ZAB_Item%204_1598%20University_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-11_ZAB_Item%204_1598%20University_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-11_ZAB_Item%204_1598%20University_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-11_ZAB_Item%204_1598%20University_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf
https://www.dropbox.com/s/528twax3fw4fw9p/2022-09-04_APP_PCKT_2920%20Shattuck.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/528twax3fw4fw9p/2022-09-04_APP_PCKT_2920%20Shattuck.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/528twax3fw4fw9p/2022-09-04_APP_PCKT_2920%20Shattuck.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/528twax3fw4fw9p/2022-09-04_APP_PCKT_2920%20Shattuck.pdf?dl=0


May 9, 2023 

Page 25 

 

6031-010j 

 

 printed on recycled paper 

households.75 The Applicant also proposes the 3000 Shattuck Avenue Project, a 10-

story (114 feet) mixed-use building utilizing a Density Bonus, with 166 dwellings, 

including 17 Very Low-Income units, and 1,043 square-feet of commercial space.76 

By proposing 17 Very Low Income (VLI) Below Market Rate (BMR) units on site (15 

percent of the 111-unit base density), the 3000 Shattuck project is eligible for a 50 

percent density bonus, or 56 additional units.77 In sum, these projects each offer 

only 10% of the total units as affordable. These projects’ inadequate provision of 

affordable housing – well below the recommended 20% – is a cumulative issue that 

the City must address before considering approval of this Project. 

 

VI. CONCLUSION  

 

As is discussed herein, the City lacks substantial evidence to rely on a Class 

32 Infill Exemption for Project approval due to potentially significant 

environmental and public health impacts. The Project does not conform with the 

Berkeley General Plan for failing to support the general welfare through workforce 

and labor standards, and affordable housing. As a result, the Project cannot be 

approved until the City complies with CEQA and prepares an initial study and EIR 

for the Project.  

 

Thank you for your attention to these comments. Please include them in the 

record of proceedings for the Project.  

 

     Sincerely, 

 

 
 

      Aidan P. Marshall 

        

 

APM:ljl 

 
75 City of Berkeley, Zoning Project Application, 2920 Shattuck Ave. 
76 May 11, 2023 ZAB Agenda, available at https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-

meeting-agendas/2023-05-11_ZAB_Agenda_Linked.pdf.  
77 3000 Shattuck Avenue May 11 ZAB Staff Report, pg. 12, available at 

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-

11_ZAB_Item%205_3000%20Shattuck_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 44 of 75

Page 207 of 263

Page 373

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-05-11_ZAB_Agenda_Linked.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-05-11_ZAB_Agenda_Linked.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-05-11_ZAB_Agenda_Linked.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-05-11_ZAB_Agenda_Linked.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-11_ZAB_Item%205_3000%20Shattuck_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-11_ZAB_Item%205_3000%20Shattuck_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-11_ZAB_Item%205_3000%20Shattuck_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-05-11_ZAB_Item%205_3000%20Shattuck_Combined%20Staff%20Report%20and%20Attachments.pdf


1

Communictions

From: David Kellogg <david.kellogg@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, May 8, 2023 11:33 AM
To: Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB)
Cc: Lapira, Katrina
Subject: Public Comment: Original submission date questions & CEQA violations - #ZP2022-0099

WARNING: This is not a City of Berkeley email. Do not click links or attachments unless you trust the sender and know the content is 
safe. 

Dear ZAB,  

Please be aware that I will be submitting this project to HCD's Housing Accountability Unit for the following issues as, 
unfortunately, the planner and the Planning Department failed to respond to my request for information (copied 
below). 

1. The record contains conflicting information about the original submission date.
As you may know, the original submission date is a critical date with legal significance. It is important that the actual 
submission date be acknowledged, so that the timelines of state housing law can be properly measured. 

The initial incompleteness letter (dated 8/24/22) from the planner includes a claim that the initial submission date 
was "July 25, 2022" (a Monday). However, the City's Accela system includes multiple indicia, including filenames and fee 
receipts, that indicate the actual submission date was the preceding Friday, July 23, 2022. Moreover, there are no 
indicia (other than the incompleteness letter) that support the 7/25/22 date. 

If July 23, 2022 is the actual submission date, the project would have been deemed completeness and the initial 
incompleteness letter barred by state law. 

While it is possible there is an innocent explanation behind this apparent discrepancy, neither the planner nor the 
Planning Department generally has responded to my inquiry for clarification on the submission date. 

Because I have not received any response, I intend to forward this issue to HCD's Housing Accountability Unit for further 
investigation. 

I suggest ZAB also investigate. 

2. Planning/ZAB have violated PRC 21080.1/.2, even when applying the City's admitted completeness date (which may
be incorrectly late, see above). 

The staff report for the ZAB hearing indicates this project was deemed complete in January 23, 2023 and that staff 
recommends this project be found to be exempt from CEQA (as an "infill development project"). 

More than 30 days have passed since 1/23/23, and the lead agency (ZAB) has still not complied with PRC 21080.1 by 
issuing a determination that the project is in fact exempt from CEQA. Thus, the deadline of PRC 21080.2 has been 
violated. 

Sincerely, 
David Kellogg 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 45 of 75

Page 208 of 263

Page 374



2

‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ Forwarded message ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: David Kellogg <david.kellogg@gmail.com> 
Date: Fri, Apr 28, 2023 at 11:57 AM 
Subject: Question on original submission date ‐ #ZP2022‐0099 
To: <klapira@cityofberkeley.info>, <isaiah@trachtenbegarch.com> 
 

Dear Katrina Lapira,  
 
Since the online records are inconsistent, I am writing to clarify the original submission date of #ZP2022‐0099. 
 
1. In accella, the initial fees paid date is listed as 7/22/2022. 
2. In acella, the filename for the initial submission is "2022‐07‐22_APP_PCKT_1598 University.pdf". Dates within that 
PDF appear to either match or predate the 7/22/2022 date. 
3. In your August 24, 2022 incompleteness letter, there is a statement that the application was "submitted on July 25, 
2022." 
 
Since the submission date is a critical date with legal significance, it is important that it be properly listed. As an example, 
if 7/22/2022 were the proper date, then the August 23, 2022 incompleteness letter would have been improper, as the 
project would have been deemed complete a few days prior. 
 
 
Best, 
David Kellogg 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 46 of 75

Page 209 of 263

Page 375



1

Communications

From: Elizabeth Kowal <kowalathome@msn.com>
Sent: Sunday, May 7, 2023 10:13 PM
To: Harrison, Kate; Lapira, Katrina
Cc: David Ushijima; Ching/Battles; Toni Mester; Steven F; John Dalrymple; Christopher Kroll
Subject: CONCERN ABOUT UPCOMING ZAB MEETING Re: 1598 University Ave. 
Attachments: letter to DRC and Berkeley City Council 41123.docx; 6031-009 Agenda IV.2 1598 University DRC 

Comments.pdf; DRC 1598 University Apr. 20th 2023.pdf

WARNING: This is not a City of Berkeley email. Do not click links or attachments unless you trust the sender and know the content is 
safe. 

Hello,  
I’m very concerned about the upcoming ZAB meeting planned for May 11, 2023.   I do not have experience working with 
this process and I’m not sure to whom I should be addressing these concerns. I’m hoping you can help me with these 
questions. 

 I did not think that the 1598 University Project Proposal would be brought up in front of the ZAB committee until there 
was follow through on the conditions and design recommendations brought forward by the Design Review Committee 
on April 20th,  including setting up a meeting with neighbors regarding their strong concerns about privacy, shadowing, 
trees, step backs, safety, etc. Neighbors have not had the time to prepare for this meeting, when we thought this follow‐
up was coming first. 

I especially do not understand how this project could be placed on a Consent Calendar when these serious concerns 
have not yet been addressed! 

The 1598 proposed building project came up in front of the Design Review Committee on April 20th. 
Our neighborhood group had been meeting for the year prior and many of us attended the meeting and participated. 
Many other neighbors sent letters and comments.  Letters were sent from members of other groups also, including the 
East Bay Residents for Responsible Development and members of the Berkeley Neighborhood Council.  

A copy of our Change.Org  Petition," Let’s Welcome New Neighbors Not New Towers” was also submitted. It is  signed by 
90 neighbors objecting to the project as it is being proposed.  We included the name and email addresses of the signers 
and some of their comments. 

Sign the Petition 
change.org

I have emailed Anne Burns to make sure all of these letters have been included in the ZAB packet.  I was told that the 
DRC is part of ZAB, and the materials would be included. Neighbors who wanted to address the ZAB committee directly 
have not had time to send in their comments. 

Have the DNC recommendations been placed as conditions on the developer?  How does this accountability work? 

Thank you for your time and attention. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 47 of 75

Page 210 of 263

Page 376



2

I look forward to hearing from you as soon as possible. 

Sincerely, 
Elizabeth Sharada Kowal  

p.s.
Many serious concerns have been communicated by Berkeley residents, including the lack of inclusive affordable
housing so that teachers and city workers can continue living in this historically diverse neighborhood; the lack of a city
wide plan on the implementation of the density bonus, the inappropriateness of building this project at this important
location, an established pedestrian and wheelchair hub and pathway to Ohlone Park, BART, NB Senior Center; the need
for a review to make sure the project is in full compliance with CEQA, inadequate parking impacting nearby seniors and
residents with disabilities, street safety concerns, privacy concerns for immediate neighbors, lack of objective standards
to set policy protecting all Berkeley residents and specific design recommendations including building configuration
changes to allow for more open space and benches for pedestrians en route to BART.

I’m including a few letters that were submitted to the DRC committee that I have available. Hopefully the others will be 
included also. 

From E. Kowal: 

From John Dalrymple: 

David Ushijima 
Neighborhood D4 Resident: 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 48 of 75

Page 211 of 263

Page 377



   
 
4/11/23 
 
Dear Members of the City of Berkeley Design Review Committee and The Berkeley City Council 
Comments concerning the proposed project at 1598 University which will be reviewed at the 
DRC meeting on 4/20/23. 
 
 

Overview: 
Hundreds of neighbors have been speaking for over a year, and most of us share strong ideas 
about the proposed project at 1598 University Avenue.  Our neighborhood petition opposing 
the current project design has 88 signatures. 
 
Our neighbors want new, affordable, inclusive housing so that teachers and city workers can 
keep living here!  This proposed project includes approximately 90% market rate apartments. 
We don’t want you to allow (and even encourage) developers to pay an in‐lieu fee to avoid 
placing additional inclusive affordable housing here, in this location. We are fighting to 
preserve our historically diverse neighborhood. We want to welcome and enable working 
class families to continue to be members of our community. Most of our longer‐term 
residents could not afford to move into the neighborhood today! 
 
We are disappointed that you have not done the work necessary to come up with the 
mandated objective standards that would determine reasonable shadowing limits for the 
immediate neighborhood. 
 
 
 

Design Review Issues: 

We are asking for neighborhood participation in creating a design that is pedestrian, 
bicycle, and wheelchair friendly. This location is already an important and established 
city-wide hub and pedestrian corridor connecting to the North Berkeley BART station, 
Ohlone Greenway, and the North Berkeley Senior Center. With much of the BART 
parking being converted to housing, we need a pedestrian-friendly cityscape more than 
ever. It is not safe to cross at University and Sacramento Streets with multiple turn 
lanes, trucks, and busses.  The light at California Street is the only nearby safe crossing 
for children, seniors, and everyone else.  

To encourage people to get out of their cars we need to have a welcoming cityscape 
with benches and shade to allow seniors, parents with small children and disabled 
community members to rest as needed. We don’t want an ugly sheer wall narrowing 
and shadowing sidewalks.  We are asking for more setbacks, open space, and trees for 
pedestrians and for neighboring homes directly abutted by this tall building.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 49 of 75

Page 212 of 263

Page 378



Please stop the developer from decreasing the size of the original retail space 
plan. We need a practical retail area that is move-in ready to meet the needs of this 
quickly expanding community. 

This building design will lead to a parking crisis for the many seniors and 
individuals with disabilities living nearby.  36 spaces for 245 bedrooms will not even 
cover the expected handicapped parking spaces needed.  Even with new residents not 
qualifying for neighborhood parking passes, parking will be greatly impacted leading to 
hardship for some existing residents.  We are asking you to move towards your goal of 
minimizing cars in Berkeley while also protecting vulnerable residents.  

    Summary of Requests:     

 Affordable housing in the building, appropriate for working class families!  

 Complete the required Objec. ve Shadow‐Study and publish city‐wide objec ve policy 
and rules to inform construc on design. 

 Create a pedestrian safety and parking safety plan for the immediate neighborhood 
which includes a school, a church, and many senior residents with disabili es.   

 Include an indoor loading and unloading dock so that trucks do not cause a dangerous 
double‐parking problem. 

 Change design to include open space and setbacks for pedestrians and residents. 
Consider elimina ng the ineffec ve interior proposed courtyard designed just for 
residents and add open space to benefit the whole community in this important city‐
wide hub. 

 Increase parking to accommodate seniors and residents with disabili es. 

 Demand that the original sized, mandated retail space be move‐in ready for an 
appropriate business such as a restaurant/café. 

 Include neighborhood par cipa on in tree selec on, bird safe glass, posi on of any 
balconies, etc. 
 

Thank you for your time and attention, 
Elizabeth Sharada Kowal and Constantine Philipides, Addison Street 
(Long term residents, small business owner and public‐school parents) 
kowalathome@msn.com 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 50 of 75

Page 213 of 263

Page 379



 

6031-009 

KEVIN T. CARMICHAEL 
CHRISTINA M. CARO 
THOMAS A. ENSLOW 

KELILAH D. FEDERMAN 
RICHARD M. FRANCO 

ANDREW J. GRAF 
TANYA A. GULESSERIAN 

RACHAEL E. KOSS 
AIDAN P. MARSHALL 

TARA C. RENGIFO 
 

Of Counsel 
MARC D. JOSEPH 

DANIEL L. CARDOZO 
 

SACRAMENTO OFFICE 
 
520 CAPITOL MALL, SUITE 350 
SACRAMENTO, CA 95814-4721 

T E L :  ( 9 1 6 )  4 4 4 - 6 2 0 1  
F A X :  ( 9 1 6 )  4 4 4 - 6 2 0 9  

ADAMS BROADWELL JOSEPH & CARDOZO 
 

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION 
 

A T T O RN E Y S  A T  L A W  
 

6 0 1  G A T E W A Y  B O U L E V A R D ,  S U I T E  1 0 0 0  

S O U T H  S A N  F R A N C I S C O ,  C A  9 4 0 8 0 - 7 0 3 7  
___________ 

 
T E L :  ( 6 5 0 )  5 8 9 - 1 6 6 0  
F A X :  ( 6 5 0 )  5 8 9 - 5 0 6 2  

a m a r s h a l l @ a d a m s b r o a d w e l l . c o m  

 

 printed on recycled paper 

 

 

 

 

 

 

April 20, 2023 

 

Via Email and Overnight Mail 

Janet Tam, Chair 

Kimberly Gaffney, Vice-Chair  

Members Steve Finacom, Charles Kahn, Lillian Mitchell 

Diana Pink, Cameron Woo 

c/o Secretary of the Committee, Anne Burns 

City of Berkeley Design Review Committee 

1947 Center Street, 3rd Floor,  

Berkeley, CA 94704 

Email: aburns@cityofberkeley.info 

 

Email Only 

Jordan Klein, Director 

Planning and Development Department 

Email: jklein@cityofberkeley.info  

Katrina Lapira, Associate Planner 

Planning and Development Department 

Email: klapira@cityofberkeley.info 

 

Re: Comments on Agenda Item IV.2 – Preliminary Design Review for 

the 1598 University Mixed-Use Project (File No. DRCP2022-0008; 

ZP2022-0099) 

 

Dear Chair Tam, Vice-Chair Gaffney, Mr. Finacom, Mr. Kahn, Ms. Mitchell, Ms. 

Pink, and Mr. Woo: 

 

We are writing on behalf of East Bay Residents for Responsible Development 

(“East Bay Residents” or “EBRRD”) to provide comments on the 1598 University 

Mixed-Use Project (File No. DRCP2022-0008; ZP2022-0099) proposed by 1598 

University Avenue, LLC/NX Ventures (“Applicant”). The City of Berkeley (“City) 

Design Review Committee (“DRC”) will conduct Preliminary Design Review of the 

Project at the April 20, 2023 DRC meeting. 

 

The Project consists of the demolition of an existing non-residential structure 

and construction of a 134,409 square-foot, eight-story mixed-use residential building 

containing 207 dwelling units (including 21 very low-income units) and 5,787 

square foot commercial space, with 39 parking spaces and 92 bicycle parking 

spaces. The Project is seeking a 50% Density Bonus by providing 15% of the base 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 51 of 75

Page 214 of 263

Page 380

mailto:aburns@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:aburns@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:jklein@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:jklein@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:klapira@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:klapira@cityofberkeley.info


April 20, 2023 

Page 2 

 

6031-009 

project units as affordable to very-low income households. The Project site is located 

at 1598 University Ave., Berkeley, CA 94703 (APN 056 200300100). 

 

The Project seeks the several Use Permits:  

 

• Use Permit to demolish two non-residential buildings, under Berkeley 

Municipal Code (BMC) Section 23.326.070 

• Use Permit to establish a mixed-use residential building, under BMC Section 

23.204.020 

• Use Permit to create 5,000 square feet of new floor area in the University 

Commercial District, under BMC Section 23.204.030(A) 

• Use Permit to establish residential uses on the ground floor, under BMC 

23.204.060(B)(3) 

• Administrative Use Permit for projections that exceed the maximum building 

height limit, under 23.304.050(A) 

 

The DRC meeting staff report includes a recommendation that the Zoning 

Adjustments Board find the project categorically exempt from the provisions of 

CEQA1 pursuant to Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines (“Infill Development 

Project”).2 As discussed herein, the City cannot find the Project exempt from CEQA 

due to the Project’s potentially significant impacts of air quality, noise, traffic, and 

public health. Since the City has not released any analysis on the Project’s 

environmental impacts, the staff recommendation that the Project is exempt from 

CEQA is not supported by substantial evidence. Rather, the Project’s substantial 

size, 24-month construction period, and its proximity to sensitive receptors indicate 

that the Project’s impacts may be potentially significant. As a result, an 

environmental impact report (“EIR”) must be prepared to adequately analyze and 

mitigate these impacts.  

 

Further, the Project’s design is inconsistent with the neighborhood context 

due to its massing and lack of adequate parking. The Project is also inconsistent 

with the City’s affordable housing and workforce goals. EBRRD respectfully 

requests that the DRC not recommend approval of the Project until these flaws 

have been resolved. 

 

 

 

 
1 Public Resources Code § 21000 et seq., and California Code of Regulations, Section 15000, et seq. 
2 Staff Report, pg. 8, available at https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-

20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 52 of 75

Page 215 of 263

Page 381

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf


April 20, 2023 

Page 3 

 

6031-009 

I. STATEMENT OF INTEREST 

 

East Bay Residents for Responsible Development is an unincorporated 

association of individuals and labor organizations that may be adversely affected by 

the potential impacts associated with Project development. The association includes 

the UA Plumbers and Pipefitters Local 342, International Brotherhood of Electrical 

Workers Local 595, Sheet Metal Workers Local 104, Sprinkler Fitters Local 483, 

their members and families, and City and Alameda County residents. 

 

The individual members of East Bay Residents live, work, and raise their 

families in the City of Berkeley and Alameda County. They would be directly 

affected by the Project and its impacts. The organizational members of Residents 

also have an interest in enforcing public interest, health and safety, labor and 

environmental laws that encourage sustainable development and ensure a safe 

working environment for its members. Residents’ members are also concerned about 

projects that are built without providing opportunities to improve local recruitment, 

apprenticeship training, and retention of skilled workforces, and without providing 

lifesaving healthcare expenditures for the construction workforce. 

 

II. THE CITY MUST COMPLY WITH CEQA 

 

The staff report includes a recommendation that the Zoning Adjustments 

Board (“ZAB”) find the Project categorically exempt from the provisions of CEQA3 

pursuant to Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines (“Infill Development Project”).4 

East Bay Residents requests and urges the City to comply with CEQA by preparing 

an environmental impact report (“EIR”) for the Project. 

 

CEQA requires that an agency analyze the potential environmental impacts 

of its proposed actions in an EIR, except in certain limited circumstances.5 The EIR 

is the very heart of CEQA.6 “The foremost principle in interpreting CEQA is that 

the Legislature intended the act to be read so as to afford the fullest possible 

protection to the environment within the reasonable scope of the statutory 

language.”7  

 

 
3 Public Resources Code § 21000 et seq., and California Code of Regulations, Section 15000, et seq. 
4 Staff Report, pg. 8, available at https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-

20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf.  
5 See, e.g., PRC § 21100.  
6 Dunn-Edwards v. BAAQMD (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th 644, 652. 
7 Communities. for a Better Env. v. Cal. Res. Agency (2002) 103 Cal. App.4th 98, 109 (“CBE v. CRA”). 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 53 of 75

Page 216 of 263

Page 382

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-04-20_DRC_Item%20IV.2_1598%20University.pdf


April 20, 2023 

Page 4 

 

6031-009 

CEQA has two primary purposes. First, CEQA is designed to inform decision 

makers and the public about the potential, significant environmental effects of a 

project.8 “Its purpose is to inform the public and its responsible officials of the 

environmental consequences of their decisions before they are made. Thus, the EIR 

‘protects not only the environment but also informed self-government.’”9 The EIR 

has been described as “an environmental ‘alarm bell’ whose purpose it is to alert the 

public and its responsible officials to environmental changes before they have 

reached ecological points of no return.”10  

 

Second, CEQA requires public agencies to avoid or reduce environmental 

damage when “feasible” by requiring “environmentally superior” alternatives and 

all feasible mitigation measures.11 The EIR serves to provide agencies and the 

public with information about the environmental impacts of a proposed project and 

to “identify ways that environmental damage can be avoided or significantly 

reduced.”12 If the project will have a significant effect on the environment, the 

agency may approve the project only if it finds that it has “eliminated or 

substantially lessened all significant effects on the environment where feasible” and 

that any unavoidable significant effects on the environment are “acceptable due to 

overriding concerns.”13  

 

Under CEQA, mitigation measures must be fully enforceable through permit 

conditions, agreements or other legally binding instruments.14 A CEQA lead agency 

is precluded from making the required CEQA findings to approve a project unless 

the record shows that all uncertainties regarding the mitigation of impacts have 

been resolved. For this reason, an agency may not rely on mitigation measures of 

uncertain efficacy or feasibility.15 This approach helps “ensure the integrity of the 

process of decision by precluding stubborn problems or serious criticism from being 

swept under the rug.”16 

 

 
8 14 Cal. Code Regs. § 15002(a)(1).  
9 Citizens of Goleta Valley v. Board of Supervisors (1990) 52 Cal. 3d 553, 564.  
10 Berkeley Keep Jets Over the Bay v. Bd. of Port Comm’rs. (2001) 91 Cal. App. 4th 1344, 1354 

(“Berkeley Jets”); County of Inyo v. Yorty (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 795, 810. 
11 14 CCR § 15002(a)(2) and (3); see also Berkeley Jets, 91 Cal.App.4th at 1354; Citizens of Goleta 

Valley, 52 Cal.3d at pg. 564.  
12 14 Cal. Code Regs. §15002(a)(2). 
13 PRC § 21081; 14 CCR § 15092(b)(2)(A) & (B). 
14 CEQA Guidelines, § 15126.4, subd. (a)(2). 
15 Kings County Farm Bureau v. County of Hanford (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 692, 727-28 (a 

groundwater purchase agreement found to be inadequate mitigation because there was no record 

evidence that replacement water was available). 
16 Concerned Citizens of Costa Mesa, Inc. v. 32nd Dist. Agricultural Assn. (1986) 42 Cal.3d 929, 935. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 54 of 75

Page 217 of 263

Page 383



April 20, 2023 

Page 5 

 

6031-009 

CEQA identifies certain classes of projects which are exempt from the 

provisions of CEQA, called categorical exemptions.17 Categorical exemptions apply 

to certain narrow classes of activities that generally do not have a significant effect 

on the environment.18 “Thus an agency’s finding that a particular proposed project 

comes within one of the exempt classes necessarily includes an implied finding that 

the project has no significant effect on the environment.”19 “It follows that where 

there is any reasonable possibility that a project or activity may have a significant 

effect on the environment, an exemption would be improper.”20 

 

CEQA exemptions must be narrowly construed and are not to be expanded 

beyond the scope of their plain language.21 They should not be construed so broadly 

as to include classes of projects that do not normally satisfy the requirements for a 

categorical exemption.22 Erroneous reliance by a lead agency on a categorical 

exemption constitutes a prejudicial abuse of discretion and a violation of CEQA.23 

“[I]f the court perceives there was substantial evidence that the project might have 

an adverse impact, but the agency failed to secure preparation of an EIR, the 

agency’s action must be set aside because the agency abused its discretion by failing 

to follow the law.”24  

 

To qualify for a categorical exemption, a lead agency must provide 

“substantial evidence to support [its] finding that the Project will not have a 

significant effect.”25 “Substantial evidence” means enough relevant information and 

reasonable inferences from this information that a fair argument can be made to 

support a conclusion, even though other conclusions might also be reached. Whether 

a fair argument can be made that the project may have a significant effect on the 

environment is to be determined by examining the whole record before the lead 

agency.26 If a court locates substantial evidence in the record to support the 

 
17 PRC § 21084(a); 14 CCR §§ 15300, 15354.  
18 PRC § 21084(a); 14 CCR §§ 15300, 15354; Muzzy Ranch Co. v. Solano County Airport Land Use 

Com. (2007) 41 Cal.4th 372, 380. 
19 Davidon Homes v. City of San Jose (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 106, 115. 
20 Azusa Land Reclamation Co. v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1165, 

1191 (“Azusa Land Reclamation”), quoting Wildlife Alive v. Chickering (1976) 18 Cal.3d 190, 205–

206. 
21 Castaic Lake Water Agency v. City of Santa Clarita (1995) 41 Cal.App.4th 1257. 
22 Azusa Land Reclamation (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1165, 1192. 
23 Azusa, 52 Cal.App.4th at 1192.  
24 Dunn-Edwards Corp. v. Bay Area Air Quality Mgmt. Dist. (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th 644, 656). 
25 Banker’s Hill, Hillcrest, Park West Community Preservation Group v. City of San Diego (2006) 139 

Cal.App.4th 249, 269.  
26 CEQA Guidelines § 15384. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 55 of 75

Page 218 of 263

Page 384



April 20, 2023 

Page 6 

 

6031-009 

agency’s conclusion, the agency’s decision will be upheld.27 If, however, the record 

lacks substantial evidence, as here, a reviewing court will not uphold an exemption 

determination.  

 

Section 15332 of the CEQA Guidelines provides an exemption from CEQA for 

projects characterized as in-fill development meeting the conditions:  

 

(a) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and 

all applicable general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning 

designation and regulations. 

(b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no 

more than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses.  

(c) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or 

threatened species.  

(d) Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating 

to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. 

(e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public 

services. 

 

CEQA also contains several exceptions to categorical exemptions. In 

particular, a categorical exemption shall not be used for an activity where there is a 

reasonable possibility that the activity will have a significant effect on the 

environment due to “unusual circumstances,”28 or where there is a reasonable 

possibility that the activity will have a significant effect on the environment, 

including (1) when “the cumulative impact of successive projects of the same type in 

the same place, over time is significant.”29 An agency may not rely on a categorical 

exemption if to do so would require the imposition of mitigation measures to reduce 

potentially significant effects.30  

 

Here, the City has presented no evidence supporting its assumption that a 

Class 32 Exemption or any other CEQA exemption are inapplicable to the Project. 

Moreover, the Project’s size and scope indicate that the Project may have potentially 

significant effects on air quality, health risk, traffic, and noise – impacts which 

disqualify the Project from a Class 32 exemption.31  

 
27 Bankers Hill Hillcrest, 139 Cal.App.4th at 269. 
28 14 CCR § 15300.2(c). 
29 14 CCR § 15300.2(b). 
30 Salmon Pro. & Watershed Network v. County of Marin (“SPAWN”) (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 1098, 

1198-1201.  
31 The Project’s potentially significant effects also create exceptions to an exemption under 14 CCR § 

15300.2(b), (c).  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 56 of 75

Page 219 of 263

Page 385



April 20, 2023 

Page 7 

 

6031-009 

A. Health Risk 

 

The City lacks substantial evidence to support its reliance on an exemption 

without analyzing the health risk impacts of Project construction and operation to 

workers and nearby sensitive receptors.  

 

CEQA requires analysis of human health impacts. CEQA Guidelines Section 

15065(a)(4) provides that the City is required to find a project will have a significant 

impact on the environment and require an EIR if the environmental effects of a 

project will cause a substantial adverse effect on human beings.32 The Supreme 

Court has also explained that CEQA requires the lead agency to disclose the health 

consequences that result from exposure to a project’s air emissions.33 

 

The Project’s construction would likely increase health risks in the 

surrounding community by contributing Toxic Air Contaminants (“TACs”) such as 

Diesel Particulate Matter (“DPM”) during construction.34 During the Project’s 

construction, heavy equipment and diesel trucks would emit DPM, and during 

operations, a backup generator, if proposed, would emit DPM. DPM has been linked 

to a range of serious health problems including an increase in respiratory disease, 

lung damage, cancer, and premature death.35 The Project’s emissions of DPM would 

impact numerous sensitive receptors, including residents in residential buildings 

located adjacent to the Project site.  

 

For development projects like this one, the Office of Environmental Health 

Hazard Assessment’s ("OEHHA”) risk assessment guidelines recommend a formal 

health risk analysis (“HRA”) for short-term construction exposures to TACs lasting 

longer than 2 months and exposures from projects lasting more than 6 months 

should be evaluated for the duration of the project.36 In an HRA, lead agencies must 

first quantify the concentration released into the environment at each of the 

sensitive receptor locations through air dispersion modeling, calculate the dose of 

each TAC at that location, and quantify the cancer risk and hazard index for each of 

 
32 14 CCR § 15065(a)(4); PRC § 21083(b)(3), (d). 
33 Sierra Club v. County of Fresno (2018) 6 Cal.5th 502, 516, 523. 
34 39655 of the California Health and Safety Code; California Air Resources Board, 

https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/overview-diesel-exhaust-and-health.  
35 California Air Resources Board, https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/overview-diesel-exhaust-and-

health. 
36 Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA), Risk Assessment Guidelines: 

Guidance Manual for Preparation of Health Risk Assessments, February 2015 (OEHHA 2015), 

Section 8.2.10: Cancer Risk Evaluation of Short Term Projects, pp. 8-17/18; 

https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-

preparation-health-risk-0. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 57 of 75

Page 220 of 263

Page 386

https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/overview-diesel-exhaust-and-health
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/overview-diesel-exhaust-and-health
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/overview-diesel-exhaust-and-health
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/overview-diesel-exhaust-and-health
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/overview-diesel-exhaust-and-health
https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/overview-diesel-exhaust-and-health
https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-preparation-health-risk-0
https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-preparation-health-risk-0
https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-preparation-health-risk-0
https://oehha.ca.gov/air/crnr/notice-adoption-air-toxics-hot-spots-program-guidance-manual-preparation-health-risk-0


April 20, 2023 

Page 8 

 

6031-009 

the chemicals of concern.37 Following that analysis, then the City can make a 

determination of the relative significance of the emissions.  

 

Here, the Project is located in close proximity to residential receptors, and 

construction is expected to last for 24 months. Without the requisite analysis of the 

Project’s health risk impacts, a finding that impacts would be less-than-significant 

and that the Project is exempt from CEQA would not be supported by substantial 

evidence. 

 

B. Noise  

 

 Regarding noise, the Project’s construction and operation may generate noise 

impacts that exceed applicable significance thresholds, making a CEQA exemption 

inapplicable. Further, the Project includes several sources of potential sleep-

disturbing operational noise sources, including mechanical equipment, open space 

areas, balconies, and roadway traffic noise. Noise from these sources would likely 

have an acute impact on the sensitive residential receptors located adjacent to the 

Project site. Without analysis of noise from the Project’s construction and proposed 

operations, the City lacks substantial evidence to find the Project exempt.  

 

 In sum, since the City has not prepared analysis on the Project’s 

environmental impacts, the staff recommendation that the Project is exempt from 

CEQA is not supported by substantial evidence. Rather, the scale of development 

proposed by the Project and its proximity to sensitive receptors indicate that the 

Project’s impacts are potentially significant. As a result, an EIR must be prepared 

to adequately analyze and mitigate these impacts. 

 

III. THE PROJECT IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE NEIGHBORHOOD 

CONTEXT 

 

The DRC staff report states that the DRC will consider the Project in the 

“neighborhood context.”38 The Project proposes a 134,409 square-foot, eight-story 

mixed-use residential building in a neighborhood containing 1-3 story residential 

and commercial structures. Despite being located adjacent to 1-3 story residential 

buildings, the Project’s design fails to include any step-backs on its north, west, and 

east sides.  

 

 
37 Id. 
38 Staff report, pg. 6. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 58 of 75

Page 221 of 263

Page 387



April 20, 2023 

Page 9 

 

6031-009 

The Project design also fails to include adequate parking facilities. The 

Project proposes 207 dwelling units and a 5,787 square foot commercial space, but 

the current design only provides 39 parking spaces (27 residential, 12 commercial) 

and 92 bicycle parking spaces. This design will leave many residents without 

parking, and lead them to seek street parking in the neighborhood. This impact will 

unduly burden parking supply in the neighborhood.  

 

Per Berkeley Municipal Code Section 23.204.060(E), to approve a use permit 

for a project in the C-U district, the review authority must find that the proposed 

use or structure “[d]oes not exceed the amount and intensity of use that can be 

served by the available traffic capacity and potential parking supply.” This 

provision indicates that compatibility with the neighborhood’s parking supply is 

essential for a project to be consistent in the neighborhood context. Since the 

Project’s current design would only provide parking for a small percentage of its 

residents, the design is incompatible with the neighborhood. Thus, the Design 

Review Committee should not recommend approval of the Project’s design to the 

Zoning Adjustments Board.  

 

IV. THE PROJECT IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE CITY’S HOUSING 

ELEMENT 

 

The Project proposes to construct an eight-story residential building 

containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income unit).39 The Project is seeking a 

50% Density Bonus by providing 15% of the base project units as affordable to very 

low-income households. More affordable units must be provided for the Project to be 

consistent with the City’s Housing Element and state law.  

 

The Regional Housing Needs Assessment is the California State-required 

process that seeks to ensure cities and counties plan for enough housing in their 

Housing Element cycle to accommodate all economic segments of the community.40 

Accordingly, the Housing Element of the City’s General Plan identifies the City’s 

housing conditions and needs, evaluates the City’s ability to meet its Regional 

Housing Needs Allocation (“RHNA”), establishes the goals, objectives, and policies 

of the City’s housing strategy, and provides an array of programs to create mixed-

income neighborhoods across the City.41 The Housing Element, which was amended 

 
39 https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-

16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf  
40 Cal. Gov. Code Section 65580 – 65589.9; see City of Berkeley, Adopted 2023-2031 Housing 

Element, available at https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-

2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf.  
41Id.  

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 59 of 75

Page 222 of 263

Page 388

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-16_DRC_Item%20VII.1_1598%20University_SB330%20Project%20Plans.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Berkeley_2023-2031%20Housing%20Element_02-17-2023v2_0.pdf


April 20, 2023 

Page 10 

 

6031-009 

on February 17, 2023, states that “the City has a remaining RHNA of 5,033 units 

(1,923 very low income; 852 low income; 1,227 moderate income; and 1,031 above 

moderate income units)… The City must identify adequate site capacity for this 

remaining RHNA.”42 Accordingly, Policy H-1 – Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and 

Moderate-Income Housing – provides: “Increase the number of housing units 

affordable to Berkeley residents with lower income levels.”43 Because the City has 

not produced and is not expected to produce enough affordable housing to meet its 

RHNA, projects that do not contribute to the City’s RHNA are inconsistent with the 

City’s Housing Element, a primary goal of which is to meet the RHNA.  

 

Berkeley Municipal Code Section 23.328.010 provides that residential 

housing projects constructing five or more dwelling units must include at least 20 

percent of the total number of dwelling units within the project as inclusionary 

units. As an alternative to providing inclusionary units required in an ownership 

project, the applicant may elect to enter in an agreement with the City to pay fees 

in-lieu of providing below-market rate units.44  

 

Here, the Project fails to provide the recommended 20% affordable units. 

Although the Project will likely have to pay an in-lieu fee, the Project would not be 

consistent with the Housing Element because it places the burden on the City to 

identify adequate sites to construct affordable housing, and the record lacks 

evidence demonstrating that the City will utilize the in lieu fee to supply the 

Project’s allocated affordable units in the timeframe necessary to meet its RHNA.45 

 

A. THE PROJECT IS INCONSISTENT WITH GENERAL PLAN 

WORKFORCE GOALS AND MAY BE DETRIMENTAL TO THE 

GENERAL WELFARE OF THE CITY, RESIDENTS, AND 

WORKERS  

 

The Berkeley General Plan’s Economic Development and Employment 

Element includes a number of policies and actions that are intended to support job 

training, a local workforce, increase social and economic equity, and gather 

economic and demographic information pertaining to the Berkeley economy.46 

 

 
42 Id. at 107. 
43 Id. at 15. 
44 Effective July 1, 2022, the fee is set at follows: Paid at Certificate of Occupancy: $46,185 per rental 

unit; or Paid at building permit: $43,185 per rental unit.  
45 Id. at 107. 
46 Berkeley General Plan Economic Development and Employment Element, GP Policies ED-1, ED-5, 

ED-12. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 60 of 75

Page 223 of 263

Page 389



April 20, 2023 

Page 11 

6031-009 

The record lacks evidence demonstrating that the Project Applicant has made 

a commitment to build the Project using a local skilled and trained workforce, to 

provide apprenticeship training opportunities, or to provide healthcare for its 

construction workforce. These shortcomings render the Project inconsistent with 

Berkeley’s General Plan policies and goals which seek to ensure that Berkeley has 

an adequate supply of decent housing and living wage jobs. Unless these 

inconsistencies are mitigated,47 Project construction would be detrimental to the 

general welfare of the City, its residents, and its workers, in violation of the City’s 

zoning code.48  

 The Berkeley General Plan Economic Development and Employment 

Element provides that it is the Policy (ED-1) of the City to “Increase the number of 

jobs that go to Berkeley citizens by coordinating economic development efforts with 

employment placement.”49 Further, the General Plan provides that the City intends 

to “[w]ork with job training programs and encourage training for life skills, job 

readiness, and specific target industries.”50  

Additionally, housing development projects in the City must implement the 

goals and policies of the General Plan, including promoting: 

1) Availability of basic goods and services that are affordable to local

residents.

2) Employment for local residents at living wages.51

Policy ED-1 (Employment and Training) provides that it is the Policy of the 

City to “Increase the number of jobs that go to Berkeley citizens by 

coordinating economic development efforts with employment placement 

through the following actions: 

A. Work with job training programs and encourage training for life

skills, job readiness, and specific target industries, including industrial

companies in West Berkeley.

47 Gov. Code § 65905.5. (a). 
48 BMC §§ 23.406.040(E)(1); 22.20.020. 
49 Berkeley General Plan Economic Development and Employment Element, pg. ED-5. Available at: 

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Emplo

yment%20Element-FINAL.pdf. 
50 Id. 
51 Id. at Policy ED-4, p. ED-7. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 61 of 75

Page 224 of 263

Page 390

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Employment%20Element-FINAL.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Employment%20Element-FINAL.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Employment%20Element-FINAL.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/12_Economic%20Development%20and%20Employment%20Element-FINAL.pdf


April 20, 2023 

Page 12 

 

6031-009 

B. Provide labor market information from data sources and industry 

sectors to local educational institutions and training agencies for 

adults and youths. 

C. Coordinate City employment and job training programs with the 

University of California, Vista College, and other local educational 

institutions. 

D. Encourage the University to hire Berkeley residents. 

E. Encourage the Berkeley Unified School District to provide education and 

job skills appropriate to jobs in Berkeley and the region. 

F. Create a collaborative process among the City, employers, and local 

disability/minority organizations to provide access to economic and artistic 

opportunities and development services for all people through education, 

technical assistance, and economic incentives. 

G. Develop and implement employment programs to assist citizens 

with temporary and permanent employment. 

H. Establish agreements with major employers to provide job 

training for Berkeley youth similar to the Bayer biotech agreements. 

I. Strengthen and improve the administration and performance of 

the First Source Program, and establish better links between the 

First Source Program and the Office of Economic Development. 

J. Consider development of an ordinance that requires that a 

percentage of Berkeley residents be hired for publicly funded 

construction jobs.52 

 

 The Berkeley General Plan Economic Development and Employment 

Element Objectives provides the following City development objectives:  

 

1. Provide a variety of jobs with varied skill levels for residents of 

Berkeley. 

2. Promote community and neighborhood values. 

3. Support businesses that are independent, locally owned, and 

neighborhood-serving. 

4. Encourage environmentally sustainable business. 

5. Promote revitalization in neighborhoods and communities that 

have historically higher-than-average rates of unemployment. 

6. Promote a strong industrial base as a vital foundation of a stable 

economy. 

7. Increase social and economic equity in land use decisions. 

 
52 Berkeley General Plan Economic Development and Employment Element, Policy ED-1, pg. ED-5 

(emphasis added). 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 62 of 75

Page 225 of 263

Page 391



April 20, 2023 

Page 13 

6031-009 

8. Support culture and the arts in Berkeley.

9. Promote general retail businesses and a variety of cultural, recreational,

entertainment, and public sector activities in the Downtown to ensure that

the Downtown will remain a vital, attractive, and unifying center for the

city.53

Policy ED-12 (Promoting Berkeley) requires the City to promote Berkeley as 

a location for appropriate business, visitor, and conference destination through 

specific actions, including “[d]evelop, maintain, and distribute economic and 

demographic information pertaining to the Berkeley economy."54 

Insofar as the Project does not include any commitment to provide 

construction jobs to local Berkeley or East Bay residents and does not contribute to 

any apprenticeship or other construction job training programs, or healthcare 

expenditures, the Project fails to demonstrate consistency with these General Plan 

policies. Providing a local skilled and trained workforce would implement the 

policies laid out in the General Plan Economic Development and Employment 

Element, which the City enacted to promote the general welfare.  

V. CONCLUSION

The design of this Project is inconsistent with the neighborhood due to its

massing and inadequate parking. The Project must also be approved in full 

compliance with CEQA, which is necessary to inform the public about the Project’s 

effects on the environment, and to eliminate or substantially lessen all significant 

effects on the environment where feasible. To adequately analyze and mitigate this 

Project’s potentially significant environmental impacts, the City should require an 

EIR to be prepared for this Project. Without providing local construction workforce 

standards, the Project is also inconsistent with workforce goals of the General 

Plan’s Economic Element, and is contrary to the general welfare.  

This Project should not be recommended for approval until the City is 

presented with substantial evidence demonstrating that the Project will comply 

with CEQA, the zoning ordinance and General Plan.  

Thank you for considering our comments. Please place this comment letter in 

the record of proceedings for this matter.  

53 Berkeley General Plan Economic Development and Employment Element, Element Objectives, pg. 

ED-5 (emphasis added). 
54Id. at Policy ED-12(C), pg. ED-10. 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 63 of 75

Page 226 of 263

Page 392



April 20, 2023 

Page 14 

 

6031-009 

 

      Sincerely, 

 

 

 

      Aidan P. Marshall 

        

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 64 of 75

Page 227 of 263

Page 393



To: City of Berkeley, Design Review Committee 
Cc: Councilmember Kate Harrison, Mayor Arreguin, University Business Association 
From: David Ushijima 
Date: April 11, 2023 
 
Re: Apr. 20th, DRC review of 1598 University Ave. project 
 
 
The intersection of University and California Avenues is a key node along the major Western 
entrance to the city as identified in the University Ave. Strategic Plan.1 That plan, which was 
adopted by Council in 1997, was extensively developed with merchants and residents over 
several years. It emphasized the need to focus efforts on activating the key commercial nodes 
along University Ave, a corridor that has long suffered from lack of planning oversight and 
neglect.  
 
I urge the DRC members to treat the review of 1598 University as a once-in-a-
generation opportunity to improve what can be a vital mid-University Ave. 
corridor.  Currently the project as submitted requires multiple improvements in 
the ground floor design in order to improve the quality of life not only in this mid-
University Ave. community but along the major corridor leading to the Downtown 
district and UC Berkeley.  
 
 
The five blocks along this stretch of University (beginning at the entrance to the Santa Fe/Ohlone 
pedestrian and bicycle path  near  Acton St.,  and proceeding East on University through the 
Sacramento St. intersection and then through the intersections at California St. and McGee 
Streets)  currently are experiencing  some of the highest retail vacancy rates in the city. (12.8% 
in 2022)2.  
 
With the development of North Berkeley BART station and other new developments coming 
online, the city’s planners have a once-in-a-generation opportunity to influence new project 
designs and  activate the key commercial nodes along this corridor in order to  improve 
both the commercial and the neighborhood environments along University Ave. for 
generations to come. 
 
The proposed project is also critically located on the most important bicycle and pedestrian 
pathway connecting the Western Downtown residential communities south of University and 
east of Sacramento St. to the Ohlone Greenway and the North Berkeley BART station. The 
entire East side side of the project will front the major bicycle boulevard (California St.)  that is a 
key part of Berkeley’s Bicycle/Pedestrian plan3. The California St. Bicycle Boulevard also is a 

 
1 University Ave. Strategic Plan:  
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/our-work/adopted-plans/university-avenue-strategic-plan 
2 https://www.berkeleyside.org/2023/04/07/shop-talk-barberella-inspired-hair-salon-has-moved 
3 https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/our-work/adopted-plans/berkeley-bicycle-plan ;  
 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 65 of 75

Page 228 of 263

Page 394



key part of BART’s North Berkeley BART Access Plan and the Berkeley-El Cerrito Corridor 
Access Plan4. As such the streetscape along the California side of the project 
should be made more amenable to both pedestrian and bicycle travelers. 
 
 
While this project is being portrayed by the developers and architects as 
encouraging community engagement and enriching the streetscape, in actuality, in 
terms of street level project design, it falls far short of that goal. 
 
I urge the DRC members to require  ground-level improvements to the 
proposed design which will improve, activate,  and enhance the surrounding 
streetscape, community, and key commercial node located near  the corner of 
University Ave. and California Street. The building’s ground floor design should be 
revised to be more welcoming and accommodating to both pedestrian foot traffic and 
bicycle and other multi-modal forms of transportation. 
 
 
In looking at the proposed plans as submitted to the DRC, I urge the DRC to consider the 
following improvements: 
 

• The public art that is portrayed on the East-facing wall (Dwg. A0.0, A 3.1)  needs to 
be re-thought. It was not selected with any input from the residential and retail 
community. None of the nearly 100 signees of the 1598 University Ave. neighborhood 
petition likes the artwork that is illustrated in the drawings. 

 
• The narrow “on-site public plaza area”  shown along the north-east side of the 

building in the Ground Level Floor Plan (Dwg. A.1), should be widened and extended. 
It is far too narrow to benefit passing pedestrians. If possible, the sidewalk along this side 
should be widened to encourage pedestrian patronage of the proposed retail businesses. 
Also a loading zone that has been positioned to block the northeast corner of that 
plaza area should be moved, as it  will discourage any casual gathering of neighbors 
and community members at that key corner of the building. 
 

• While the ground-level columns on the East and North sides of the building are 
shown covered with  ivy or other vine-like plant growth to enhance the green appearance 
of the street-level façade (Dwg. A 0.0, A 3.9, Dwg MAT), the Landscape Site Plan 
(Dwg. L 2.0) or the plant list does not include the requirement for vine-like plants. 
The vine-like plants should be a requirement. 
 

• Both the California St. and University Ave. ground level frontages are shown as having 
tenant-supplied movable tables and chairs for seating (Conceptual Rendering Dwg. A 
3.9). To avoid having streetside seating being solely dependant on securing a restaurant 

 
4 www.bart.gov/beccap 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 66 of 75

Page 229 of 263

Page 395



tenant for the retail space, permanent built-in bench seating should be built along the 
street frontage similar to that used in the interior courtyard. While extensive attention is 
paid to the interior courtyard for residents, equal attention should be given to the 
streetscape seating which will affect the entire community. 
 

• The street trees along the University Ave. frontage of the building which are labeled on 
the Ground Level Floor Plan  “to be determined by survey, city forester, and project 
landscape architect” (Dwg. A 2.1) need to be specifically selected to create a rich, 
green streetscape environment friendly to pedestrians and bicyclists. 

 
• The existing trees that are illustrated on the East elevation (Dwgs. A3.1, A3.8, A3.9) 

and the North elevation (Dwg. A3.2) are not adequate to provide shade or attractive 
greenery to the pedestrians and bicyclists traveling along California St. or University. 
The Landscape Site Plan (Dwg. L 2.0) calls for the “existing Crepe Myrtles” on 
California St. to be protected. However those trees are deciduous and do not provide a 
rich, green streetscape all year round, nor do they provide shade or shelter to pedestrians 
along the sidewalk. They should be replaced with taller, fuller  evergreen perennial trees 
that provide a much richer, more welcoming streetscape environment. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 67 of 75

Page 230 of 263

Page 396



5/8/23, 3:56 PM Petition · Let’s Welcome New Neighbors, Not New Towers! · Change.org

file:///C:/Users/klapira/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/BJ90VN3Q/Petition - Lets Welcome New Neighbors Not New To… 1/5

Skip to main content

Start a petition
My petitions
Browse
Membership

Welcome back to Change.org! A new petition wins every hour thanks to signers like you.
What’s new

Petition details

Comments

Updates

Discover

Let’s Welcome New Neighbors, Not New Towers!
88 have signed. Let’s get to 100!

At 100 signatures, this petition is more likely to be featured in
recommendations!

At 100 signatures, this petition is more likely to be featured in recommendations!

Recent signers

Barbara Loften signed this petition

laurel hunter signed this petition

California Street at University Avenue Neighbors started this petition
Take the next step!

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 68 of 75

Page 231 of 263

Page 397

https://www.change.org/
https://www.change.org/
https://www.change.org/start-a-petition?source_location=header
https://www.change.org/start-a-petition?source_location=header
https://www.change.org/u/me
https://www.change.org/u/me
https://www.change.org/petitions
https://www.change.org/petitions
https://www.change.org/member?source_location=member_link_header
https://www.change.org/member?source_location=member_link_header
https://www.change.org/search
https://www.change.org/search
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/f
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/f
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers?redirect=false
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers?redirect=false
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/c
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/c
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/w?source_location=petition_nav
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/w?source_location=petition_nav
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/d?source_location=petition_nav
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/d?source_location=petition_nav
https://www.change.org/u/1272099848
https://www.change.org/u/1272099848
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/psf/promote_or_share
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/psf/promote_or_share


5/8/23, 3:56 PM Petition · Let’s Welcome New Neighbors, Not New Towers! · Change.org

file:///C:/Users/klapira/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/BJ90VN3Q/Petition - Lets Welcome New Neighbors Not New To… 2/5

 

Say NO to a 210-Unit Tower at 1598 University; tell the City we don't want 8-story buildings lining
University Avenue, overwhelming neighborhoods!

A private developer—already applying for permits to build more Towers abutting Berkeley
neighborhoods—has asked the City to approve an 8-story, 210-unit tower on the SW corner of University
and California.  Let’s put the needs of neighborhoods �rst, not the needs of developers!

The building would be much taller than anything in this part of the city:

Numbers are building over 3 stories:  Green are existing, Red is this proposed one.

Parking Crisis: Only 36 spaces provided for 245 bedrooms!!  A major hardship for seniors and neighbors
with disabilities.  This will have a severe impact on the neighborhood!  A tra�c safety concern for
neighbors, nearby churches and schools, and kids playing in the street.

Unfair Shadowing: This building will block sunlight on surrounding homes, yards, and solar panels for
hours daily.  Tell the City Council to agree on objective shadowing standards that would give
neighborhoods a voice on new state mandates!  Councilmembers are willfully avoiding this; tell them
our vote depends on it!  Sunlight is crucial for healthy living things.

Lack of A�ordable Housing: 90% of units will be high-priced market-rate!  We don’t need another Tower,
what we need is more a�ordable housing to protect and re-build the diversity of our historic
neighborhood and meet the needs of current and new residents!

Who to contact, NOW—don't wait, comments needed ASAP!

Contact Katrina Lapira in the City Planning Department: KLapira@cityofberkeley.info , 510-981-
7488, 1947 Center Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704

Contact Councilmember Kate Harrison: KHarrison@cityofberkeley.info

Ask that "1598 University Avenue" be redesigned to preserve solar access and neighborhood life.

Mailing list for organizing opposition to this building:  To subscribe, if you have a Google account, go
to https://groups.google.com/d/forum/1598universitytower and click on "Ask to join group". (If you're
not o�ered "Ask to join group" but are o�ered "For access, try logging in" click that to log in to Google,
after which you should see "Ask to join group").  If you want to subscribe but also want to not have a
Google account (which means you will receive emails but won't be able to use the Web interface to the
1598universitytower forum), please send an email to
1598universitytower+managers@googlegroups.com with a Subject Line like "1598universitytower
Subscribe Request" from the email address you wish to subscribe.

This �yer is endorsed by Friends of 1598 University Tower Neighbors, 1598universitytower@gmail.comTake the next step!

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 69 of 75

Page 232 of 263

Page 398

mailto:KLapira@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:KLapira@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:KHarrison@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:KHarrison@cityofberkeley.info
https://groups.google.com/d/forum/1598universitytower
https://groups.google.com/d/forum/1598universitytower
mailto:1598universitytower+managers@googlegroups.com
mailto:1598universitytower+managers@googlegroups.com
mailto:1598universitytower@gmail.com
mailto:1598universitytower@gmail.com
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/psf/promote_or_share
https://www.change.org/p/let-s-welcome-new-neighbors-not-new-towers/psf/promote_or_share


Name City State Postal Code Country Signed On 
California Street at University Avenue Neighbors    

US 2022-07-
29 

Mark Van Valkenburgh Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-
06 

Judy Caldeira Elk Grove CA 95624 US 2022-08-
06 

Bill Kristy Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-
07 

Kevis Goodman Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-
09 

M.E. Lawrence Berkeley CA 94710 US 2022-08-
10 

Nancy Richerson Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-08-
13 

Mahalakshmi Parameswaran BERKELEY CA 94703 US 2022-08-
13 

Bentley Drake Gualala CA 95445 US 2022-08-
13 

Keshav Lincoln Annapolis  
21401 US 2022-08-

13 
Shelbi Lane Dallas  

75270 US 2022-08-
14 

Sydni Cutburth Belton  
64012 US 2022-08-

14 
Lillian Holtgrave Springfield  

62702 US 2022-08-
14 

Demontez Stimage Hammond  
70401 US 2022-08-

14 
Thomas Wood Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-

14 
Ruth Dart Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-

14 
Lucia Rodriguez Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-

15 
Laura Brainard Inverness CA 94937 US 2022-08-

21 
ed valenzuela Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-08-

26 
Roberto Miranda Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-

26 
Kiki Calenzuela Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-

26 
Mary Richerson Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-08-

26 
kathleen richerson Alameda CA 94501 US 2022-08-

27 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 70 of 75

Page 233 of 263

Page 399



David Ushijima Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-08-
27 

Barbara Shayesteh Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-08-
27 

Elizabeth Arenas Berkeley CA 94707 US 2022-08-
27 

Cheryl Chinn Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-08-
28 

Wanie Biggs Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-08-
28 

Linda Banks Bellmawr  
8031 US 2022-08-

28 
Adam Kaluba Burleson  

76028 US 2022-08-
28 

Laurie Rolfe Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-09-
08 

Daisy White Michigan City  
46360 US 2022-09-

08 
anet Daniel    

US 2022-09-
08 

Kalvin Yuwen    
US 2022-09-

08 
Alejandro Beltran Lubbock  

79414 US 2022-09-
08 

Tobie Lurie Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-10-
14 

Charlene Woodcock Berkeley CA 94709 US 2022-10-
14 

Harvey Smith Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-10-
14 

Marcia Poole Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-10-
14 

Isabelle Gaston Berkeley CA 94707 US 2022-10-
14 

Barbara Fisher Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-10-
14 

Art Goldberg Carmel-by-the-
Sea 

CA 93923 US 2022-10-
14 

Larisa Cummings Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-10-
21 

Aurora Maramag Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-10-
29 

Margaret Fauchier Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-10-
29 

Elizabeth Kowal Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
01 

Jose Ramirez Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
02 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 71 of 75

Page 234 of 263

Page 400



Jeanette Badal Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
04 

Zhen Yang Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
05 

Cymbre Potter Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-11-
14 

John Ruiz Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-11-
14 

Serina Garst Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
16 

Erica Garcia Lancaster  
93535 US 2022-11-

16 
Trista Thomas Lexington  

60629 US 2022-11-
16 

Summer Brenner Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
16 

Anne-Lise Francois Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
16 

lynn adler Berkeley CA 94708 US 2022-11-
16 

Susan Moon Berkeley CA 94707 US 2022-11-
16 

M.I. Lawrence-Smail Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
16 

Michael Weber Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
16 

nora shourd berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
16 

Marilyn Mulford Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
16 

Melissa Riley berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
17 

Ivan Avila Modesto  
95354 US 2022-11-

17 
Lois Yuen Berkeley CA 94707 US 2022-11-

17 
Julian Amado Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-

17 
Deon Jackson Ta  

33603 US 2022-11-
17 

Taha Saffarniya Dallas  
75270 US 2022-11-

17 
Rick Adams Cincinnati  

45211 US 2022-11-
17 

Steven M Brandon  
39047 US 2022-11-

17 
Aidan VanDuyne Channahon  

60410 US 2022-11-
17 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 72 of 75

Page 235 of 263

Page 401



Alana Shindler Berkeley CA 94705 US 2022-11-
17 

Shirley Carrie Brewin Berkeley CA 94704 US 2022-11-
17 

Antonia Langenhoff Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
18 

Nicholas Phelps Berkeley CA 94702 US 2022-11-
20 

Ariel H California CA 94702 US 2022-11-
21 

James Whitta Berkeley CA 94703 US 2022-11-
23 

Richard Graham Berkeley CA 94707 US 2022-12-
09 

Gregory Williams Memphis  
38126 US 2022-12-

09 
Sooo Hey Clifton  

7014 US 2022-12-
09 

Ryan Thacker Beckley  
25801 US 2022-12-

09 
Foresha Benton Rochester  

14610 US 2022-12-
09 

Michal Elnadav Brooklyn  
11230 US 2023-02-

05 
G. Diane Matthews-Marcelin Carson  

90746 US 2023-03-
14 

laurel hunter san francisco CA 94111 US 2023-04-
05 

Barbara Loften Berkeley CA 94703 US 2023-04-
05 

Nina Fairles Berkeley CA 94707 US 2023-04-
05 

Susan Korbel Berkeley CA 94703 US 2023-04-
06 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 73 of 75

Page 236 of 263

Page 402



Name City State 
Postal 
Code Country 

Commented 
Date Comment                            

Charlene 
Woodcock Berkeley CA 94709 US 10/14/22 

"This building is too tall 
for its context and it will 
hinder rooftop solar, 
which should be 
encouraged all over 
Berkeley. Thanks to for-
profit developers, the 
cost of housing is rising 
fast in Berkeley and they 
refuse to provide 50% 
low income units. We 
now have wind tunnels 
downtown, so that 
developers can increase 
their profits by building 
too-tall buildings."                            

Harvey 
Smith Berkeley CA 94703 US 10/14/22 

"we need social housing, 
cooperative housing, 
affordable housing, not 
more market-rate 
development that 
primarily benefits the real 
estate and development 
industry. NO to trickle-
down housing."                            

Elizabeth 
Kowal Berkeley CA 94703 US 11/1/22 

"This neighborhood 
deserves new housing 
that benefits current and 
new residents and helps 
keep it DIVERSE!"                            

Serina 
Garst Berkeley CA 94707 US 11/16/22 

"There are so many new 
high rise buildings already 
approved or under 
construction.  Meanwhile, 
the tech economy that 
has driven bay area 
housing  for the last 
decade is shrinking and 
the real estate market is 
cooling off.  It seems and 
odd time to approve even 
more rental housing - 
especially housing that is 
not affordable."                            

Summer 
Brenner Berkeley CA 94703 US 11/17/22 

"Berkeley needs 
AFFORDABLE housing, 
not luxury towers."                            

nora 
shourd berkeley CA 94703 US 11/17/22 

"This does not solve our 
housing issues; it’s a kind 
of urban blight; blocking 
the sun; creating more 
pollution and traffic . 
Who wants this “new 
Berkeley”? We need to 
repurpose preexisting                            

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 74 of 75

Page 237 of 263

Page 403



buildings ; stop more and 
more resource extraction 
and landfill waste . House 
the citizens of Berkeley 
that need it" 

Melissa 
Riley berkeley CA 94703 US 11/17/22 

"8 stories is too much. It’s 
not at a human 
scale,  with eyes on the 
street,  for this 
neighborhood. We need 
more shorter buildings. 
And we need truly 
affordable housing. Not 
vastly market rate."                            

                                  
                                  
 

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM #4 - 1598 UNIVERSITY AVE. 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 75 of 75

Page 238 of 263

Page 404



Z O N I N G 

A D J U S T M E N T S 

B O A R D 

S t a f f  R e p o r t

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  Tel: 510.981.7410  TDD: 510.981.7474  Fax: 510.981.7420 
E-mail: zab@ci.berkeley.ca.us

FOR BOARD ACTION 
MAY 11, 2023 

1598 University Avenue 
Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 to demolish anon-residential structure and 
construct a 127,492 square-foot, eight-story (89 feet- 2 inches) mixed-use 
residential building containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income) 
and 5,943 square foot commercial space, with 39 automobile parking 
spaces and 92 bicycle parking spaces, utilizing State Density Bonus. 

I. Background

A. Land Use Designations:
• General Plan: Avenue Commercial (AC)
• Zoning: University Commercial District (C-U), Node Area – South Side of University

Avenue
• Specific Plan: University Avenue Specific Plan

B. Zoning Permits Required:
• Use Permit to demolish two non-residential buildings, under Berkeley Municipal

Code (BMC) Section 23.326.070
• Use Permit to establish a mixed-use residential building, under BMC Section

23.204.020
• Use Permit to create 5,000 square feet of new floor area in the University

Commercial District, under BMC Section 23.204.030(A)
• Use Permit to establish residential uses on the ground floor, under BMC

23.204.060(B)(3)
• Use Permit to reduce the rear setback (interior) to provide greater privacy along

the side setback (south) that abuts residential district, under BMC 23204.060
• Administrative Use Permit Administrative Use Permit for projections that

exceed the maximum building height limit, under 23.304.050(A)

C. Concessions and Waivers – Pursuant to State Density Bonus Law (CA Gov’t
Code Section 65915)
• Concession to allow for a reduction in open space to 10,365 square feet, where

41,400 square feet is required under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1)

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 Attachment 5

Page 239 of 263

Page 405



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 2 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

• Waiver to reduce the ground floor commercial use feature street frontage along 
University Avenue from 75 percent to 31.8 percent, under BMC Section 
23.204.060(D)(6) 

• Waiver to reduce the minimum ground floor area for a commercial use feature 
from 20 percent to 19.8 percent, under 23.204.060 (D)(6) 

• Waiver to increase the building height to 89’-2 where the requirement is 48’ 
under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to increase the number of stories to eight where the maximum is four 
under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to increase the FAR to 4.47, where the maximum is 3 under BMC Section 
23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to reduce the rear setback to a 5-foot average where the requirement is a 
20-foot average, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is 
a 2-foot average, under 23.204.060(D)(1) 
 

D. CEQA Recommendation: It is staff’s recommendation to the Zoning Adjustments 
Board (ZAB) that the project is categorically exempt from the provisions of the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA, Public Resources Code Section 21000, 
et seq. and California Code of Regulations, Section15000, et seq.) pursuant to Section 
15332 of the CEQA Guidelines (“Infill Development Project”).  

 
A. Parties Involved: 

• Applicant Isaiah Stackhouse, Trachtenberg Architects, Berkeley CA 
• Property Owner 1598 University Avenue, LLC, Berkeley CA 

  

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 240 of 263

Page 406



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 3 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map 
 

 
*Map not to scale.  
 
Map Key 
C-U : University Commercial District  
R-2: Restricted Two-Family Residential District 
R-2A : Restricted Mulitple-Family Residential District 
R-4 : Multi-Family Residential District  

Project Site  

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 241 of 263

Page 407



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 4 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Figure 2: Site Plan 

 
 
Figure 3: North Elevation (facing University) 
 

 
 
 
 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 242 of 263

Page 408



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 5 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Figure 4: East Elevation  
 

  
 
Figure 5: West Elevation 

 
 
 
 
 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 243 of 263

Page 409



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 6 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Figure 5: South Elevation  
 

 
 
 
 
 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 244 of 263

Page 410



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 7 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Table 1: Land Use Information 
Location Existing Use Zoning 

District General Plan Designation 

Subject Properties 

Restaurant 
(commercial); Chinese 
language school (group 
class instruction)  

C-U University Avenue 

Surrounding 
Properties 

North Mixed-use building 
(residential- commercial) 

West Multifamily building  

East Thrift store  
(commercial) 

South 
(Rear) Duplex  R-2 Low Medium Density Residential 

 
Table 2: Special Characteristics 

Characteristic 
Applies 

to 
Project? 

Explanation 

Affordable Child Care Fee for 
qualifying non-residential projects 
(Per Resolution 66,618-N.S.) 

No This fee applies to net new nonresidential floor 
area over 7,500 square feet. The proposed project 
is provides 5,943 square feet of commercial space 
and is therefore not subject to this requirement. 

Affordable Housing Fee for qualifying 
non-residential projects (Per 
Resolution 66,617-N.S.) 

No 

Affordable Housing Mitigations for 
rental housing projects (Per BMC 
22.20.0651) 

Yes 

Project would provide 21 Below Market Rate 
(BMR) units at the Very Low-Income (VLI) rate, 
and pay a fee to satisfy the requirements of BMC 
Section 22.20.065 (See discussion below). 

Creeks No The site is not near a mapped creek or a creek 
culvert. 

Density Bonus Yes The proposed project qualifies for a 50% density 
bonus under State Density Bonus law.  

Historic Resources No 

The existing building is more than 40 years old. 
Given its age, the project was forwarded to the 
Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) for 
review (BMC Section 23.326.070(C)). On 
February 2, 2022 the LPC took no action to initiate 
a Landmark or Structure of Merit designation and 
recommended that the ZAB approve the 
demolition. See Section IV.B for discussion. 

Housing Accountability Act (Gov’t 
Code Section 65589.5(j)) Yes 

The project is a mixed-use development in which 
at least two-thirds of the square footage is 
designated for residential use and meets the 
definition of a “Housing Development Project” per 
Government Code Section 65589.5(h)(2)2. The 
base project also meets the criteria for a housing 
development project and complies with applicable, 
objective general plan and zoning standards, and 
thus section (j) of the Housing Accountability Act 

                                            
1 Project vested under SB 330 prior to effective date of new inclusionary housing requirements.  
2 Government Code Section 65589.5(h)(2) “Housing development project” means a use consisting of any of the following: (A) residential 
units only, (B) mixed-use developments consisting of residential and nonresidential uses in which at least two-thirds of the square footage is 
designated for residential use, and (C) transitional or supportive housing. 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 245 of 263

Page 411



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 8 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

applies and the project cannot be denied at the 
density proposed unless the findings for denial can 
be made. See Section V.B of this report for 
additional discussion on compliance with the 
Housing Accountability Act. 

Housing Crisis Act of 2019 (SB 330)  

The project is a mixed-use project with at least 
two-thirds of the square-footage residential. See 
Section V of this report for additional discussion on 
the sections of SB330 that apply to the project. 

Natural Gas Prohibition  
(Per BMC 12.80.020) Yes 

This project is an application for new construction 
and was submitted after January 1, 2020, and is 
therefore subject to the Natural Gas Prohibition. 

Oak Trees No There are no Coast Live Oak trees on the project 
site. 

Rent Controlled Units No There are no existing residential units on the site.  

Residential Preferred Parking (RPP) No 

The project is not eligible for RPP permits per 
BMC Section 14.72.080(C)(1) as no permits shall 
be issued to residents in newly constructed 
residential units. 

Seismic Hazards (SHMA) No The site is not located in a landslide/ liquefaction/ 
fault zone.   

Soil/Groundwater Contamination No 

The project site is not listed on the Cortese List (an 
annually updated list of hazardous materials sites). 
The project site is within the City’s Environmental 
Management Area. The applicant has submitted a 
Phase I report. No further investigation is 
recommended. Standard Conditions of Approval 
related to hazardous materials would apply. 

Transit Yes 

The site is located at the intersection of University 
Avenue and California Street. University Avenue is 
serviced by Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District 
(AC) Transit Lines 51B, 52, 88, 604 67, and 800. 
The site is also located less than half a mile from 
the North Berkeley BART Station and over a mile 
from the Downtown Berkeley BART Station. 
Additionally, there is a Bay Wheels station 
adjacent to the site, along the eastern property line 
within the public-right-of-way.  

 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 246 of 263

Page 412



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 9 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Table 3: Project Chronology 
Date Action 

January 26, 2022 SB 330 complete preliminary housing development project application 
submitted and deemed complete 

July 7, 2022 SB 330 Use Permit Application submitted 

August 24, 2022 Application deemed incomplete 

September 22, 2022 Application resubmitted 

October 20, 2022 Application deemed incomplete 

November 1, 2022 Application resubmitted 

December 1, 2022 Application deemed incomplete 

December 23, 2022 Application resubmitted  

January 23, 2023 Application deemed complete 

February 2, 2023 LPC hearing 

April 20, 2023 DRC hearing 

May 3, 2023 Plans Resubmitted 

May 4, 2023 Public hearing notices mailed/posted 

May 11, 2023 ZAB hearing 

 
 
Table 4: Development Standards 

Standard 
BMC Sections 23.204.020 

Existing Proposed 
Total 

Permitted/ 
Required 

Lot Area (sq. ft.) 28,936 No change  5,000 min 

Gross Floor Area (sq. ft.) 7,884 127,492 N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 0.27 4.63 3 max 

Dwelling Units Total 0 207 N/A 

Affordable 0 21 21 min 

Building 
Height 

 
Minimum / 
Maximum (ft.) 

26’ 89’-2” 30’ min /  
48’ max  

Stories 1 8 2 min / 4 max 

Building 
Setbacks (ft.) 

Front  
(California) 

1’-7” 5’-8” avg. 0 min 

Rear 3’-10” 5’ avg. 20’ avg. min 

Left Side 
(University) 

2’-10” 0’ 2’ avg. 

Right Side 
 

15’ 57’-1” avg. 0 min 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 247 of 263

Page 413



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 10 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Lot Coverage (%) 27 63 100 max 

Usable Open Space (sq. ft.) N/A 10,365 41,400 min 

Parking Automobile 33 39 0 min3 

Bicycle 0 92 92 min 

UASP Commercial Area (%) 100 21 30 min 

UASP Commercial Area (sq. ft) 7,884  5,943 5,787 min 

UASP Commercial Frontage Along 
University Avenue (%) 

N/A 31.8 75 min 

UASP Open Space Entry (%) 10 10 10 min 

UASP Pedestrian Open Space (%) N/A 3 1 min 
________ = Waiver or Concession requested to modify the district standard 
Abbreviations: sq. ft. = square feet; max. = maximum; min. = minimum; n/a = not applicable; % = percent 
avg. = average; UASP = University Avenue Specific Plan (node) 

 
II. Project Setting 

 
A. Neighborhood/Area Description: University Avenue is situated between West 

Berkeley and Downtown Berkeley – regional commercial centers. The project site is 
located within the University Avenue Specific Plan (UASP)4 area in a local-serving 
avenue node with existing neighborhood services. The project site is located at the 
corner of University Avenue and California Street, two blocks south of Ohlone Park. 
The project site located at an intersection that that is composed of one to three story 
mixed use and commercial buildings and associated surface parking. Compared to 
both the eastern and western ends of the UASP plan area, the site is located within 
an underdeveloped section of the plan area. The rear of the site abuts a residential 
district which is characterized by single-family, two-family, and multifamily residential 
buildings. The site project site is proximate to several bus lines and is within half a mile 
of the North Berkeley Bart Station.  
 

B. Site Conditions: The project site spans three rectangular, contiguous lots. The 28,936 
square foot site maintains about 180 feet of frontage along University Avenue and 
about 138 feet of frontage along California Street. The western portion of the site area 
is partially developed with a Chinese language school and the eastern portion of the 
lot with a restaurant. The majority of the site is dedicated to off-street surface parking. 
The site is accessed along University Avenue at three separate curb cuts and at one 
curb cut along California street.  

 
 
 
 
                                            
3 AB-2097, effective January 1, 2023, prohibits local jurisdictions from requiring minimum parking for most non-
residential uses 
4 University Avenue Specific Plan (1996) 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 248 of 263

Page 414

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2097
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2097
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-Ave-Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/University-Ave-Plan_Cover_Summary.pdf


ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 11 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

III. Project Description 
 

A. Proposed Project: The proposed project would demolish an existing commercial 
building and construct a new eight-story residential building with the following 
primary components:  
 

1) 207 dwelling units (38 two-bedroom, 20 one-bedroom, and 149 studios) for a 
total of 245 bedrooms 

2) 82 long-term bicycle parking spaces onsite and seven short-term spaces  
3) 39 automobile parking spaces in a ground-level garage  
4) 9,165 square foot garden/ open space on the ground floor  
5) Communal facilities on the ground floor (i.e. club room and fitness center) 
6) Communal lounges and decks located on every other floor 
7) 5,943 commercial floor area located along California Street and at the corner 

of University Avenue and California Street 
 

B. Base Project and Density Bonus Project: The applicant has requested a density 
bonus under the State Density Bonus Law. Under the City’s density bonus 
procedures, the “base project” 5 includes 138 residential units and eight stories. By 
providing 21 Very-Low Income (VLI) BMR units on site (15 percent of the 138-unit 
base density), the project is eligible for a 50 percent density bonus, or 69 units. 
Therefore, the applicant proposes 69 additional units above the base density for a 
total of 207 dwelling units. The Density Bonus calculations are provided in more 
detail, below:  
 

Table 5: Density Bonus 
Base Project 

Units* Qualifying Units Percent Density 
Bonus  

Number of Density 
Bonus Units* 

Proposed Project 
Units 

138 21 VLI 
(15% of BP) 50% 69 

(50%x138) 207 

*Per Gov’t Code 65915(q), all unit calculations are rounded up to the nearest whole number. 
Abbreviations: % = percent; BP = base project 

 
IV. Community Discussion 

 
A. Neighbor/Community Concerns: Prior to submitting this application to the city, the 

applicant invited interested neighborhood organizations as well as owners and occupants 
within 300 feet of the project to a project preview meeting. The meeting was held on March 
30, 2022, and attended by 10 people (meeting minutes are included as Attachment 4). 
Later, a pre-application poster was erected by the applicant in March 31, 2023. On April 

                                            
5 Per the City’s Density Bonus Procedures (DBP), the Base Project is the largest project allowed on the site that 
is fully compliant with district development standards (i.e. height, setbacks, usable open space, parking, etc.), or, 
the maximum allowable density for the site. The City uses the DBP to calculate the maximum allowable density 
for a site where there is no density standard in the zoning district, and to determine the number of units in the 
Proposed Project, which is the number of Base Project units plus the number of density bonus units that can be 
added according to the percentage of BMR units proposed, per Government Code, Section 65915(f).  

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 249 of 263

Page 415



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 12 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

27, 2023, the City mailed public hearing notices to property owners and occupants within 
300 feet of the project site, and to interested neighborhood organizations, and the City 
posted notices within the neighborhood in three locations. At the time of this writing, staff 
has received several communications regarding the project. The majority of the 
communications expressed concerns about the project’s height (scale) and its potential 
impacts to sunlight, traffic, and parking.  Some communications expressed support of the 
project, citing the need for more housing supply (Attachment 5). 

 
B. Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC): The project would demolish 

commercial buildings that are over 40 years in age. Per the Historic Resource 
Evaluation prepared by Page & Turnbull, Inc on May 2, 2022, the building proposed 
for demolition does not meet the criteria for the California Register or a City of 
Berkeley Landmark. Pursuant to BMC Section 23.326.070(C), the proposed 
demolition was referred to the LPC for review prior to the consideration of the Use 
Permit. The LPC reviewed the demolition referral on February 2, 2023, and took no 
action. 

 
C. Design Review Committee: The project is located in the non-residential district and 

therefore, requires design review, pursuant to BMC Section 23.406.070(B)(1)(a). On 
April 20, 2023, the Design Review Committee (DRC) reviewed the current project 
design for the project, gave a favorable recommendation on the design as presented, 
and provided the following conditions and recommendations for Final Design Review 
(FDR):   

 
Conditions 

• Refine Public Plaza on California.   
• Resolve privacy and heat gain issues on south windows. 
• Resolve any sound issues in the courtyard and present at FDR. 
• Cornice and window shelves are too thin and should be further developed. 
• Consider mural relocation for better integration in the building design. 
• Consider an alternate material to the metal panels at FDR. 

 
Recommendations 

• Plaza should be wider, and better relate to the retail and sidewalk levels; 
recommend pushing the massing west and south to achieve this. 

• Consider more articulation at the ground floor storefront. 
• Consider reducing ceiling heights for the club and fitness rooms to reduce 

overall height/mass. 
• Consider breaking the horizontal banding at the main entrance. 
• Look carefully at gate and garage door details. 
• Recommend bird safe glazing wherever possible. 
• Add more interest to color palette at FDR. 
• Provide strong parapets on rear façade, including lower portions. 
• Consider different design accents – not so symmetrical and uniform. 

 
ZAB Issues 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 250 of 263

Page 416



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 13 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

• Consider live work units on south side of the California ground floor 
frontage. 

• Photo documentation to be given to local historic societies. 
 
V. Issues and Analysis 

 
A. SB 330 – Housing Crisis Act of 2019: The Housing Crisis Act, also known as Senate 

Bill 330, seeks to boost homebuilding throughout the State with a focus on urbanized 
zones by expediting the approval process for and suspending or eliminating 
restrictions on housing development. Housing development is defined as a project that 
is residential units only, a mixed-use project with at least two-thirds of the square-
footage residential, or for transitional or supportive housing. Sections of SB 330 that 
apply to the proposed project include the following: 

1. Government Code §65905.5(a) states that if a proposed housing development 
project complies with the applicable, objective general plan and zoning standards 
in affect at the time an application is deemed complete, then the city shall not 
conduct more than five hearings in connection with the approval of that housing 
development project. This includes all public hearings in connection with the 
approval of the housing development project and any continuances of such public 
hearings. The city must consider and either approve or disapprove the project at 
any of the five hearings consistent with applicable timelines under the Permit 
Streamlining Act (Chapter 4.5 (commencing with §65920)). 

The May 11, 2023 ZAB hearing represents the third public hearing for the proposed 
project since the project was deemed complete. The City can hold up to two 
additional public hearings on this project, if needed. One of those hearings must 
be reserved for any possible appeal to the City Council. 

2. Government Code §65913.10(a) requires that the City determine whether the 
proposed development project site is a historic site at the time the application for 
the housing development project is deemed complete. The determination as to 
whether the parcel is a historic site must remain valid during the pendency of the 
housing development project, unless any archaeological, paleontological, or tribal 
cultural resources are encountered during any grading, site disturbance, or building 
alteration activities. 

As discussed in an historic resource evaluation prepared for the property in May of 
2022, the property does not appear to be historically significant and therefore is not 
eligible for listing on the California Register of Historical Resources or as a City of 
Berkeley Landmark or Structure of Merit. The demolition referral was heard at the 
February 2, 2023 Landmark Preservation Commission Agenda, and no action was 
taken. Therefore, it was determined the site is not a historic resource. Further, 
standard conditions of approval have been included to halt work in case of any 
unanticipated discovery of archeological, paleontological, or tribal cultural 
resources. 
 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 251 of 263

Page 417



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 14 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

3. Government Code §65950(a)(5) requires a public agency to approve or disapprove 
a project within 60 days from the determination that the project is exempt from the 
California Environmental Quality Act. The project was deemed complete on 
January 23, 2023. Should ZAB determine the application is categorically exempt 
from CEQA at the May 11, 2023 public hearing, the application must be approved 
or disapproved by July 11, 2023. 

B.  Housing Accountability Act Analysis: Pursuant to the Housing Accountability Act 
(HAA), California Government Code Section 65589.5(j), when a proposed housing 
development complies with the applicable, objective general plan and zoning 
standards, but a local agency proposes to deny the project or approve it only if the 
density is reduced, the agency must base its decision on written findings supported by 
substantial evidence that: 
 
1. The development would have a specific adverse impact on public health or safety 

unless disapproved, or approved at a lower density; and 
2. There is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific adverse 

impact, other than the disapproval, or approval at a lower density. 
 

The Base Project includes Use Permits and/or Administrivia Use Permits to modify the 
use, floor area, height, and rear setback to comply with applicable, objective general 
plan and zoning standards. Further, Section 65589.5(j)(3) provides that a request for 
a density bonus “shall not constitute a valid basis on which to find a proposed housing 
development project is inconsistent, not in compliance, or not in conformity, with an 
applicable plan, program, policy, ordinance, standard, requirement, or other similar 
provision specified in this subdivision.” Therefore, the City may not deny the Base 
Project or density bonus request or reduced the density with respect to those units 
without basing its decision on the written findings under Section 65589.5(j), above. 
Staff is aware of no specific adverse impacts that could occur with the construction of 
the Base Project or the density bonus units. All findings discussed below are subject 
to the requirements of Government Code Section 65589.5. 

As described in Table 4 above, the project complies with the applicable general plan 
and zoning standards. While the project may include other Use Permits or 
Administrative Use Permits to modify standards not associated with the base project, 
there are no objective criteria in the findings. The ZAB still has the discretion to 
approve, deny or modify the request according to the zoning findings, provided the 
action does not reduce the project density or effectively deny the project by making it 
infeasible, unless the ZAB is also able to make the required findings for denial set forth 
under Section 65589.5(j), above. 
 

C. Density Bonus Concessions and Waivers: The project is entitled to three 
concessions (or incentives) under Government Code Section 65915(d), and an 
unlimited number of waivers under Section 65915(e). 
 
Concessions: A concession is a modification of a development standard that reduces 
the cost of providing affordable housing. The applicant is requesting the following 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 252 of 263

Page 418



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 15 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

concessions from regulatory measures that result in identifiable and actual cost 
reductions:  
 
• To allow for a reduction in open space provided to 10,365 square feet, where the 

requirement is 41,400 square feet under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1)  
 
The City may only deny the concession if it finds that the concession would have a 
specific adverse impact upon public health and safety, or the physical environment, or 
on any real property listed in the California Register of Historical Resources, and there 
is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific adverse impact 
without rendering the development unaffordable to low-income, very-low income, and 
moderate-income households, or if the concession would be contrary to State or 
Federal law. Staff believes such a finding cannot be made.  
 
Waivers: A waiver is a modification of a development standard that would otherwise 
physically preclude the construction of the project with the permitted density bonus 
and concessions. The applicant is requesting eight waivers from the following 
development standards shown in the table below:  
 
• Waiver to reduce the ground floor commercial use feature street frontage along 

University Avenue from 75 percent to 31.8 percent, under BMC Section 
23.204.060(D)(6) 

• Waiver to reduce the minimum ground floor area for a commercial use feature 
from 20 percent to 19.8 percent, under 23.204.060 (D)(6) 

• Waiver to increase the building height to 89’-2 where the requirement is 48’ 
under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to increase the number of stories to eight where the maximum is four 
under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to increase the FAR to 4.47, where the maximum is 3 under BMC Section 
23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to reduce the rear setback to a 5-foot average where the requirement is a 
20-foot average, under BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is 
a 2-foot average, under 23.204.060(D)(1) 

• Waiver to reduce the side setback (University) to 0 feet where the requirement is 
a 2-foot average, under 23.204.060(D)(1) 

 
VI. Other Considerations 

The project is consistent with the following 2002 General Plan and UASP goals and policies. 
This information is provided for informational purposes only, to provide context. They are not 
required because the proposed project is HAA-compliant. 

A. Demolition of Non-Residential Buildings: Pursuant to BMC Section 23.326.070 the 
demolition of main non-residential buildings may be demolished provided that the 
demolition will not be materially detrimental to the commercial needs of the impacted 
neighborhood and if the demolition is required to allow a proposed new building 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 253 of 263

Page 419



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 16 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

amongst other findings. Staff finds that the proposed demolition of the existing non-
residential buildings will not be detrimental needs of the neighborhood, as the project 
redevelops underdeveloped lots that are primarily used for surface parking with a new 
mixed-use building, with ground floor commercial that is compatible with existing 
development patterns along University Avenue. Staff finds that the project is aligned 
with the UASP goals and district’s objectives to promote appropriate new mixed-use 
infill development that is compatible with the commercial and residential areas within 
C-U district.  

E. General Non-Detriment Findings: As required by BMC Section 23.406.040(E), the 
Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) must find that the proposed structure will not be 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare of persons 
and adjacent properties for any Use Permit in the C-U.  
 

1) The project is a higher-density development in proximity to entitled and in-
progress mixed uses of a comparable density along University Avenue, transit, 
commercial districts, and amenities that is compatible with the purposes of the 
zoning district and the surrounding uses and buildings. The project site is 
located within the C-U commercial district, within the UASP. The project 
provides 207 new dwelling units sized from studios to two-bedroom units. 
Twenty-one of the units will be restricted as affordable housing units for very-
low-income residents. Over 5,000 square feet of commercial space will be 
provided along California Street, accompanied by a pedestrian oriented on-site 
public plaza. The proposal also includes a 10,365 square foot open space 
feature at the ground floor. The ground floor also includes residential amenities 
like a club room, fitness center, and long-term bicycle parking room. The project 
site is well served by public transportation, with several AC transit bus stops 
along University Avenue, BART within a half-mile, and several bicycle share 
kiosks within a half-mile radius. The project adds additional dwelling units, new 
commercial floor area, and an at-grade garden on the ground floor, furthering 
the mixed-use uses that are compatible purposes of the district and not 
detrimental to neighborhood-serving commercial uses.  
 

2) Shadows: According to the shadow studies submitted for the project (see plans, 
Attachment 1), new shadows would be cast on existing residential and 
commercial buildings throughout the year. During the summer months new 
shadows will shade existing residential units to the west, south, and east of the 
project (1632 University Avenue, 2091 California Street, 2020 California Street, 
1543 Addison Street, 1537 Addison Street, 1528 University Avenue, and 1530 
University Avenue). New shadows shall also be cast existing residential units 
north and west (1597 University Avenue, 1587 University Avenue, 1535 
University Avenue, and 1530 University Avenue) of the project during the winter 
months. These changes in sunlight pattern are found to be reasonable given the 
orientation of these properties in relation to the subject building and their close 
proximity given the urban residential environment. These affects are not found to 
be detrimental because limited in duration and will not persist for extended 
periods throughout the year.  

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 254 of 263

Page 420



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 17 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Shadow impact on adjacent dwellings are to be expected, because the subject 
site is located in the C-U district, which allows heights of up to 48 feet without a 
use permit and roof top projections beyond the base height with an administrative 
use permit. The additional height above the district limits would cast shadows in 
the affected directions further than if the project were limited to the base district 
height standards. Staff believes that shadow impacts from the project would be 
reasonable and not detrimental. 

3) Also, the project is subject to the City’s standard conditions of approval regarding 
construction noise and air quality, waste diversion, toxics, and stormwater 
requirements, thereby ensuring the project would not be detrimental to the health, 
safety, peace, morals, comfort or general welfare of persons residing or working 
in the area or neighborhood of such proposed use or be detrimental or injurious 
to property and improvements of the adjacent properties, the surrounding area or 
neighborhood or to the general welfare of the City. 

B. C-U Specific Findings: As required by 23.204.060(E), to approve a Use Permit for a 
project in the C-U district, the ZAB must find that the proposed use or structure is 
compatible with the purpose of the district, the surrounding uses and buildings, and 
does not interfere with the continuity of retail and service facilities at the ground level. 
The project infills an underutilized site with a mixed-use building with ground floor 
commercial space fronting California Street, residential services (i.e. leasing office, 
lobby, bike storage, fitness center, club room) on the ground floor along University, 
and 207 dwelling units on the upper floors. The project is consistent with the UASP 
and C-U district as it would revitalize the corridor with additional housing and creates 
a service-oriented and commercial street-wall along both University Avenue and 
California Street. With respect to the existing residential uses that abut the rear of the 
site, the project breaks down the massing by including an open-air courtyard on the 
ground floor, which results in a rear average setback of 57 feet, and stepping back the 
building with balconies at floors seven and eight.  

 
C. Reduction of Rear Setback: BMC Section 23.204.060 requires a Use Permit for the 

reduction of rear setback within a commercial district, provided that the reduction 
enhances privacy or improved amenities in the Residential District.  In the Base 
Project, the rear setback (interior) is reduced from a 20- foot average to 0 feet.  This 
reduction allows for the massing of the building to move away from the Southern 
property line and results in 20-foot average setback that confronts the R2-A district.  
The reduction also allows for more useable open space on the ground floor, a 
residential amenity.  Generally, this reduction improves privacy along the southern 
property line, between the commercial and residential districts.  

 
D. Rooftop Projections: BMC Section 23.304.050(A) requires an Administrative Use 

Permit for roof-top projections, such as mechanical penthouses, elevator equipment 
rooms or stair towers, that would exceed the maximum height limit. Such projections 
are limited to no more than 15 percent of the average floor area of all of the building’s 
floors, and cannot be used as habitable space or for commercial purposes. The project 
proposes a staircase/elevator penthouse, totaling 571 square feet that extends 5 feet 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 255 of 263

Page 421



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 18 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

6 inches over 89-foot- 2 inches -maximum height. The penthouse represents about 
3.4 percent of the 16,756-square-foot average of all the floor areas. The projection is, 
therefore, permissible.  

 
E. General Plan Consistency: The 2002 General Plan contains several policies 

applicable to the project, including the following: 
 
1. Policy LU-3 – Infill Development: Encourage infill development that is 

architecturally and environmentally sensitive, embodies principles of sustainable 
planning and construction, and is compatible with neighboring land uses and 
architectural design and scale.  

2. Policy H-33 – Regional Housing Needs: Encourage housing production adequate 
to meet City needs and the City’s share of regional housing needs.  

3. Policy LU-7 – Neighborhood Quality of Life, Action A: Require that new 
development be consistent with zoning standards and compatible with the scale, 
historic character, and surrounding uses in the area.  

4. Policy H-12 – Transit-Oriented New Construction: Encourage construction of new 
medium- and high-density housing on major transit corridors and in proximity to 
transit stations consistent with zoning, applicable area plans, design review 
guidelines, and the Climate Action Plan.  

5. Policy T-16 – Access by Proximity, Action B: Encourage higher density housing 
and commercial infill development that is consistent with General Plan and zoning 
standards in areas adjacent to existing public transportation services. 

6. Policy T-43 – Bicycle Network, Action C: Encourage, and when appropriate, require 
new multi-family residential developments to provide secure locker space for 
resident bicycles.  

7. Policy T-16-Access by Proximity: Improve access by increasing proximity of 
residents to services, goods, and employment centers. 
 
Staff Analysis: The proposed project is consistent with the above general plan 
policies as it is a higher density infill development that proposes 207 new dwelling 
units that will count towards the City’s share of regional housing needs.  The project 
is proximate to public transit, bicycle boulevards, and commercial corridors that 
offer various goods and services to residents.  
 

A. University Avenue Specific Plan Consistency: The UASP Area Plan, adopted in 
1996, also contains several policies applicable to the project, including the following: 
• Goal 3: Revitalize the University Avenue Corridor through appropriate economic 

development and housing. 
o Provide incentives for new mixed-use infill.   

• Goal 4: Encourage more pedestrian-oriented development and an appropriate 
mix of uses to improve neighborhood identity.  

o Encourage infill development  
 
Staff Analysis: The proposed project is consistent with the above general plan 
policies as it is a higher density infill development that proposes 207 new dwelling 
units that will count towards the City’s share of regional housing needs.  

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 256 of 263

Page 422



ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE 
May 11, 2023 Page 19 of 19 
 

 
File: \\cobnas11\g$\Departmental-Data\Planning\LANDUSE\Projects by Address\University\1598\ZP2022-0099\DOCUMENT FINALS\2023-
05-11_ZAB SR_1598 University.docx 

Compared to both the eastern and western ends of the UASP plan area, the site 
is located within an underdeveloped section of the plan area.  The project will 
redevelop the site, which currently maintains single-story commercial buildings 
and off-street, surface parking, with commercial and residential amenities on the 
ground floor and housing on the upper levels.  The project is proximate to public 
transit, bicycle boulevards, and commercial corridors that offer various goods and 
services to residents. 

 
VII. Recommendation 
 

Because of the project’s consistency with the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan, and 
minimal impact on surrounding properties, staff recommends that the Zoning Adjustments 
Board: 

 
A. APPROVE Use Permit pursuant to Section 23.406.040(D) and subject to the attached 

Findings and Conditions (see Attachment 1). 
 
Attachments: 
1. Findings and Conditions 
2. Project Plans, received May 3, 2023 
3. Notice of Public Hearing 
4. Project Community Meeting Notes – March 30, 2022 
5. Correspondence Received 
 
Staff Planner: Katrina Lapira, klapira@cityofberkeley.info, (510) 981-7488 

ITEM #4 
ZAB 05-11-2023 

Page 257 of 263

Page 423



Planning and Development  
Land Use Planning Division 

1947 Center Street, 2nd Floor Berkeley, CA  94704  Tel: 510.981.7410  TDD: 510.981.6903  Fax: 510.981.7420 
E-mail: planning@cityofberkeley.info

October 20, 2022 

Isaiah Stackhouse 
Trachtenberg Architects 
2421 Fourth Street 
Berkeley, CA 94710 

Re: Application for Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 for 1598 University 

Isaiah Stackhouse, 

The Land Use Division has reviewed the above referenced application, submitted on September 
21, 2022 to demolish an existing non-residential structure and construct a 134,409 square-foot, 
eighth-story mixed-use residential building containing 207 dwelling units (21 Very Low-Income 
unit) and 5,787 square foot commercial space, with 39 parking spaces and 92 bicycle parking 
spaces. This the project is seeking a 50% Density Bonus by providing 15% of the base project 
units as affordable to very-low income households.  Staff has determined that the application is 
incomplete and cannot take further action on the project until all the items listed below are 
corrected and/or submitted.  

Application – The application includes the following approval requests: 
1. Use Permit to demolish two non-residential buildings, under Berkeley Municipal Code

(BMC) Section 23.326.070
2. Use Permit to establish a mixed-use residential building, under BMC Section

23.204.020.
3. Use Permit to create 5,000 square feet of new floor area in the University Commercial

District, under BMC Section 23.204.030(B).
4. Use Permit to establish residential uses on the ground floor, under BMC

23.204.060(B)(3).
5. Use Permit to reduce the commercial ground floor area in a node overlay area to 20%.

Waivers 

The application requests six waivers to modify the following development standards: 

Development Standard Requirement Proposed 
Average building height 48’ 89’ 2” 
Building stories 4 8 
FAR 3 4.47 
Front setback 2’ average 0’ 
Side setback (California) 2’ average 3’ average* 
Rear setback 20’ average 12’ 4” average* 

Sent via email to: 
isaiah@trachtenbegarch.com 

Attachment 6
Page 258 of 263

Page 424

mailto:isaiah@trachtenbegarch.com


   

 
Incomplete Letter October 21,2022 

Page 2 of 4 
 

*See comment #4 below.   
 
Concessions [Two concessions permitted, per Government Code §65915(d)(2)] 
 
• Reduce the open space requirement from 41,400 square feet to 10,744 square feet to 

eliminate the costs of constructing an additional roof deck. 
 

• Increase the height limit to allow for basement spaces in the Base Project to move to the 
ground level of the proposed project, thereby eliminating the cost of the basement. 

 
Staff has determined that the application is incomplete. Please review the comments below, as 
well as the list of items required to complete the application. Staff is unable to take further action 
on the project until all the items listed below are corrected and/or submitted. 
 
Items Required for Submittal or Correction- The following required items were missing from 
the application submittal, and must be submitted for application completeness, per the Zoning 
Project Submittal Requirements: 

Items Required for Submittal or Correction: 

 
1) General Comment – Resubmittal: To reflect any project modifications, revise and resubmit 

the tabulation form and other descriptive project materials for internal consistency.   
 

2) Tab Form: There are a number of inconsistencies between the Zoning Code data table on 
Sheet A0.1, plan sheets, and the information on the tab form.  Some fields include the 
provided open space and the total gross floor area of the project.  Review and correct for 
consistency.   

3) Density Bonus Statement Waivers and Concessions: For each concession, explain how the 
meeting the related development standard will actually result in an identifiable and actual 
cost reduction.   

4) Average Setbacks: For the proposed project, calculate the average rear and side setback 
(California).  Per BMC Section 23.204.060 waivers may not be required for the proposed 
setbacks.   

5) Average Unit Size: The provided average unit size is shown as 138 square feet.  When 
measured, using the provided scales, the studios are over 300 square feet.  Correct or confirm 
the average unit size and dimension the various unit types.  This metric is applicable to both 
the base and proposed density bonus project.    

6) C-U Open Space Features:  Per BMC Section 23.204.060(D)(10), projects with 100 feet or 
more of frontage along University Avenue must provide a pedestrian-oriented open space 
feature totaling 1% of the project land area.  The majority of the public plaza located at the 
corner of University and California may not quality as usable open space, because such space 
must have a minimum width and length of 6 feet.  Configure the project to comply with this 
requirement.   

Page 259 of 263

Page 425

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.204.060(D)(10)


   

 
Incomplete Letter October 21,2022 

Page 3 of 4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7) Open Space Diagrams vs Ground Floor Level Plan: There are inconsistencies amongst the 
informational sheets/ diagrams and tab form referenced.  Confirm the provided open space 
and the amount of open space being waived.  

The area of the open space garden on sheet A2.1 differs from the total shown on the 
open space diagram on sheet A0.1.  Amend sheet A2.1 to reflect the correct total.  

8) Bicycle Parking: The residential bicycle parking calculations shown on A0.3A are incorrect.  
Per BMC Section BMC 23.322.090 is based on the number of bedrooms, not units.  Amend 
the applicable calculations/ tables and diagrams.  

9)  Car Parking: The commercial car parking calculations shown on sheet A0.3A are incorrect.  
Per BMC Section 23.322.030(B), the requirement for all commercial districts apart from the 
C-DMU is 2 per 1,000 square feet.  Amend the applicable calculations/ tables and diagrams.   

10) Proposed Project Floor Plans: Label/ provide residential unit count on all floor plan sheets. 
The resubmitted floor plans duplicate unit numbers throughout Sheets A2.3- A2.5.  Once 
numbered, each unit should have a unique number, with the last unit being numbered as 
#207.   

11) Public Works/ Stormwater Comments:  

• I.B. The Table of Impervious and Pervious Surfaces: roof areas for columns “a” and 
“b” are off. There is more existing impervious surface to be replaced than there are 
pre-project (existing) impervious surface. That doesn’t make sense to me. 

• II.F.1  indicates this is a Special Project but does not indicate the Non-LID treatment 
to be used. Is this project proposing to treat all the stormwater runoff with flow-through 
planters? Special Project status allows for some of the runoff to be treated using Non-
LID measures and if the project decides to go that route they need to complete the 
Special Project Worksheet and provide Narrative Discussion of the feasibility and 
infeasibility of 100% LID treatment measures such as bioretention or flow-through 

Page 260 of 263

Page 426



   

 
Incomplete Letter October 21,2022 

Page 4 of 4 
 

planters. Looks to me they are saying the project qualifies as a Special Project but 
they are going to use flow-through planters to treat 100% of the runoff. 

 

Advisory Comments 

• Toxics – Phase I and Phase II Reports: Toxics Management Division has reviewed the 
Phase I and Phase II for 1598 University and neighboring properties, and finds the 
reports to be acceptable. A Soil and Groundwater Management Plan will be required for 
any excavation on this site. Clearance from either DTSC, the RWQCB, or Alameda 
County Local Oversight Program will be required to ensure vapor from the historic gas 
stations does not need to be better addressed with additional sampling or a soil vapor 
barrier.  A hazardous building materials survey will be required prior to any demolition of 
structures on this property, to identify hazardous materials and plan for their proper 
disposal.  Please contact Meridith Lear at mlear@cityofberkeley.info with any follow up 
questions.   
 

• Public Art Declaration: Civics Arts Program staff is guiding the applicant through the public 
art declaration approval process.   

• Design Review Application:  The following comments are on the associated Design 
Review Application.  Contact Anne Burns at aburns@cityofberkeley.info for clarification or 
more information.  

o We continue to recommend including details to show windows, material transitions, 
and any architectural elements that help to show the quality and scale of the 
proposed design.  We understand that this will come after you receive further 
feedback from Zoning and other City Divisions, but this is an important item in the 
information that will go to the DRC. 

 
o Provide more detailed information about any proposed bird-safe measures, as well 

as any dark sky measures.  As with the item above, this is an important item in the 
information that will go to the DRC. 

 
o We note one additional item after also reviewing the list of zoning incomplete items 

– we encourage any design changes that will allow more visibility of the ground 
floor courtyard landscape to be viewed from the sidewalk and beyond. 

Please be aware that under SB330 (Government Code Section 65941.1(a)(d)(2)), the applicant 
must submit the information in this incomplete letter within 90 days of the date of this letter. If 
the applicant does not submit this information within the 90 days period (November 22, 2022), 
then the preliminary application shall expire and have no further force or effect.  
Revised submittal items should be submitted in electronic form (uploaded to the project folder 
on Box.com). Please submit responses to all requested items at once, and not incrementally. 
Should you have questions regarding this letter or your application, please feel free to contact 
me. 
 
Sincerely, 
  
 
Katrina Lapira (she/her) 
Associate Planner  
klapira@cityofberkeley.info 

Page 261 of 263

Page 427

mailto:mlear@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:aburns@cityofberkeley.info
https://cityofberkeley.box.com/s/q9059jj0ze63tfhu8lxasnke3br3wsr4
mailto:klapira@cityofberkeley.info


Administrative Record

This attachment is on file and available for review at
the City Clerk Department, or can be accessed from
the City Council Website.  Copies of the attachment
are available upon request.

City Clerk Department 
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

or from:

The City of Berkeley’s Website 
http://www.berkeleyca.gov 

Attachments 7-8 
Page 262 of 263

Page 428

http://www.berkeleyca.gov/


Attachment 9  

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING – BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL

ZAB APPEAL: 1598 UNIVERSITY AVENUE, USE PERMIT #ZP2022-0099

The public may participate in this hearing by remote video or in-person.

Notice is hereby given by the City Council of the City of Berkeley that on TUESDAY, 
SEPTEMBER 26, 2023 at 6:00 P.M. a public hearing will be conducted to consider an appeal 
of the decision by the Zoning Adjustments Board to APPROVE Use Permit #ZP2022-0099 
to demolish a non-residential structure and construct a 127,492 square-foot, eight-
story (89 feet- 2 inches) mixed-use residential building containing 207 dwelling units 
(21 Very Low-Income) and 5,943 square foot commercial space, with 39 automobile 
parking spaces and 92 bicycle parking spaces, utilizing State Density Bonus Law.

The hearing will be held at the Berkeley Unified School District Board Room located at 1231 
Addison Street, Berkeley CA 94702.

A copy of the agenda material for this hearing will be available on the City’s website at 
https://berkeleyca.gov/ as of September 18, 2023. Once posted, the agenda for this 
meeting will include a link for public participation using Zoom video technology, as 
well as any health and safety requirements for in-person attendance.

For further information, please contact Katrina Lapira, Project Planner, (510) 981-7488 or 
klapira@ berkeleyca.gov . Written comments should be mailed or delivered directly to the City 
Clerk, 2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704, in order to ensure delivery to all 
Councilmembers and inclusion in the agenda packet.  

Communications to the Berkeley City Council are public record and will become part of the 
City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  Please note: e-
mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but 
if included in any communication to the City Council, will become part of the public 
record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made 
public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the City 
Clerk.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please do not 
include that information in your communication.  Please contact the City Clerk at 981-6900 or 
clerk@ berkeleyca.gov  for further information.

________________________________

Mark Numainville, City Clerk

Mailed: September 12, 2023

NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: If you object to a decision by the City Council to 
approve or deny (Code Civ. Proc. 1094.6(b)) or approve (Gov. Code 65009(c)(5) an appeal, the 
following requirements and restrictions apply: 1) Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.6, 
no lawsuit challenging a City decision to deny or approve a Zoning Adjustments Board decision may be 
filed more than 90 days after the date the Notice of Decision of the action of the City Council is mailed.  
Any lawsuit not filed within that 90-day period will be barred.  2) In any lawsuit that may be filed against 
a City Council decision to approve or deny a Zoning Adjustments Board decision, the issues and 
evidence will be limited to those raised by you or someone else, orally or in writing, at a public hearing 
or prior to the close of the last public hearing on the project.

If you challenge the above in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone 
else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the 
City of Berkeley at, or prior to, the public hearing.  Background information concerning this proposal will 
be available by request from the City Clerk Department and posted on the City of Berkeley webpage 
prior to the public hearing. 

Page 263 of 263

Page 429

https://berkeleyca.gov/
mailto:klapira@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:clerk@cityofberkeley.info


Page 430



   

 

 
 

Communications 
 
 
 
 
 

All communications submitted to the City Council are 
public record.  Communications are not published directly 
to the City’s website.  Copies of individual communications 
are available for viewing at the City Clerk Department and 
through Records Online. 
 
City Clerk Department 
2180 Milvia Street 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
(510) 981-6900 
 
Records Online 
https://records.cityofberkeley.info/ 
 
To search for communications associated with a particular City Council 
meeting using Records Online: 



   

 

1. Select Search Type = “Public – Communication Query (Keywords)” 
2. From Date: Enter the date of the Council meeting 
3. To Date: Enter the date of the Council meeting (this may match the 

From Date field) 
4. Click the “Search” button 
5. Communication packets matching the entered criteria will be 

returned 
6. Click the desired file in the Results column to view the document as 

a PDF 
 


	2023-09-26 Special Agenda - Council
	2023-09-26 Item 01 ZAB Appeal  705 Euclid Avenue, Use Permit  ZP2022-0104
	2023-09-26 Item 02 ZAB Appeal  1598 University Avenue, Use Permit  ZP2022-0099
	2023-09-26 Communications



